This Preliminary Official Statement and the information contained herein are subject to completion or amendment. Under no circumstances shall this Preliminary Official Statement constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy,

nor shall there be any sale of the Series 2024A Bonds in any jurisdiction in which such an offer, solicitation or sale would be unlawful prior to registration, qualification or exemption under the securities laws of such jurisdiction. The District

has deemed this Preliminary Official Statement “final,” except for certain permitted omissions, within the contemplation of Rule 15¢2-12 promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission.

PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT DATED OCTOBER 2, 2024

NEW ISSUE BOOK ENTRY ONLY RATINGS:
See “RATINGS” herein

In the opinion of Greenberg Traurig, P.A., Bond Counsel, assuming the accuracy of certain representations and
certifications and continuing compliance with certain tax covenants, under existing statutes, requlations, rulings and court
decisions, interest on the Series 2024A Bonds (as hereinafter defined) is excludable from gross income for federal income tax
purposes and, further, interest on the Series 2024A Bonds is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative
minimum tax imposed on individuals. In the case of the alternative minimum tax imposed by Section 55(b)(2) of the Code (as
hereinafter defined) on applicable corporations (as defined in Section 59(k) of the Code), interest on the Series 2024A Bonds is
not excluded from the determination of adjusted financial statement income. See “TAX MATTERS” for a description of certain
JSederal tax consequences of ownership of the Series 2024A Bonds. Bond Counsel is further of the opinion that the Series 2024A
Bonds and the interest thereon are not subject to taxation under the laws of the State of Florida, except as to estate taxes and
taxes under Chapter 220, Florida Statutes, on interest, income or profits on debt obligations owned by corporations as defined
in said Chapter 220. See “TAX MATTERS” herein.
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The Central Florida Tourism Oversight District, (the “District”) Ad Valorem Tax Bonds, Series 2024A (the “Series 2024A
Bonds”) will be issued as fully registered bonds and will be initially issued to and registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee
for The Depository Trust Company New York, New York (“DTC”), which will act as securities depository for the Series 2024A
Bonds. The District is the successor to Reedy Creek Improvement District, pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 2023-5, Laws of
Florida. The Series 2024A Bonds will be available to purchasers in denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof under
the book-entry only system maintained by DTC through brokers and dealers who are, or act through, their Participants (herein
defined). Purchasers will not receive physical delivery of the Series 2024A Bonds. For so long as any purchaser is the beneficial
owner of a Series 2024A Bond, they must maintain an account with a broker or dealer who is, or acts through, a Participant in order
to receive payment of principal of and interest on such Series 2024A Bond. For so long as the book-entry only system is in effect,
any reference to a Bondholder or Bondholders shall be deemed to be Cede & Co. and not the Beneficial Owners (herein defined) of
the Series 2024A Bonds. See “Book-Entry Only System” under “DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 2024A BONDS” herein. Interest
on the Series 2024A Bonds is payable on each June 1 and December 1, commencing June 1, 2025, by U.S. Bank Trust Company,
National Association, Orlando, Florida, as Paying Agent and Bond Registrar for the Series 2024A Bonds.
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The Series 2024A Bonds are being issued by the District (i) to provide financing for additional improvements within the scope
of the District-Wide Transportation Project, including, without limitation, the World Drive North corridor, Buena Vista Drive and
Western Way (collectively, the “Series 2024A Project”) and (ii) to pay the costs of issuance of the Series 2024A Bonds.

The Series 2024A Bonds and interest thereon are payable from and secured equally and ratably with other Outstanding Bonds
under the Bond Resolution (as such terms are defined herein), by an irrevocable prior lien on and a pledge of the first proceeds
collected by the respective tax collectors of Orange and Osceola Counties and remitted to the District from ad valorem taxes levied
at a rate not exceeding 30 mills on the dollar per annum on the assessed value of all taxable property in the District, the major
portion of which property is owned by affiliates of the Walt Disney Company.

The Series 2024A Bonds may be subject to optional and/or mandatory redemption prior to maturity as described in this Official
Statement.

MATURITIES, PRINCIPAL AMOUNTS, INTEREST RATES,
PRICES, YIELDS AND INITIAL CUSIP NUMBERS ON INSIDE COVER

This cover page contains certain information for quick reference only. It is not, and is not intended to be, a summary of
the bond issue. Investors must read the entire Official Statement to obtain information essential to the making of an informed
investment decision.

The Series 2024A Bonds are offered for delivery when, as and if issued and received by the Underwriters, subject to the
approval of legality by Greenberg Traurig, P.A., Miami, Florida, the District’s Bond Counsel. Certain legal matters will be
passed upon by Roy Payne, Esq., Orlando, Florida, as General Counsel to the District and by Bryant Miller Olive P.A., Orlando,
Florida, as the District’s Disclosure Counsel. Certain legal matters will be passed on for the Underwriters by their counsel,
Marchena and Graham, P.A., Orlando, Florida. Public Resource Advisory Group, Inc., St. Petersburg, Florida, is acting as
municipal advisor to the District. The Series 2024A Bonds are expected to be available for delivery through the offices of DTC
in New York, New York on or aboul , 2024.
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Jefferies Raymond James
Dated: , 2024
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No dealer, broker, salesman or other person has been authorized by Central Florida Tourism
Oversight District (the "District”) or by the Underwriters to give any information or to make any
representations, other than those contained in this Official Statement, and if given or made, such other
information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by any of the
foregoing. This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy,
nor shall there be any offer, solicitation or sale of the Series 2024A Bonds by any person in any
jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make such offer, solicitation or sale. Certain
information contained in this Official Statement (which includes the Appendices) has been obtained by
the District from DTC (all as hereinafter defined) and other sources believed to be reliable. No
representation is made by the District, however, as to the accuracy or completeness of such information,
and nothing contained in this Official Statement is, or shall be relied upon as, a promise or representation
as to such information by the District. This Official Statement is submitted in connection with the sale of
the Series 2024A Bonds and may not be reproduced or used, in whole or in part, for any other purposes.
The information herein is subject to change without notice and neither the delivery of this Official
Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there
has been no change in the information or in the affairs of the District since the date hereof.

THE UNDERWRITERS HAVE PROVIDED THE FOLLOWING SENTENCE FOR INCLUSION
IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT: THE UNDERWRITERS HAVE REVIEWED THE INFORMATION IN
THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH, AND AS PART OF, THEIR
RESPONSIBILITIES TO INVESTORS UNDER THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS AS APPLIED TO THE
FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS TRANSACTION, BUT THE UNDERWRITERS DO NOT
GUARANTEE THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF SUCH INFORMATION.

UPON ISSUANCE, THE SERIES 2024A BONDS WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 NOR WILL THE BOND RESOLUTION BE QUALIFIED UNDER THE TRUST
INDENTURE ACT OF 1939, IN RELIANCE UPON EXEMPTIONS CONTAINED IN SUCH ACTS. THE
REGISTRATION OR QUALIFICATION OF THE SERIES 2024A BONDS IN ACCORDANCE WITH
APPLICABLE PROVISIONS OF THE SECURITIES LAWS OF THE STATES, IF ANY, IN WHICH THE
SERIES 2024A BONDS HAVE BEEN REGISTERED OR QUALIFIED AND THE EXEMPTION FROM
REGISTRATION OR QUALIFICATION IN CERTAIN OTHER STATES CANNOT BE REGARDED AS A
RECOMMENDATION THEREOF. THESE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN APPROVED OR
DISAPPROVED BY THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR ANY STATE SECURITIES
COMMISSION NOR HAS THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR ANY STATE SECURITIES
COMMISSION PASSED UPON THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT.
ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY MAY BE A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.

THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE
UNDERWRITERS OR THE DISTRICT AND ANY ONE OR MORE OF THE OWNERS OF THE SERIES
2024 A BONDS.

REFERENCES TO WEBSITE ADDRESSES PRESENTED HEREIN ARE FOR INFORMATIONAL
PURPOSES ONLY AND MAY BE IN THE FORM OF A HYPERLINK SOLELY FOR THE READER'S
CONVENIENCE. UNLESS SPECIFIED OTHERWISE, SUCH WEBSITES, AND THE INFORMATION
OR LINKS CONTAINED THEREIN, ARE NOT INCORPORATED INTO, AND ARE NOT PART OF,
THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT FOR ANY PURPOSE INCLUDING FOR PURPOSES OF RULE 15¢2-12
PROMULGATED BY THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION.



THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT IS BEING PROVIDED TO PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS
EITHER IN BOUND PRINTED FORM ("ORIGINAL BOUND FORMAT") OR IN ELECTRONIC
FORMAT ON THE WEBSITE HTTP:/WWW.MUNIOS.COM. THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT MAY BE
RELIED UPON ONLY IF IT IS IN ITS ORIGINAL BOUND FORMAT OR IF IT IS PRINTED IN FULL
DIRECTLY FROM SUCH WEBSITE.
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT
relating to

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
(successor to Reedy Creek Improvement District)
(Located in Orange and Osceola Counties)

$99,300,000"
Ad Valorem Tax Bonds,
Series 2024A

INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT

The purpose of this Official Statement, including the cover page, inside cover page, and the
Appendices hereto, is to set forth certain information relating to the Central Florida Tourism Oversight
District (the "District") and its Ad Valorem Tax Bonds, Series 2024A (the "Series 2024A Bonds"). The
District is the successor to Reedy Creek Improvement District pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 2023-
5, Laws of Florida.

The Series 2024A Bonds are being issued pursuant to the Constitution and laws of the State of
Florida, particularly Chapter 2023-5, Laws of Florida, as amended and other applicable provisions of law
(collectively, the "Act") and the Bond Resolution (hereafter defined). See "THE CENTRAL FLORIDA
TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT - Powers" herein.

The Board of Supervisors of the District adopted a resolution on April 4, 1972 (the "1972
Resolution"), as amended and restated by Resolution No. 245 adopted on November 15, 1991 (the "1991
Resolution"), and as amended by Resolution No. 313 adopted on April 21, 1995 (the "1995 Resolution") as
supplemented by Resolution No. 546 adopted on February 27, 2013, as amended by Resolution No. 551
adopted on July 24, 2013 (collectively, the “2013 Resolutions”). On September 25, 2024, the District
adopted Resolution No. 670 (the "2024 Resolution") authorizing the issuance of the Series 2024A Bonds.
The 1991 Resolution, as amended, particularly by the 1995 Resolution, as supplemented and amended by
the 2013 Resolutions, and as supplemented by the 2024 Resolution, is referred to herein collectively as the
"Bond Resolution."

The Series 2024A Bonds are being issued for the purpose of (i) financing the design, construction,
equipping and improvement of transportation projects, within or outside the District, including, without
limitation, the World Drive North corridor, Buena Vista Drive and Western Way (collectively, the " Series
2024 A Project "), and (ii) paying the costs of issuance of the Series 2024A Bonds.

The Series 2024A Bonds are to be issued on a parity, and are to have an equal lien on the Ad
Valorem Taxes collected by the respective tax collectors of Orange and Osceola County’s and remitted to
the District, with the Ad Valorem Tax Refunding Bonds, Series 2015A (the "Series 2015A Bonds"), the Ad
Valorem Tax Bonds, Series 2016A (the "Series 2016A Bonds"), the Ad Valorem Tax Bonds, Series 2017A
(the "Series 2017A Bonds") and the Ad Valorem Tax Refunding Bonds, Series 2020A (Taxable) (the "Series
2020A Bonds," and collectively with the Series 2015A Bonds, the Series 2016A Bonds and the Series 2017A
Bonds, the "Outstanding Bonds"), and with any subsequent series of Additional Bonds issued as
authorized under the Bond Resolution, as supplemented. The Outstanding Bonds, together with the

" Preliminary, subject to change.



Series 2024 A Bonds being issued, and any subsequent series of Additional Bonds that may be issued and
outstanding after the issuance of the Series 2024A Bonds, as authorized under the Bond Resolution, are
hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Bonds."

For a more complete description of the terms and conditions of the Series 2024A Bonds, reference
is made to the Bond Resolution, which is attached (without Exhibits) as Appendix B hereto. Capitalized
terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings assigned to such terms in the Bond
Resolution. The description of the Series 2024A Bonds, the documents authorizing and securing the Series
2024A Bonds, and the information from financial reports contained herein do not purport to be
comprehensive or definitive. All references herein to such documents and reports are qualified in their
entirety by reference to such documents. Copies of such documents may be obtained from Roy Payne,
Esq., District General Counsel, 1900 Hotel Plaza Boulevard, Lake Buena Vista, Florida 32830 (telephone:
407-222-4120).

PURPOSE OF THE SERIES 2024A BONDS

The Series 2024A Bonds are being issued by the District for the purposes of (i) financing the
Series 2024 A Project, and (ii) paying costs of issuance of the Series 2024A Bonds.

DESCRIPTION OF THE 2024A PROJECT

The Series 2024A Bonds are being issued to provide financing for District-Wide Transportation
Projects, which consist of designing, constructing, improving, enlarging, renovating, reconstructing,
extending, widening, grading, paving, repaving, or otherwise improving highways, streets, roads,
interchanges or other public ways and vehicular bridges, including drainage, signalization and signage,
within or outside the District, including, without limitation, the World Drive North corridor, Buena Vista
Drive and Western Way (collectively, the “Series 2024A Project”).

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]



ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS

Based upon current cost estimates, the District intends to apply the proceeds of the Series 2024A
Bonds, as follows:

SOURCES:
Par Amount of the Bonds
Plus/Less Net Original Issue Premium/Discount
TOTAL SOURCES
USES:
Deposit to Series 2024A Construction Account

Costs of Issuance®

TOTAL USES

(1) Includes Underwriters' discount, legal and municipal advisory fees and expenses and other fees and expenses
associated with the issuance of the Series 2024A Bonds

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]



DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 2024A BONDS
General Description

The Series 2024A Bonds are being issued as a single fully-registered Bond for each maturity,
registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New
York ("DTC"). See "Book-Entry Only System" below. U.S. Bank Trust Company National Association,
Orlando, Florida, shall serve as Paying Agent and Bond Registrar for the Series 2024A Bonds.

The Series 2024A Bonds will be dated as of their date of delivery, and will bear interest from their
date of delivery at the rates and mature on the dates set forth on the inside cover page of this Official
Statement. Interest on the Series 2024A Bonds is payable semiannually on each June 1 and December 1 of
each year (the "Interest Payment Dates"), commencing June 1, 2025. Principal of and interest on the Series
2024A Bonds are payable to the registered owner thereof, which initially will be a nominee of DTC.

Book-Entry Only System

THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION CONCERNING DTC AND DTC'S BOOK-ENTRY
ONLY SYSTEM HAS BEEN OBTAINED FROM DTC, AND NEITHER THE DISTRICT NOR THE
UNDERWRITERS TAKE ANY RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE ACCURACY THEREOF.

THE DESCRIPTION WHICH FOLLOWS OF THE PROCEDURES AND RECORD KEEPING
WITH RESPECT TO BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP INTERESTS IN THE SERIES 2024A BONDS,
PAYMENT OF INTEREST AND PRINCIPAL ON THE SERIES 2024A BONDS TO DIRECT
PARTICIPANTS (AS HEREINAFTER DEFINED) OR BENEFICIAL OWNERS OF THE SERIES 2024A
BONDS, CONFIRMATION AND TRANSFER OF BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP INTERESTS IN THE
SERIES 2024A BONDS, AND OTHER RELATED TRANSACTIONS BY AND BETWEEN DTC, THE
DIRECT PARTICIPANTS AND BENEFICIAL OWNERS OF THE SERIES 2024A BONDS IS BASED
SOLELY ON INFORMATION FURNISHED BY DTC. ACCORDINGLY, NEITHER THE DISTRICT
NOR THE UNDERWRITERS MAKE NOR CAN MAKE ANY REPRESENTATIONS OR
WARRANTIES CONCERNING THESE MATTERS.

DTC will act as securities depository for the Series 2024A Bonds. The Series 2024A Bonds will be
issued as fully-registered securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC's partnership nominee) or
such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. One fully-registered
Series 2024 A Bond certificate will be issued for each maturity of the Series 2024A Bonds as set forth in the
inside cover of this Official Statement, each in the aggregate principal amount of such maturity, and will
be deposited with DTC.

DTC is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a
"banking organization" within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal
Reserve System, a "clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial
Code, and a "clearing agency" registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-
U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments (from over 100
countries) that DTC’s participants ("Direct Participants") deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-
trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposited
securities, through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants’



accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities certificates. Direct Participants
include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing
corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust
& Clearing Corporation ("DTCC"). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearing
Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC
is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others
such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing
corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either
directly or indirectly ("Indirect Participants"). The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file
with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Purchases of Series 2024A Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct
Participants, which will receive a credit for the Series 2024A Bonds on DTC's records. The ownership
interest of each actual purchaser of each Series 2024A Bond ("Beneficial Owner") is in turn to be recorded
on the Direct and Indirect Participants' records. Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation
from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmations
providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or
Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of
ownership interests in the Series 2024A Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of
Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive
certificates representing their ownership interests in the Series 2024A Bonds, except in the event that use
of the book-entry system for the Series 2024A Bonds is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Series 2024A Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with
DTC are registered in the name of DTC's partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be
requested by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of the Series 2024A Bonds with DTC and
their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in
beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Series 2024A Bonds;
DTC's records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Series 2024A
Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants
will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct
Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial
Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory
requirements as may be in effect from time to time.

BENEFICIAL OWNERS OF THE SERIES 2024A BONDS SHOULD MAKE APPROPRIATE
ARRANGEMENTS WITH THEIR BROKER OR DEALER TO RECEIVE NOTICES (INCLUDING
NOTICES OF REDEMPTION) AND OTHER INFORMATION REGARDING THE OFFERED BONDS
THAT MAY BE SO CONVEYED TO DIRECT DTC PARTICIPANTS AND INDIRECT DTC
PARTICIPANTS.

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of a maturity and CUSIP number of the
Series 2024A Bonds within a series or maturity of a series are being redeemed, DTC's practice is to
determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such series or maturity to be
redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to
Series 2024 A Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC's MMI Procedures.



Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the District as soon as possible after the
record date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.'s consenting or voting rights to those Direct
Participants to whose accounts Series 2024A Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing
attached to the Omnibus Proxy).

Principal and interest payments on the Series 2024A Bonds will be made to Cede & Co., or such
other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC's practice is to credit
Direct Participants' accounts upon DTC's receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from the
District or the Paying Agent, on the payment date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on
DTC's records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions
and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or
registered in "street name," and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC, the Paying
Agent, or the District, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to
time. Payment of redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments to Cede & Co. (or such
other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the
District and/or the Paying Agent, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the
responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the
responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Series 2024A Bonds
at any time by giving reasonable notice to the District or Paying Agent. Under such circumstances, in the
event that a successor depository is not obtained, the Series 2024A Bond certificates are required to be
printed and delivered.

The District may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through
DTC (or a successor securities depository). In that event, Series 2024A Bond certificates will be printed
and delivered to DTC.

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC's book-entry system has been obtained
from sources that the District and Underwriters believe to be reliable, but the District and Underwriters
take no responsibility for the accuracy thereof.

Each person for whom a Participant acquires an interest in the Series 2024A Bonds, as nominee,
may desire to make arrangements with such Participant to receive a credit balance in the records of such
Participant, and may desire to make arrangements with such Participant to have all notices of redemption
or other communications to DTC, which may affect such persons, to be forwarded in writing by such
Participant and to have notification made of all interest payments.

NONE OF THE DISTRICT, THE BOND REGISTRAR AND PAYING AGENT WILL HAVE
RESPONSIBILITY OR OBLIGATION TO THE BENEFICIAL OWNERS WITH RESPECT TO (1) THE
ACCURACY OF ANY RECORDS MAINTAINED BY DTC OR ANY DIRECT PARTICIPANT OR
INDIRECT PARTICIPANT; (2) ANY NOTICE THAT IS PERMITTED OR REQUIRED TO BE GIVEN TO
THE OWNERS OF THE SERIES 2024A BONDS UNDER THE BOND RESOLUTIONS; (3) THE
SELECTION BY DTC OR ANY DIRECT PARTICIPANT OR INDIRECT PARTICIPANT OF ANY
PERSON TO RECEIVE PAYMENT IN THE EVENT OF A PARTIAL REDEMPTION OF THE SERIES
2024A BONDS; (4) THE PAYMENT BY DTC OR ANY DIRECT PARTICIPANT OR INDIRECT
PARTICIPANT OF ANY AMOUNT WITH RESPECT TO THE PRINCIPAL OR REDEMPTION
PREMIUM, IF ANY, OR INTEREST DUE WITH RESPECT TO THE SERIES 2024A BONDS; (5) ANY
CONSENT GIVEN OR OTHER ACTION TAKEN BY DTC AS THE OWNER OF SERIES 2024A BONDS;
OR (6) ANY OTHER MATTERS.



SO LONG AS CEDE & CO. IS THE REGISTERED OWNER OF THE SERIES 2024A BONDS, AS
NOMINEE OF DTC, CERTAIN REFERENCES IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT TO THE SERIES 2024A
BONDHOLDERS OR REGISTERED OWNERS OF THE SERIES 2024A BONDS WILL MEAN CEDE &
CO. AND WILL NOT MEAN THE BENEFICIAL OWNERS OF THE SERIES 2024A BONDS.

When reference is made to any action which is required or permitted to be taken by the Beneficial
Owners, such reference shall only relate to those permitted to act (by statute, regulation or otherwise) on
behalf of such Beneficial Owners for such purposes. When notices are given, they shall be sent by the
Board or the Bond Registrar to DTC only.

For every transfer and exchange of Series 2024A Bonds, the Beneficial Owner may be charged a
sum sufficient to cover any tax, fee or other governmental charge that may be imposed in relation thereto.

Because DTC is treated as the owner of the Series 2024A Bonds for substantially all purposes, the
Beneficial Owners may have a restricted ability to influence in a timely fashion remedial action or the
giving or withholding of requested consents or other directions. In addition, because the identity of the
Beneficial Owners is unknown to the District, the Bond Registrar, the Paying Agent or DTC, it may be
difficult to transmit information of potential interest to beneficial owners in an effective and timely
manner. The Beneficial Owners should make appropriate arrangements with their broker or dealer
regarding distribution of information regarding the Series 2024A Bonds that may be transmitted by or
through DTC.

Prior to any discontinuation of the book entry only system hereinabove described, the District,
the Bond Registrar and the Paying Agent may treat Cede & Co. (or such other nominee of DTC) as, and
deem Cede & Co. (or such other nominee) to be, the absolute registered owner of the Series 2024A Bonds
for all purposes whatsoever, including, without limitation:

. the payment of principal, premium, if any, and interest on the Series 2024A Bonds;
. giving notices of redemption and other matters with respect to the Series 2024A Bonds;
o registering transfers with respect to the Series 2024A Bonds; and
J the selection of Series 2024A Bonds for redemption.
Optional Redemption

Series 2024A Bonds Optional Redemption. The Series 2024A Bonds maturing on and after
June 1, 20__ are subject to redemption by the District prior to maturity in whole or in part on any date on
or after June1,20__, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount being redeemed
(without premium) plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption.

Selection of Series 2024A Bonds to be Redeemed in Partial Redemptions. If less than all of the
Series 2024A Bonds shall be called for redemption, the Series 2024A Bonds to be redeemed shall be
selected, in multiples of $5,000, in such manner as the District in its discretion shall determine, and if less
than all of a maturity shall be called for redemption, the Series 2024A Bonds to be redeemed shall be
selected by lot within such maturity. However, so long as the Series 2024A Bonds are registered in book-
entry-only form and so long as DTC or a successor securities depositor is the sole registered owner of the
Series 2024 A Bonds, partial redemptions will be done in accordance with DTC procedures.



[Mandatory Redemption]
Notice of Redemption

Notice of redemption of the Series 2024A Bonds (i) shall be filed with the Paying Agent, and (ii)
shall be mailed, postage prepaid, at least thirty (30) but not more than sixty (60) days prior to the date
fixed for redemption, to all Registered Owners of the Series 2024A Bonds to be redeemed at their
respective addresses as they appear on the registration books of the Registrar.

With respect to the Series 2024A Bonds, each notice of redemption shall meet the requirements
set forth in (i), (ii), (iii), and (iv) below; provided, however, that the failure of such notice or payment to
comply with the following terms shall not in any manner defeat the effectiveness of a redemption, if
notice thereof is given as prescribed in the immediately preceding paragraph.

(1) Each notice of redemption shall set forth the name and address of the Paying
Agent, a contact person with the Paying Agent and his or her telephone number and the CUSIP
numbers, if any, of the Series 2024A Bonds called for redemption, the date of publication of the
notice, the redemption price, the date of the issue, the interest rate and the stated maturity date
with respect to the Series 2024A Bonds to be redeemed; and with respect to Registered Owners of
$1,000,000 or more in principal amount to be redeemed, such notice shall be sent by certified
mail, return receipt requested or by overnight delivery service.

(ii) In addition to the foregoing, further notice of any redemption shall be given by
the Registrar simultaneously with mailed notice to Registered Owners, for any redemption other
than by Sinking Fund installment, to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board. Such further
notice shall contain the information required in subparagraph (i) above. Failure to give all or any
portion of such further notice shall not in any manner defeat the effectiveness of a call for
redemption.

(iii) Upon the payment of the redemption price of the Series 2024A Bonds being
redeemed, each check or other transfer of funds issued for such purpose shall bear or be
accompanied by an advice showing the CUSIP number identifying, by issue, the Series 2024A
Bonds being redeemed with the proceeds of such check or other transfer.

(iv) A second notice of redemption shall be mailed in the manner provided above to
any Registered Owner who has not tendered Series 2024A Bonds that have been called for
redemption within sixty (60) days after the applicable redemption date.

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Bond Resolution, the effectiveness of any notice of
optional redemption of any Series 2024A Bond may be conditioned upon the occurrence or non-
occurrence of such event or events as shall be specified in such notice of optional redemption (including,
without limitation, the deposit of sufficient moneys with the Paying Agent for such purpose) and may
also be subject to rescission by the District if expressly set forth in such notice.



SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2024A BONDS
Pledge of Ad Valorem Taxes

Payment of principal of and interest and premium, if any, on the Series 2024A Bonds is secured
(equally and ratably with all other Bonds) by an irrevocable prior lien on the first proceeds collected by
the respective tax collectors of Orange and Osceola County and remitted to the District from Ad Valorem
Taxes levied at a rate not exceeding 30 mills on the dollar per annum on the assessed value of all taxable
property in the District. For the Fiscal Year ended September 30, 2024, the District levied Ad Valorem
Taxes at the rate of 12.9500 mills, of which 3.9600 mills was for the payment of debt service on the
Outstanding Bonds and 8.9900 mills was for the payment of the general operations of the District. For the
Fiscal Year ending September 30, 2025, the District has set an Ad Valorem Tax rate of 13.0830 mills, of
which 4.1700 mills is for the payment of debt service on Outstanding Bonds (inclusive of the Series 2024A
Bonds) and 8.9130 mills is for the payment of the general operations of the District.

The District covenants to levy each year such millage, not exceeding 30 mills on each dollar of
assessed valuation of all taxable property within the District, as will produce a sum equal to the amounts
required to be deposited in the Sinking Fund in such Fiscal Year. If in any Fiscal Year the Ad Valorem
Taxes actually collected by the respective tax collectors of Orange and Osceola County’s and remitted to
the District shall be less than the amount required, then the amount of the deficit shall be added to the
amount of Ad Valorem Taxes required to be levied in the next succeeding year or years; such tax,
however, shall not exceed 30 mills in any Fiscal Year.

Sinking Fund

The District shall maintain a Sinking Fund (the "Sinking Fund") for the payment of principal of
and interest becoming due and payable on the Series 2024A Bonds and any other Bonds during each
Fiscal Year. Sinking Fund deposit requirements in a particular Fiscal Year shall be satisfied from the Ad
Valorem Taxes collected in such Fiscal Year. See" — Disposition of Ad Valorem Taxes — Flow of Funds"
below.

Disposition of Ad Valorem Taxes — Flow of Funds

The proceeds of the Ad Valorem Taxes, as soon as received, shall be deposited in the Ad Valorem
Taxes Fund (the "Ad Valorem Taxes Fund"), which is a trust fund required to be kept separate from all
the other funds of the District.

Funds in the Ad Valorem Taxes Fund shall be disposed of in accordance with the terms of the
Bond Resolution as follows:

(1) There shall be deposited in the Sinking Fund a sum sufficient to pay the Bond
Service Requirement for all outstanding Bonds during the current Fiscal Year and any
deficiencies for prior Fiscal Years. Such annual payments shall be reduced by the amounts of
money, if any, which are deposited into the Sinking Fund out of proceeds from the sale of a Series
of Bonds to the extent such amounts are available to pay the Bond Service Requirement on such
Series of Bonds.

(2) Upon the issuance by the District of any Additional Bonds under the terms,
limitations and conditions provided in the Bond Resolution, the payments into the Sinking Fund
shall be increased in such amounts as are necessary to make the payments set forth in paragraph



(1) above for the principal of and interest on such Additional Bonds, on the same basis as
provided with respect to the outstanding Bonds.

3) The District shall not be required to make any further payments into the Sinking
Fund when the aggregate amount of money in the Sinking Fund is at least equal to the aggregate
principal amount of Bonds then outstanding, plus the amount of interest then due or thereafter to
become due on such Bonds then outstanding.

4) The balance of any moneys remaining in the Ad Valorem Taxes Fund after the
above required current payments have been made in each Fiscal Year may be used for the
purpose of redemption of the Bonds at the discretion of the District or for any other lawful
purpose for which such moneys may be used by the District.

Excess proceeds of Ad Valorem Taxes in the Ad Valorem Taxes Fund are immediately
transferred to the General Fund and are expended throughout the year to fund general operations of the
District in accordance with the annual budget. The Ad Valorem Tax millage may be reduced to the
extent the District receives revenues from operations or other sources. Such revenues will not be
available to pay principal of and interest on the Series 2024A Bonds.

Covenant by the State of Florida to the District

The State of Florida covenants in the Act to the holders of any bonds issued by the District after
the effective date of the Act that it will not limit or alter the rights of the District to own, acquire,
construct, reconstruct, improve, maintain, operate or furnish the projects or to levy and collect the taxes,
assessments, rentals, rates, fees, fares and other charges provided for in the Act, and to fulfill the terms of
any agreement made with the holders of any bonds of the District and that it will not in any way impair
the rights or remedies of the holders, or modify in any way the exemption from taxation provided in the
Act until all such bonds, together with interest thereon and costs and expenses in connection with any
action or proceeding by or on behalf of such holders, are fully met and discharged.

Investment of Funds

The Sinking Fund, the Ad Valorem Taxes Fund and any other special funds and accounts created
by the Bond Resolution (except for the Rebate Account as defined in the Bond Resolution), are trust funds
for the purposes provided in the Bond Resolution. All such funds and accounts shall be continuously
secured in the manner by which the deposit of public funds is authorized to be secured by the Laws of
the State of Florida. Moneys on deposit in the Ad Valorem Taxes Fund and Sinking Fund may only be
invested in investment obligations maturing no later than the date on which the moneys therein will be
needed for the purposes of the Bond Resolution. Any and all income received by the District from
investment in the Ad Valorem Taxes Fund and the Sinking Fund shall be deposited into the Sinking
Fund.

Additional Obligations
The District has covenanted not to issue any other obligations payable from the proceeds of the

Ad Valorem Taxes pledged under the Bond Resolution having priority to or being on parity with the lien
of the Series 2024A Bonds and the Outstanding Bonds, except Additional Bonds as hereinafter described.
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Additional Bonds
Additional Bonds may be issued by the District subject to the following terms and conditions:

1) There shall have been filed with the Board of Supervisors certificates of the tax
assessors of Orange and Osceola Counties stating the total assessed value of taxable property
within the District for the current calendar year, if then determined, or otherwise for the calendar
year immediately preceding the date of sale of the proposed Additional Bonds.

(2) The Maximum Bond Service Requirement on the Bonds then Outstanding and
Additional Bonds proposed to be issued shall not exceed 85% of the estimated annual collections
from Ad Valorem Taxes calculated upon the basis of (a) the assessed value of the taxable
property within the District for the current calendar year, if then determined, or otherwise for the
calendar year immediately preceding the date of sale of such Additional Bonds, and (b) the
maximum annual rate of millage for the levy of such Ad Valorem Taxes as authorized by law at
the date of sale of such Additional Bonds.

(3) If required by law, the Additional Bonds shall be approved at an election.

4) The principal amount of the proposed Additional Bonds together with all other
Bonds then outstanding of the District shall not exceed in the aggregate 50% of the assessed value
of the taxable property within the District as shown on the pertinent tax records at the time of the
authorization of such Additional Bonds or such higher amount as allowed by the Act.

At the time of issuance of the Series 2024A Bonds, the District will deliver evidence of its
satisfaction of the foregoing terms and conditions.

THE DISTRICT
Location

The District is located in Orange and Osceola Counties in central Florida, about 15 miles
southwest of the City of Orlando. The District currently encompasses approximately 25,000 acres or 40
square miles. Approximately 18,900 acres are located in Orange County and approximately 6,100 acres
are located in Osceola County.

The District is intersected diagonally (northeast to southwest) by U.S. Interstate Highway No. 4
and midway (east to west) by U.S. Route 192. The land in the District (exclusive of about 7,124 acres (29%)
primarily owned by the District itself, 743 acres (3%) owned by the State of Florida and 356 acres owned
by others) is primarily owned by affiliates of the Walt Disney Company (the "WDC").  Walt Disney
World® Resort ("WDW Resort"), which was first opened to the public on October 1, 1971, is located within
the territorial boundaries of the District. See " — Description of Major Businesses in the District" below
and "BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS - Concentration of Land Ownership" herein.

Creation of the District and Restatement and Amendment of Enabling Legislation
The District was originally established in 1967 pursuant to Chapter 67-764, Laws of Florida,

Special Acts of 1967, effective May 12, 1967, as amended (the "1967 Act") as a public corporation of the
State. On April 22, 2022, the Governor of the State (the "Governor") signed into law Senate Bill 4-C, which
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was passed by the Florida Senate on April 20, 2022, during a special legislative session, and by vote of the
Florida House on April 21, 2022 (the "2022 Bill"). The 2022 Bill dissolved 6 independent special districts,
including the Reedy Creek Improvement District, which were established by a special act prior to
November 5, 1968 and which had not been reestablished, ratified or otherwise reconstituted thereafter,
effective June 1, 2023. On February 27, 2023, prior to the effective date of the 2022 Bill, the Governor
signed into law House Bill 9-B, which was approved by the Florida Senate on February 10, 2023, and by
the Florida House on February 9, 2023, during a special legislative session and codified as Chapter 2023-5,
Laws of Florida (the "Act"). The Act provides that the District was not dissolved as of June 1, 2023 and
ratified and confirmed the continued existence of the Reedy Creek Improvement District under a new
name, the Central Florida Tourism Oversight District. The Act also made significant amendments to the
1967 Act. The Act is the operating legislation of the District.

The amendments to the 1967 Act contained in the Act include, but are not limited to, the
following:

-replacement of the landowner elected Board of Supervisors by a Board of Supervisors appointed
exclusively by the Governor, subject to State Senate confirmation;

-imposition of limitations on appointments designed to ensure independence of the Board of
Supervisors from operators of any theme park or entertainment complex in the District;

-removal of the power of the Board of Supervisors to amend the boundaries of the District
without a special act;

-removal of the power of the Board of Supervisors to exercise extraterritorial eminent domain
powers, own and operate airport facilities, certain types of recreational facilities (such as stadiums, civic
center and convention halls) and "novel and experimental” facilities (such as a nuclear fission power
plant).

Under the Act, the District is authorized to continue to do business under the name Reedy Creek
Improvement District for two years following the effective date of the Act and the Act provides that all
legal and financial documents and agreements of the District, even though executed under the name
Reedy Creek Improvement District, continue to be effective and binding on the District.

Following the enactment of the Act, and the transition of the prior governing body to the newly
appointed Board of Supervisors, the District undertook a forensic audit, and voluntarily brought to the
attention of its auditor a discrepancy in the District’s reporting of the W-2 income and wages of District
employees in the years 2020 through 2023. As a result, the District submitted a voluntary closing
agreement with the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) and has budgeted approximately $2 million to fund
any obligation. The resolution of the matter and determination by the IRS of the District’s obligation is in
the process of being accepted and finalized. The District does not anticipate that a final determination
will have a material adverse effect on its ability pay the principal of and interest on the Series 2024A
Bonds.

After the enactment of the 2022 Bill, several legal actions were initiated. See "LITIGATION - The
District and Walt Disney Parks and Resorts U.S., Inc. Litigation" herein.
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Government

The District is governed by a Board of Supervisors of five members appointed by the Governor of
the State and confirmed by the State Senate. As of the date of this Official Statement, the Governor of the
State has not appointed the Chair. The Supervisors hold office for a term of four years each, except that
for the initial appointments made after the effective date of the Act, two members were appointed to
serve a term of 2 years. Members may not serve more than three consecutive terms. All members must
be Florida residents and consideration is given for members from a broad range of fields including
experience in accounting, business management, construction, cybersecurity or data privacy, engineering,
environmental sciences, financial management, infrastructure management, land use, permitting, public
administration, public safety, transportation, or utility operations and management. The present
members of the Board of Supervisors and the respective dates on which their terms expire are as follows:

Name Term Expires
Charbel Barakat, Vice Chair 2/26/2027
Brian Aungst, Jr. 2/26/2027
Ron Peri 2/26/2025
Bridget Ziegler 2/26/2025
Craig Mateer 2/26/2027

Administration

Under the direction of the Board of Supervisors, a District Administrator is appointed by the
Governor and acts as the chief executive officer of the District and is responsible for the day-to-day
operations of the District subject to the Board of Supervisor’s direction and policy decisions.

S.C. Kopelousos joined the District as District Administrator in March 2024. Prior to joining the
District, Ms. Kopelousos served as Director of Legislative & Intergovernment Affairs for Governor Ron
DeSantis, County Manager for the Clay County Board of County Commissioners and Secretary of
Transportation for the Florida Department of Transportation. Ms. Kopelousos graduated from the
University of Alabama with a Bachelor’s Degree in Political Science.

Susan Higginbotham is the District’s Chief Financial Officer and has served in this position since
September 2023. Prior to her promotion, she served as Comptroller and Director of Finance, and she has
been with the District for over 30 years. Ms. Higginbotham has a Bachelor’s Degree in Accounting from
the University of Central Florida and is a licensed Certified Public Accountant and Certified Government
Finance Officer.

Powers

General. In addition to the powers and authorities of the District under Chapter 298, Florida
Statutes, the District has the powers authorized under the Act, including the following:

(1) to acquire property, real, personal or mixed, within its territorial limits, to
encumber any property acquired by the District, and to mortgage, hold, manage, control, convey,
lease, sell, grant or otherwise dispose of the same;

(2) to exercise the right and power of eminent domain within the limits of the
District to condemn real property or mixed property which the Board of Supervisors deems
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necessary for the use of any of the projects of the District; the power of eminent domain shall be
exercised as provided by general law;

3) to own, operate and maintain water and flood control facilities and to regulate
the supply and level of water within the District; the District is declared eligible to receive grants
and assistance from the State of Florida available to flood control districts, water management
districts and navigation districts or agencies;

4) to own, operate and maintain water systems, reclaimed water systems and
sewer systems; to regulate the use of sewers and the supply of potable water and nonpotable
water within the District; to prohibit or regulate the use and maintenance of other sanitary
structures and to prescribe methods of sewage treatment;

(5) to own, operate and maintain a waste collection and disposal system and to sell
or otherwise dispose of any effluent, residue or other byproducts of such system;

(6) to own, operate and maintain electric power plants, solar energy generating
systems, transmission lines and related facilities, gas mains and facilities of any nature for the
production, handling, distribution or sale of natural gas, and to purchase and sell electric power,
natural gas and other sources of power for distribution within the District;

(7) to own, acquire, construct, operate, improve and maintain highways, streets,
roads, alleys, sidewalks, promenades, boardwalks, bridges, tunnels, interchanges, causeways and
public thoroughfares of all kinds and descriptions, and connections to and extensions of any and
all existing public roads within the District;

(8) to own, acquire, construct, operate, improve and maintain fire control facilities
for the District, including fire stations, water mains and plugs, fire trucks and other vehicles and

equipment within the District;

9) to lease as lessor or lessee to or from any person, firm, corporation, association
or body, public or private, any projects of the type that the District is authorized to undertake;

(10) to own, operate and maintain canals, ditches, ponds, lakes, reservoirs, drains,
dikes, levees, pumps, plants, and pumping systems and other works for drainage purposes and
irrigation works;

(11) to own, acquire, construct, operate, improve and maintain parking facilities; and

(12) to issue general obligation, revenue, assessment or other bonds to finance the
acquisition, construction, extension or improvement of any projects.

The District is authorized to exercise its rights, powers, privileges and authorities in any and all

portions of the District lying within the boundaries of Orange County, Osceola County, the City of Bay
Lake, the City of Lake Buena Vista or any other municipal corporation or other political subdivision, the
boundaries of which lie wholly or partly within the geographic limits of the District. The District does
not have the power to construct any project outside of the geographic limits of the District, except upon
the consent, approval, or certification of any regulatory agency, the State or the governing body of any
county, municipality or other political subdivision in which the project is located. Under the Act, District
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projects are exempt from county zoning, building, subdivision and construction regulation except as
otherwise determined by the Board of Supervisors.

The District may require all lands, buildings, and premises, and all persons, firms and
corporations within the District or within any zone or area within the District created for such purpose, to
use the drainage and reclamation facilities, flood control facilities, water and sewer systems and waste
collection and disposal systems of the District. No other such systems and facilities may be built without
the consent of and approval of plans and specifications by the District.

Fees, Charges and Services. The District has the power, after notice and public hearing, to
prescribe, fix, establish and collect rates, fees, rentals, fares or other charges for the facilities and services
furnished by the District, to recover the cost of making connections to any District facility or system, and
to provide for reasonable penalties for delinquent charges. Such rates, fees and charges shall be just,
equitable and uniform for users of the same class, and may be based or computed on the amount of
service furnished, the average number of persons residing or working or otherwise occupying the
premises served or any other factor affecting the use of the facilities furnished. The rates, fees, rentals,
fares or other charges prescribed shall be such as will produce revenues, together with any other
assessments, taxes, revenues or funds available or pledged for such purpose, at least sufficient to cover
operation and maintenance expenses, operating reserves, debt service and reserves under resolutions
authorizing the issuance of bonds.

Ad Valorem Taxes, Maintenance Taxes and Utility Taxes. The Board of Supervisors has the
power to levy and assess an ad valorem tax on all taxable real and tangible personal property in the
District to pay the principal of and interest on any general obligation bonds of the District, to provide for
sinking or other funds in connection therewith, and to defray the costs of any project or activity of the
District authorized by law. Such taxes are to be in addition to any county or municipal ad valorem taxes.
The total amount of such ad valorem taxes levied by the Board of Supervisors in any year shall not be in
excess of 30 mills on the dollar per annum on the assessed value of all taxable property in the District.
Such taxes shall be based on assessed valuation for county taxes as determined by Orange and Osceola
Counties. However, in addition to the ad valorem tax of 30 mills on the dollar per annum, the Board of
Supervisors may levy and assess a special ad valorem maintenance tax at a rate not exceeding 10 mills on
the dollar per annum on the assessed value of all taxable property in the District for the purpose of
defraying any of the costs and expenses of the District, including but not limited to maintenance, repair
and operation of the District, costs incurred in connection with the financing of District projects, and the
costs of administration. To date, maintenance charges have been fully satisfied out of user fees, regular
ad valorem taxes and other revenues of the District and no special ad valorem tax has been assessed by
the District. The District also has the power to impose, levy and collect on each and every purchase of
electricity, metered or bottled gas, water service, telephone or telegraph service within the District, a
utility tax not to exceed 10% of the payments received by the seller of such utility service, excluding the
sale of natural gas to a public or private utility. No such tax has been imposed to date.

Ad Valorem Tax Bonds. The District has the power to issue ad valorem tax bonds so long as the
aggregate principal amount of bonds outstanding at any one time is not in excess of 50% of the assessed
value of the taxable property within the District as shown on the pertinent tax records at the time of the
authorization of such bonds. The assessed valuation of property in the District as of January 1, 2024, as
certified by the Property Appraisers of Orange and Osceola Counties pursuant to the respective
Certifications of Final Taxable Value (the "Certifications of Final Taxable Value"), is $16,344,490,541. The
aggregate principal amount of outstanding ad valorem tax debt of the District as of September 30, 2024
was $616,460,000 which was approximately 3.77% of such assessed valuation as of January 1, 2024. Upon
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issuance of the Series 2024A Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of $99,300,000, the total principal
amount of outstanding Bonds will be $715,760,000, which is approximately 4.38% of the assessed
valuation as of January 1, 2024. Other than refunding bonds, ad valorem tax bonds must be approved at
an election in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Constitution and laws of the State of
Florida. The District may pledge its full faith and credit for the principal, interest and reserve charges, if
any, on such ad valorem tax bonds and for any reserve or other funds provided therefor, and may
unconditionally and irrevocably pledge itself to levy ad valorem taxes on all taxable property in the
District, to the extent necessary for the payment thereof, subject, however, to the limitations on the total
amount of ad valorem taxes that may be levied in any one year as specified in the Act.

Other Borrowings Including Revenue Bonds; Authorization. The District has the power to issue
revenue bonds from time to time without limitation as to amount. Such revenue bonds may be secured
by or payable from the gross or net pledge of the revenues to be derived from any project or combination
of projects, from the rates, fees, fares or other charges to be collected from the users of any project or
projects, from any revenue-producing undertaking or activity of the District, or from any other source or
pledged security. The Board of Supervisors may combine projects for revenue bonds financing and
pledge to the payment of revenue bonds two or more sources of revenue. As of October 1, 2024 the
current outstanding principal balance of utility revenue bonds will be $116,521,000.

The District has the power to issue, without limitation as to amount, bonds payable from the
proceeds of any utility service tax levied by the District.

The District may provide for the construction or reconstruction of assessable improvements and
for the levying of special assessments upon benefitted property for the payment thereof and the Board of
Supervisors may issue assessment bonds payable out of such assessments when collected. Special
assessments are collected by the respective tax collectors of Orange and Osceola Counties and are
remitted to the District.

The District has the power to issue bond anticipation notes to borrow money for the purposes for
which bonds have been authorized. The District may also obtain loans for current expenses or other costs,
for a term not exceeding two years, which may be repayable from such revenues, taxes or other funds as
the Board of Supervisors may determine.

Comprehensive Plan

Pursuant to the Act, on or before July 1, 2026, the District is required to undertake a
comprehensive review and evaluation of its comprehensive plan, zoning regulations, land development
regulations, environmental protection regulations, building and safety codes and regulations, platting
and subdivision regulations, and fire prevention regulations and adopt revisions to such as the District
determines are necessary for the health, safety and welfare and for consistency with the Act.

Future Ad Valorem Tax Bond Financing Plans of the District

Other than the Series 2024A Bonds, the District has not authorized the issuance of any future
additional ad valorem tax bonds. However, the District may authorize and issue additional ad valorem
tax bonds in the future in accordance with the requirements of the Bond Resolution and the Act, which
requirements include the holding of a referendum for approval of the qualified electors in the District.
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Description of Major Businesses in the District

Approximately 66% of the land in the District is owned by affiliates of the WDC. Their combined
properties, excluding properties leased to others by such affiliates, account for approximately 87% of the
assessed valuations in the District, based upon the assessed valuation of taxable property within the
District as of January 1, 2023.

Walt Disney World® Resort. Walt Disney World® Resort is located within the District, and
includes theme parks (the Magic Kingdom® Park, Epcot®, Disney’s Hollywood Studios® and Disney’s Animal
Kingdom® Theme Park); hotels; vacation club properties; a retail, dining and entertainment complex
(Disney Springs® area); a sports complex; conference centers; campgrounds; golf courses; water parks;
and other recreational facilities designed to attract visitors for an extended stay.

Magic Kingdom® Park. Magic Kingdom® Park consists of six themed areas: Adventureland area,
Fantasyland area, Frontierland area, Liberty Square area, Main Street, USA area and Tomorrowland area. Each

land provides a unique guest experience featuring themed attractions, restaurants, merchandise shops
entertainment experiences. Additionally, there are daily parades and a nighttime entertainment event.

Epcot®. Epcot® consists of four major themed areas: World Showcase area, World Celebration area,
World Nature area and World Discovery area. Countries represented with pavilions include Canada, China,
France, Germany, Italy, Japan, Mexico, Morocco, Norway, the United Kingdom and the United States.
All areas feature themed attractions, restaurants, merchandise shops and entertainment experiences.
Epcot also features a nighttime entertainment event.

Disney’s Hollywood Studios®. Disney’s Hollywood Studios® consists of eight themed areas:
Animation Courtyard, Commissary Lane, Echo Lake, Grand Avenue, Hollywood Boulevard, Star Wars:
Galaxy’s Edge®, Sunset Boulevard and Toy Story Land. The areas provide behind-the-scenes glimpses of
Hollywood-style action through various shows and attractions and offer themed food service,
merchandise shops and entertainment experiences. The park also features nighttime entertainment

events.

Disney’s Animal Kingdom® Theme Park. Disney’s Animal Kingdom® consists of a 145-foot tall
Tree of Life centerpiece surrounded by five themed areas: Africa land, Asia land, DinoLand U.S.A.® area,
Discovery Island®, and Pandora — The World of Avatar area. Each themed area contains attractions,
restaurants, merchandise shops and entertainment experiences. The park features more than 300 species
of live mammals, birds, reptiles and amphibians and 3,000 varieties of vegetation.

Hotels, Vacation Club Properties and Other Resort Facilities As of September 30, 2023,
affiliates of the Walt Disney Company owned and operated 18 resort hotels and vacation club facilities at
the Walt Disney World® Resort, with approximately 23,000 rooms and 3,600 vacation club units. Resort
facilities include 500,000 square feet of conference meeting space and Disney's Fort Wilderness camping
and recreational area, which offers approximately 800 campsites.

Disney Springs®. Disney Springs® area is a 120-acre retail, dining and entertainment complex

and consists of four areas: Disney Springs® Marketplace, Disney Springs® The Landing, Disney Springs®
Town Center and Disney Springs® West Side. The areas are home to more than 150 venues including the
64,000-square-foot World of Disney retail store and NBA Experience. Most of the Disney Springs® area
facilities are operated by third parties that pay rent to affiliates of the Walt Disney Company.
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Ten independently-operated hotels with approximately 7,000 rooms are situated on property
leased from affiliates of the Walt Disney Company.

ESPN Wide World of Sports Complex is a 230-acre center that hosts professional caliber training
and competitions, festival and tournament events and interactive sports activities. The complex, which
welcomes both amateur and professional athletes, accommodates multiple sporting events, including
baseball, basketball, football, soccer, softball, tennis and track and field. It also includes a stadium as well
as two venues designed for cheerleading, dance competitions and other indoor sports.

Other recreational amenities and activities available at Walt Disney World® Resort include three
championship golf courses, miniature golf courses, full-service spas, tennis, sailing, swimming, horseback
riding and a number of other sports and leisure time activities. The resort also includes two water parks:
Disney’s Blizzard Beach® Water Park and Disney’s Typhoon Lagoon® Water Park.

Facilities Serving Walt Disney World® Resort. The District owns the electric, water, gas, hot
water and chilled water utilities which provide utility services within the District.

Affiliates of the Walt Disney Company provide transportation systems throughout Walt Disney
World® Resort, including a monorail system, surface transportation, and water transportation.

The Walt Disney Company has publicly announced several new projects contemplated to be
constructed at Walt Disney World® Resort. See https://thewaltdisneycompany.com/d23-disney-
experiences-horizons-digital-announcements/ and https://d23.com/avengers-campus-expansion-villains-
themed-land-encanto-attraction-and-monsters-inc-land-unveiled-at-disney-experiences-showcase/ for

more information on those projects.

Certain Information on the Walt Disney Company and Affiliates. The common stock of the Walt
Disney Company is listed for trading on the New York Stock Exchange. The Walt Disney Company is
subject to the information requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and in accordance
therewith files reports, proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the "SEC") which may be inspected and copied at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 100 F
Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Please contact the SEC at (800) SEC-0330 for information on the
operation of the Public Reference Room. Information set forth in the most recent Forms 8-K, 10-K and
10-Q filed by the Walt Disney Company with the SEC is available at the locations referred to above and
online at www.sec.gov and www.disney.com/investors. Reference should be made to the foregoing for

information on the Walt Disney Company and its affiliates.

The foregoing information under this subheading "Description of Major Businesses in the
District” regarding the WDC and the WDW Resort has been obtained from the 10-K filing of the WDC
with the SEC as of September 30, 2023. Neither the Underwriters, their counsel nor the District, its
counsel nor the District’s disclosure counsel has performed any independent investigation of the
information and does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information and does not make
any representations as to the continued accuracy of such information after the date of such 10-K.

Taxation

Ad Valorem Taxes. The Board of Supervisors of the District has the power, under the Act, to levy
and assess an ad valorem tax on all taxable real and tangible personal property in the District, to provide
for sinking or other funds in connection therewith, and to defray the cost of District projects and
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activities. Such taxes are in addition to any county or municipal ad valorem taxes. See " - Powers - Ad
Valorem Taxes, Maintenance Taxes and Utility Taxes" above.

The Board of Supervisors of the District sets the millage rate to be applied against taxable
property in the District. The real property tax bills are mailed to property owners on or about November
1 each year. The taxpayer is entitled to a 4% discount if taxes are paid in November; a 3% discount if paid
in December; a 2% discount if paid in January next following; and a 1% discount if paid in February.
Taxes may also be paid in installments over a four-month period ending in the March next following the
November levy; in such cases the taxpayer is not allowed a discount. Taxes unpaid as of April 1 become
delinquent and are subject to penalty, interest and the issuance of a tax deed and foreclosure in
accordance with laws of the State of Florida. Delinquent District taxes, tax sales certificates, and penalties
and costs relating thereto constitute a lien in favor of the District of equal dignity with the liens of state
and county taxes.

Millage Rollback Legislation. In 2007, the State of Florida Legislature adopted a property tax
plan which significantly impacted ad valorem tax collections for State local governments (the "Millage
Rollback Legislation"). One component of the Millage Rollback Legislation required counties, cities and
special districts to rollback their millage rates for the 2007-2008 fiscal year to a level that, with certain
adjustments and exceptions, would generate the same level of ad valorem tax revenue as in fiscal year
2006-2007; provided, however, depending upon the relative growth of each local government's own ad
valorem tax revenues from 2001 to 2006, such rolled back millage rates were determined after first
reducing 2006-2007 ad valorem tax revenues by zero to nine percent (0% to 9%). In addition, the Millage
Rollback Legislation also limited how much the aggregate amount of ad valorem tax revenues may
increase in future fiscal years. A local government may override certain portions of these requirements
by a supermajority, and for certain requirements, a unanimous vote of its governing body. These limits
pertain only to the levy of the operating portion of the District's ad valorem tax millage.

Homestead Exemption. In addition to other general exemptions, the State Constitution also
provides for a homestead exemption. Every person who has the legal title or beneficial title in equity to
real property in the State and who resides thereon and in good faith makes the same his or her permanent
residence or the permanent residence of others legally or naturally dependent upon such person is
eligible to receive a homestead exemption of up to $50,000. The first $25,000 applies to all property taxes,
including school district taxes. The additional exemption, up to $25,000, applicable to the assessed value
of the property between $50,000 and $75,000, applies to all levies other than school district levies. A
person who is receiving or claiming the benefit of an ad valorem tax exemption or a tax credit in another
state where permanent residency, or residency of another legally or naturally dependent upon the owner,
is required as a basis for the granting of that ad valorem tax exemption or tax credit is not entitled to the
homestead exemption.

Other Legislative Proposals. In the past several legislative sessions, amendments were passed
affecting ad valorem taxation, including classification of agricultural lands during periods of eradication
or quarantine, deleting requirements that conservation easements be renewed annually, providing that
just value of real property shall be determined in the first tax year for income restricted persons age 65 or
older who have maintained such property as the permanent residence for at least 25 years, authorizing a
first responder who is totally and permanently disabled as a result of injuries sustained in the line of duty
to receive relief from ad valorem taxes assessed on homestead property, revising procedures with respect
to assessments, hearings and notifications by the value adjustment board, and revising the interest rate on
unpaid ad valorem taxes.
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During recent years, various other legislative proposals and constitutional amendments relating
to ad valorem taxation and revenue limitation have been introduced in the State of Florida legislature.
Many of these proposals provide for new or increased exemptions to ad valorem taxation, limit increases
in assessed valuation of certain types of property or otherwise restrict the ability of local governments in
the State of Florida to levy ad valorem taxes at recent, historical levels. There can be no assurance that
similar or additional legislative or other proposals will not be introduced or enacted in the future that
would, or might apply to, or cause a reaction in, Ad Valorem Taxes.

Basis of Valuation. Ad Valorem Taxes of the District are based on the assessed valuation for
county taxes of tangible real and tangible personal property in the District. Property is valued for tax
purposes as of January 1 of each year. Valuation is based on the fair market value of the property, taking
into account actual use (agriculture, commercial, etc.) and applicable zoning and other use restrictions.
Certain property, including property owned by the District itself, homesteads and other types of property
are by law exempt from Ad Valorem Taxes.

Property owners are notified of increases in valuation on or before each July 1, and may take an
appeal to the applicable County Value Adjustment Board which meets the following September.
Assessments are subject to review and adjustment by the Department of Revenue of the State of Florida.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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The table below sets forth total taxable assessed property based on the Certifications of Final

Taxable Value issued by Orange County and Osceola County regarding property in the District, as well
as millage rates and total tax levies for the District for the Fiscal Years ended September 30, 2014 through
2024 (tax years 2013-2023). For information concerning total Ad Valorem Taxes collected, see " — Taxation
- Collection of District Taxes":

Taxable Assessed Property

1) Percentage of Tax Roll
Assessed
Value of
Property Debt General () The Walt
Fiscal Within Service Operating Tax Bill Disney )
Year District Millage Millage Amount Company 3) Percent
Ended ($in Rates Rates ($in Related Other Collected
September 30, thousands) (mills) (mills) thousands) % % %
2014 $7,714,277 4.3008 7.5045 $ 91,069 89.10 10.90 99.99
2015 8,281,651 4.7131 7.8618 104,141 88.80 11.20 99.99
2016 9,328,586 4.9323 7.3388 114,472 85.40 14.60 99.99
2017 9,876,278 4.8993 7.5000 122,459 86.30 13.70 99.99
2018 10,617,333 5.0670 6.9630 127,727 86.10 13.90 99.99
2019 11,699,205 5.4806 6.9190 145,065 86.20 13.80 99.99
2020 12,625,711 4.9677 7.3231 155,180 86.70 13.30 99.99
2021 13,187,381 4.2962 6.8467 146,946 86.60 13.40 99.99
2022 12,432,754 4.9100 8.6641 168,763 87.70 12.30 99.99
2023 13,429,727 4.6400 9.2600 186,673 86.30 13.70 99.99
2024 15,252,970 3.9600 8.9900 197,526 86.80 13.20 99.99
1) Assessed values in years 2015 through 2021, as applicable, have been adjusted to reflect the resolution of certain
valuation disputes with the Orange County Property Appraiser.
2) Tax bills are mailed to property owners on or about November 1. Payments are due by the following March 31. See "
- Taxation — Ad Valorem Taxes" above.
3) The majority of taxpayers in this category are lessees of property owned by companies that are affiliated with the WDC.
“4) Percentages are net of adjustments resulting from changes made in assessed values by the Orange County and Osceola

County Tax Assessors after taxes were levied, and/or discounts for early payment were applied.

Source: District Tax Records.

Assessed Valuations; Description of Properties. Taxable property within the District in Orange

County consists of substantially all of the developed property within the District. For Fiscal Years 2023
and 2024 (tax years 2022 and 2023, respectively), total assessed valuation of taxable property within the
District in Orange County, based on the Certifications of Final Taxable Value, was $12,693,078,083 and
$14,459,495,668, respectively.

Taxable property within the District in Osceola County consists principally of land set aside for

conservation areas, water storage areas and agricultural uses. For Fiscal Years 2023 and 2024 (tax years
2022 and 2023, respectively), total assessed valuation of taxable property within the District in Osceola
County, based on the Certifications of Final Taxable Value, was $736,648,445 and $793,474,323,

respectively.
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The table following identifies the major taxpayers of the District and indicates their type of
business and assessed valuation for the Fiscal Years indicated (for information concerning the gross ad
valorem tax revenues generated from the major taxpayers of the District, see " — Taxation - Collection of
District Taxes" below). Approximately 66% of the land in the District is owned by affiliates of the WDC.
Their combined properties, excluding properties leased to others by such affiliates, account for
approximately 86.8% of the assessed valuations in the District, based upon the assessed valuation of
taxable property within the District as of January 1, 2023 as set forth in the Certifications of Final Taxable

Value.
Assessed Valuation of Major Taxpayers
Total Gross Assessed Valuation @
For Fiscal Year Ended September 30
($ in thousands)
Taxpayer Type of Business 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
Walt Disney Company and Theme Park /

Affiliates (2) Resort $10,947,826  $11,419,701  $10,907,179 $11,592,335 $13,240,045
HHR FS Orlando Hotel & Golf Lodging / Sports 283,531 309,073 314,425 364,474 400,201
Dolphin Lodging 336,562 361,116 294,249 318,771 351,435
Swan Lodging 162,970 158,583 128,956 140,381 154,125
Palace Resort & Spa Lodging 112,566 122,838 118,571 128,961 141,930
Hilton Lodging 120,675 130,823 106,217 114,472 121,484
Swan Reserve Lodging - - - 114,775 113,965
Orlando Hotel Group Lodging 14,777 15,200 32,360 101,334 106,011
Wyndham Lodging 40,215 49,611 46,760 50,747 54,723
JL-FX Hotel Development, LLC Lodging 51,924 47,480 41,733 45,282 49,066
Drury Hotels Lodging 19,572 21,073 22,998 24,457 45,766
Duke Energy Utility 35,377 38,098 42,001 42,836 44,250
B Resort & Spa Lodging 25,622 28,202 30,179 32,297 35,181
Holiday Inn Lodging 30,422 33,503 27,206 30,081 33,565
Sunbelt Rentals Leasing 31,280 26,515 18,954 19,637 28,332
Doubletree Lodging 22,188 24,245 21,936 23,827 27,453
Landry's Restaurants, Inc. Dining 24,653 25,990 21,371 22,809 25,108
FL Solar Utility 28,158 18,377 18,036 18,498 21,817
Century Golf Partners Sports / Recreation 17,489 17,876 18,001 18,357 18,663
AMC Theatres Entertainment 21,353 23,571 14,833 14,511 18,019
Smart City Telecommunications Utility 19,015 19,377 19,197 16,361 17,897
Crown Castle Solutions
Corporation Utility 18,691 16,624 15,330 19,064 17,414
House of Blues Entertainment 12,608 13,833 11,194 12,003 13,121
Hess Retail/Speedway LLC Fuel / Convenience 10,993 11,407 11,337 12,011 12,315
AT&T Mobility Communications 14,338 13,247 11,187 9,813 10,307
Harvest Power Orlando Utility 12,968 10,574 - - -
Others Entertainment 209,938 230,444 138,544 141,633 150,777
Total $12,625,711  $13,187,381  $12,432,754 $13,429,727 $15,252,970

(1)  Asof January 1 of the previous year.
(2)  Assessed value in 2021 has been adjusted to reflect Orange County Property Appraiser settlements covering fiscal

years 2016 through 2021.

Source: District Tax Records.
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The District has prepared the following historical Summary Statement of Revenues, Expenditures
and Changes in Fund Balance of the General and Debt Service Funds.

Summary Statements of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes
in Fund Balance of the General and Debt Service Funds
For the Fiscal Years Ended September 30,

Audited
2024 2025
2021 2022 2023 (Unaudited) (Budgeted)
REVENUES:
Ad Valorem Taxes - Net (1) $139,410,395 $161,996,588 $179,283,918 $189,305,037 $205,228,870
Intergovernmental - 446,263 - - -
Building Permits and Fees 2,879,924 3,107,627 3,476,522 5,465,248 5,750,000
Drainage Fees 927,339 441,953 64,553 922,614 2,950,000
Interest from Investments - (1,645,846) 4,081,352 2,485,731 1,250,000
Emergency Service Fees 9,651 85,025 81,730 - -
Other 735,662 726,064 625,253 217,933 325,000
[otal Revenues 143,962,971 165,157,674 187,613,328 198,396,563 215,503,870
EXPENDITURES:
Administrative 10,219,208 10,003,406 15,927,875 16,288,894 12,909,496
Human Resources 1,064,357 1,230,227 1,200,991 1,647,950 1,808,761
Information Systems &
Technology 3,748,121 4,698,490 4,943,425 6,855,167 8,852,382
Property Management 4,136,698 4,103,642 5,403,304 5,269,347 5,853,012
Environmental Sciences 4,746,612 4,714,662 5,440,773 5,091,017 6,887,893
Building and Safety 5,616,794 5,839,426 5,475,280 5,023,882 7,100,016
Emergency Services 33,829,540 36,953,789 44,052,012 46,997,722 51,168,761
Water Control & Roadways 25,510,977 28,298,887 32,713,195 34,267,382 45,411,261
Planning and Engineering 3,109,855 3,562,755 3,568,445 4,415,222 8,464,914
Capital Outlay 1,730,447 2,074,139 7,185,755 6,147,073 5,761,170
Debt Service 58,619,504 58,522,024 59,058,346 58,830,356 66,892,971
Total Expenditures 152,332,113 160,001,447 184,969,401 190,834,012 221,110,637
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures (8,369,142) 5,156,227 2,643,927 7,562,551 (5,606,767)
Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Insurance recoveries - 565,055 - - -
Lease Proceeds - - 701,815 - -
Transfers In (Out) 68,006 - - - -
Total Other Financing Sources
(Uses) 68,006 565,055 701,815 - -
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
and Other Financing Sources
Over (Under) Expenditures
and Other Financing Uses (8,301,136) 5,721,282 3,345,742 7,562,551 (5,606,767)
Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 46,309,924 38,008,788 43,730,070 47,075,812 54,638,363
Fund Balance, End of Year (2) (3) $38,008,788 $43,730,070 $47,075,812 $54,638,363 $49,031,596

(1) Net of prepayment discounts and other deductions. See " - Taxation — Ad Valorem Taxes."

(2) The District's Fund Balance Policy (as defined herein) requires that unassigned fund balance in the general fund will be budgeted at a
level at least equal to two months of budgeted general fund operating expenditures, or as otherwise required by applicable law.

(3) Consists of the combined fund balance of the General Fund and Debt Service Funds. Certain amounts are reserved for specific purposes
such as capital projects and debt service.

Source: District Finance Office.
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Direct and Overlapping Taxes. The following table identifies governmental units authorized to
levy ad valorem taxes on taxable real and tangible personal property in the District, and the millage
levied for Fiscal Year ending September 30, 2024.

Total
Governmental Unit Millage Millage

Central Florida Tourism Oversight District:

General Operating 8.9900

Debt Service 3.9600 12.9500
City of Bay Lake (1) 1.8850
City of Lake Buena Vista (1) 1.9243
Orange County:

Commission 4.4347

School 6.4210

South Florida Water Management District 0.2301

Library 0.3748 11.4606
Osceola County:

Commission 6.7000

School 5.5040

South Florida Water Management District 0.2301

Library 0.3000 12.7341

(1) The City of Bay Lake and the City of Lake Buena Vista are located in Orange County.
Source: Orange and Osceola County Tax Records.

Collection of District Taxes. The Assessed Valuations within the District are certified to the
District by the Property Appraisers of Orange and Osceola Counties. The District levies its Ad Valorem
Taxes based on these Assessed Valuations. Orange and Osceola Counties collect its taxes in like manner
as prescribed by law for the collection of counties taxes, and remit those monies to the District.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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The following table sets forth total District Ad Valorem Taxes collected for the Fiscal Years ended
September 30, 2014 through 2023 (tax years 2013 through 2022) (for information concerning the total
taxable assessed property within the District, see "- Taxation - Basis of Valuation" above):

Collection of District Taxes

6] D) 3)

Fiscal Year (V)] Collections as a Adjustments and Total Net Tax  Collections as a
Ended Total Tax Levy Percent of Total Discounts Collections Percent of Net
September 30, ($ in thousands) Tax Levy (%) (% in thousands) ($ in thousands) Tax Levy (%)
2014 $ 91,069 95.77 $3,849 $87,220 99.99
2015 104,141 96.03 4,132 100,009 99.99
2016 114,472 95.42 5,244 109,228 99.99
2017 122,459 96.05 4,832 117,627 99.99
2018 127,727 96.20 4,849 122,878 99.99
2019 145,065 93.46 9,480 135,585 99.99
2020 155,180 95.67 6,719 148,461 99.99
2021 146,946 94.87 7,536 139,410 99.99
2022 168,763 95.99 6,766 161,997 99.99
2023 186,673 96.04 7,389 179,284 99.99
1) Amounts in years 2015 through 2021, as applicable, have been adjusted to reflect the resolution of certain
valuation disputes with the Orange County Property Appraiser.
) Adjustments resulting from changes made in assessed values by the Orange County and Osceola County
Tax Assessors after taxes were levied.
3) Net Tax Levy includes reductions for adjustments described in (2) and discounts for early payment.

Source: Orange and Osceola County Tax Records.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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Tourism

Certain information regarding tourism and demographics in the areas surrounding the District is
included in Appendix E hereto.

Investment Policy

The District maintains an investment policy in accordance with Chapters 67-764 Laws of Florida.
The investment policy applies to all of the financial assets under the control of the District except those
otherwise restricted by ordinance ore resolution by the District Board of Supervisors, or other statutory or
administrative law. The purpose of the investment policy is to set forth the investment objectives and
parameters for the management of the District funds. The investment policy is designed to ensure
prudent management, availability of operating funds when needed, and an investment return
competitive with comparable funds and financial market indices. The Districts investment policy is
reviewed annually, and any amendments would be approved by the District’s Board of Supervisors. The
current investment policy was adopted by the District on May 20, 2020.

Debt Management Policy

The District maintains a debt policy in accordance with the Internal Revenue Code, Florida
Statutes and the Local District Charter. The debt policy sets forth the parameters for issuing debt and
managing outstanding debt, including the timing and purpose for which debt may be issued, types and
amounts of permissible debt, the method of sale that may be used and structural features that may be
incorporated. Adherence to the debt policy helps to ensure that the District maintains a sound debt
position and that credit quality is protected. The Districts debt policy is reviewed annually, and any
amendments would be approved by the District’s Board of Supervisors. The current debt policy was
adopted by the District on March 3, 2022.

Fund Balance Policy

The District maintains a fund balance policy in accordance with the recommendations of the
Government Finance Officers Association’s fund balance policy and with generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP). The purpose of the policy is to establish guidelines to ensure that the District
maintains adequate levels of fund balance in the general fund, to mitigate current and future risks, help
ensure stable tax rates for the taxpayers, and ensure that the District has sound financial management
policies and practices. The District’s policy requires that unassigned fund balance in the general fund
will be budgeted at a level at least equal to two (2) months of budgeted general fund operating
expenditures, or as otherwise required by applicable law. The policy also describes the types of
obligations the District should reserve as committed and/or assigned fund balance. The District’s fund
balance policy was adopted by the District on July 26, 2023.

PENSION PLANS AND OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
FRS Pension Plan

All full-time employees of the District participate in the Florida Retirement System (the "FRS"), a
multiple-employer cost-sharing public retirement system administered by the State. The FRS provides
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two cost sharing, multiple employer defined benefit plans administered by the Florida Department of
management Services, Division of Retirement, including the FRS Pension Plan (the "FRS Pension Plan")
and the Retiree Health Insurance Subsidy (the "HIS Plan"). Employees can elect participation in either the
FRS Pension Plan or the defined contribution plan, which is administered by the State Board of
Administration. FRS provides retirement and disability benefits, annual cost of living adjustments and
death benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. The State annually issues a publicly available financial
report that includes financial statements and required supplementary information for FRS. The latest
available report may be obtained at:

www.dms.mvflorida.com/workforce operations/retirement/publications.

The District has no responsibility to the FRS other than to make the periodic payments required
by the Florida Statutes. The contribution rates by job class for the District's Fiscal Year ended
September 30, 2023 were as follows for the Pension Plan: regular 11.91% from October 1, 2022 through
June 30, 2023 and 13.57% from July 1, 2023 through September 30, 2023; special risk (e.g. emergency
services personnel) 27.83% from October 1, 2022 through June 30, 2023 and 32.67% from July 1, 2023
through September 30, 2023; special risk administrative support 38.65% from October 1, 2022 through
June 30, 2023 and 39.82% from July 1, 2023 through September 30, 2023; senior management service
31.57% from October 1, 2022 through June 30, 2023 and 34.52% from July 1, 2023 through September 30,
2023 and the deferred retirement option program (DROP) 18.60% from October 1, 2022 through June 30,
2023 and 21.13% from July 1, 2023 through September 30, 2023. The contribution rates by job class for the
District's Fiscal Year ended September 30, 2023 were as follows for the Investment Plan: regular 11.30%;
special risk (e.g. emergency services personnel) 19.00%; special risk administrative support 12.95%; and
senior management service 12.67%

Information regarding the District's proportionate share of the FRS Pension Plan liability and
related HIS Plan liability as of September 30, 2023 is included in Appendix A hereto - Note 9 in the Notes
to Financial Statements of the District as of and for Fiscal Year ended September 30, 2023 and the
Required Supplementary Information which follows such Notes.

Other Post Employment Benefit Plans

The District provides health-related and death benefits to retirees and certain former employees.
This Other Post Employment Benefit (OPEB) plan is a single-employer plan and does not issue a stand-
alone financial report. The District pays current benefits under its OPEB plan as they come due from its
general operating revenues. The plan's financial activity is included in the fiduciary fund statements of
the District’s Financial Statements.

The District established the VEBA Trust in 2018 and has contributed annually to the Trust,
although contributions are not codified or mandated. The trustee of the VEBA Trust is U.S. Bank,
National Association. Investments of the VEBA Trust, actuarial assumptions, benefits provided,
contributions and net OPEB liability at September 30, 2023 are included in Appendix A hereto — Note 10
in the Notes to Financial Statements of the District as of and for Fiscal Year ended September 30, 2023 and
the Required Supplementary Information which follows such Notes. The District contributed $1,000,000
to the VEBA Trust in Fiscal Years 2023 and 2024 and the total amount on deposit as of September 30, 2023
is $16,527,216.
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The District’s net OPEB liability for Fiscal Year ended September 30, 2023 is $50,544,621, an
$607,708 decrease from the Fiscal Year ended September 30, 2022. The decrease was due primarily to an
increase in the assumed investment rate of return on investments in the OPEB trust from 4.00% at
September 30, 2022 to 4.09% at September 30, 2023. For Fiscal Year 2023, the actuarial assumptions
included an inflation rate of 2.50%, an overall payroll growth rate assumption of 3.50% and a long-term
expected rate of return of 4.09%.

OUTSTANDING BONDS SECURED BY AD VALOREM TAXES

The following table provides principal amounts of the District's Outstanding Bonds, not
including the Series 2024A Bonds, secured by Ad Valorem Taxes, as of October 1, 2024:

Principal Amount

Series of Bonds Outstanding
Series 2015A Bonds $7,225,000
Series 2016A Bonds 150,270,000
Series 2017A Bonds 158,310,000
Series 2020A Bonds 300,655,000
Total $616,460,000

Source: District Finance Office.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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AGGREGATE AD VALOREM DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULE

The following table sets forth the debt service for the Outstanding Bonds issued by the District
and payable from Ad Valorem Taxes:

Series 2024A Bonds
Fiscal Year Outstanding
Ended Bond Total
September 30 Debt Service Principal Interest Total Debt Service

2025 58,516,296
2026 58,512,790
2027 58,514,460
2028 58,512,655
2029 58,513,385
2030 58,514,601
2031 58,516,148
2032 58,517,833
2033 58,521,348
2034 58,521,391
2035 58,520,667
2036 58,522,528
2037 58,521,045
2038 25,698,160

Totals® $786,423,307

M Totals may not foot due to rounding,.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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LITIGATION

As of the date of this Official Statement, there is no pending litigation restraining or enjoining the
issuance or delivery of the Series 2024A Bonds or the proceedings and authority under which they are to
be issued or the pledge established by the Bond Resolution, or which would adversely affect the District's
ability to pay principal of and interest on the Series 2024A Bonds. Neither the creation, organization or
existence of the District, nor the title of the present members of the Board of Supervisors of the District or
other officers of the District to their respective offices is being contested.

Ad Valorem Tax Challenges

Some taxpayers in the District have filed lawsuits challenging the valuation of commercial
parcels located in the District and/or contesting the legality, validity and methodology of ad valorem
assessments made by the Property Appraiser on the parcels. Some of these challenges have resulted in
downward adjustments to assessed valuations in certain years that reduced the amount of taxes owed
resulting in refunds due to certain taxpayers. The District cannot predict whether future similar
challenges will occur, whether those challenges will result in future refunds to taxpayers or the timing of
future settlements. However, in fiscal years 2023 and 2024, the District budgeted $5 million and $6
million, respectively, to fund potential financial obligations arising from property appraiser settlements.
The District increased the budgeted amount for such settlements to $6.5 million in fiscal year 2025. The
largest settlement paid by the District in any given year was just under $6 million in fiscal year 2021,
which resulted in a decrease in assessed valuations of approximately $516 million over a 6-year period.
The second largest settlement paid by the District was approximately $3.5 million in fiscal year 2019. The
District continues to monitor the ongoing challenges and the committed fund balance attributable to such
potential settlements as appropriate. See Tables entitled “Taxable Assessed Property” and “Assessed
Valuation of Major Taxpayers” under “THE DISTRICT-Taxation” herein.

The District and Walt Disney Parks and Resorts U.S., Inc. Litigation

Walt Disney Parks and Resorts U.S., Inc.(“"WDPR”) v. Ronald DeSantis, et. al., United States District
Court for the Northern District of Florida Fla. Case No. 4:23-cv-00163-MW-M]JF

On April 26, 2023, WDPR filed a suit with the United State District Court for the Northern
District of Florida (the “District Court”) against the members of the District’s Board of Supervisors and its
executive administrator in their official capacities (the "District Defendants") alleging retaliation against
plaintiff in violation of the First Amendment to the United States Constitution. The complaint requested
the District Court to invalidate the Act which changed the governance structure of the District to the
current structure providing that the Governor appoint the five members of the Board. On June 18, 2024,
the parties reached a settlement and the case was subsequently dismissed.

Central Florida Tourism Oversight District v. Walt Disney Parks and Resorts U.S., Inc., Orange County
Circuit Court Case No. 2023-CA-011818-O

On May 1, 2023, the District filed a suit with the Orange County Circuit Court (the “Circuit

Court”) against WDPR seeking declaratory and injunctive relief regarding the validity of a development
agreement and a declaration of restrictive covenants, long-term agreements entered into between WDPR
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and the Reedy Creek Improvement District under the governance of the prior members of the District's
Board of Supervisors. On March 27, 2024, the parties reached a settlement, and this litigation was
subsequently dismissed.

Walt Disney Parks and Resorts U.S., Inc. v. Central Florida Tourism Oversight District, Orange County
Circuit Court Case No. 2023-CA-017887-O

On December 22, 2023 WDPR filed a suit with the Circuit Court challenging certain District
practices and procedures governing the retention of public records pursuant to chapter 119, Florida
Statutes, and claiming that the District did not provide all public records responsive to WDPR's request.
The District answered, denying liability and asserting various affirmative defenses. On March 27, 2024,
the parties reached a settlement and this litigation was subsequently dismissed.

BONDHOLDER RISK FACTORS
Tourism Industry

The largest tax payers in the District are corporations who operate primarily in the tourism
industry. The ability of such largest tax payers in the District to pay Ad Valorem Taxes could be affected
adversely by, among other things, legislation, regulatory actions, changes in demand for services,
economic conditions, demographic changes, hurricanes, litigation and public health emergencies. Also
see "APPENDIX E" hereto for certain information regarding tourism in Orange and Osceola Counties.

COVID-19 Pandemic and other Infectious Disease Outbreaks

The outbreak of the highly contagious COVID-19 in the United States in March 2020 (the "Covid
Pandemic") generally had a disruptive financial impact on local, state and national economies around the
country, including without limitation fueling inflation and creating supply chain issues. COVID-19 was
considered a Public Health Emergency of International Concern by the World Health Organization. This
led to quarantine and other "social distancing" measures throughout the United States.

Due to concerns surrounding the Covid Pandemic, on March 12, 2020, the WDC announced the
closure of the theme parks at the Walt Disney World Resort (“WDWR?”) in the District, beginning close of
business March 15, 2020 through the end of March, 2020. On March 15, 2020, the Company announced
the closure of the WDC hotels beginning 5 pm on March 20, 2020 and the retail and dining complex at
Disney Springs at midnight on March 16, 2020. On May 27, 2020, the Company announced a phased
approached of reopening starting with two theme parks on July 11 and the remaining two theme parks
on July 15, 2020. The District cannot predict how future outbreaks of contagious disease, including but
not limited to Covid 19, could affect tourism or other aspects of the local or the global economy or the
suspension or termination of services provided by businesses in the District, including the WDC or its
affiliates and the WDWR or other WDC establishments or establishments owned by other entities that
own property within the District; or the financial impact that such suspensions, terminations or economic
effects could have on property owners in the District.
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Extreme Weather Events and Natural Disasters

The State is naturally susceptible to the effects of extreme weather events and natural disasters
including floods, droughts, and hurricanes which could result in negative economic impacts on
businesses and tourism in the District. The occurrence of such extreme weather events could damage the
local infrastructure that provides essential services to businesses in the District. The economic impacts
resulting from such extreme weather events could include a loss of property values, a decline in revenue
base, and escalated recovery costs. No assurance can be given as to whether future extreme weather
events will occur that could materially impair the financial condition of the District. However, to
mitigate against such impacts, the District implemented a Hurricane Plan and Building Emergency
Response Plan approximately 10 years ago. In addition, although not statutorily required to do so, the
Board of Supervisors of the District approved a Comprehensive Emergency Management Plan in
February 2023, which serves as a guiding operational framework for activities before, during and after a
disaster or emergency. The District is currently working on a Continuity of Operations Plan with a
planned completion date by the end of 2025.

Cybersecurity

The District and businesses operating in the District, rely on a technological environment to
conduct operations. As such, they are vulnerable to cybersecurity threats including but not limited to
hacking, viruses, malware and other attacks on computers, other sensitive digital systems, and networks.
There can be no assurance that any security and operational control measures implemented by the
District will be completely successful to guard against and prevent cyber threats and attacks. The result
of any such attack could impact operations and/or digital networks and the costs of remedying any such
damage could be significant.

The District has established a comprehensive cybersecurity plan. This plan is guided by the
National Institute of Technology (NIST) Cyber Security Framework (CSF) standards. It aims to safeguard
the District’s assets, data and infrastructure against emerging threats while ensuring adherence to
industry standards. The District also maintains insurance that covers liabilities and costs related to certain
cyber events with limits and retentions commensurate with the scope and size of the District, and also
subject to market standard terms and conditions.

Concentration of Land Ownership in District

At closing of the sale of the Series 2024 Bonds it is expected that all or a majority of the lands
within the District will continue to be owned either directly or indirectly by the WDC or affiliates thereof.
In the unlikely event of the institution of bankruptcy or similar proceedings with respect to the WDC or
any other subsequent significant owner of property within the District, delays could most likely occur in
the payment of debt service on the Series 2024 Bonds. Such bankruptcy could negatively impact the
ability of the Tax Collector to sell tax certificates in relation to such property with respect to the Ad
Valorem Taxes.

Landowner Challenge of Assessed Valuation

State law provides both administrative and judicial procedures whereby a taxpayer may contest
the assessed valuation of his or her property determined by the Property Appraiser. If the individual
property owner believes that its property has not been appraised at just value, the owner may (i) request
an informal conference with the Property Appraiser to resolve the issue, (ii) file a petition with the clerk
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of the county value adjustment board, or (iii) appeal to the Circuit Court within sixty (60) days of the
certification for collection of the tax roll or within sixty (60) days of the issuance of a final decision by the
value adjustment board. A petitioner before the value adjustment board who challenges the assessed
value of property must pay all non-ad valorem assessments and make a partial payment of at least 75% of
the ad valorem taxes, less any applicable discount, before the taxes become delinquent. Before any
judicial action to contest a tax assessment may be brought, the taxpayer shall pay to the tax collector not
less than the amount of the tax which the taxpayer admits in good faith to be owing. During any such
proceeding, all procedures for the collection of the unpaid taxes are suspended until the petition or suit is
resolved. Several property owners have filed petitions challenging assessed valuations in multiple years.
If the petitioner is successful the District may be obligated to repay any overpayment that may be
determined. The District has established a reserve to fund potential payment obligations that may result
from successful challenges to assessed valuations. In fiscal year 2024 the District budgeted $6,000,000 to
fund potential financial obligations that may arise from a successful challenge to assessed valuations. See
"LITIGATION" herein for a description of prior challenges of the assessed valuation of property in the
District by landowners in the District.

Economic Conditions

The value of property in the District and the ability of the tax payers in the District to pay Ad
Valorem Taxes may be affected by changes in general economic conditions, fluctuations in the real estate
market, decline in tourism and other factors beyond the control of the tax payers or the District.

TAX MATTERS
General

The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), includes requirements that the
District must continue to meet after the issuance of the Series 2024A Bonds in order that the interest on
the Series 2024A Bonds be and remain excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes.
The District’s failure to meet these requirements may cause the interest on the Series 2024A Bonds to be
included in gross income for federal income tax purposes retroactively to the date of issuance of the
Series 2024A Bonds. The District have covenanted in the Bond Resolution and the Series 2023 Indenture
to take the actions required by the Code in order to maintain the exclusion from gross income for federal
income tax purposes of interest on the Series 2024A Bonds.

In the opinion of Greenberg Traurig, P.A., Bond Counsel, assuming the accuracy of certain
representations and certifications of the District and certain other participants in the issuance of the Series
2024A Bonds and continuing compliance by the District with the tax covenants referred to above, under
existing statutes, regulations, rulings, and court decisions, the interest on the Series 2024A Bonds is
excludable from gross income of the holders thereof for federal income tax purposes; and, further,
interest on the Series 2024A Bonds is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative
minimum tax imposed on individuals. In the case of the alternative minimum tax imposed by Section
55(b)(2) of the Code on applicable corporations (as defined in Section 59(k) of the Code), interest on the
Series 2024 A Bonds is not excluded from the determination of adjusted financial statement income. Bond
Counsel is further of the opinion that the Series 2024A Bonds and the interest thereon are not subject to
taxation under the laws of the State, except as to estate taxes and taxes under Chapter 220, Florida
Statutes, on interest, income, or profits on debt obligations owned by corporations as defined in said
Chapter 220. Bond Counsel will express no opinion as to any other tax consequences regarding the Series
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2024 A Bonds. Prospective purchasers of the Series 2024A Bonds should consult their own tax advisors as
to the status of interest on the Series 2024A Bonds under the tax laws of any state other than the State.

The above opinion on federal tax matters with respect to the Series 2024A Bonds will be based on
and will assume the accuracy of certain representations and certifications of the District and certain other
participants in the issuance of the Series 2024A Bonds, and compliance with certain covenants of the
District to be contained in the transcript of proceedings and that are intended to evidence and assure the
foregoing, including that the Series 2024A Bonds will be and will remain obligations the interest on which
is excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes. Bond Counsel will not independently
verify the accuracy of those certifications and representations. Bond Counsel will express no opinion as to
any other consequences regarding the Series 2024A Bonds.

Except as described above, Bond Counsel will express no opinion regarding the federal income
tax consequences resulting from the receipt or accrual of the interest on the Series 2024A Bonds, or the
ownership or disposition of the Series 2024A Bonds. Prospective purchasers of Series 2024A Bonds
should be aware that the ownership of Series 2024A Bonds may result in other collateral federal tax
consequences, including (i) the denial of a deduction for interest on indebtedness incurred or continued
to purchase or carry the Series 2024A Bonds, (ii) the reduction of the loss reserve deduction for property
and casualty insurance companies by the applicable statutory percentage of certain items, including the
interest on the Series 2024A Bonds, (iii) the inclusion of the interest on the Series 2024A Bonds in the
earnings of certain foreign corporations doing business in the United States for purposes of a branch
profits tax, (iv) the inclusion of the interest on the Series 2024A Bonds in the passive income subject to
federal income taxation of certain Subchapter S corporations with Subchapter C earnings and profits at
the close of the taxable year, (v) the inclusion of interest on the Series 2024A Bonds in the determination
of the taxability of certain Social Security and Railroad Retirement benefits to certain recipients of such
benefits, (vi) net gain realized upon the sale or other disposition of property such as the Series 2024A
Bonds generally must be taken into account when computing the Medicare tax with respect to net
investment income or undistributed net investment income, as applicable, imposed on certain high
income individuals and specified trusts and estates and (vii) receipt of certain investment income,
including interest on the Series 2024A Bonds, is considered when determining qualification limits for
obtaining the earned income credit provided by Section 32(a) of the Code. The nature and extent of the
other tax consequences described above will depend on the particular tax status and situation of each
owner of the Series 2024A Bonds. Prospective purchasers of the Series 2024A Bonds should consult their
own tax advisors as to the impact of these and any other tax consequences.

Bond Counsel’s opinion is based on existing law, which is subject to change. Such opinion is
further based on factual representations made to Bond Counsel as of the date of issuance of the Series
2024A Bonds. Bond Counsel assumes no duty to update or supplement its opinion to reflect any facts or
circumstances that may thereafter come to Bond Counsel’s attention, or to reflect any changes in law that
may thereafter occur or become effective. Moreover, Bond Counsel’s opinion is not a guarantee of a
particular result, and is not binding on the IRS or the courts; rather, such opinion represents Bond
Counsel’s professional judgment based on its review of existing law, and in reliance on the
representations and covenants that it deems relevant to such opinion.

Original Issue Discount and Premium

Certain of the Series 2024A Bonds (collectively, the “Discount Bonds”) were offered and sold to
the public at an original issue discount (“OID”). OID is the excess of the stated redemption price at
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maturity (the principal amount) over the “issue price” of a Discount Bond determined under Code
Section 1273 or 1274 (i.e., for obligations issued for money in a public offering, the initial offering price to
the public (other than to bond houses and brokers) at which a substantial amount of the obligation of the
same maturity is sold pursuant to that offering). For federal income tax purposes, OID accrues to the
owner of a Discount Bond over the period to maturity based on the constant yield method, compounded
semiannually (or over a shorter permitted compounding interval selected by the owner). The portion of
OID that accrues during the period of ownership of a Discount Bond (i) is interest excludable from the
owner’s gross income for federal income tax purposes to the same extent, and subject to the same
considerations discussed above, as other interest on the Series 2024A Bonds, and (ii) is added to the
owner’s tax basis for purposes of determining gain or loss on the maturity, redemption, prior sale or
other disposition of that Discount Bond.

Certain of the Series 2024A Bonds (collectively, the “Premium Bonds”) were offered and sold to
the public at a price in excess of their stated redemption price (the principal amount) at maturity (or
earlier for certain Premium Bonds callable prior to maturity). That excess constitutes bond premium. For
federal income tax purposes, bond premium is amortized over the period to maturity of a Premium
Bond, based on the yield to maturity of that Premium Bond (or, in the case of a Premium Bond callable
prior to its stated maturity, the amortization period and yield may be required to be determined on the
basis of an earlier call date that results in the lowest yield on that Premium Bond), compounded
semiannually (or over a shorter permitted compounding interval selected by the owner). No portion of
that bond premium is deductible by the owner of a Premium Bond. For purposes of determining the
owner’s gain or loss on the sale, redemption (including redemption at maturity) or other disposition of a
Premium Bond, the owner’s tax basis in the Premium Bond is reduced by the amount of bond premium
that accrues during the period of ownership. As a result, an owner may realize taxable gain for federal
income tax purposes from the sale or other disposition of a Premium Bond for an amount equal to or less
than the amount paid by the owner for that Premium Bond.

Owners of Discount Bonds and Premium Bonds should consult their own tax advisors as to the
determination for federal income tax purposes of the amount of OID or bond premium properly accruable in any
period with respect to the Discount Bonds or Premium Bonds and as to other federal tax consequences, and the
treatment of OID and bond premium for purposes of state and local taxes on, or based on, income.

Changes in Federal and State Tax Law

From time to time, there are legislative proposals suggested, debated, introduced, or pending in
Congress or in the State legislature that, if enacted into law, could alter or amend one or more of the
federal tax matters, or state tax matters, respectively, described above including, without limitation, the
excludability from gross income of interest on the Series 2024A Bonds, or adversely affect the market
price or marketability of the Series 2024A Bonds, or otherwise prevent the holders from realizing the full
current benefit of the status of the interest thereon. It cannot be predicted whether or in what form any
such proposal may be enacted, or whether, if enacted, any such proposal would affect the Series 2024A
Bonds. Prospective purchasers of the Series 2024A Bonds should consult their tax advisors as to the
impact of any proposed or pending legislation.

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

Interest paid on tax-exempt bonds such as the Series 2024A Bonds is subject to information
reporting to the Internal Revenue Service in a manner similar to interest paid on taxable obligations. This
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reporting requirement does not affect the excludability of interest on the Series 2024A Bonds from gross
income for federal income tax purposes. However, in conjunction with that information reporting
requirement, the Code subjects certain non-corporate owners of Series 2024A Bonds, under certain
circumstances, to “backup withholding” at the rates set forth in the Code, with respect to payments on
the Series 2024A Bonds and proceeds from the sale of Series 2024A Bonds. Any amount so withheld
would be refunded or allowed as a credit against the federal income tax of such owner of Series 2024A
Bonds. This withholding generally applies if the owner of Series 2024A Bonds (i) fails to furnish the payor
such owner’s social security number or other taxpayer identification number (“TIN”), (ii) furnished the
payor an incorrect TIN, (iii) fails to properly report interest, dividends, or other “reportable payments” as
defined in the Code, or (iv) under certain circumstances, fails to provide the payor or such owner’s
securities broker with a certified statement, signed under penalty of perjury, that the TIN provided is
correct and that such owner is not subject to backup withholding. Prospective purchasers of the Series
2024A Bonds may also wish to consult with their tax advisors with respect to the need to furnish certain
taxpayer information in order to avoid backup withholding.

PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS OF THE SERIES 2024A BONDS ARE ADVISED TO
CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS PRIOR TO ANY PURCHASE OF THE SERIES 2024A
BONDS AS TO THE IMPACT OF THE CODE UPON THEIR ACQUISITION, HOLDING OR
DISPOSITION OF THE SERIES 2024A BONDS.

Audit Risk

The IRS routinely examines bond issues of state and local governments, including bonds issued
by special districts. Owners of the Series 2024A Bonds are advised that, if the IRS does audit the Series
2024A Bonds, under its current procedures, at least during the early stages of an audit, the IRS will treat
the District as the taxpayer, and the Owners of the Series 2024A Bonds may have limited rights to
participate in such procedure. The Bond Resolution does not provide for any adjustment to the interest
rates borne by the Series 2024A Bonds in the event of a change in the tax-exempt status of the Series
2024A Bonds. The commencement of an audit or an adverse determination by the IRS with respect to the
tax-exempt status of interest on the Series 2024A Bonds would adversely impact both liquidity and
pricing of the Series 2024A Bonds in the secondary market.

There can be no assurance that an audit by the IRS of the Series 2024A Bonds will not be
commenced. The District has no reason to believe that any such audit will be commenced, or that any
such audit, if commenced, would result in a conclusion of noncompliance with any applicable state or
federal law.

CONTINGENT FEES

The District has retained Bond Counsel, the Municipal Advisor and Disclosure Counsel with
respect to the authorization, sale, execution and delivery of the Series 2024A Bonds. Payment of the fees
of such professionals and the fees of Underwriters' Counsel are each contingent upon the issuance of the
Series 2024A Bonds.
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MUNICIPAL ADVISOR

Public Resources Advisory Group, Inc., St. Petersburg, Florida, is serving as municipal advisor to
the District (the "Municipal Advisor"). Although the Municipal Advisor assisted in the preparation of
this Official Statement, and in other matters relating to the planning, structuring and issuance of the
Series 2024A Bonds and provided other advice, the Municipal Advisor is not obligated to undertake and
has not undertaken to make an independent verification of the accuracy, completeness or fairness of the
information or statements contained in this Official Statement or the appendices hereto. The Municipal
Adpvisor did not engage in any underwriting activities with regard to the sale of the Series 2024A Bonds.
The Municipal Advisor is an SEC registered municipal advisor and is not engaged in the business of
underwriting, marketing or trading of municipal securities or any other negotiable instruments.

UNDERWRITING

The Underwriters listed on the cover page have agreed, subject to certain conditions, to purchase
the Series 2024A Bonds from the District at an aggregate purchase price equal to $ * (par of
$99,300,000* and less underwriters' discount of $ ).

The Series 2024A Bonds may be offered and sold to certain dealers (including underwriters and
other dealers depositing such Series 2024A Bonds into investment trusts) at prices lower than or yields
greater than the public offering prices and yields set forth on the front cover of this Official Statement,
and such public offering prices and yields may be changed, from time to time, by the Underwriters.

The Underwriters and their respective affiliates are full service financial institutions engaged in
various activities, which may include sales and trading, commercial and investment banking, advisory,
investment management, investment research, principal investment, hedging, market making, brokerage
and other financial and non-financial activities and services. Under certain circumstances, the
Underwriters and their affiliates may have certain creditor and/or other rights against the District and its
affiliates in connection with such activities. In the various course of their various business activities, the
Underwriters and their respective affiliates, officers, directors and employees may purchase, sell or hold a
broad array of investments and actively trade securities, derivatives, loans, commodities, currencies,
credit default swaps and other financial instruments for their own account and for the accounts of their
customers, and such investment and trading activities may involve or relate to assets, securities and/or
instruments of the District (directly, as collateral securing other obligations or otherwise) and/or persons
and entities with relationships with the District. The Underwriters and their respective affiliates may also
communicate independent investment recommendations, market color or trading ideas and/or publish or
express independent research views in respect of such assets, securities or instruments and may at any
time hold, or recommend to clients that they should acquire, long and/or short positions in such assets,
securities and instruments.

BofA Securities, Inc., an underwriter of the Series 2024A Bonds, has entered into a distribution
agreement with its affiliate Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated ("MLPF&S"). As part of
this arrangement, BofA Securities, Inc. may distribute securities to MLPF&S, which may in turn distribute
such securities to investors through the financial advisor network of MLPF&S. As part of this
arrangement, BofA Securities, Inc. may compensate MLPF&S as a dealer for their selling efforts with
respect to the Series 2024 A Bonds.
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RATINGS

S&P Global Ratings ("S&P") and Fitch Ratings ("Fitch") have assigned their municipal bond
ratings of "AA-" (stable outlook), and "AA-" (stable outlook), respectively, to the Series 2024A Bonds.
Certain information and materials not included in this Official Statement were furnished to the rating
agencies. Generally, rating agencies base their ratings on the information and materials so furnished and
on investigations, studies and assumptions by the rating agencies. Such credit ratings reflect only the
views of such rating agencies, and an explanation of the respective significance of such credit ratings may
be obtained from the rating agencies. There is no assurance that such credit ratings will continue for any
given period of time or that they will not be revised or withdrawn entirely by any of such rating agencies,
if in their respective judgments circumstances so warrant. A revision or withdrawal of any such credit
rating may have an adverse effect on the market price of the Series 2024A Bonds.

APPROVAL OF LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Certain legal matters incident to the validity of the Series 2024A Bonds and the issuance thereof
by the District are subject to the approval of Greenberg Traurig, P.A., Miami, Florida, Bond Counsel,
whose approving opinion (in the proposed form attached hereto as Appendix C) will be delivered on the
date of issuance of the Series 2024A Bonds. Certain legal matters will be passed on for the District by Roy
Payne, Esq., General Counsel for the District and by Bryant Miller Olive P.A., Orlando, Florida Disclosure
Counsel to the District Marchena and Graham, P.A., Orlando, Florida is acting as counsel for the
Underwriters.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

The District has covenanted for the benefit of the Series 2024A Bondholders to provide certain
financial information and operating data relating to the District and the Series 2024A Bonds in each year
(the "Annual Report"), and to provide notices of the occurrence of certain enumerated material events.
Such covenant shall only apply so long as the Series 2024A Bonds remain Outstanding under the Bond
Resolution. The covenant shall also cease upon the termination of the continuing disclosure requirements
of SEC Rule 15¢2-12(b)(5) (the "Rule") by legislative, judicial or administrative actions. The Annual Report
and the notices of material events will be filed by the District with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking
Board (the "MSRB") via its Electronic Municipal Market Access System commonly referred to as
"EMMA." The specific nature of the information to be contained in the Annual Report and the material
events for which notice will be provided are described in Appendix D - Form of Disclosure Dissemination
Agent Agreement hereto, which shall be executed by the District at the time of issuance the Series 2024A
Bonds. The District has retained the services of Digital Assurance Certification, L.L.C. as its Disclosure
Dissemination Agent to provide information notices to the MSRB. These covenants have been made in
order to assist the Underwriters in complying with the Rule. With respect to the Series 2024A Bonds, no
party other than the District is obligated to provide, nor is expected to provide, any continuing disclosure
information with respect to the aforementioned Rule.

LEGALITY FOR INVESTMENT IN FLORIDA

The Act provides that the Series 2024A Bonds are legal investments for savings banks, banks,
trust companies, insurance companies, executors, administrators, trustees, guardians, and other
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fiduciaries, and for any board, body, agency, instrumentality, county, municipality or other political
subdivision of the State of Florida, and constitute securities which may be deposited by banks or trust
companies as security for deposits of state, county, municipal or other public funds, or by insurance
companies as required or voluntary statutory deposits.

DISCLOSURE REQUIRED BY FLORIDA BLUE SKY LAWS

Section 517.051, Florida Statutes, and the regulations promulgated thereunder require that the
District make a full and fair disclosure of any bonds or other debt obligations that it has issued or
guaranteed and that are or have been in default as to principal or interest at any time after December 31,
1975. The District is not and has not since December 31, 1975 been in default as to principal and interest
on any of its bonds or other debt obligations.

CERTIFICATION CONCERNING OFFICIAL STATEMENT

Concurrently with the delivery of the Series 2024A Bonds, the Chair or the Vice Chair of the
Board of Supervisors of the District will furnish a certificate to the effect that, to the best of his/her
knowledge, the Official Statement (other than information contained therein concerning DTC and its
Book-entry only system) did not, as of its date and does not as of the date of delivery of the Series 2024A
Bonds, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact which is necessary
in order to make the statements contained herein, in the light of the circumstances in which they are
made, not misleading.

MISCELLANEOUS
References to Documents

References in this Official Statement to and excerpts and summaries from legislation, reports,
contracts, the Bond Resolution, the opinion of Bond Counsel to the District and other documents do not
purport to be complete statements of the contents of such documents, and reference is made to such
documents for full and complete statements of the provisions thereof. Copies of the Act, the Bond
Resolution, and the opinion of Bond Counsel to the District are available upon request to the District.

Opinions

Any statement in this Official Statement, including the appendices attached hereto, involving
matters of opinion or estimates, whether or not expressly so stated, are intended as such and not as a
representation of fact.

39



The execution and delivery of this Official Statement have been duly authorized by the Board of
Supervisors of the Central Florida Tourism Oversight District.

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT
DISTRICT

By:

Vice Chair, Board of Supervisors
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w™ Cherry Bekaert*

Report of Independent Auditor

To the District Administrator, Deputy District Administrator, and Board of Supervisors
Central Florida Tourism Oversight District
Lake Buena Vista, Florida

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinions

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information Central Florida Tourism Oversight
District, formerly known as Reedy Creek Improvement District (the “District”), as of and for the year ended
September 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the District's
basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate
remaining fund information of the District, as of September 30, 2023, and the respective changes in financial
position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof and the respective budgetary comparison for the General Fund
for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditors Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be
independent of the District, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical
requirements relating to our audit. We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Responsibilities of Manag for the Fii ial Statt t:

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation,
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events,
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the District’s ability to continue as a going concern
for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information that may raise
substantial doubt shortly thereafter.
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Auditors Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements’

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not absolute assurance and, therefore, is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence
the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing
Standards, we:

« Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

* Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the District's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

e Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise
substantial doubt about the District’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related matters that
we identified during the audit.

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's
discussion and analysis and required supplementary information, as listed in the table of contents, be presented
to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential
part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or
historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of
inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge
we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any
assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express
an opinion or provide any assurance.




Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 28, 2024, on
our consideration of the District’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that
report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control over
financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the District's internal control over financial reporting and
compliance.

C 3&47 Fekant LLF

Orlando, Florida
March 28, 2024
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CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As management of the Central Florida Tourism Oversight District (the “District”), we offer readers of the
District’s financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the District
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023. We encourage readers to consider the information
presented here in conjunction with the District’s financial statements, which follow this section.

Financial Highlights

e The assets plus deferred outflows of resources of the District exceeded liabilities plus deferred
inflows of resources at the close of the most recent fiscal year by $630,136,373 (net position).

e The District's total net position increased during the year by $66,537,334.
e The District's total noncurrent liabilities decreased by $57,234,672 during the year.

e As of September 30, 2023, the District's governmental funds reported combined ending fund
balances of $128,122,682, a decrease of $19,883,927 in comparison with the prior year.
Approximately 24% of this total amount is available for spending at the government's discretion
(unassigned fund balance).

e At September 30, 2023, unassigned fund balance for the general fund was $30,415,784, or 24% of
total general fund expenditures, including transfers.

Overview of the Financial Statements

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the District's basic financial
statements. The District's basic financial statements comprise three components: 1) government-wide
financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements.

Government-wide Financial Statements. The government-wide financial statements are designed to
provide readers with a broad overview of the District's finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector
business.

The statement of net position presents information on all of the District's assets and deferred outflows of
resources, and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, with the difference between the two reported
as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of
whether the financial position of the District is improving or deteriorating.

The statement of activities presents information showing how the government's net position changed
during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying
event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues
and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future
fiscal periods (e.g., arbitrage rebate owed but not due until a future year and earned but unused vacation
leave).



CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Overview of the Financial Statements (continued)

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the District that are principally
supported by taxes and charges for services (governmental activities) from other functions that are
intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-
type activities). The governmental activities of the District include general government, public safety,
physical environment and transportation. The business-type activities of the District include water,
wastewater, reuse, gas, solid waste, chilled water, hot water and electric utility operations. The
government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 14-17 of this report.

Fund Financial Statements. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control
over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The District, like other
state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-
related legal requirements. All of the funds of the District can be divided into three categories:
governmental, proprietary and fiduciary funds.

Governmental funds. Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the
government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term
inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at
the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a government's near-term
financing requirements.

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing
so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government's near-term financing
decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues,
expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison
between governmental funds and governmental activities.

The District maintains three individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the
governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures,
and changes in fund balances for the general fund, debt service fund and the capital projects fund, all of
which are considered to be major funds.

The District adopts an annual legally appropriated budget for its general fund and debt service fund. A
budgetary comparison statement has been provided for the general fund to demonstrate compliance with
this budget. The governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 18-24 of this report.

Proprietary fund. Proprietary funds report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the
government-wide financial statements. The District maintains a proprietary fund, the Utility Fund, which
is an enterprise fund that accounts for eight utility operations. The Utility Fund provides the same type of
information as the government-wide financial statements, only in more detail. The Utility Fund financial
statements can be found on pages 25-29 of this report.
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CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Overview of the Financial Statements (continued)

Fiduciary funds. Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside
the government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because
the resources of those funds are not available to support the District's own programs. The accounting
used for fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds. The basic fiduciary fund financial
statements can be found on pages 30-31 of this report.

Notes to the Financial Statements. The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to
the financial statements begin on page 32 of this report.

Government-wide Financial Analysis

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government's financial
position. In the case of the District, assets plus deferred outflows of resources exceeded liabilities plus
deferred inflows of resources by $630,136,373 at September 30, 2023.

District's Net Position

Governmental activities Business-type activities Total
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Current and noncurrent assets $ 148,576,244 $ 161,883,709 $ 226,836,296 $ 246,767,538 $ 375412540 $ 408,651,247

Capital assets 957,726,780 935,526,776 303,890,494 300,420,959 _ 1,261,617.274 _ 1,235,947,735
Total assets 1,106,303,024 _ 1,097,410,485 530,726,790 547,188,497 _ 1,637,029,814 _ 1,644,598,982
Deferred outflows of resources 50,250,933 58,530,045 982,520 1,683,931 51,233,453 60,213,976
Current liabilities™ 66,820,484 58,923,659 42,935,982 46,900,790 109,756,466 105,824,449
Noncurrent liabilities 775,663,428 810,227,271 143,671,954 166,342,783 919,335,382 976,570,054
Total liabilities 842,483,912 869,150,930 186,607,936 213243573 _ 1,029,091,848 _ 1,082,394,503
Deferred inflows of resources 27,156,201 33,210,832 1,878,845 25,608,583 29,035,046 58,819,415
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 369,915,280 338,020,323 216,126,571 199,545,861 586,041,851 537,566,184
Restricted 2,930,018 1,020,949 52,964,183 53,222,270 55,894,201 54,243,219
Unrestricted (deficit) (85,931,454) (85,462,505) 74,131,775 57,252,141 (11,799,679) (28,210,364)

$ 286,913,844 $§ 253,578,767 $ 343,222,529 $§ 310,020.272 $ 630,136,373 $ 563,599,039

*includes current liabilities payable from restricted assets



CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Government-wide Financial Analysis (continued)

The District's net position includes: 1) net investment in capital assets (e.g., land, land improvements,
buildings, machinery and equipment), less any related debt used to acquire those assets that is still
outstanding and deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources attributable to the
acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets or related debt. The District uses these capital
assets to provide infrastructure and services to businesses operating within the District; consequently,
these assets are not available for future spending. Although the District's investment in its capital assets
is reported net of related debt, it should be noted the resources needed to repay this debt must be
provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these
liabilities; 2) net position restricted by contract or enabling legislation for nonoperating uses such as
capital and debt service, 3) net position assigned by the Board of Supervisors to be used for a specific
purpose such as emergency reserves and 4) unrestricted net position (deficit). The net investment in
capital assets continues to increase as the related debt is paid.

Governmental activities. Governmental activities reflect negative unrestricted net position balances
primarily due to the District's net pension liability and net OPEB liability. The District recognized an
increase in the proportionate share of the Florida Retirement System (FRS) pension liability, due largely
to the passage of Senate Bill 7024, which increased the level of monthly benefits in the HIS Program.

The increase in ad valorem tax revenues is primarily the result of an increase in assessed values from
the prior year. Interest and investment income was positive during the year after unrealized losses on
investments in the prior year. The increase in general government expenses was due to an increase in
personnel and operating costs associated with the transition to the new District with the passage of
Chapter 2023-5, a significant increase in legal services for general counsel and litigation services related
to pending lawsuits, and a self-reported IRS tax liability associated with the Disney passes and discounts
previously provided to employees and retirees. The increase in public safety expenses was largely due
to the newly approved A Unit union contract for emergency services. The increase in transportation
expenses was due to budgeted roadway improvements.

(Remainder of page intentionally left blank)

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Government-wide Financial Analysis (continued)

Revenues:

Program revenues:
Charges for services
Intergovernmental
Capital contributions

Total program revenues
General revenues:
Ad valorem taxes - net
Interest and investment gain (loss)
Nonoperating revenue
Gain on disposal of capital assets

Total general revenues
Total revenues
Expenses:
General government
Public safety
Physical environment
Transportation
Utility operations
Loss on disposal of capital assets

Interest on debt
Total expenses

Change in net position
Net position - beginning

Net position - ending

District's Change in Net Position

Governmental activities Business-type activities Total
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

$ 4,094,426 $ 3,734,230 $ 189,116,897 $ 170,128,384 $ 193,211,323 $ 173,862,614
- 446,263 - - - 446,263
64,553 441,953 487,203 707,891 551,756 1,149,844
4,158,979 4,622,446 189,604,100 170,836,275 193,763,079 175,458,721
179,283,918 161,996,588 - - 179,283,918 161,996,588
7,952,993 (3,699,682) 5,685,300 (5,103,608) 13,638,293 (8,803,290)
- 565,055 - 438,896 - 1,003,951
- 169,513 - - - 169,513
187,236,911 159,031,474 5,685,300 (4,664,712) 192,922,211 154,366,762
191,395,890 163,653,920 195,289,400 166,171,563 386,685,290 329,825,483
26,461,034 18,518,558 - - 26,461,034 18,518,558
59,061,885 46,243,331 - - 59,061,885 46,243,331
12,311,541 10,555,304 - - 12,311,541 10,555,304
38,600,761 33,909,035 - - 38,600,761 33,909,035
- - 158,413,109 149,446,775 158,413,109 149,446,775

292,141 - - - 292,141 -
21,333,451 22,614,007 3,674,034 4,145,738 25,007,485 26,759,745
158,060,813 131,840,235 162,087,143 153,692,613 320,344,575 285,432,748
33,335,077 31,813,685 33,202,257 12,579,050 66,537,334 44,392,735
253,578,767 221,765,082 310,020,272  297,441222 563,599,039 519,206,304
$ 286,913,844 $ 253578,767 $ 343,222,529 $ 310,020,272 $ 630,136,373 $ 563,599,039




CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Government-wide Financial Analysis (continued)
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CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Government-wide Financial Analysis (continued)

Business-type activities. Assets and liabilities decreased with the paydown of utility system debt.
Charges for services were higher due to an increase in utility rates from the prior year. Interest and
investment income was positive during the year after unrealized losses on investments in the prior year.
Labor and operating expenses increased in fiscal year 2023 with normal inflationary impacts.
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Financial Analysis of the Government's Funds

As noted earlier, the District uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-
related legal requirements.

Governmental funds. The focus of the District's governmental funds is to provide information on near
term inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the
District's financing requirements. In particular, unreserved fund balance may serve as a useful measure
of a government's net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year.

As of September 30, 2023, the District's governmental funds reported combined fund balances of
$128,122,682. Approximately 24% of this total amount constitutes unassigned fund balance, which is
available for spending at the government's discretion. The remainder of fund balance is nonspendable,
committed, restricted or assigned. Restricted amounts are not available for general spending as those
amounts have been reserved to pay for capital projects from bond proceeds and debt service payments.
Committed amounts are set-aside to pay for projects from drainage fees or property appraiser
settlements as directed by the Board of Supervisors. Assigned amounts have also been designated by
the Board of Supervisors for emergency reserves.



CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Financial Analysis of the Government's Funds (continued)

The general fund is the chief operating fund of the District. At September 30, 2023, unassigned fund
balance of the general fund was $30,415,784, while total fund balance reached $44,145,794. As a
measure of the general fund's liquidity, it may be useful to compare both unassigned fund balance and
total fund balance to total fund expenditures. Unassigned fund balance represents 24% of the total
general fund expenditures (including transfers), while total fund balance represents 34% of that same
amount. The fund balance of the District's general fund increased by $1,436,673. While the District
budgeted a drawdown of over $8 million in the general fund in FY2023, the delay in certain roadway
improvement projects that are anticipated to be completed in FY2024 resulted in the increase in fund
balance.

The debt service fund has a total fund balance of $2,930,018, an increase of $1,909,069 from the prior
year. The increase was due to an increase in assessed values and an increase in interest and
investment income.

The capital projects fund has a total fund balance of $81,046,870, a decrease of $23,229,669 from the
prior year. The decrease was due to expenditures related to transportation improvement projects, which
were offset somewhat by the increase in interest and investment income.

Proprietary fund. At September 30, 2023, the unrestricted net position of the Utility Fund amounted to
$73,275,514, an increase of $16,023,373 from the prior year. The increase is due to increases in utility
revenues resulting from a utility rate increase in the current year, which more than offset inflationary
increases in expenses. The restricted net position amounted to $52,964,183, the bulk of which is
restricted for debt service.

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

There were no amendments to the budget in fiscal year 2023. Minor transfers between activity budgets
had no effect on total revenues or total expense.

Capital Asset and Debt Administration

Capital Assets. The District's investment in capital assets for its governmental and business type
activities as of September 30, 2023 amounted to $1,261,617,274, net of accumulated depreciation and
amortization. This represents an increase of $25,669,539. The primary driver for the increase was

ongoing capital projects as described above.

Additional information on the District's capital assets can be found in Note 5 of the financial statements.

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Capital Asset and Debt Administration (continued)

District's Capital Assets

(net of depreciation and amortization)

Governmental activities Business-type activities Total
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Land $ 2,992,490 $ 2,992,490 $ 6,896,164 $ 6,896,164 $ 9,888,654 $ 9,888,654
Buildings 233,419,152 241,780,450 19,292,902 19,951,451 252,712,054 261,731,901
Improvements other than

buildings - - 138,687,523 112,837,258 138,687,523 112,837,258
Machinery and equipment 7,279,289 6,176,223 117,306,684 103,015,005 124,585,973 109,191,228
Infrastructure 699,173,360 642,378,810 - - 699,173,360 642,378,810
Right-to-use subscription assets 603,179 - 914,021 - 1,517,200 -
Construction in progress 14,259,310 42,198,803 20,793,200 57,721,081 35,052,510 99,919,884
Total $ 957,726,780 $§ 935,526,776 $ 303,890,494 $ 300,420,959 $ 1.261,617,274 $ 1,235,947,735

Long-term debt. At September 30, 2023, the District had total long-term bonded debt outstanding of
$854,889,993. Of this amount, $689,204,959 was comprised of debt backed by the full faith and credit of
the District and $165,685,034 was secured by the revenues generated by the District's utilities. During
fiscal 2023, the District's total long-term debt decreased by $62,610,863 (7%) with the paydown of both
ad valorem and utility revenue debt.

The District has received ratings of "AA-" from Standard and Poor's, "AA-" from Fitch and "Aa3" from
Moody's for the Ad Valorem Tax general obligation bonds and ratings of "A-" from Standard and Poor's,
"A" from Fitch and "A1" from Moody's for the Utility Revenue bonds. Additional information on the
District's long-term debt can be found in Note 7 of the financial statements.

District's Outstanding Long-term Debt

General Obligation and Revenue Bonds

Governmental activities Business-type activities Total
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
General obligation bonds $ 689,204,959 $ 728,451,073 $ - $ $ 689,204,959 § 728,451,073

Revenue bonds and notes from

direct borrowings 165,685,034 189,049,783 165,685,034 189,049,783

Total $ 689204959 $§ 728451073 $§ 165,685,034 $ 189,049,783 $ 854,889,993 $§ 917,500,856




CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Capital Asset and Debt Administration (continued)

Infrastructure Assets. As demonstrated in the Required Supplementary Information on pages 76-88 of
this report, there have been no significant changes in the assessed condition of the bridges, roads and
water control structures that use the modified approach for infrastructure reporting. There is an ongoing
program to repair the remaining water control structures considered in good condition. The current
conditions of the remaining assets are within the established levels maintained by the District.

Economic Factors and Next Year's Budget and Rates

Assessed property values underlying the District's fiscal year 2024 budget and millage rate determination
reflect the impact of any Orange County Property Appraiser revaluations of property value assessments
as a result of Court of Appeals' recommendations.

e The unemployment rate of the Central Florida area is currently averaging 3.2%. This is slightly more
than the state average of 3.1% and less than the national unemployment average of 3.7%.

o Fiscal year 2024 assessed values increased 14.1%. Millage rates decreased overall by 0.9500 mills
as a result of increased assessed values, even though there is a budgeted increase in operating
expenses.

¢ Inflationary trends in the region compare to national indices.

Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the District's finances for all those with
an interest in the District's finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report

or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the Central Florida Tourism
Oversight District, CFO, 1900 Hotel Plaza Blvd., P.O. Box 690519, Orlando, Florida 32869-0519.
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CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

September 30, 2023

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents - restricted

Investments

Investments - restricted

Accounts receivable, net

Due from other governments

Internal balances

Inventories

Prepaids

Deposits

Derivative fuel instruments

Other assets

Capital assets not being depreciated

Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation
Total assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred fuel cost

Loss on defeased debt due to refundings

Deferred outflow of resources related to pensions

Deferred outflow of resources related to OPEB
Total deferred outflows of resources

Primary Government

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total

25,698,257 $ 18,590,856 $ 44,289,113
44,859,295 64,369,820 109,229,115
26,450,838 30,813,363 57,264,201
48,709,097 71,775,603 120,484,700
435,266 25,585,841 26,021,107
929,608 - 929,608
(1,035,332) 1,035,332 -

- 12,287,132 12,287,132

- 480,000 480,000

236,741 - 236,741

- 1,875,349 1,875,349

2,292,474 23,000 2,315,474
716,425,160 27,689,364 744,114,524
241,301,620 276,201,130 517,502,750
1,106,303,024 530,726,790 1,637,029,814
- 982,520 982,520

19,928,544 - 19,928,544
15,431,339 - 15,431,339
14,891,050 - 14,891,050
50,250,933 982,520 51,233,453
(Continued)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

September 30, 2023

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Accounts payable from restricted assets
Compensated absences
Self insurance liability
Subscription liability
Bonds and notes payable
Accrued interest payable
Noncurrent liabilities:
Compensated absences
Self insurance liability
Subscription liability
Net pension liability
Net OPERB liability
Bonds and notes payable
Total

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Accumulated increase in fair value of derivative
instruments

Gain on defeased debt due to refundings

Deferred inflow of resources related to pensions

Deferred inflow of resources related to OPEB
Total deferred inflows of resources

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for:
Debt service
Renewal and replacement
Emergency repairs
Unrestricted (deficit)

Total net position

Primary Government

Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities Total
11,280,838 15,640,368 26,921,206
8,987,835 2,264,684 11,252,519
1,791,550 - 1,791,550
1,318,356 - 1,318,356
120,675 191,341 312,016
35,710,000 22,678,000 58,388,000
7,611,230 2,161,589 9,772,819
1,499,919 - 1,499,919
4,627,564 - 4,627,564
375,050 664,920 1,039,970
65,121,315 - 65,121,315
50,544,621 - 50,544,621
653,494,959 143,007,034 796,501,993
842,483,912 186,607,936  1,029,091,848
- 1,875,349 1,875,349
- 3,496 3,496
7,022,016 - 7,022,016
20,134,185 - 20,134,185
27,156,201 1,878,845 29,035,046
369,915,280 216,126,571 586,041,851
2,930,018 48,706,119 51,636,137
- 3,758,064 3,758,064
- 500,000 500,000
(85,931,454) 74,131,775 (11,799,679)
$ 286,913,844 $§ 343,222,529 $ 630,136,373

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Period Ended September 30, 2023

Governmental Activities Expenses by Function

Total Total
Business-type Governmental General Physical
Total Activities Activities Government Public Safety Environment Transportation Debt Service
Expenses:
Labor $ 99,555,114 § 32,094,453 § 67,460,661 $ 8,974,379 $ 49,968,254 $ 7,358,271 § 1,159,757 $ -
Operating expenses 159,638,471 102,369,752 57,268,719 16,238,164 6,702,919 4,687,170 29,640,466 -
Depreciation and amortization 33,516,456 21,810,615 11,705,841 1,248,491 2,390,712 266,100 7,800,538 -
Nonoperating expenses 2,138,289 2,138,289 - - - - - -
Loss on disposal of capital assets 292,141 - 292,141 - 99,328 - 192,813 -
Interest on debt 25,007,485 3,674,034 21,333,451 - - - - 21,333,451
Total expenses 320,147,956 162,087,143 158,060,813 26,461,034 59,161,213 12,311,541 38,793,574 21,333,451
Program revenues:
Charges for services 193,211,323 189,116,897 4,094,426 351,017 3,558,252 185,157 - -
Capital contributions 551,756 487,203 64,553 - - 64,553 - -
Total program revenues 193,763,079 189,604,100 4,158,979 351,017 3,558,252 249,710 - -
Net program expense (revenue) 126,384,877 (27,516,957) 153,901,834 $ 26,110,017 § 55602961 § 12,061,831 § 38793574 § 21,333,451
General revenues:
Ad valorem taxes 179,283,918 - 179,283,918
Interest and investment income 13,638,293 5,685,300 7,952,993
Total general revenues 192,922,211 5,685,300 187,236,911
Change in net position 66,537,334 33,202,257 33,335,077
Total net position - beginning 563,599,039 310,020,272 253,578,767
Total net position - ending $ 630,136,373 $ 343222529 $ 286,913,844
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
BALANCE SHEET - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
September 30, 2023

Total
Capital Governmental
General Debt Service Projects Funds
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 25698257 § 1,269,762 $ 43,589,533 $ 70,557,552
Investments 26,450,838 1,350,155 47,358,942 75,159,935
Accounts receivable, net 435,266 - - 435,266
Due from other funds 43,419 - - 43,419
Due from other governments 619,312 310,296 - 929,608
Deposits 236,741 - - 236,741
Other assets 2,118,923 - - 2,118,923
Total assets $ 55602756 § 2,930,213 $§ 90,948475 $ 149,481,444
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 11,292,176 $ 195 $§ 8,987,640 $ 20,280,011
Due to other funds 164,786 - 913,965 1,078,751
Total liabilities 11,456,962 195 9,901,605 21,358,762
Fund balances:
Nonspendable:
Other assets 2,118,923 - - 2,118,923
Committed
Drainage system 4,611,087 - - 4,611,087
Property appraiser disputes 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000
Restricted:
Capital projects - - 81,046,870 81,046,870
Debt service - 2,930,018 - 2,930,018
Assigned:
Emergency reserves 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000
Unassigned 30,415,784 - - 30,415,784
Total fund balances 44,145,794 2,930,018 81,046,870 $ 128,122,682
Total liabilities and fund balances $ 55602756 $ 2,930,213 $ 90,948,475

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET TO
THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

September 30, 2023

Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds $ 128,122,682

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position are different
because:

Accrued interest payable on bonds not currently due is not reported in the funds. (7,599,892)

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and, therefore, are not
reported in the funds. 957,726,780

Some liabilities, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources, including
those related to bonds payable, pensions, OPEB and other liabilities are not due and payable

in the current period and therefore are not reported in the funds. (791,335,726)
Net position of governmental activities $ 286,913,844

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

For the Period Ended September 30, 2023

REVENUES

Ad valorem taxes

Emergency services

Building permits and fees
Drainage fees

Interest and investment income
Other

Total revenues
EXPENDITURES

CURRENT:
General government
Public safety
Physical environment
Transportation
Capital outlay

DEBT SERVICE:
Principal
Interest
Fees and other charges
Total expenditures
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under) expenditures

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Lease proceeds

Net change in fund balances

Fund Balances, beginning of year
Fund Balances, end of year

Capital

General Debt Service Projects Total
119,436,439 $ 59,847,479 - $ 179,283,918
81,730 - - 81,730
3,476,522 - - 3,476,522
64,553 - - 64,553
3,179,088 902,264 3,871,641 7,952,993
625,253 - - 625,253
126,863,585 60,749,743 3,871,641 191,484,969
24,270,721 - - 24,270,721
52,336,501 - - 52,336,501
11,416,922 - - 11,416,922
30,701,157 - - 30,701,157
7,185,755 - 27,101,310 34,287,065
206,090 34,170,000 - 34,376,090
11,581 24,348,499 - 24,360,080
- 322,175 - 322,175
126,128,727 58,840,674 27,101,310 212,070,711
734,858 1,909,069  (23,229,669) (20,585,742)
701,815 - - 701,815
1,436,673 1,909,069  (23,229,669) (19,883,927)
42,709,121 1,020,949 104,276,539 148,006,609
44145794 § 2,930,018 $ 81,046,870 $ 128,122,682

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND

BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For the Period Ended September 30, 2023

Net Change in Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities are
different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the
statement of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated
useful lives and reported as depreciation and amortization expense. This is the
amount by which capital outlays exceeded depreciation and amortization in the
current period.

The net effect of miscellaneous transactions involving capital assets resulted in a
decrease in net position.

Governmental funds report the payment of bond principal and interest when the
current financial resources are available and payments are due and they report
the payment of issuance costs, premiums, discounts, and similar items when
debt is first issued. However, on the statement of activities, interest is accrued.

Increases and decreases in other liabilities, deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources reported as expenses in the statement of activities
not requiring the use of current financial resources in governmental funds.

Change in net position of governmental activities

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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$ (19,883,927)

22,581,224

(381,218)

37,185,048

(6,166,050)

$ 33,335,077



CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

GENERAL FUND
For the Period Ended September 30, 2023

Budgeted Amounts

Variance with

REVENUES
Ad valorem taxes $119,323,256 $119,323,256 $ 119,436,439 $ 113,183
Emergency services - - 81,730 81,730
Building permits and fees 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,476,522 226,522
Drainage fees - - 64,553 64,553
Interest and investment income 135,000 135,000 3,179,088 3,044,088
Other 460,000 460,000 625,253 165,253
Total revenues 123,168,256 123,168,256 126,863,585 3,695,329
EXPENDITURES
GENERAL GOVERNMENT
Administrative:
Labor 3,838,435 3,838,435 4,071,328 (232,893)
Operating 7,063,410 7,723,410 11,856,547 (4,133,137)
10,901,845 11,561,845 15,927,875 (4,366,030)
Human Resources:
Labor 1,121,164 1,121,164 979,618 141,546
Operating 378,650 378,650 221,374 157,276
1,499,814 1,499,814 1,200,992 298,822
Information Systems & Technology:
Labor 1,968,616 1,968,616 1,912,002 56,614
Operating 3,687,875 3,687,875 3,031,423 656,452
Capital outlay 837,500 837,500 1,288,091 (450,591)
6,493,991 6,493,991 6,231,516 262,475
Property Management:
Labor 1,272,974 1,272,974 1,244,846 28,128
Operating 1,048,700 1,050,700 953,583 97,117
Capital outlay 75,000 75,000 68,356 6,644
2,396,674 2,398,674 2,266,785 131,889
TOTAL GENERAL GOVERNMENT 21,292,324 21,954,324 25,627,168 (3.672,844)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
22

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

GENERAL FUND
For the Period Ended September 30, 2023

Budgeted Amounts

Variance with

Original Final Actual Final Budget
PUBLIC SAFETY
Building & Safety:
Labor 5,210,203 5,210,203 4,902,682 307,521
Operating 581,250 581,250 572,598 8,652
5,791,453 5,791,453 5,475,280 316,173
Emergency Services:
Labor 34,902,501 34,902,501 40,285,325 (5,382,824)
Operating 4,313,017 4,313,017 3,766,687 546,330
Capital outlay 904,500 904,500 1,068,582 (164,082)
40,120,018 _ 40,120,018 45,120,594 (5,000,576)
Property Management:
Labor 328,085 328,085 445,575 (117,490)
Operating 2,932,000 2,930,000 2,363,634 566,366
Capital outlay 1,598,000 1,598,000 2,120,045 (522,045)
4,858,085 4,856,085 4,929,254 (73,169)
TOTAL PUBLIC SAFETY 50,769,556 _ 50,767,556 55,525,128 (4,757,572)
PHYSICAL ENVIRONMENT
Environmental Sciences:
Labor 4,008,581 4,008,581 4,135,552 (126,971)
Operating 2,099,000 1,465,000 1,305,221 159,779
Capital outlay 124,000 98,000 90,659 7,341
6,231,581 5,571,581 5,531,432 40,149
Planning & Engineering:
Labor 2,512,053 2,512,053 2,594,181 (82,128)
Operating 1,361,746 1,511,746 974,264 537,482
Capital outlay 30,000 30,000 - 30,000
3,903,799 4,053,799 3,568,445 485,354
Water Control:
Operating 4,057,500 4,057,500 2,012,038 2,045,462

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN

FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

GENERAL FUND

For the Period Ended September 30, 2023

Budgeted Amounts
Variance with
Original Final Actual Final Budget
Property Management:
Operating 268,900 268,900 395,666 (126,766)
Capital outlay 4,300,000 4,300,000 2,519,880 1,780,120
4,568,900 4,568,900 2,915,546 1,653,354
TOTAL PHYSICAL ENVIRONMENT 18,761,780 _ 18,251,780 14,027,461 4,224,319
TRANSPORTATION
Roadway Maintenance:
Labor 395,463 395,463 256,997 138,466
Operating 29,493,370 29,343,370 20,855,716 8,487,654
29,888,833 29,738,833 21,112,713 8,626,120
Parking Facilities:
Labor 786,677 786,677 803,694 (17,017)
Operating 10,162,950 10,162,950 8,784,750 1,378,200
Capital outlay 60,000 60,000 30,142 29,858
11,009,627 11,009,627 9,618,586 1,391,041
TOTAL TRANSPORTATION 40,898,460 40,748,460 30,731,299 10,017,161
DEBT SERVICE
Principal - - 206,090 (206,090)
Interest - - 11,581 (11,581)
TOTAL DEBT SERVICE - - 217,671 (217,671)
Total expenditures 131,722,120 131,722,120 126,128,727 5,593,393
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under) expenditures (8,553,864) (8,553,864) 734,858 9,288,722
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Lease proceeds - - 701,815 701,815
Net change in fund balance $ (8,553,864) $ (8,553,864) 1,436,673 $ 9,990,537
Fund Balance, beginning of year 42,709,121
Fund Balance, end of year $ 44145794

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - UTILITY FUND
September 30, 2023

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Accounts receivable, net
Due from other funds
Inventories
Prepaids
Derivative fuel instruments
Restricted assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Total current assets
Noncurrent assets:
Investments
Restricted investments
Capital assets:
Land
Construction in progress
Buildings
Improvements other than buildings
Machinery and equipment
Right-to-use subscription assets
Less accumulated depreciation
Total capital assets
Other assets
Total noncurrent assets
Total assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred fuel cost
Total deferred outflows of resources

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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$ 18,590,856
14,121,460
25,585,841

1,078,751
12,287,132
480,000
1,875,349

64,369,820
38,900,120
177,289,329

16,691,903
32,875,483

6,896,164
20,793,200
67,345,692

315,583,029
466,847,006
1,075,319
574,649,916)
303,890,494
23,000
353,480,880
530,770,209

982,520
982,520

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - UTILITY FUND
September 30, 2023

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Subscription liabilities
Due to other funds
Total current liabilities
Current liabilities payable from restricted assets:
Bonds and notes payable
Accrued interest payable
Contracts and retainage payable
Total current liabilities payable from restricted assets
Long-term liabilities:
Bonds and notes payable
Subscription liabilities
Total long-term liabilities
Total liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Accumulated increase in the fair value of derivative instruments
Gain on defeased debt due to refundings

Total deferred inflows of resources

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for debt service

Restricted for renewal and replacement
Restricted for emergency repairs
Unrestricted

Total net position

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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15,666,269
191,341
43,419

15,901,029

22,678,000
2,135,688

2,264,684
27,078,372

143,007,034
664,920
143,671,954

186,651,355

1,875,349
3,496
1,878,845

216,126,571
48,706,119
3,758,064
500,000

74,131,775

$

343,222,529
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CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

OPERATING REVENUES
Utility sales
Total operating revenues

OPERATING EXPENSES

Purchased power and fuel

Labor support

Operating costs

Taxes

Repairs and maintenance

Insurance

Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses

Operating income

UTILITY FUND
For the Period Ended September 30, 2023

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)

Interest and investment income
Interest expense

Loss on retirement of plant assets

Total nonoperating expenses, net

Income before contributions

Capital contributions

Increase in net position

Total net position - beginning

Total net position - ending

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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$ 189,116,897
189,116,897

69,743,241
32,094,453
16,762,182
3,201,550
11,311,554
1,351,225
21,810,615
156,274,820

32,842,077

5,685,300
(3,674,034)
(2.138,289)

(127,023)

32,715,054

487,203
33,202,257

310,020,272
$ 343,222,529



CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
UTILITY FUND UTILITY FUND
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 For the Year Ended September 30, 2023
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided by operating activities
Receipts from customers $ 188,196,331 Operating income $ 32,842,077
Payments to suppliers (109,876,775) Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Payments for labor contract and management service agreement (28,049,890) Depreciation and amortization expense 21,810,615
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 50,269,666 Change in assets, liabilities and deferred inflows and outflows of resources:
- Accounts receivable (920,566)
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES Inventories 1,381,210
Purchases of capital assets (23,789,770) Accounts payable and accrued liabilities and subscription liabilities (5,377,346)
Proceeds from sale of capital assets (2,043,387) Due to other funds (167,735)
Principal paid on bonds (22,707,000) Deferred fuel 701,411
Interest paid on bonds (4,619,886) Net cash provided by operating activities $ 50,269,666
Capital contributions 487,203
Net cash provided (used) by capital and related financing activities (52,672,840)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of investments (126,050,243)
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments 157,617,643
Interest and investment loss 5,685,300
Net cash provided (used) by investing activities 37,252,700
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 34,849,526
Balances - beginning of the year 48,111,150
Balances - end of the year $ 82,960,676
Unrestricted $ 18,590,856
Restricted 64,369,820
$_82960676
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
FIDUCIARY FUND

September 30, 2023

ASSETS
Trust cash
Trust investments

Total Assets

FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

Restricted for other postemployment benefits

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Benefits Trust

$

15,044,082
16,527,216

$

Other Post-
Employment

1,483,134

16,527,216

A-19

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

For the Period Ended September 30, 2023

ADDITIONS:

Employer contributions

Net investment gain
Investment gain
Investment expense

Total net investment gain

Total Additions

DEDUCTIONS:
Benefits paid on behalf of participants

Net increase in fiduciary net position
Fiduciary net position - October 1, 2022

Fiduciary net position - September 30, 2023

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

FIDUCIARY FUND
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Other Post-
Employment
Benefit Trust

$ 3,072,626

375,140
14,311
360,829

3,433,455

2,058,314

1,375,141
15,152,075

$ 16,527,216



CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year Ended September 30, 2023

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A.

Reporting Entity

Reedy Creek Improvement District (RCID) was a public corporation of the State of Florida
("State"), Chapter 67-764 Laws of Florida, created on May 12, 1967 by a special act of the
legislature. On February 27, 2023, Governor DeSantis signed into law House Bill 9-B, which
was passed by the Florida Senate on February 10, 2023 during another special legislative
session, and by vote of the Florida House on February 9, 2023. The bill, as written, ratified and
confirmed the continued existence of RCID under a new name, the Central Florida Tourism
Oversight District (the "District"). The bill provided legislative intent concerning the District's
authority to generate revenue and pay outstanding indebtedness, without interruption,
pursuant to transitional provisions of the Florida Constitution for pre-1968 special districts. The
bill retained the District's necessary authority related to taxation and the issuance of bonds.

The bill authorized the District to continue to do business as RCID for up to two years following
the effective date of the bill to provide time to make necessary changes to legal and financial
documents, physical assets and other locations where the RCID name is used. The bill
incorporated a number of changes to the District's charter, the most significant of which
included the following:

e Replaced the landowner-elected Board with a five-member Board newly appointed by the
Governor and confirmed by the Senate for four-year terms, for up to three consecutive
terms, except that for the initial appointments made during 2023, two members were
appointed to serve terms of two years.

* Removed the District's ability to amend its own boundaries without a special act.

e Removed the District's ability to own and operate airport facilities, certain types of
recreational facilities (such as stadiums, civic center and convention halls) and "novel and
experimental” facilities (such as a nuclear fission power plant).

The District includes approximately 25,000 acres of land in Orange and Osceola Counties.
Walt Disney World Co. or other wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Walt Disney Company own
substantially all the land within the District. As outlined in Chapter 67-764, the District was
organized to provide for the reclamation, drainage, and irrigation of land, to establish water,
flood, and erosion control, to provide water and sewer systems and waste collection and
disposal facilities, to provide for mosquito and other pest controls, to provide for public utilities,
to create and maintain conservation areas, to provide streets, roads, bridges and street
lighting facilities, and to adopt zoning and building codes and regulations.
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CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
Year Ended September 30, 2023

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED

A.

Reporting Entity - Continued

The accompanying financial statements present the financial position and changes in financial
position of the applicable fund types governed by the Board of Supervisors of the District in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Determination of the financial reporting entity of the District is founded upon the objective of
accountability. Therefore, the financial statements include only the District (the primary
government). There are no legally separate component units for which operational or financial
responsibility rest with officials of the District or for which the nature and significance of their
relationship to the District are such that exclusion would cause the financial statements to be
misleading.

Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the
statement of activities) report information on all nonfiduciary activities of the primary
government. Fiduciary activities are reported only in the fund financial statements. As
required by generally accepted governmental accounting principles, the effect of interfund
activity has been removed from these statements. Governmental activities, which normally
are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from
business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support.

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses, of a given
function or segment, are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are
clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment. Program revenues include 1) charges to
customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or
privileges provided by a given function or segment and 2) contributions that are restricted to
meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and
other items not properly included among program revenues are reported instead as general
revenues.

Separate financial statements are provided for the governmental funds, the proprietary fund
and the fiduciary fund. All governmental funds and the proprietary fund are considered to be
major funds and are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements. The OPEB
trust fund is reported as a separate financial statement and is not included in the government-
wide financial statements.
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CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
Year Ended September 30, 2023

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED

C.

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund and
fiduciary fund financial statements. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are
recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Property
taxes are recognized as revenue in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items
are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have
been met.

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized
as soon as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available
when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of
the current period. For this purpose, the government considers revenues to be available if
they are collected within sixty days of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures
generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, debt
service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences and claims
and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due.

Property taxes, licenses, and interest associated with the current fiscal period are all
considered to be susceptible to accrual and have been recognized as revenues of the current
fiscal period. All other revenue items are generally not measurable and available until the
District receives cash.

The District reports the following major governmental funds:

General Fund - The District's primary operating fund accounts for all financial resources of
the general government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund.

Debt Service Fund - Accounts for resources accumulated and payments made for
principal and interest on long-term general obligation debt of governmental funds.

Capital Projects Fund - Accounts for the financial resources to be used for the acquisition
or construction of major general government capital projects.
The District reports the following major proprietary fund:

Utility Fund - Accounts for activities of the following District systems: wastewater collection
and treatment; potable water production, treatment, storage, pumping and distribution;
reclaimed water distribution; electric generation and distribution; chilled water; hot water;
natural gas distribution; and solid waste and recyclables collection and transfer.

34

A-21
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CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
Year Ended September 30, 2023

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED

C.

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation -
Continued

Additionally, the District reports the following fiduciary fund type:

Other Postemployment Benefits Trust Fund - Accounts for the receipt and disbursement
of assets held in trust for eligible participants of other postemployment benefits of the
District.

As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-
wide financial statements. Exceptions to this general rule are payments-in-lieu of taxes and
other charges between the government's water and sewer function and various other functions
of the government. Elimination of these charges would distort the direct costs and program
revenues reported for the various functions concerned.

Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for
goods, services, or privileges provided and 2) capital contributions, including special
assessments. Internally dedicated resources are reported as general revenues rather than
program revenues. Likewise, general revenues include all taxes. Bad debt expense, if any,
reduces revenues.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and
delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. The
principal operating revenues of the District's proprietary fund are charges to customers for
sales and services. The District also recognizes as operating revenue connection fees which
are to recover the expense of connecting new customers to the system. Operating expenses
for the proprietary fund includes the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and
depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are
reported as non-operating revenues and expenses. When both restricted and unrestricted
resources are available for use, it is the government's policy to use restricted resources first,
then unrestricted resources as they are needed.

Property Taxes

Property taxes are billed and collected within the same fiscal period, and are reflected on the
modified accrual basis. Ad Valorem taxes on property values have a lien and assessment
date of January 1, with millage established during the preceding September. The fiscal year
for which taxes are levied begins October 1. Taxes, which are billed in November, carry a
maximum discount available through November 30, and become delinquent April 1. State
Statutes permit the District to levy property taxes at a rate up to 30 mills. The millage rates
assessed by the District for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023 were 9.2600 for
General Operating and 4.6400 for Debt Service.
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CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
Year Ended September 30, 2023

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED

E.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments

Cash balances from the majority of funds are pooled for investment purposes. Earnings from
such investments are allocated to the respective funds based on applicable balances
maintained in the pool by each fund. Holdings in the pool, for purposes of these statements,
are allocated to the participating funds based on their equity.

Cash and cash equivalents consist of non-interest bearing demand deposits and money
market funds and investments with an original maturity of three months or less when
purchased. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at cost, which approximates fair value.

Investments are stated at fair value based upon quoted market prices or matrix pricing for
certain fixed income securities. Investments are further explained in Notes 3, 10 and 13,
Deposits and Investments, Other Postemployment Benefits and Fair Value Measurements,
respectively.

Inventories

Utility Fund inventories consist of materials, supplies and fuel. All items are held for use only
and are valued at cost.

Restricted Assets

Certain assets in the debt service fund, capital projects fund and utility fund are restricted as to
use by specific provisions of bond resolutions. These assets are classified as restricted
assets on the statement of net position.

Capital Assets

Infrastructure improvements such as roads, bridges, canals, curbs, gutters, sidewalks,
drainage systems and lighting systems are recorded as capital expenditures in the various
governmental funds at the time of purchase. These assets are presented as capital assets in
the government-wide statement of net position for governmental activities. Infrastructure
assets are not depreciated and are accounted for using the modified approach, as further
explained in the Required Supplementary Information. Condition assessments are periodically
performed and preservation and maintenance costs are reflected as expenses in the
government-wide statement of activities under transportation expenses.

Land, buildings, plant, machinery and equipment are carried on the statement of net position
for governmental activities and business-type activities at cost, except for contributed assets,
which are recorded at acquisition value at the date of contribution. The District's capitalization
threshold is $5,000. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
lives of the assets.
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CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

Year Ended September 30, 2023

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED

H.

Capital Assets - Continued

Subscription-based information technology arrangements ("SBITAs") are initially measured at
an amount equal to the initial measurement of the related SBITA liability plus any SBITA
payments made prior to the subscription term, less SBITA incentives, plus any ancillary
charges necessary to place the SBITA into services. SBITAs assets are amortized on a
straight-line basis over the life of the related contract. Assets are depreciated or amortized as
follows:

Buildings and land improvements 30-50 years
Improvements, including utility distribution

and collection systems 30-50 years
Machinery and equipment 3-30 years
Right-to-use subscription assets 1-5 years

Repairs and maintenance are expensed when incurred. Additions, major renewals and
replacements, which increase the useful lives of the assets, are capitalized.

Deferred Amount on Refunding

For current and advance refundings resulting in defeasance of debt, the difference between
the reacquisition price and the net carrying amount of the old debt is deferred and amortized
using the effective interest method over the remaining life of the old debt or the life of the new
debt, whichever is shorter. Deferred amounts are presented as a deferred outflow of
resources or deferred inflow of resources in the Statement of Net Position.

Compensated Absences

In the Government-wide financial statements, compensated absences are recorded as a
liability when the benefits are earned. The current portion is the amount accrued during the
year that would normally be liquidated with available, expendable resources in the next fiscal
year. In the fund statements, expenditures are recognized when payments are due to the
employee.
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CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
Year Ended September 30, 2023

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED

K.

Fund Balances

In the Governmental Fund financial statements, fund balances are classified as follows:

Nonspendable -The portion of fund balance that includes amounts that cannot be spent
because they are either not in a spendable form or legally or contractually required to be
maintained intact.

Restricted - Amounts that can only be used for specific purposes due to constraints that
have been placed on them by external parties, constitutional provisions or enabling
legislation.

Committed - Amounts that are constrained for specific purposes that are internally imposed
through formal action of the Board of Supervisors and does not lapse at year end.

Assigned - Amounts constrained by the Board of Supervisors to be used for a specific
purpose.

Unassigned - All amounts not included in other spendable classifications.

The District spends restricted amounts first when both restricted and unrestricted fund balance
is available unless legally prohibited from doing so. When expenditures are incurred for
payment from the unrestricted fund balances, assigned is used first, followed by unassigned
fund balance.

The District's fund balance policy requires that unassigned fund balance be budgeted at a
level at least equal to two months of general fund budgeted operating expenditures. The policy
also requires the District assign a minimum $2,000,000 reserve for emergencies, and commit
balances as needed for pay-go capital projects, drainage system repairs and maintenance,
and allowances for potential ad valorem tax disputes.

Budgets and Budgetary Accounting
The following procedures are used to establish the budgetary data reflected in the financial
statements:

(1) The District Administrator submits to the Board of Supervisors a proposed operating
budget for the fiscal year commencing on October 1.

(2) Public hearings are conducted to obtain taxpayer comments.
(3) Prior to October 1, the budget is legally enacted through passage of an ordinance.

(4) Budgets are legally adopted for the General Fund, Debt Service Fund and the Utility
Fund.

(5) Budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP").
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CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
Year Ended September 30, 2023

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED

L.

Budgets and Budgetary Accounting - Continued

(6) The District's charter does not require formal authorization for actual expenditures to
exceed budgeted expenditures; however, the Board of Supervisors monitors the
budget periodically during the year. The budgetary control is legally maintained at the
fund level. The Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance -
Budget to Actual is presented in the same format as the District's operating budget.

(7) All appropriations and encumbrances, except those specifically approved by the Board
of Supervisors, lapse at the close of the fiscal year to the extent not expended.

Forward Contracts

The District enters into forward contracts as part of its normal purchases of power and fuel and
accounts for such contracts as settled, as a component of the cost of its operations.

Derivative Instruments

Fuel-related derivative transactions are executed in accordance with the District's established
Energy Risk Management Policy ("Policy") which is controlling the level of price risk exposure
involved in the normal course of the District's natural gas purchasing activities. The Policy
establishes the Energy Risk Management Oversight Committee to enter into financial hedging
agreements and contracts with third parties pursuant to enabling agreements approved by the
Board of Supervisors. The Policy establishes the organizational structure of the committee and
various volume and pricing limits. The fair value of these derivative fuel instruments is included
in the Statement of Net Position, with the accumulated changes in fair value reported as
deferred outflows or deferred inflows of resources as they have been determined to qualify for
hedge accounting. Related gains or losses are deferred and recognized in the specific period
in which the derivative is settled and included as part of fuel costs.

Pensions

The Florida Retirement System ("FRS") is responsible for providing participating employers
with total pension liabilities, pension assets, deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, as well as the District's
proportionate share of the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources, deferred inflows
of resources and pension expense.

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the
fiduciary net position of the FRS and additions to/deductions from the FRS's fiduciary net
position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the FRS. For this
purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when
due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.
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CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
Year Ended September 30, 2023

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED

P.

Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions ("OPEB")

For purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net
position of the District's OPEB Plan and additions to/deductions from the OPEB Plan fiduciary
net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the OPEB Plan.
For this purpose, the OPEB Plan recognizes benefit payments when due and payable in
accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value, except for money
market investments that have a maturity at the time of purchase of one year or less, which are
reported at cost.

Rates and Regulations

The District follows the accounting practices set forth in Governmental Accounting Standards
Board ("GASB") No. 62, paragraphs 476-500, Regulated Operations for its utility operations.
This standard allows utilities to capitalize or defer certain costs or revenues based on
management's ongoing assessment that it is probable these items will be recovered through
the rate-making process. Regulatory assets consist of deferred fuel cost and are presented as
deferred outflows of resources on the statement of net position.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the

reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could
differ from those estimates and differences could be material.

(Remainder of page intentionally left blank)
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CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
Year Ended September 30, 2023

2. RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A.

Explanation of certain differences between the balance sheet — governmental funds and
the government-wide statement of net position

The governmental fund balance sheet includes a reconciliation between fund balance - total
governmental funds and net position - governmental activities as reported in the government-
wide statement of net position. Further details of certain elements of that reconciliation are as
follows:

(1) Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and therefore are
not reported in the funds. This amount represents the total capital assets of governmental
activities of $1,065,952,373, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization of
$108,225,593, or $957,726,780.

(2) Some liabilities, including bonds payable, other long-term liabilities, and deferred outflows
of resources and deferred inflows of resources, are not due and payable in the current
period and therefore are not reported in the funds. The details of this difference are shown

below:

Compensated absences payable $ 3,291,469
Self insurance liability 5,772,369
Subscription liabilities 495,725
Bonds payable 689,204,959
Deferred outflows - losses on defeased debt (19,928,544)
Net pension liability 65,121,315
Deferred outflows - pensions (15,431,339)
Deferred inflows - pensions 7,022,016

Net OPEB liability 50,544,621

Deferred outflows - OPEB (14,891,050)
Deferred inflows - OPEB

20,134,185

Net adjustment to reduce total fund balances - total governmental funds to arrive

at net position of governmental activities $ 791,335,726

(Remainder of page intentionally left blank)
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CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
Year Ended September 30, 2023 Year Ended September 30, 2023
RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 2. RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
CONTINUED CONTINUED
B. Explanation of certain differences between the statement of revenues, expenditures and B. Explanation of certain differences between the statement of revenues, expenditures and
changes in fund balances — governmental funds and the government-wide statement of changes in fund balances — governmental funds and the government-wide statement of
activities activities - Continued
The statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances - governmental funds (3) Increases in other liabilities reported as expenses in the statement of activities not
includes a reconciliation of the "net changes in fund balances - total governmental funds" and requiring the use of current financial resources in governmental funds. The details of the
"change in net position of governmental activities" as reported in the government-wide difference are as follows:

statement of activities. Further details of certain elements of that reconciliation are as follows:

(1) Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of Compensated absences $ (@a1164)
activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported Self insurance 85914
as depreciation and amortization expense. The amount by which capital outlays exceeded Subscription liabilities (495,725)
depreciation and amortization in the current period is as follows: Net OPEB liability 2,228,690
Pensions (7,743,765)
Capital outlay expenditures: Net adjustment to decrease net changes in fund balances - total governmental
General fund funds to arrive at changes in net position of governmental activities $ (6,166,050
General government $ 1,356,447
Public safety 3,188,627
Physical environment 2,610,539 3. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS
Transportation 30,142 o . . ) . . o . L.
Capital projects 27.101,310 The D|§tr|ct is authorized to invest in secur|t|e§ as described in its |‘nvestmen_t policy fand in its bond
Depreciation and amortization expense (11,705,841) resolutions. As of September 30, 2023, the District held the following deposits and investments as

categorized below:
Net adjustment to increase net changes in fund balances - total

governmental funds to arrive at changes in net position of governmental Investment maturities (in years)
activities $ 22,581,224 e —
Fair Value Less than 1 1-5
(2) Governmental funds report the payment of bond principal and interest when the current Demand deposits $ 23,884,824 $ 23,884,824 -
financial resources are available and payments are due, and they report the payment of U.S. Treasury securities 132,577,336 87,410,040 45,167,296
issuance costs, premiums, discounts, and similar items when debt is first issued. U.S. Government agency securities 37213602 26,561,518 10,652,084
However, on the stater_nent of actlvﬂ|e§ interest is accrued and certain bond related costs Supranationals 11,781,995 9,941,343 1,840,652
are deferred and amortized. The details of the difference are as follows: Money market mutual funds 125809372 125,809,372 N
Totals $ 331,267,129 §$ 273,607,097 $ 57,660,032
Net changes of deferred loss, bond costs, discount and premium $ 2,500,189
Principal payments on bonds outstanding 34,170,000 Interest Rate Risk - As a means of limiting its exposure to fair value losses arising from rising
Accrued interest payable 514,859 interest rates, the District's investment policy for operating funds is structured to provide sufficient
Net adjustment to increase net changes in fund balances - total governmental I|qU|d|‘t)_/ to pay obligations as they come due and (1) Il_mlts investments to not more than 7—ye§r
funds to arrive at changes in net position of governmental activities $ 37,185,048 maturities (with the exception of bond proceeds, described below); and (2) requires the portfolio
have no more than 15% in securities maturing in or having an average life of more than 5 years.
Bond proceeds and reserve funds are managed in accordance with bond covenants and funding
needs which could result in maturities longer than 7 years.
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CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
Year Ended September 30, 2023

DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS - CONTINUED

Credit Risk - The District's investment policy limits credit risk by restricting authorized investments to
the following: direct obligations of, or obligations guaranteed by, the U.S. Government; bonds and
notes issued by various federal agencies; state and local government securities; Canadian public
obligations; public improvement bonds; public utility obligations; public housing obligations; State
Board of Education obligations; international development banks; certain government security
money market mutual funds; repurchase agreements and reverse repurchase agreements.
Securities that derive their value from underlying securities ("derivatives") are specifically prohibited
except when separately approved by the District's Board of Supervisors.

Custodial Credit Risk - All demand deposits are entirely insured by federal depository insurance or
by the multiple financial institution collateral pool pursuant to the Public Depository Security Act of
the State of Florida.

The District's investment policy requires that all investments be held by a third party custodian and
held in the District's name. As of September 30, 2023, all District investments are held in a bank's
trust department in the District's name.

Concentration of Credit Risk - At September 30, 2023, there was one issuer with which the District
held investments exceeding 5% of the total investment portfolio. The issuer was Federal Home
Loan Mortgage Corporation (5.07%).

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents and Investments - The table below summarizes the District's
balances of cash and cash equivalents and investments restricted as to use. Restricted amounts are
primarily unspent bond proceeds and reserves for debt service:

Statement of Net Position Classifications:
Restricted cash and cash equivalents $ 109,229,115
Restricted investments 120,484,700

§ 20713815
VALUATION ALLOWANCES
The District recognizes allowances for losses on accounts receivable based on an aging of
receivables and includes accounts over 120 days. The Utility Fund recognized an allowance at

September 30, 2023 in the amount of $27,174. The expense associated with this allowance is
recognized as an offset to utility revenues.
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CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

Year Ended September 30, 2023

CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital asset activity for the year ended September 30, 2023 was as follows:

Beginning Ending Balance
Balance September 30,
October 1, 2022 Increases Decreases 2023
Governmental Activities:
Capital assets not being depreciated
Land $ 2,992,490 $ -3 -3 2,992,490
Construction in progress 42,198,803 29,545,247 (57,484,740) 14,259,310
Infrastructure 642,378,810 56,794,550 - 699,173,360
Total capital assets not being depreciated 687,570,103 86,339,797 (57,484,740) 716,425,160
Capital assets being depreciated/amortized
Buildings 303,558,102 329,073 - 303,887,175
Machinery and equipment 41,523,244 3,987,764 (625,023) 44,885,985
Right-to-use subscription assets - 754,053 - 754,053
Total capital assets being depreciated/amortized 345,081,346 5,070,890 (625,023) 349,527,213
Less accumulated depreciation/amortization for:
Buildings 61,777,652 8,690,371 - 70,468,023
Machinery and equipment 35,347,021 2,864,596 (604,921) 37,606,696
Right-to-use subscription assets - 150,874 - 150,874
Total accumulated depreciation/amortization 97,124,673 11,705,841 (604,921) 108,225,593
Total capital assets being depreciated/amortized,
net 247,956,673 (6,634,951) (20,102) 241,301,620
Governmental activities capital assets, net $ 935526,776 $ 79,704,846 $ (57,504,842) $ 957,726,780

(Remainder of page intentionally left blank)
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CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
Year Ended September 30, 2023

CAPITAL ASSETS - CONTINUED

Beginning Ending Balance
Balance September 30,
October 1, 2022 Increases Decreases 2023
Business-type Activities:
Capital assets not being depreciated
Land $ 6,896,164 $ -$ -$ 6,896,164
Construction in progress 57,721,081 24,416,468 (61,344,349) 20,793,200
Total capital assets not being depreciated 64,617,245 24,416,468 (61,344,349) 27,689,364
Capital assets being depreciated/amortized
Buildings 66,564,022 781,670 - 67,345,692
Improvements other than buildings 283,120,074 32,462,955 - 315,583,029
Machinery and equipment 446,851,357 27,982,988 (7,987,339) 466,847,006
Right-to-use subscription assets - 1,075,319 - 1,075,319
Total capital assets being depreciated/amortized 796,535,453 62,302,932 (7,987,339) 850,851,046
Less accumulated depreciation/amortization for:
Buildings 46,612,571 1,440,219 - 48,052,790
Improvements other than buildings 170,282,816 6,612,690 - 176,895,506
Machinery and equipment 343,836,352 13,596,408 (7,892,438) 349,540,322
Accumulated amortization - 161,298 - 161,298
Total accumulated depreciation/amortization 560,731,739 21,810,615 (7,892,438) 574,649,916
Total capital assets being depreciated/amortized,
net 235,803,714 40,492,317 (94.901) 276,201,130
Business-type activities capital assets, net $ 300420959 $ 64,908,785 $ (61,439,250) $ 303,890,494

The District regularly reviews the feasibility of ongoing capital projects. During the year, the District
wrote off $1,475,555 in Utility Fund projects and $361,117 in Governmental Fund projects.

INTERFUND RECEIVABLE AND PAYABLE BALANCES AND TRANSFERS

Interfund balances between funds results mainly from the time lag between the dates that the goods
and services were provided or the expenditure occurs, the recording of the transaction and the date
the payment between the funds are made. Interfund receivable and payable balances as of
September 30, 2023 are as follows:

Interfund Interfund

Receivables Payables

(Due from) (Due to)
General Fund $ 43,419 $ 164,786
Capital Projects Fund - 913,965
Utility Fund 1,078,751 43,419
$ 1122170 § 1,122,170
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7. LONG-TERM DEBT

Year Ended September 30, 2023

A. Changes in long-term liabilities

Governmental activities:
General Obligation Bonds:
2013A Ad Valorem
2013B Ad Valorem Refunding
2015A Ad Valorem Refunding
2016A Ad Valorem
2017A Ad Valorem
2020A Ad Valorem Refunding

Deferred amounts:
Discount/Premium

Total long-term general obligations

Compensated absences
Self insurance liability
Subscription liabilities
Net pension liability

Net OPERB liability

Long-term liabilities
Business-type activities:
Revenue Bonds:
2013-1 Utility Refunding
2018-1 Utility
2018-2 Utility
Deferred amounts:
Discount/Premium
Total long-term bonds payable

Notes from Direct Borrowings:
2021-1 Utility
2021-2 Utility
2021-4 Utility

Total direct borrowings

Subscription liability

Long-term liabilities

Beginning Ending
Balance Balance
October 1, September 30, Due within
2022 Additions Reductions 2023 one year
$ 13,030,000 $ - $ (13,030,000) $ -3 -
4,590,000 - (4,590,000) - -
10,520,000 - (1,610,000) 8,910,000 1,685,000
156,110,000 - (2,850,000) 153,260,000 2,990,000
173,355,000 - (7,340,000) 166,015,000 7,705,000
328,735,000 - (4,750,000) 323,985,000 23,330,000
42,111,073 - (5,076,114) 37,034,959 -
728,451,073 - (39,246,114) 689,204,959 35,710,000
3,050,305 2,499,112 (2,257,948) 3,291,469 1,791,550
6,068,385 36,074 (158,539) 5,945,920 1,318,356
- 701,815 (206,090) 495,725 120,675
58,647,088 32,885,796 (26,411,569) 65,121,315 -
51,152,329 - (607,708) 50,544,621 -

$ 847,369,180 $ 36,122,797

$ (68,887.968) $ 814,604,009 $§ 38,940,581

$ 27,340,000 $ - $ (6,050,000)$ 21,290,000 $ 6,355,000
26,230,000 - - 26,230,000 -
19,750,000 - (4,700,000) 15,050,000 4,850,000

4,528,783 - (657,749) 3,871,034 -
77,848,783 - (11,407,749) 66,441,034 11,205,000
35,095,000 - (150,000) 34,945,000 350,000
55,130,000 - (6,625,000) 48,505,000 5,900,000
20,976,000 - (5,182,000) 15,794,000 5,223,000

111,201,000 - (11,957,000) 99,244,000 11,473,000
- 1,075,319 (219,058) 856,261 191,341

$ 189049783 § 1075319

$ (23,583.807) $ 166,541,295 $ 22,869,341
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LONG-TERM DEBT - CONTINUED
General Obligation Bonds Payable

2015A Ad Valorem Tax Refunding Bonds - In April 2015, the District issued $50,925,000 Ad
Valorem Refunding Bonds at interest rates of 2.0% to 5.0%. The proceeds were used for the current
refunding of the 2005A and 2005B Ad Valorem Tax Bonds maturing on and after June 1, 2015.

2016A Ad Valorem Tax Bonds - In July 2016, the District issued $165,500,000 Ad Valorem Tax
Bonds at interest rates of 4.0% and 5.0%, interest only until June 2019. The proceeds were used to
finance the costs to design, construct, equip and improve roadways and other facilities within and
outside the District.

2017A Ad Valorem Tax Bonds - In October 2017, the District issued $199,375,000 Ad Valorem Tax
Bonds at interest rates of 3.0% to 5.0%, interest only until June 2019. The proceeds were used to
finance additional transportation projects and were also used to retire the District's 2017 Bond
Anticipation Note.

2020A Ad Valorem Tax Refunding Bonds - In February 2020, the District issued $338,025,000
Taxable Ad Valorem Refunding Bonds at interest rates of 1.463% to 2.731%. The proceeds were
used for the current refunding of the 2013A and 2013B Ad Valorem Tax Bonds maturing on and
after June 2, 2024.

The major provisions of the District's Ad Valorem Tax Bond Resolutions authorizing its debt are as
follows:

(1) The Ad Valorem tax bond issues and related interest are collateralized by an irrevocable
lien on the proceeds from Ad Valorem taxes levied by the District.

(2) Additional bonds may be issued by the District provided (a) the maximum bond debt
service requirement of the proposed and then outstanding bonds does not exceed 85% of
the maximum annual collection from Ad Valorem Taxes calculated for the current year and
(b) the principal amount of all bonds proposed and then outstanding not exceed 50% of the
assessed value of the taxable property within the District.

Revenue Bonds Payable

2013-1 Utilities Revenue Refunding Bonds - In July 2013, the District issued $54,915,000 Utilities
Revenue Refunding Bonds at interest rates of 2.5% to 5.0%. The proceeds were used to refund the
2003-1 and 2005-1 Utilities Revenue Bonds.
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LONG-TERM DEBT - CONTINUED

2018-1 Utilities Revenue Bonds - In July 2018, the District issued $26,230,000 Utilities Revenue
Bonds at an interest rate of 5.0%. The proceeds are being used to pay for construction and
acquisition of improvements to the utility systems.

2018-2 Taxable Utilities Revenue Bonds - In July 2018, the District issued $19,750,000 Taxable
Utilities Revenue Bonds at an average interest rate of 3.44%. The proceeds are being used to pay
for improvements to certain existing utility systems.

Notes from Direct Borrowings

2021-1 Utilities Revenue Bonds - In February 2021, the District issued $35,095,000 Utilities
Revenue Bonds at an interest rate of 1.72%. The proceeds are being used to pay for construction
and acquisition of improvements to the utility systems. The direct borrowing is a non bank-qualified
bond, secured by a pledge of net revenues derived from operation of the District’s utility system on a
parity with all other previously outstanding Utility Revenue Bonds. The loan is subject to
acceleration in accordance with the District's existing Trust Indenture at a default rate equal to prime
+4%.

2021-2 Taxable Utilities Revenue Bonds - In February 2021, the District issued $55,130,000 Taxable
Utilities Revenue Bonds at interest rates of 1.03%-1.58%, interest only due until October 2022. The
proceeds are being used to pay for improvements to certain existing utility systems. The direct
borrowing is a taxable loan, secured by a pledge of net revenues derived from operation of the
District’s utility system on a parity with all other previously outstanding Utility Revenue Bonds. The
loan is subject to acceleration in accordance with the District's existing Trust Indenture at a default
rate equal to prime +4%.

2021-4 Utilities Revenue Refunding Bonds - In July 2021, the District issued $20,976,000 Utilities
Revenue Refunding Bonds at an interest rate of 0.79%, interest only due until October 2022. The
proceeds were used to currently refund the 2021-3 Taxable Utility Revenue Refunding Bonds. The
loan is subject to acceleration in accordance with the District's existing Trust Indenture at a default
rate equal to prime +4%.

(Remainder of page intentionally left blank)
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LONG-TERM DEBT - CONTINUED
The major provisions of the Utility Fund's trust indentures securing its debt are as follows:

(1) The debt obligation and related interest are collateralized by a pledge of the net revenues
of the combined utility systems.

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
Year Ended September 30, 2023

7. LONG-TERM DEBT - CONTINUED

Annual Debt Service Requirements

The annual requirements to amortize the principal balance and interest of all bonds
outstanding are as follows:

General Obligation Bonds

(2) The District will establish rates that will provide sufficient net revenues (revenues less

operating expenses (excluding depreciation and lease payments to WDWC)), to pay 110%

N . ! Year Ended

of the annual debt service requirements due each year. Revenues are defined to mean all September 30, Principal Interest
rates, fees, charges or other income (including certain investment earnings, impact fees 2004 s 35.710.000 § 22.799.674
and special assessments) generated by the Utility Fund. 2025 36.725.000 21.701.296
o . 2026 37,955,000 20,557,790
(3) The District will pay all current operating expenses. 2027 39,260,000 19,254 460
o n o . 2028 40,635,000 17,877,655
4) Th(tethfs‘iﬂct W|Iltdepo§|t into ThetSmk;ng Fundton Z montthlyll]:gt';:&sf ?hn amotunt equIaI to o_ne—I 20292033 225,690,000 66,803,314
sixth of the next semi-annual interest payment and one-twelfth of the next annual principal 2034.2038 236,195,000 23,588,701

payment.

Total $ 652,170,000 $ 192,762,980

Current portion (35,710,000)

(5) The District will maintain a renewal and replacement fund equal to 5% of the gross

revenues (less expenses for purchased power and fuel) received in the prior year. Such Deferred amounts:

amount may be and was reduced to 4% by certification from the District's consulting Discount/Premium 37,034,959
engineer. Long-term bonds payable $ 653,494,959
(6) The District will maintain on deposit in the emergency repair fund at least $500,000.
(7) The debt service reserve requirements are being provided by Debt Service Reserve Revenue Bonds Direct Borrowings
accounts with the bond trustee.
Year Ended
September 30, Principal Interest Principal Interest
(8) Additional bonds may be issued if the net revenues (revenues of the system less operating 2024 3 11,205,000 §$ 2.656.468 § 11473000 $ 1,320,590
expenses (excluding depreciation and lease payments to WDWC)) for twelve consecutive 2025 12,300,000 2147855 10.315.000 1218212
prior months are at least equal to 125% of the maximum annual debt service of the 2026 12.835.000 1595473 10,406,000 1 119,187
proposed and then outstanding bonds. 2027 1,480,000 1,274,500 19,005,000 934,150
2028 1,555,000 1,198,625 16,320,000 666,646
Remainder of intentionally left blank 2029-2033 9,025,000 4,714,375 20,855,000 1,483,911
(Remainder of page intentionally left blank) 2034-2038 11,510,000 2,159,250 10,870,000 418,304
2039 2,660,000 66,500 - -
Total $ 62,570,000 $ 15,812,746 $ 99,244,000 $ 7,161,000
Current portion (11,205,000) (11,473,000)
Deferred amounts:
Discount/Premium 3,871,034 -
Long-term bonds payable $ 55,236,034 $ 87,771,000
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Year Ended September 30, 2023

7. LONG-TERM DEBT - CONTINUED

C. Subscription Based Information Technology Arrangements

The District has entered into subscription-based information technology arrangements
(SBITAs) for asset, energy, emergency and practice management, and procurement software
for a period of one to five years and an incremental borrowing rate of 3.98% to 4.41%. The
SBITAs have been recorded at the present value of the future contract payments as of the
date of their inception or, for SBITAs existing prior to the implementation year at the remaining
terms of the agreement, using the facts and circumstances available at October 1, 2022.

Future payments under the SBITA agreements are as follows:

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities

Year Ended
September 30, Principal Interest Principal Interest Total
2024 $ 120,675 $ 22,642 $ 191,341 § 34,708 $ 369,366
2025 131,663 15,253 206,088 26,952 379,956
2026 117,405 9,865 221,433 18,598 367,301
2027 125,982 5,107 237,399 9,623 378,111
Total $ 495,725 $ 52,867 $ 856,261 $ 89,881 $ 1,494,734

For the year ended September 30, 2023, the District had $30,126 of SBITAs with variable
payments that were based on user seats. The District had no other payments, such as
termination penalties, not previously included in the measurement of the subscription liability.
The District had no commitments under SBITAs before the commencement of the subscription
term or any losses associated with an impairment.

8. TRANSACTIONS WITH PRINCIPAL LANDOWNERS

During fiscal year 2023, Walt Disney World Co. and other wholly owned subsidiaries of The Walt
Disney Company provided certain services to the District as follows:

Governmental Funds

(1) Financial and other administrative services amounted to $2,542,264, which included
passes and other benefits, and service awards and celebrations for years of service.

(2) Maintenance of various District water control facilities amounted to $364,745, which
included aquatic weed control.

(3) Maintenance of certain roadways and District property within the District amounted to
$64,692, which included signage labor, street sweeping and mosquito control.
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8. TRANSACTIONS WITH PRINCIPAL LANDOWNERS - CONTINUED

Governmental Funds - Continued

(4) Maintenance of certain building functions within the District amounted to $57,684, including
generators and fire alarm panels.

At September 30, 2023, the General Fund included accounts payable of $40,622 and accounts
receivable of $74,637 to Walt Disney World Co. and other wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Walt
Disney Company.

The District's primary source of revenue is ad valorem taxes. Walt Disney Co. comprised 86% of the
total taxable assessed value within the District for the year ended September 30, 2023.

Utility Fund

(1) Construction project management labor associated with various capital improvements
amounted to $1,219,737.

(2) In fiscal year 2023, the Operational Services Fee Cap within the District's labor services
agreement with Reedy Creek Energy Services (see Note 15 for additional details) was
$33,724,250. Total payments under this contract included operation and maintenance of
the utility system of $31,687,759, planned work projects of $418,495 and planned work
capital of $1,136,495.

At September 30, 2023, the Utility Fund had accounts receivable of $20,004,364 and accounts
payable of $3,703,862 with Walt Disney World Co. and other wholly-owned subsidiaries of The Walt
Disney Company.

The District provides utility services to Walt Disney World Co. and other associated companies
within its service area. Revenues from services provided to these companies were 84% of total
utility revenues for the year ended September 30, 2023.

The District entered into an agreement February 2, 2023 with Walt Disney Parks and Resorts U.S.,
Inc. (WDPR) and Palm Hospitality Company, for the District to purchase land from each party in
order to construct a 4-lane divided rural roadway and other improvements connecting the portions of
the public roadway of World Drive described as the Northern portion and Southern portion. The
agreement states the District will pay Palm Hospitality $600,000 and WDPR $12,272,000. No
payments have been made and no land titles have been transferred as of September 30, 2023.

(Remainder of page intentionally left blank)
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RETIREMENT SYSTEM

General Information - All full-time employees of the District participate in the FRS, administered by
the State. As provided by Chapters 121 and 112, Florida Statutes, the FRS provides two cost
sharing, multiple employer defined benefit plans administered by the Florida Department of
Management Services, Division of Retirement, including the FRS Pension Plan ("Pension Plan") and
the Retiree Health Insurance Subsidy ("HIS Plan"). Employees elect participation in either the
Pension Plan or the defined contribution plan ("Investment Plan"), which is administered by the State
Board of Administration ("SBA"). The FRS provides retirement and disability benefits, annual cost-
of-living adjustments and death benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. Benefits are
established by Chapter 121, Florida Statutes and Chapter 60S, Florida Administrative Code.
Amendments to the law can be made only by an act of the Florida State Legislature.

The State of Florida annually issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial
statements and required supplementary information for FRS. The latest available report may be
obtained by writing to the State, Division of Retirement, Department of Management Services, P.O.

Box 9000,

Tallahassee,

Florida,

32315-9000, or from the

www.dms.myflorida.com/workforce operations/retirement/publications.

Pension Plan

Benefits provided - Benefits under the Pension Plan are computed on the basis of age, average final
compensation and service credit. Pension plan members are eligible for retirement as follows:

Enrolled prior to July 1, 2011
Vested

Normal retirement age

Retirement benefit

Enrolled on or after July 1, 2011
Vested

Normal retirement age

Retirement benefit

website:

Class
Special Risk
Senior Administrative
Regular Management Special Risk Support
6 years 6 years 6 years 6 years

earlier of 30 years of
credited service or
attainment of age 62

earlier of 30 years of
credited service or
attainment of age 62

earlier of 25 years of
credited service or
attainment of age 55

earlier of 25 years of
credited service or
attainment of age 55

1.6% of average final
compensation for
each year of credited
service

2% of average final
compensation for
each year of credited
service

3% of average final
compensation for
each year of credited
service

1.6% of average final
compensation for
each year of credited
service

8 years

8 years

8 years

8 years

earlier of 33 years of
credited service or
attainment of age 65

earlier of 33 years of
credited service or
attainment of age 65

earlier of 30 years of
credited service or
attainment of age 60

earlier of 30 years of
credited service or
attainment of age 60

1.6% of average final
compensation for
each year of credited
service

2% of average final
compensation for
each year of credited
service

3% of average final
compensation for
each year of credited
service

1.6% of average final
compensation for
each year of credited
service
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RETIREMENT SYSTEM - CONTINUED
Pension Plan - Continued

If the member is initially enrolled in the Pension Plan before July 1, 2011, and all service credit was
accrued before July 1, 2011, the annual cost-of-living adjustment is 3% per year. If the member is
initially enrolled before July 1, 2011, and has service credit on or after July 1, 2011, there is an
individually calculated cost-of-living adjustment, which is determined by dividing the sum of the pre-
July 2011 service credit by the total service credit at retirement, multiplied by 3%. Plan members
initially enrolled on or after July 1, 2011 will not have a cost-of-living adjustment after retirement.

Early retirement may be taken anytime; however, there is a 5% benefit reduction for each year prior
to normal retirement age. Members are also eligible for in-line-of-duty or regular disability benefits if
permanently disabled and unable to work. Pension Plan Members eligible for retirement are given
the option to enter the Deferred Retirement Option Program ("DROP"), which effectively allows them
to work with a FRS employer for up to 96 months after electing to participate. Deferred monthly
benefits are held in the FRS Trust Fund and accrue interest. There are no required contributions by
DROP participants.

Contributions - The contribution requirements of the District are established and may be amended
by FRS. Effective July 1, 2011 Florida Legislature required employees contribute 3% of their annual
earnings on a pretax basis, with remaining contributions being the obligation of the District. The
District contributed 19.79% of covered employee payroll during the year. The District's contributions
to FRS for the year ended September 30, 2023 were $7,164,161. Employee contributions to FRS for
the year ended September 30, 2023 were $996,492. Contributions made and accrued were equal to
the required contributions for each year.

The FRS has numerous classes of membership (of which District employees qualify in five classes)
with descriptions and employer contribution rates in effect during the year ended September 30,
2023 as follows:

Regular Class - Members not qualifying for other classes (11.91% from 10/1/2022 through
6/30/2023 and 13.57% from 7/1/2023 through 9/30/2023).

Special Risk Class - Members employed as law enforcement officers, firefighters, correctional
officers or community-based correctional probation officers, and paramedics and EMTs who
meet the criteria set to qualify for this class (27.83% from 10/1/2022 through 6/30/2023 and
32.67% from 7/1/2023 through 9/30/2023).

Special Risk Administrative Support Class - Special risk employees who are transferred or
reassigned to a non-special risk position (38.65% from 10/1/2022 through 6/30/2023 and
39.82% from 7/1/2023 through 9/30/2023).

Senior Management Service Class - Qualifying member of senior management (31.57% from
10/1/2022 through 6/30/2023 and 34.52% from 7/1/2023 through 9/30/2023).
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Deferred Retirement Option Program (DROP) - Participating members of the program, not to
exceed 96 months (18.60% from 10/1/2022 through 6/30/2023 and 21.13% from 7/1/2023

through 9/30/2023).

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions - At September 30, 2023, the District reported a liability of
$51,043,615 for its proportionate share of the net pension liability. The net pension liability was
measured as of June 30, 2023, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension
liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2023. The District's proportion of the
net pension liability was based on historical employer contributions. At June 30, 2023, the District's
proportionate share was 0.12810%, which was a decrease of 0.00278% from its proportionate
share measured as of June 30, 2022.

For the year ended September 30, 2023, the District recognized an increase in the pension liability
primarily due to investment losses and resulting pension fund asset depreciation experienced by
FRS. The District recognized pension expense in the amount of $9,635,699. In addition, the District
reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from
the following sources:

Deferred Outflows of Deferred Inflows of

Description Resources Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience $ 4,792,554 $
Change of assumptions 3,327,446
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on Pension
Plan investments 2,131,720
Changes in proportion and differences between District Pension
Plan contributions and proportionate share of contributions 1,820,369 4,753,418
District Pension Plan contributions subsequent to the
measurement date 1,951,955
Total $ 14,024,044 $ 4,753,418

The deferred outflows of resources related to the Pension Plan, totaling $1,951,955 resulting from
District contributions to the Plan subsequent to the measurement date, will be recognized as a
reduction of the net pension liability in fiscal year 2024. Other amounts reported as deferred
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to the Pension Plan will be
recognized in pension expense as follows:
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Fiscal Year Ending

September 30, Amount
2024 $ 997,440
2025 (395,179)
2026 5,985,099
2027 568,536
2028 162,775

Actuarial Assumptions - The total pension liability in the June 30, 2023 actuarial valuation was
determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the
measurement:

e Inflation: 2.40%
e Salary increases: 3.25% average, including inflation
¢ Investment rate of return: 6.70% net of pension plan investment expense and inflation

The actuarial assumptions used in the July 1, 2023 valuation were based on the results of an
actuarial experience study for the period July 1, 2013 through June 30, 2018. Mortality rates were
based on the PUB-2010 base table, projected generationally with Scale MP-2018.

The long-term expected rate of return on Pension Plan investments was not based on historical
returns, but instead is based on a forward-looking capital market economic model. The long-term
expected rate of return assumption of 6.70% consists of two building block components: 1) an
inferred real (in excess of inflation) return of 4.20%, which is consistent with the 4.48% real return
from the capital market outlook model developed by the FRS consulting actuary; and 2) a long-term
average annual inflation assumption of 2.40% as adopted in October 2023 by the FRS Actuarial
Assumption Conference. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic and geometric real
rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:

(Remainder of page intentionally left blank)
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Compound
Annual Annual

Target Arithmetic ~ (Geometric)  Standard
Asset Class Allocation (1) Return Return Deviation
Cash 1.0 % 29 % 29% 1.1 %
Fixed Income 19.8 45 4.4 34
Global Equity 54.0 8.7 71 18.1
Real Estate 10.3 76 6.6 14.8
Private Equity 111 11.9 8.8 26.3
Strategic Investments 3.8 6.3 6.1 77
Total 100.0 %
Assumed Inflation - Mean 24 % 1.4 %

™ As outlined in the Pension Plan's investment policy available from Funds We Manage on the SBA's website at
www.sbafla.com.

Discount Rate - The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.70%. The
Pension Plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future
benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the discount rate for
calculating the total pension liability is equal to the long-term expected rate of return.

Sensitivity of the District's Proportionate Share of the Net Position Liability to Changes in the
Discount Rate - The following represents the District's proportionate share of the net pension liability
calculated using the discount rate of 6.70%, as well as what the District's proportionate share of the
net pension liability (asset) would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one
percentage point lower (5.70%) or one percentage point higher (7.70%) than the current rate:

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(5.70%) (6.70%) (7.70%)

District's proportionate share of the net

pension liability (asset) $ 87,192,888 $ 51,043,615 $ 20,800,423

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Detailed information regarding the Pension Plan's fiduciary net
position is available in the separately issued FRS Pension Plan and Other State-Administered
Systems Annual Comprehensive Financial Report.

Payables to the Pension Plan - At September 30, 2023, the District reported a payable in the amount

of $977,298 for outstanding contributions to the Pension Plan required for the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2023.
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RETIREMENT SYSTEM - CONTINUED
HIS Plan

Plan Description - The HIS Plan is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan
established under Section 112.363, Florida Statutes, and may be amended by the Florida legislature
at any time. The benefit is a monthly payment to assist retirees of State-administered retirement
systems in paying their health insurance costs and is administered by the Florida Department of
Management Services, Division of Retirement.

Benefits Provided - For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023, eligible retirees and beneficiaries
received a monthly HIS payment of $7.50 for each year of creditable service completed at the time
of retirement, with a minimum HIS payment of $45 and a maximum HIS payment of $225 per month.
To be eligible to receive these benefits, a retiree under a State-administered retirement system must
provide proof of health insurance coverage, which may include Medicare.

Contributions - The HIS Plan is funded by required contributions from FRS participating employers
as set by the Florida Legislature. Employer contributions are a percentage of gross compensation
for all active FRS members. At September 30, 2023, the HIS contribution was 2.0%. The District
contributed 100% of its statutorily required contributions for the current and preceding four years.
HIS Plan contributions are deposited in a separate trust fund from which payments are authorized.
HIS Plan benefits are not guaranteed and are subject to annual legislative appropriation. In the
event legislative appropriation or available funds fail to provide full subsidy benefits to all
participants, benefits may be reduced or cancelled.

The District's contributions to the HIS Plan totaled $633,993 for the fiscal year ended September 30,
2023.

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions - At September 30, 2023, the District reported a liability of
$14,077,700 for its proportionate share of the HIS Plan's net pension liability. The net pension
liability was measured as of June 30, 2023, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net
pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2023, with the liabilities
developed in that valuation rolled forward to the Measurement Date using standard actuarial roll-
forward techniques. The District's proportionate share of the net pension liability was based on the
District's 2022-2023 fiscal year contributions relative to the 2022-2023 fiscal year contributions of all
participating members. At June 30, 2023, the District's proportionate share was 0.08864%, which
was a decrease of 0.00530% from its proportionate share measured as of June 30, 2022.

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023, the District recognized pension expense of
$5,298,915. In addition, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions from the following sources:
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HIS Plan - Continued

Deferred Outflows of Deferred Inflows of

Description Resources Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience $ 206,088 $ 33,043
Change of assumptions 370,098 1,219,880
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on HIS Plan

investments 7,270
Changes in proportion and differences between District HIS Plan

contributions and proportionate share of contributions 632,345 1,015,675
District HIS contributions subsequent to the measurement date 191,494
Total $ 1,407,295 $ 2,268,598

The deferred outflows of resources related to the HIS Plan, totaling $191,494 and resulting from
District contributions to the HIS Plan subsequent to the measurement date, will be recognized as an
increase to the net pension liability in fiscal year 2024. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows
of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to the HIS Plan will be recognized in pension
expense as follows:

Fiscal Year Ending

September 30, Amount
2024 $ (183,952)
2025 (111,530)
2026 (185,563)
2027 (363,969)
2028 (192,798)
Thereafter (14,985)

Actuarial Assumptions - The total pension liability in the June 30, 2023, actuarial valuation was
determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the
measurement:

e Inflation: 2.40%
e Salary increases: 3.25% average, including inflation
e Municipal bond rate: 3.65%

Mortality rates were based on the Generational PUB-2010 with Projection Scale MP-2018.

The actuarial assumptions used in the July 1, 2023 valuation were based on the results of an
actuarial experience study for the period July 1, 2013 through June 30, 2018.
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Discount Rate - The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 3.65%. In general,
the discount rate for calculating the total pension liability is equal to the single rate equivalent to
discounting at the long-term expected rate of return for benefit payments prior to the projected
depletion date. Because the HIS benefit is essentially funded on a pay-as-you-go basis, the
depletion date is considered to be immediate, and the single equivalent discount rate is equal to the
municipal bond rate selected by the FRS Actuarial Assumption Conference. The Bond Buyer
General Obligation 20-Bond Municipal Bond Index was adopted as the applicable municipal bond
index.

Sensitivity of the District's Proportionate Share of the Net Position Liability to Changes in the
Discount Rate - The following represents the District's proportionate share of the net pension liability
calculated using the discount rate of 3.65%, as well as what the District's proportionate share of the
net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point
lower (2.65%) or one percentage point higher (4.65%) than the current rate:

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(2.65%) (3.65%) (4.65%)
District's proportionate share of the HIS
pension liability $ 16,060,458 $ 14,077,700 $ 12,434,126

HIS Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Detailed information regarding the HIS Plan's fiduciary net position
is available in the separately issued FRS Pension Plan and Other State-Administered Systems
Annual Comprehensive Financial Report.

Payables to the HIS Plan - At September 30, 2023, the District reported a payable in the amount of
$78,290 for outstanding contributions to the HIS Plan required for the fiscal year ended September
30, 2023.

Investment Plan

The SBA administers the defined contribution plan officially titled the FRS Investment Plan. The

Investment Plan is reported in the SBA's annual financial statements and in the State of Florida
Annual Comprehensive Financial Report.
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As provided in Section 121.4501, Florida Statutes, eligible FRS members may elect to participate in
the Investment Plan in lieu of the FRS defined benefit plan. District employees participating in DROP
are not eligible to participate in the Investment Plan. Employer and employee contributions, including
amounts contributed to individual member's accounts, are defined by law, but the ultimate benefit
depends in part on the performance of investment funds. Benefit terms, including contribution
requirements, for the Investment Plan are established and may be amended by the Florida
Legislature. The Investment Plan is funded with the same employer and employee contribution rates
that are based on salary and membership class (Regular Class, Senior Management, etc.), as the
Pension Plan. Contributions are directed to individual member accounts, and the individual members
allocate contributions and account balances among various approved investment choices.

Costs to administer the Investment Plan, including the FRS Financial Guidance Program, are funded
through employer contributions of 0.06% of payroll and by forfeited benefits of plan members.
Allocations to investment member's accounts during the 2022-2023 fiscal year, as established by
Section 121.72, Florida Statutes, are based on a percentage of gross compensation, by class, as
follows: Regular 11.30%, Special Risk 19.00%, Special Risk Administrative Support 12.95%, and
Senior Management Service 12.67%.

For all membership classes, employees are immediately vested in their own contributions and are
vested after one year of service for employer contributions and investment earnings. If an
accumulated benefit obligation for service credit originally earned under the Pension Plan is
transferred to the Investment Plan, the member must have the years of service required for Pension
Plan vesting (including service credit represented by the transferred funds) to be vested for these
funds and the earnings on the funds. Non-vested employer contributions are placed in a suspense
account for up to 5 years. If the employee returns to FRS-covered employment within the 5-year
period, the employee regains control over their account. If the employee does not return within the 5-
year period, the employee forfeits the accumulated account balance. For fiscal year ended
September 30, 2023, the information for the amount of forfeitures was unavailable from the SBA;
however, management believes these amounts, if any, would be immaterial to the District.

After termination and applying to receive benefits, members may rollover vested funds to another
qualified plan, structure a periodic payment under the Investment Plan, receive a lump-sum
distribution, leave the funds invested for future distribution, or any combination of these options.
Disability coverage is provided; the member may either transfer the account balance to the Pension
Plan when approved for disability retirement to receive guaranteed lifetime monthly benefits under
the Pension Plan, or remain in the Investment Plan and rely upon that account balance for
retirement income.
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General Information about the OPEB Plan

Plan description - The District provides OPEB through the Voluntary Employees' Beneficiary
Association ("VEBA") Plan, a single-employer plan administered by the District. The Plan is
administered by the VEBA Board, whose members are the same as the District's Board of
Supervisors. The authority to establish and amend benefits, as well as the funding policy, rests with
the District's Board. The Plan does not issue a separate publicly available financial report. The Plan
trustee is US Bank.

State Statute requires the District to continue offering healthcare coverage to retirees at the District's
cost; however, for employees hired prior to March 1, 2013, the District elected by policy to provide
this coverage at no cost to retirees that have met certain requirements during employment with the
District. Certain executive positions qualify for the health benefits regardless of hire date. The
District also has a Survivor Income Plan for retirees that have met certain requirements during
employment with the District.

Benefits provided - The VEBA Plan provides healthcare benefits for eligible retirees and their
dependents enrolled in District-sponsored plans. Benefits are provided through a third party insurer.
To qualify for this benefit non-union employees must have 20 years of service with the District and
be age 62 to obtain paid coverage for themselves and their eligible dependent, certain executive
positions must have 7 years of service and be age 62, and union employees must have 20 years of
service with the District and be age 55 to obtain paid coverage for themselves. For employees hired
after March 1, 2013, retirees may elect to continue coverage for themselves and their eligible
dependents at the full, unsubsidized cost to the District for the elected coverage. The VEBA Plan
also provides death benefits for certain retirees, equivalent of two times the participant's final annual
base salary at retirement to their designated beneficiary. To qualify for this benefit, they must be
designated or key employees as outlined by the plan and be age 62 with 10 years (7 years for
executive positions) of service, or 25 years with no age requirement. The District currently has 9
retirees that meet the eligibility requirements.

Employees covered by benefit terms - At September 30, 2023, the following employees were
covered by the benefit terms:

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefit payments 145

Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefit payments 8

Active employees 365
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General Information about the OPEB Plan - Continued

Contributions - Contributions to the VEBA Trust are not codified or mandated but the District's
funding strategy is to contribute a minimum of $1 million to the VEBA Trust per year. The District is
paying current benefits as they come due from operations. For the year ended September 30, 2023,
the District's contribution rate was 10.4% of covered-employee payroll. Employees are not required
to contribute to the Plan. However, retirees reimburse the District for their elected health coverage
at the District's cost in instances where they are not entitled to all or a portion of the subsidy.

Investments

Rate of Return - For the year ended September 30, 2023, the annual money-weighted rate of return
on investments, net of investment expense, was 2.4%. The money-weighted rate of return
expresses investment performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing amounts
actually invested.

Interest Rate Risk - As a means of limiting its exposure to fair value losses arising from rising
interest rates, the District's investment guidelines related to the VEBA Trust are structured to provide
sufficient liquidity to pay obligations as they come due. Guidelines for the VEBA Trust are consistent
with the policy on other District investments as to the restrictions on the type of investments.

Custodial Credit Risk - VEBA Plan investments are held by the Trustee in the Plan's name.

Credit Risk - The investment policy limits credit risk by restricting authorized investments to the
following: direct obligations of, or obligations guaranteed by, the U.S. Government; bonds and notes
issued by various federal agencies; state and local government securities; Canadian public
obligations; public improvement bonds; public utility obligations; public housing obligations; State
Board of Education obligations; international development banks; certain government security
money market mutual funds; repurchase agreements and reverse repurchase agreements.

Concentration of Credit Risk - At September 30, 2023, there were two issuers with which the District
held investments exceeding 5% of the total investment portfolio. They were Federal Home Loan
Bank (18.02%) and Federal National Mortgage Association (8.58%).

The VEBA Plan categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established
by generally accepted accounting principles. VEBA plan investments are summarized in the table
below. Level 1 investments are valued using prices quoted in active markets for those securities.
Level 2 investments are valued using observable inputs other than quoted prices. The VEBA Plan's
cash and cash equivalents are invested in First American Money Market Fund, which has a credit
rating of AAAm as rated by Standard & Poor's. There are no redemption or deposit restrictions
related to these money market funds and the fund aims to maintain NAV of $1 per share.
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Investments - Continued

2023
Total Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
2023
Total Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Investments Measured at Fair Value
U.S. Treasury and Government Agency
Securities $ 13,117,167 $ $ 13,117,167 §
Supranational 1,900,821 - 1,900,821
Total Investments at Fair Value $ 15,017,988 $ $ 15,017,988 $

Investments Measured at Amortized Cost
Money Market Funds $ 26,094

Total Investments $ 15,044,082

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return

The long-term expected rate of return on trust investments can be determined using a building block
method in which best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net
of investment expenses and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are
combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real
rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation.

Best estimates of geometric real rates of return for each major asset class included in the plan’s
target asset allocation as of September 30, 2023 are summarized in the following table:

Long-Term
Expected Rate of
Target Allocation Return

Fixed Income 100.00 % 4.09 %

Total 100.00 %

Net OPEB Liability

The District's net OPEB liability was measured as of September 30, 2023 and the total OPEB liability
used to calculate the net OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date.
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Net OPEB Liability - Continued

Actuarial Assumptions - The total OPEB liability in the September 30, 2023 valuation was
determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the
measurement, unless otherwise specified:

e Inflation 2.50%

e Salary increases 3.50%, including inflation

e Investment rate of return 4.09%, including inflation

e Healthcare cost trend rates The table below are annual trends based on the
current trend study and are applied on a select and
ultimate basis. Select trends are reduced .25% per
year until reaching the ultimate trend rate.

Fiscal Years
Expense Type 2024 2025 2026+
Pre-65 Medical 6.3 % 6.0 % 52%
Post-65 Medical 45 45 45
Dental 4.0 4.0 4.0
Vision 3.0 3.0 3.0

Mortality assumptions were based on table PUB-2010 with projections scale MP-2021. Retirement
and turnover assumptions are consistent with the assumptions used in the actuarial valuation of the
Florida Retirement System as of July 1, 2021.

The discount rate (long-term expected rate of return) is based on the Bond Buyer "20-Bond GO
Index" and assuming that the expected return on plan assets is equal to the 20-Bond GO Index,
believed to be reasonable given the assets are 100% invested in corporate and government fixed
income securities of various maturities.
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Changes in Net OPEB Liability

Increase (Decrease)

Total OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net

Liability Position Net OPEB Liability
(a) (b) (a) - (b)
Balances at October 1, 2022 $ 66,304,404 $ 15,152,075 $ 51,152,329
Changes for the year:
Service cost 1,124,357 - 1,124,357
Interest 2,655,985 - 2,655,985
Changes in assumptions (954,595) - (954,595)
Contributions - employer - 3,072,626 (3,072,626)
Net investment gain - 360,829 (360,829)
Benefit payments (2,058,314) (2,058,314)
Net changes 767,433 1,375,141 (607,708)
Balances at September 30, 2023 $ 67,071,837 $ 16,527,216 $ 50,544,621
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of total OPEB liability 24.6%

Sensitivity of the net OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate. The following presents the net
OPEB liability of the District, as well as what the District's net OPEB liability would be if it were
calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower (3.09%) or one percentage point
higher (5.09%) than the current discount rate (rounded to the nearest thousand):

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(3.09%) (4.09%) (5.09%)
Net OPEB liability $ 61,903,175 §$ 50,544,621 § 41,383,246

Sensitivity of the net OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend rates. The following
presents the net OPEB liability of the District, as well as what the District's net OPEB liability would
be if it were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are one percentage point lower (5.3%
decreasing to 3.5%) or one percentage point higher (7.3% decreasing to 5.5%) than the current
healthcare cost trend rates (rounded to the nearest thousand):

Healthcare Cost
1% Decrease (5.3% Trend Rates (6.3% 1% Increase (7.3%
decreasing to 3.5%) decreasing to 4.5%) decreasing to 5.5%)

41,562,802 $ 50,544,621 § 62,312,564

Net OPEB liability $

Changes of assumptions or other inputs. Beginning of year total OPEB liability was calculated using
an assumed discount rate of 4.00%. The discount rate used at September 30, 2023 was 4.09%.
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11.

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources
Related to OPEB

For the year ended September 30, 2023, the District recognized OPEB expense of $843,936. At
September 30, 2023, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to OPEB from the following sources:

Deferred Outflows of Deferred Inflows of

Description Resources Resources
Differences between expected and actual demographic experience $ 1,814,630 $ 1,000,888
Change of assumptions 11,962,037 19,133,297
Net difference between projected and actual investment performance 1,114,383

Total $ 14,891,050 $ 20,134,185

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:

Fiscal Year Ending

September 30, Amount
2024 $ (2,278,993)
2025 (2,295,415)
2026 (2,345,747)
2027 (1,815,796)
2028 1,043,012

Thereafter 2,449,804

RISK MANAGEMENT

The District is self-insured and carries excess commercial insurance due to exposure to certain risks
of loss related to theft, damage to and destruction of assets, torts, injuries to employees and natural
disasters. The District retains risk up to a maximum of $1,000,000 for each worker's compensation
and employer's liability claim, $250,000 for each liability claim, $100,000 for most property damage
claims, $50,000 for crime/theft losses and $125,000 for cyber liabilities. The District purchases
commercial insurance for certain exposures in excess of risk retained with commercially reasonable
limits, sublimits, terms and conditions. There have been no material claim settlements in excess of
insurance coverage during the three fiscal years ended September 30, 2021, 2022 and 2023.

68

A-38

11.

12,

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
Year Ended September 30, 2023

RISK MANAGEMENT - CONTINUED

Liabilities are reported when it is probable that a material loss has occurred and the amount of the
loss can be reasonably estimated. Liabilities include an estimate for claims that have been incurred
but not reported. The self-insurance liability of $5,945,920 at September 30, 2023 is based on an
actuarial review of claims pending and past experience. Changes in the claims liability amount
during fiscal years 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Year Ended September 30,

2023 2022
Self insurance liability beginning balance $ 6,068,385 $ 5,989,533
Claims and changes in estimates 991,033 1,326,935
Claims payments (1,113,498) (1,248,083)
Self insurance liability ending balance $ 5945920 $ 6,068,385

DERIVATIVE FUEL INSTRUMENTS

The District entered into derivative fuel instruments - cash flow hedges (commodity swaps, caps and
collars) to financially hedge the cost of natural gas. The District's fuel-related derivative transactions
are recorded at fair value on the Statement of Net Position as either an asset or liability depending
on their fair value, and the related unrealized gains and/or losses for effective hedges are deferred
and reported as either deferred inflows or outflows of resources. Realized gains and losses on these
transactions are recognized as fuel expense in the specific period in which the instrument is settled.
During the year, a total of $2,321,135 in settlement gains was recognized in fuel expense.

The following is a summary of the derivative fuel instruments of the Utility Fund as of September 30,
2023 which have been deemed effective and are recorded as deferred inflows.

Fair Value at September 30,

Change in fair

Classification 2022 value 2023 Notional Maturity

FY2024 - 2026

Deferred outflows/(inflows) $ (25,601,855) $ 23,726,506 $ (1,875,349) 10,799,883 MMBTUs

Credit Risk - The District's counterparties must have a minimum credit rating of BBB- issued by
Standard and Poor's or Fitch's rating service or Baa3 issued by Moody's Investor Services.

Basis Risk - All of the District's transactions are based on the same reference rates, thus there is no
basis risk.

Termination Risk - The District's Energy Risk Management Oversight Committee oversees the
derivative instrument activity and of the counterparties who are required to maintain a minimum
credit rating and present collateral at certain levels which mitigates the chance of a termination
event. To date, no termination events have occurred.
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13. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

GASB No. 72 addresses accounting and financial reporting issues related to fair value
measurements. It provides guidance for applying fair value to certain investments and disclosures
related to all fair value measurements. For the District, this statement applies to certain investments
and natural gas hedges.

The District categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by
generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to
measure the fair value of the asset or liability.

Level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that a
government can access at the measurement date

Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 - that are observable for an
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - unobservable inputs for an asset or liability

Investments - The District's investments are summarized in the table below. Level 1 investments are
valued using prices quoted in active markets for those securities. Level 2 investments are valued
using observable inputs other than quoted prices. The District's cash and cash equivalents are
invested in First American Money Market Fund and Federated Hermes Treasury Obligations Fund,
both of which have a credit rating of AAAm as rated by Standard & Poor's. There are no redemption
or deposit restrictions related to these money market funds and the funds aim to maintain NAV of $1
per share.

2023

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Investments Measured at Fair Value
U.S. Treasury and Government Agency Securities  $ 169,790,938 $ -$ 169,790,938 $
Supranational 11,781,995 11,781,995
Total Investments at Fair Value $ 181,572,933 $ - $ 181572933 §
Cash Equivalents Measured at Amortized Cost
Money Market Funds $ 125,809,372
Total $ 307,382,305

Natural Gas Hedges - The District utilizes a derivative advisory and valuation service to value its
portfolio of natural gas hedges, which are valued based on a discounted cash flows ("DCF")
proprietary model. Commodity cap valuations were produced by a similar DCF model that
incorporates an adaptation of the Black-Scholes option pricing model. As market quotations are not
available for identical commodity derivatives, indirect valuation techniques are required. The
District's derivative instruments for fuel cost natural gas hedges, which are presented as an asset
and a deferred inflow on the statement of net position, have been categorized as Level 2 inputs.
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NET POSITION AND FUND BALANCE REPORTING

The Statement of Net Position for governmental activities reflects a negative unrestricted net
position of $85,931,454. This is primarily due to the District's net pension liability and net OPEB
liability, including related deferred inflows and deferred outflows of resources, all of which amount to
a combined $112 million.

Governmental Fund Balances

In the Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds, the District has classified fund balances into
nonspendable, committed, restricted, assigned and unassigned amounts. Restricted amounts
represent the following:

e Capital Projects Fund - Bond funds restricted for road system and building improvements
subject to specific provisions in bond resolutions.

e Debt Service Fund - Assets required for servicing general obligation bond indebtedness
under the District's trust indenture.

Committed amounts in the general fund represent certain fees specifically set aside by action of the
Board to be used solely to maintain the integrity of the drainage system. Also included are amounts
set aside due to property appraiser disputes. Note 15 discusses these disputes in more detail.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Construction

As of September 30, 2023, the District's Board of Supervisors authorized a budget of approximately
$124.3 million for current or in-process major transportation and other construction projects.
Executed construction commitments associated with these projects approximated $76.1 million and
of this amount, approximately $14.3 million was spent as of September 30, 2023.

Purchased Power and Gas

The District has entered into Purchase Power Agreements ("PPA") with Investor Owned Utilities
(IOUs), private solar developers and municipal entities throughout Florida for the purchase and sale
of power at wholesale rates, and associated transmission service. In general, except for solar
PPAs, purchase PPAs require the counterparty to pay reservation charges for capacity to reserve
the right to call on such capacity as needed. The District's budgeted minimum commitment for fiscal
year 2023 reservation charges under its agreements was estimated at $7,085,250. There are no
requirements for the District to sell wholesale power or reserve capacity for wholesale sales. Initial
terms of the District's existing agreement expires on December 31, 2024, with various provisions for
renewal or cancellation by the District and the respective counterparty in the agreement.
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15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES - CONTINUED

Purchased Power and Gas - Continued

On September 13, 2015, the District entered into a Service Agreement for Network Integration
Transmission Service ("NITS") with Duke Energy for the period January 1, 2016 through December
31, 2020. On February 26, 2020, the District signed a restated Service Agreement for NITS with
Duke Energy for the period March 1, 2020 through March 1, 2025. Although the agreement expires
in 2025, the District has contractual rollover rights for 5-year increments. The District's budgeted
transmission commitment for fiscal year 2023 under the NITS agreement was estimated at
$9,812,523.

On May 27, 2015, the District entered into a Purchase Power Agreement with Duke Energy for the
purchase of solar energy from the "Mickey Solar" array. The agreement is for a term of 15 years with
a total commitment to purchase approximately 109,000 MWh at a rate of $68.95/MWh, or
approximately $7,515,550. The annual cost for fiscal year 2023 was estimated at $557,116.

On October 9, 2017, the District entered into a Purchase Power Agreement with Origis Energy for
the purchase of solar energy from the FL Solar 5, LLC facility. The agreement is for a term of 17
years with the option to extend the term up to 20 years. For the 17-year term, the District is
committed to purchase approximately 1,978,360 MWh at a rate of $38.76/MWh or approximately
$76,681,234. The annual cost for fiscal year 2023 was estimated at $3,814,372.

On February 24, 2021, the District entered into a third Purchase Power Agreement to purchase solar
energy from Bell Ridge Solar, LLC for a 20-year term. On March 23, 2022, based on mutual
agreement of the parties the First Amendment to the original PPA with Bell Ridge Solar, LLC for the
purchase of solar energy was executed. The term of the original agreement of 20 years equates to a
total commitment to purchase approximately 3,699,482 MWh at a rate of $33.96/MWh or
approximately $125,634,409. The annual cost for fiscal year $30,126 is estimated at $2,362,597.

The District is also obligated to purchase pipeline capacity to transport natural gas under two
transportation and supply agreements with Florida Gas Transmission Company ("FGT"), dated
December 1991 and October 1993, respectively. The terms of the FGT agreements expire in the
year 2025; however, the District has contractual rollover rights for 10-year increments. Minimum
reservation payments under these agreement were budgeted at approximately $3,402,279 for fiscal
year 2023.

The District also has a backup natural gas interconnection agreement with Peoples Gas System
("PGS"). The term of the PGS agreement expires in the year 2028 unless extended by the District.
The District is in conversations with PGS to extend the existing agreement. Minimum payments
under this agreement were budgeted at approximately $477,600 for fiscal year 2023.
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Year Ended September 30, 2023

15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES - CONTINUED

Purchased Power and Gas - Continued

The District has entered forward contracts for specified periods of time to purchase the natural gas
commodity at either specified swap prices in the future or collars where prices fluctuate within a
ceiling and floor. In general, the District's portfolio primarily consists of swaps and occasionally
collars. The District enters these financial contracts to help plan its natural gas costs for the year and
to protect itself against an increase in market price of the commodity. These purchases (hedges) are
made in compliance with the District's Energy Risk Management Program (ERMP). It is possible the
market price before or at the specified time to purchase natural gas may be lower or higher than the
price at which the District is hedged. This would serve to reduce or increase the value of the hedge
contracts at the time of settlement. If the market price for the commodity is more than the hedge
price, the District benefits by only paying the fixed price of the hedge. However, if the market price
for the commodity is less than the fixed price of the hedge, the District would pay the fixed price for
the swap. The exposure for the District occurs if the counterparty fails to fulfill the hedge contracts.

Labor Services Agreement

In October 2022, the District entered into an Amended and Restated Labor Services Agreement
("LSA") with Reedy Creek Energy Services (RCES), to furnish all labor and services necessary to
operate, maintain, repair, renew and administer a solid waste collection and disposal system, a
wastewater system, a potable water system, a natural gas distribution system, an electric generation
and distribution system, a chilled water system, and a hot water system (collectively the "utility
systems"). The LSA was amended in February 2023 to clarify certain terms of the LSA. The term of
the agreement as amended continues through December 2032, however, the termination date (as
part of the settlement agreement with WDW, discussed in "Litigation and Other Claims" below) will
terminate in 2028. The maximum amount billable under the LSA (Operating Services Fee Cap) in
fiscal year 2023 was $33,724,250. The Operational Services Fee Cap for fiscal year 2024 is
$35,502,576.

Inter-local Agreement

Prior to fiscal year 2023, the District (former Reedy Creek Improvement District) entered into an
inter-local agreement with the cities of Bay Lake and Lake Buena Vista to provide administrative,
managerial, accounting and other services. Administrative and accounting services included, but
were not limited to, procurement and contract administration, financial services, technology services
and risk management. Other services included water management and utilities, permitting and fire
and emergency management services.

In September 2023, the District announced it would be terminating the administrative, managerial
and accounting services portion of the agreements in fiscal year 2024. That termination became
effective January 16, 2024.
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15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES - CONTINUED

Duke Energy Letter of Credit

In October 2022, the District entered into an Irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit ("LOC") with Truist
Bank in the amount of $3 million. The LOC was requested by Duke Energy subsequent to the
passing of Senate Bill 4-C, which dissolved 6 independent special districts, including the former
RCID. Duke Energy was named beneficiary and is allowed to draw under the letter of credit in the
event of payment default by the District under the purchased power agreement. The LOC expires
January 31, 2025.

STOPR Agreements

In September 2007, the District entered into an agreement with the City of St. Cloud, Tohopekaliga
Water Authority ("TWA"), and Orange and Polk Counties to jointly perform permit compliance
monitoring activities as required by the Water Use Permits issued by the South Florida Water
Management District. Between 2010 and June 2016, Orange County was the contract manager and
the District's payments were made to Orange County upon receipt of an invoice. In March 2016, the
District executed an amendment to the original agreement that (1) made TWA the contract manager
and (2) extended the term of the agreement. The agreement, as amended, requires the District to
contribute 18.2% of the total costs. As of September 30, 2023, the District has paid $1,366,693 for
these efforts.

In August 2011, the District entered into an agreement with the Water Cooperative of Central Florida
(which currently consists of the City of St. Cloud, TWA, Orange County and Polk County) to
participate in the preliminary design and permitting of the Cypress Lake Wellfield Alternative Water
Supply project. Originally TWA was the contract manager but with the First Amendment approved in
June 2014, the Water Coop became the contract manager and the District's payments were made to
them. The agreement, as amended, required the District to contribute $749,139 for this work.
Effective March 1, 2023 the District withdrew from the Cypress Lake Alternative Water Supply
agreement. No additional payments were made to the Water Coop in fiscal year 2023.

Litigation and Other Claims

Various suits and claims arising in the ordinary course of operations are pending against the District.
Management believes the ultimate disposition of such matters, including the cases described below,
will not materially affect the financial position of the District or the results of its operations, or the
District's ability to pay debt service on existing outstanding bonds.
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15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES - CONTINUED

Litigation and Other Claims - Continued

Various suits involve Walt Disney Parks and Resort US, Inc. and Disney Vacation Development, Inc.
(collectively, "WDP and DVD Plaintiffs") naming the Orange County Property Appraiser, the Orange
County Tax Collector and the District as defendants and challenging the Orange County Property
Appraiser's valuation of multiple commercial parcels and contesting the legality and validity of the
2015 through 2022 ad valorem tax assessments on the parcels paid to the District. WDP and DVD
Plaintiffs claim that the value of each of the assessments on the parcels does not represent the just
value of the parcels because it exceeds the fair value thereof and claims the appraiser included the
value of certain intangible property in the assessment in violation of law. WDP and DVD Plaintiffs
have requested the court set aside the 2015 through 2022 assessments and resulting taxes to the
extent they exceed the just value of such property and issue a new tax bill in said reassessed
amounts. As a result of these claims, the Court of Appeals instructed that a revaluation be calculated
by the Orange County Property Appraiser's office using the Court of Appeals' recommendations on
the parcels applicable to the District. While the District anticipates further adjustments to the tax
collections for fiscal years 2016 through 2023 (assessments in 2015 through 2022), it cannot predict
the outcome of these cases. The District has committed fund balance in the amount of $5 million to
cover potential future settlements.

The federal litigation filed by Walt Disney Parks and Resorts, U.S., Inc. (“WDW”), which was
dismissed by the Northern District of Florida and is currently on appeal to the Eleventh Circuit (Fla.
Case No. 4:23-CV-00163-MW-MJF), could if WDW were successful, have the impact of unwinding
the existing governance structure of the District and return it to the previous governance structure,
which the District operated under for over 50 years. Moreover, if the declaration of restrictive
covenants favoring WDW, being challenged by CFTOD in the Orange County Circuit Court (Case
No. 2023-CA-011818-0), were declared valid and enforceable, such could have the impact of
limiting the future development of CFTOD’s real estate assets. Also, if the development agreement
were declared valid and enforceable, such could have the impact of requiring the District to complete
future capital improvement projects that would require the issuance of additional debt, therefore
subjecting the District to additional debt service requirements similar to what the District has
operated under in prior years.

The Board announced at a public meeting on March 27, 2024, just prior to publishing these financial
statements, that a settlement had been reached with WDW in the above pending lawsuits, which
had no financial impact on the District.
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CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION (RSI)

SCHEDULES SUPPORTING MODIFIED APPROACH FOR DISTRICT

Roadways
(Note 2. A.)

Fiscal Year

INFRASTRUCTURE CAPITAL ASSETS

Year Ended September 30, 2023

Percentage of Roadways

Excellent

Good/Satisfactory

2023
2022
2021
2020
2019

Bridges
(Note 2. B.)
Fiscal Year

67 %
69 %
70 %
70 %
2%

Number of Bridges by Category

26 %
25%
23 %
24 %
21 %

Poor

7%
6 %
7%
6 %
7%

Excellent

Good

2023 *
2022
2021
2020
2019

Water Control
Structures

(Note 2. C.)
Fiscal Year

14
58
50
50
50

49

® ® w N

Number of Structures by Category

Fair

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

Poor

Total

64
60
53
58
58

Excellent

Good

2023 *
2022
2021
2020
2019

* Rating category modified in 2023; see further explanation below.

A0 o N =
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Fair

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

Poor

Total

24
24
24
24
22

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION (RSI)
SCHEDULES SUPPORTING MODIFIED APPROACH FOR DISTRICT
INFRASTRUCTURE CAPITAL ASSETS

Year Ended September 30, 2023

Budg i Costs Actual Costs

Water Water
Fiscal Control Control
Year Roads Bridges Structures Roads Bridges Structures
2024 $ 8,331,100 $ 1,100,000 $ 3,450,000 $ - $ - $ -
2023 14,129,000 830,000 1,900,000 10,105,448 36,049 977,659
2022 12,238,876 4,285,000 1,760,000 2,626,838 3,547,250 847,977
2021 6,607,600 3,220,400 1,025,000 3,713,650 1,588,609 450,492
2020 4,345,000 95,000 1,378,400 1,624,955 47,071 708,075
2019 2,000,000 1,644,673 1,903,000 1,026,195 165,000 625,522

ELECTION TO USE MODIFIED APPROACH

The District has elected to use the "Modified Approach" as defined by GASB No. 34 for
infrastructure reporting for its roads, bridges and water control structures. The infrastrucure capital
assets are managed using an asset management system with (1) an up-to-date inventory; (2)
condition assessments conducted at a minimum of every three years; and (3) an estimated annual
amount to maintain and preserve the asset at the established condition assessment level.

BASIS FOR CONDITION ASSESSMENTS AND TARGETED CONDITION LEVEL
A. Roads

Streets and roads are constantly deteriorating due to environmental causes (weathering and aging)
and structural causes (repeated traffic loading). The rate at which pavement deteriorates depends
on the original construction quality, environmental conditions, drainage, traffic loading and interim
maintenance procedures. The District bases all pavement design on existing traffic counts, proposed
traffic generation due to planned development and known loading factors.

In an effort to ensure the quality of the District's roadway network, the District performs a physical
condition assessment of the public streets/roadways within its jurisdiction using the Road Manager
Condition Evaluation test method. Roads are evaluated and given a numerical rating, or Pavement
Condition Index ("PCI") of 1 through 100. This identifies the condition and helps determine what
work is required. The ratings were based on visual observation of the roads surface condition:
defects or deformation, cracking (transverse, reflective, longitudinal and alligator), and patching/pot
hole frequency.
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CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION (RSI)
SCHEDULES SUPPORTING MODIFIED APPROACH FOR DISTRICT
INFRASTRUCTURE CAPITAL ASSETS

Year Ended September 30, 2023

BASIS FOR CONDITION ASSESSMENTS AND TARGETED CONDITION LEVEL - CONTINUED
A. Roads - Continued

Using the PCI Index, the following conditions were defined:

Condition PCI Rating
Excellent 80 - 100
Good/Satisfactory 60- 79
Poor 1- 59

Complete assessments to evaluate the PCI ratings shall occur at a minimum every three years. In
addition, yearly inspections are performed to account for changing conditions that may impact
previous ratings.

The District has elected to maintain roads within the system at a mimimum of 80% rated in excellent
or good/satisfactory condition. As of the date of this report, 93% of the District's roads were in
excellent or good/satisfactory condition.

In prioritizing roadway repairs, a benefit value for each roadway is determined based on the roadway
use and the projected cost of the necessary repair. Based on the identified priorities, the District
budgets for and schedules the pavement repairs. During fiscal year 2023, the District completed
three pavement resurfacing repair projects that began in fiscal year 2022 and started a fourth project
that will finish in early fiscal year 2024. The remaining work needed to upgrade the 7% of roadways
in the poor category is programmed for subsequent fiscal years.

In addition to roadway construction and major asphalt refurbishment, the District continued with
routine/ongoing maintenance and repairs throughout the roadway system. The routine work in 2023
encompassed maintenance repairs of asphalt, shoulder protection and replacement of guardrail
totaling $10,105,448.

B. Bridges

Bridges within the District are inspected bi-annually by a qualified Florida licensed Structural
Engineer on a rolling basis. Bridge inspections are performed according to the latest National Bridge
Inspection ("NBI") Standards and Florida Department of Transportation ("FDOT") requirements. As
part of the inspection process, the bridge deck, super-structure, substructure and culvert (if
applicable) are rated according to standard requirements. To be more consistent with industry
standards, in 2023 the District implemented the NBI Condition Rating used by FDOT, which assigns
classifications based on the table below:
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Year Ended September 30, 2023

BASIS FOR CONDITION ASSESSMENTS AND TARGETED CONDITION LEVEL - CONTINUED

B. Bridges - Continued

Condition NBI Condition Rating
Excellent 8-9
Good/Satisfactory 6-7

Fair 5

Poor 1-4

The earliest bridges constructed within the District were placed into service in 1972 and a majority of
the bridges were constructed during the following 25 years. Over the past eight years, the District
has undergone major infrastructure expansion with additional bridges being placed into service,
older bridges undergoing major modifications and numerous bridges retired from service.

The District has elected to maintain 90% of its bridges within the excellent or good category. As of
the date of this report, 98% of the District's bridges were in excellent or good condition.

Preservation and maintenance of bridge structures is an on-going activity and allows the bridges to
be classified as either Excellent or Good condition. Based on inspection results/recommendations,
bridge installations and repairs were completed at a cost of $36,049.

C. Water Control Structures

The Master Drainage System within the District is comprised of 66 river miles of canals and
waterway. It incorporates 24 major water control structures comprised of Amil Gates, sharp crested
weirs, and one set of 48” diameter culverts. Amil Gates are constant level water control structures.
These gates provide a consistent water level within the waterways or canals, and open due to
increasing water pressure during a storm event, thereby allowing flood waters to pass downstream
and exit the District. Weirs maintain water levels at a set elevation; as the flood waters rise due to a
storm event, they spill over the weirs and pass downstream. The set of 48" culverts act as an
overflow or pass through, allowing flood waters to pass to an adjacent wetland on the eastern
perimeter of the District. Construction on a majority of these structures began in the late 1960’s, thus
many are approaching 60 years of service time. Ongoing maintenance and major rehabilitative work
has extended the useful life of the structures allowing them to remain operational.
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Year Ended September 30, 2023

BASIS FOR CONDITION ASSESSMENTS AND TARGETED CONDITION LEVEL - CONTINUED
C. Water Control Structures - Continued

Structures are classified by their overall condition and were listed as Excellent, Good or Poor
condition. In 2023, the District added the Fair category to better classify structures along the
condition spectrum described below. This rating is generated by the annual inspection and condition
assessment report. The Annual Water Control Structure Report lists all items inspected both above
ground and below the water surface. Using this information, the structure condition is assigned, the
required repairs are prioritized and the repair work is scheduled. Required repairs are listed as
Priority 1, 2 or 3. Priority 1 signifies a major rehabilitative repair. Priority 1 repairs are items that if not
repaired, may degrade the integrity of the structural element or reduce the operational capacity of
the structure. Historically, we have found Priority 1 repairs often occur in underwater conditions and
have evolved over long periods of time. This type of repair may require extensive construction work
and as such, cannot always be done immediately. These major repairs are programmed and
budgeted to occur in a future year. Priority 2 repairs are those that may impact the operational
capacity of the structure but do not cause major cost impacts and can be addressed during annual
routine maintenance. Priority 3 identifies items not in current need of repair but signify a condition,
though noteworthy, that is expected to remain stable for a number of years. As such, the
recommendation is that Priority 3 items need not be separately scheduled for repair, but addressed
when the structure undergoes Priority 1 or Priority 2 repairs. As the structures continue to age, our
annual inspections reveal an increasing number of Priority 1 and 2 repairs, and the annual
maintenance for the water control system has begun to trend upward.

Based on the results of inspections and priority ranking of repairs, the following condition level
categories have been assigned:

Condition Category Characteristics

Excellent - No existing safety deficiencies

- Acceptable performance expected, no operational impacts

- Routine maintenance required, generally priority 3 and 2 repairs
- Widespread typical deterioration

Good - No existing safety deficiencies

- Acceptable performance expected

- Minor operational impacts not critical to flood control

- Routine maintenance required, generally priority 3 and 2 repairs

- Widespread typical deterioration

- Isolated significant condition exists that require remedial action
greater than routine work and/or secondary studies/investigation.
May include an isolated priority 1 repair.
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2. BASIS FOR CONDITION ASSESSMENTS AND TARGETED CONDITION LEVEL - CONTINUED
C. Water Control Structures - Continued

Poor - No existing safety deficiencies for normal operation conditions.

Extreme hydrologic events may result in safety deficiencies.

- Maintenance required to prevent developing safety concerns

- Acceptable performance expected

- Minor operational impacts not critical to flood control, but potential
threat to flood control operations if impacts continue to deteriorate

- Multiple conditions exist that require remedial action greater
than routine work and/or secondary studies/investigation

- Widespread severe deterioration

The District has elected to maintain water control structures within the system at 80% in excellent or
good condition and have no structures in poor condition. As of the date of this report, 100% of the

District's structures were rated in excellent or good condition.

During fiscal year 2023, the District conducted routine maintenance on the system, which included
repairs on structures, levees and debris removal throughout the canal system and

maintenance/repair of erosion issues. The cost of these activities totaled $977,659.

81



CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION (RSI)
OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

Year Ended September 30, 2023
Schedule of Changes in the District's Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios

Last 6 Fiscal Years*

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY

Service cost $ 1,124,357 § 2,019,443 § 1,926,349 $ 1,511,559 $ 1,219,287 $ 1,179,666
Interest 2,655,985 1,840,307 1,851,303 2,167,491 2,521,415 2,332,664
Change in benefit terms - - 374,816

Difference between expected and actual experience - 2,763,542 - (6,200,300)

Changes of assumptions (954,595) (22,662,394) (935,997) 6,505,338 18,890,916 (6.120,684)
Benefit payments (2,058,314) (2,218,031) (1,757,481) (1,709,222) (1,523,266) (1,521,768)
Net change in total OPEB liability 767,433 (18,257,133) 1,458,990 2,274,866 21,108,352 (4,130,122)
Total OPEB liability, beginning of year 66,304,404 84,561,537 83,102,547 80,827,681 59,719,329 63,849,451
Total OPEB liability, end of year $ 67,071,837 § 66,304,404 $ 84,561,537 $ 83102547 $ 80,827,681 $ 59,719,329

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

Contributions - employer B 3,072,626 $ 3,233,531 § 2,774,518 $ 2,743,348 $ 2,552,995 $ 12,521,768
Net investment income (loss) 360,829 (1,011,926) (60,629) 488,190 637,649 2399
Benefit payments (2,058,314) (2,218,031) (1,757,481) (1,709,222) (1,523,266) (1,521,768)
Net change in plan fiduciary net position 1,375,141 3574 956,408 1,522,316 1,667,378 11,002,399
Plan fiduciary net p beginning of year 15,152,075 15,148,501 14,192,093 12,669,777 11,002,399
Plan fiduciary net position, end of year 16,527,216 15,152,075 15,148,501 14,192,093 12,669,777 11,002,399
District's net OPEB liability, end of year $ 50544621 § 51,152,329 $ 69,413,036 $ 68910454 $ 68,157,904 $ 48,716,930
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the

total OPEB liability 24.64 % 2285% 17.91% 17.08 % 15.68 % 18.42 %
Covered-employee payroll $ 20670506 § 28667156 $ 29475581 $ 28,204,306 § 27,612,000 $ 26,678,408

District's net OPEB liability as a percentage of
covered-employee payroll 170.35 % 178.44 % 235.49 % 243.55 % 246.84 % 182.61 %

*Information in this schedule is intended to display the last 10 years; however, information is not available for all prior years. Additional years will
be displayed as information becomes available.

Notes to Schedule
Changes of assumptions - The discount rate increased from 4.00% to 4.09% at September 30, 2023.

82

A-45

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION (RSI)
OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS - CONTINUED

Year Ended September 30, 2023
Schedule of the District's Contributions

Last 6 Fiscal Years*

Contributions in Contributions

Relation to the as a Percentage

Actuarially Actuarially Contribution Covered of Covered

Determined Determined Deficiency Employee Employee

Fiscal Year Contribution Contribution (Excess) Payroll Payroll

2023 $ 4,047,323 § 3,072,626 $ 974,697 $ 29,670,506 10.36 %
2022 5,171,142 3,233,531 1,937,611 28,667,156 11.28 %
2021 5,075,307 2,774,518 2,300,789 29,475,581 9.41 %
2020 4,838,645 2,743,348 2,095,297 28,294,306 9.70 %
2019 4,507,464 2,552,995 1,954,469 27,612,000 9.25%
2018 3,580,651 12,521,768 (8,941,117) 26,678,408 46.94 %

* Information in this schedule is intended to display the last 10 years; however, information is not available for all prior years. Additional years
will be displayed as information becomes available.

Notes to Schedules
Valuation Date: September 30, 2023

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

Actuarial cost method Entry Age Normal based on level basis over the earnings of the individual between entry age and

assumed exit age(s). Projected Unit Credit method used in years 2018 and prior.
Amortization period 30-year open group
Asset valuation method Fair market value

Contributions to the VEBA Trust are not codified or mandated but the District's funding strategy is to
contribute a minimum of $1 million to the Trust per year.

Contributions

Inflation 2.50%
Healthcare cost trend rates 6.5% initial, decreasing .25% per year to an ultimate rate of 4.5% for medical; 4.0% dental; 3.0% vision
Salary increases per year 3.50%

Investment rate of return (discount rate) 4.09%

Based on the 2021 Florida Retirement System Actuarial Valuation

Retirement age

Mortality PUB-2010 mortality table with scale MP-2021
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REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION (RSI) REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION (RSI)
OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS - CONTINUED PENSIONS
Year Ended September 30, 2023 Year Ended September 30, 2023
Schedule of Investment Returns Schedule of the District's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability - Pension Plan
Last 6 Fiscal Years * Florida Retirement System

Last 10 Fiscal Years*
Annual Money-Weighted Rate of Return,

Fiscal Year Net of Investment Expense

2023 2.4% CFTOD's

2022 (6.4)% Proportionate

2021 (0.3)% Share of the Plan

2020 4.0% Net Pension  Fiduciary Net

2019 5.8% CFTQD's CFTQD's Liability as a  Position as a

2018 0.0% Proportion of Proportionate CFTOD's P.ercentage of Percentage

the Net Share of the Covered its Covered of the Total
Calendar Pension Net Pension Employee Employee Pension
* Information in this schedule is intended to display the last 10 years; however, information is not available for all prior years. Additional years Year Liability Liability Payroll Payroll Liability
will be displayed as information becomes available. Fiscal year 2018 was 0.0% as The Plan was funded at the end of the fiscal year. 2023 0.12810% §$ 51,043,615 $ 35,229,560 144.89 % 82.38 %
2022 0.13088 % 48,696,935 34,235,982 142.24 % 82.89 %
2021 0.12138 % 9,169,131 31,367,402 29.23 % 96.40 %
2020 0.14788 % 64,091,387 33,311,667 192.40 % 78.85 %
2019 0.15020 % 51,728,123 32,604,660 158.65 % 82.61 %
2018 0.14924 % 44,950,699 31,337,271 143.44 % 84.26 %
2017 0.13850 % 40,967,776 27,550,271 148.70 % 83.89 %
2016 0.14236 % 35,945,064 26,833,753 133.95 % 84.88 %
2015 0.12545 % 16,204,183 24,758,513 65.45 % 92.00 %
2014 0.12860 % 7,846,750 23,975,240 3273 % 96.09 %
*Amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of June 30.
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CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION (RSI) REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION (RSI)
PENSIONS - CONTINUED PENSIONS - CONTINUED
Year Ended September 30, 2023 Year Ended September 30, 2023
Schedule of the District's Contributions - Pension Plan Schedule of the District's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability - HIS Plan
Florida Retirement System Health Insurance Subsidy Program
Last 10 Fiscal Years* Last 10 Fiscal Years*
Contributions in Contributions CFTOD's
Relation to the CFTOD's as a Percentage Proportionate
Contractually Contractually Contribution Covered of Covered Share of the Plan

Required Required Deficiency Employee Employee Net Pension  Fiduciary Net
Fiscal Year Contribution Contribution (Excess) Payroll Payroll CFTOD's CFTOD's Liability as a  Position as a

2023 $ 7,164,161 $ 7,164,161 $ R $ 36,198,395 19.79 % Proportion of Proportionate CFTOD's Percentage of Percentage

2022 6.072.376 6.072.376 N 34180174 17.77 % the Net Share of the Covered its Covered of the Total

2021 5,193,646 5,193,646 - 32,345,424 16.06 % Calendar P?"s.'fm Net.Pe.n.swn Employee Employee P?"s.'fm
202 173531 173531 2 847 147 15759 Year Liability Liability Payroll Payroll Liability
020 5,173.53 5,173,583 ) 82,847, 575 % 2023 0.08864 % $ 14,077,700 $ 35,229,560 39.96 % 412 %
- 9
2019 5.114.578 5,114,578 33,220,360 1840 u/“ 2022 0.09394 % 9,950,153 34,235,982 29.06 % 481 %
2018 4,642,954 4,642,954 ) 31,540,901 1472 u/° 2021 0.08857 % 10,863,849 31,367,402 34.63 % 3.56 %
a1 4,027,501 4,027.501 ) 28,358,740 14.20 % 2020 0.09597 % 11,718,223 33,311,667 35.18 % 3.00 %
- 9

2018 3815.742 3815742 27,184,949 14.04 u/“ 2019 0.09749 % 10,908,108 32,604,660 33.46 % 263 %
2015 3,458,545 3,459,545 ) 25,052,618 1381 u/° 2018 0.09590 % 10,150,278 31,337,271 32.39 % 215 %
2014 3,199.940 3,189,840 ) 24,221,740 1321 % 2017 0.08638 % 9,235,838 27,550,271 33.52 % 1.64 %
2016 0.08682 % 10,118,388 26,833,753 37.71 % 0.97 %
*Amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of September 30. 2015 0.08138 % 8,299,010 24,758,513 33.52 % 0.50 %
2014 0.08064 % 7,539,962 23,975,240 31.45 % 0.99 %

Changes in assumptions
The District is not aware of any changes in assumptions during the fiscal year. “Amounts presanted for each fiscal year were determined as of Juria 30.
Change in benefit terms

Effective July 1, 2023, the maximum period of time an eligible member may participate in DROP increased from 60
months to 96 months. The effective annual rate of interest earned on accumulated ending balances in the DROP
program increased from 1.3% to 4.0%.
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CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION (RSI)

PENSIONS - CONTINUED

Year Ended September 30, 2023
Schedule of the District's Contributions - HIS Plan

Health Insurance Subsidy Program

Last 10 Fiscal Years*

Contributions in

Contributions

Relation to the CFTOD's as a Percentage

Contractually Contractually Contribution Covered of Covered

Required Required Deficiency Employee Employee

Fiscal Year Contribution Contribution (Excess) Payroll Payroll

2023 $ 633,993 § 633,993 $ $ 36,198,395 175 %
2022 567,391 567,391 34,180,174 1.66 %
2021 536,934 536,934 32,345,424 1.66 %
2020 545,263 545,263 32,847,147 1.66 %
2019 551,458 551,458 33,220,360 1.66 %
2018 523,579 523,579 31,540,901 1.66 %
2017 470,755 470,755 28,358,740 1.66 %
2016 451,270 451,270 27,184,949 1.66 %
2015 340,982 340,982 25,052,616 1.36 %
2014 294,282 294,282 24,221,740 1.21%

*Amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of September 30.

Changes in assumptions

From 2022 to 2023, the municipal rate used to determine total pension liability increased from 3.54% to 3.65%.

Change in benefit terms

Effective July 1, 2023, employer contribution rates increased from 1.66% to 2.0% of gross compensation for active
members. Additionally, the monthly HIS payment increased from $5 to $7.50 for each year of creditable service, the
minimum HIS payment increased from $30 to $45, and the maximum HIS payment increased from $150 to $225.
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APPENDIX B

BOND RESOLUTION

Resolution No. 245
Resolution No. 313
Resolution No. 546
Resolution No. 551
Resolution No. 670

[Exhibits intentionally omitted]
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REEDY CREEK IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT AD VALOREM
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RESOLUTION No. 245

A RESOLUTICN OF THE REEDY CREEK IMPROVEMENT
DISTRICT SUPPLEMENTING, AMENDING AND RESTATING A
RESOLUTION ADOPTED BY THE DISTRICT ON APRIL 4,
1572 PERTARINING TO THE ISSUANCE BY THE DISTRICT OF
ITS AD VALOREM TAX BONDS TO PAY THE COSTS OF
VARIOUS PUBLIC PURPOSES IN THE DISTRICT; FROVIDING
FOR THE RIGHTS OF THE HOLDERS OF SUCH AD VALOREM
TAX BONDS; MAKING CERTAIN OTHER COVENANTS AND
AGREEMENTS XN CONNECTION THEREWITH: AND PROVIDING

AW EFFECTIVE DATH.

WHEREAS, pursuant to a Resolution (the %1972
Resolution") adopted by the Board of Supervisors (the
"Board") of the Reedy Creek Improvement District {the
upistrict”) on April 4, 1972, the District authorized the
issuance of its Ad Valorem Tax Bonds im the aggregate
principal awount of 520,000,000 {the "Series 1972 Bonds"}
and anthorized the isswvance of additional .parity bonds under
the 1972 Resclution, such bohds to be secured by a lien on
tertain Ad Valorem Taxes (as defined herein) . collected by
the District onm a parity with the lien of the Series 1972
Bonds; and :

WHEREAS, the District has issued its Ad Valorem
‘Pax Bonds, Series 1987A, its Ad Valcorem Tax Bonds, Series
198924 and its Ad Valorem Tax Bonds, Series 1989B as
additional parity bonds.under the 1972 Resolution; and

WHEREAS, "Section 18 of the 1972 Resclution
provides that certain amendments may be made to- the 1972
Resclution upon receipt of the consent of the holders of
two-thirds of all Bonds Outstahding under the 1972 Resolu-
tion; and

. . WHEREAS, pursuant. to the 1872 Resolution, the
District established a mt (the PMReserve
Account") into which the "HiE ct has deposited, in the

aggregate, $1,657,096 in connection with the issuance of the

Series 1972 Bonds and all additiopal pparity bonds heretcfore
lssued pursuant to the m and

4 e of this resolu-—
fil and the moneys

Posi 11 be applied in ACCordance with a
Subseguent resclution adopted by the Board: and

. WHEREAS, the District desires o amend and
restate the 1972 Resclutiop to read in its entirety as
Provided herein, effective upon receipt of the consent of
the HOld_ers of two-thirds, and as to certain provisions as



nerein provided, one hundred percent (106%) of the Bonds
putstanding under the 1972 Resolution;

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOAMARD OF
SUPERVISORS OF THE REEDY CREEK IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT:

SECTION 1. AUTHORITY FOR THIS RESOLUTION. This
resolulion is adopted pursuant to Chapter 67-764, Laws of
Florida, Special Acts of 1967.

el SECTJON 2. DEFINITIONS. The following terms used
herein shall have the meanings set forth below, unless the
context otherwise expressly reguires:

"pocreted Value' means, as of any date of
computaticn with respect to any Capital Appreciation Bond,
an amount equal to the principal amount of such Capital
Appreciation Bond (the principal amount at _its initial
offering), plus the interest- accreted on such Capital
Appreciation Bond from the date of delivery to the original
purchasers thereof to the Valuation Date next precedihg the
date of computation or the date of computation if a
Valuation 0ate, such interest. to accrete at a rate not
exceeding the maximum rate permitted by Jlaw, compounded
pericdically, plus, if such date of computatien shall not be
a. Valuation Date, a portion of the difference between the
Accreted Value as of the immediately preceding Valuation
Date (or the date c¢f original issuance if the date of
computation is prior to-the first Valuation Date succeeding
the date of original issuance) and the Accreted Valuae as of
the immediately succeeding Valuation Date, calculated based
on the assumption that Accreted Value accrues during any
peried in equal daily amounts on the basis of a year of
twelve 30-day months.

"Ad Valorem Taxes" means the proceeds caollected by
the District pursuant to Section 24 of the Act from Ad
Valorem Taxes levied at a rate not exceeding thirty (30)
mills on the dollar per annum on the assessed value of all
taxable property in the District.

"hd Valorem Taxes Fund" means the fund by that
name created pursuant to Section 15A herecf.

. "hdditional Bonds" "means additional Bends issued
AN compliance with the terms, conditions and limitations
gontained in Section 15E hereof which shall have an eqgual
lien ¢n the tax proceeds deposited in the Ad Valorem Taxes

2
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pund created Dby this resolution and rank equally in all

pespects with the Bonds initially issued hereunder.
5 "amortization Installment" means the funds to he

s
‘deposited in the Sinking Fund in a given Bond Year for the

payment at maturity or redemption of a portien of Term Bonds
af a designed Series, as established by resolution of the

pistrict at or befere the delivery of that Serxies of Term

Fonds.
.- "*Board" means the Board of Supervisors of the -
pistrict.

F "Bonds" means the Ad Valorem Tax Bonds herein
guthorized to be issued, tegether with any Additional Bonds
Hereafter issued under the terms, conditions and limitations
gontained herein. o

; "Bongd Counsel? means naticnally recognized counsel
experienced in matters relating te the validity of, and the
tax - exemption of interest on, obligations of states and
tiheir political subdivisions.

¥ "Bond Obligation" means, - as of the date of
computation, the sum of: (i} the principal awount of all
Current Interest Bonds then oOutstanding -and (ii) the
Acereted Value on all cCapital Appreciation Bonds then
outstanding.

"Bond Service Requirement” means for a given Bond
Year the remainder, after subtracting any accrued and
capitalized interest for that Bond Year which has been
deposited into the Sinking Fund from the sum of:

(1) The amount required to pay the interest
coming due on Bonds during that Bond Year,
including the accreted interest component of the
Accreted Value of Capital Appreciation Bonds
coming due during that Bond Year,

(2) The amount required to pay the principal
cf Serial Bonds and the principal of Term Bonds
coming due during that Bond year including the
principal component eof the Accreted Value of
Capital Appreciation Bonds maturing in that Bond
Year that are not included in the Amortization
Installments for such Term Bonds, and

{3} The Amortization Installment for all
Series of Term Bonds for that Bond Year.

The interest rate for Variable Rate Bonds for the
Bond Year in which such calculation is made, or for the
fOllnwing Bond Year, as the case may be, shall be assumed to

3



pe ona hundred ten percent (110%} of the greater of (i) the
average daily i o on _such variable Rate Bonds
during Ehe twelve BOND ling with the month preceding the
date of galculation, r h  sherter period that such
been OQutstanding, or (ii)} the
rate of interest on such able Rate Bonds on the date of
ealculation. For purposes of determining the Maximum Bend
service Reguirement or the Bond Service Requirement for the
jssuance of Additiepal Bonds pursuant to Section 15E of this
resoluticn, the interest rate on Variable Rate Bonds
gutstanding on the date of calculation shall be calculated

ied abova, ¥ interest rate on Variable Rate
ponds proposed to be shall be deemed to be the nhigher
of {(a} the initial inte te on such Variable Rate Bonds
on the date of issuance thereof, or (h) if Variable Rate
ponds are Outstanding hereunder, the rate calculated
pursuant to the immediately preceding sentence for such
variable Rate Bonds. I1f Bonds are subject to purchase by
the District at the option of the Rolder and a liguidity
facility is available with reppect thervete at the time such
determination is made to provide for the purchase of such
Bonds, the "put" date or dates with respect to such Bonds
shall be ignored and the stated maturity dates thereof shall
be used for .purposes of this calculation. .

variable .jhh:: Bonds shall |

ari

"Bond Year" weans the annual period beginning on
the first day of June of each year and ending en the last
day of May of the following year, except that the first Bond
Year with respect to any Series of Bonds shall begin on the
date of issuance of such Series of Bonds and end on the last
day of the succeeding May; provided that when such term is
used to describe the period during which deposits -are to be
made to amortize the principal and interest en the Bonds
maturing or kecoming subjeéct to redemption, the principal
and interest maturing or beceming subject to redemption on
the first day of the month immediately succeeding any Bond
Year shall be deemed  to mature or become subject to
redemption on the last day of the preceding Bond Year.

. "Business ' Day" means any day other than a
Satu;day, Sunday, legal holiday or other day on whigh
banglng institutions in the city or cities in which the
Paying Agent has its principal corporate trust office ars
authorized by law to be closed for business or on which the
May York stock exchange is closed.

) . "Capital Appreciation Bonds" means those Bonds
lssped hereunder as to which interest |is compounded
periodically on ‘each of the applicable periodic dates
designated for compounding and payable in an apmount equal to
the ‘then current Accreted Value only at the mnaturity,
ear}Ler redemption or othar payment date thereof, all as so
designated by the supplemental resolution authorizing the
1ssuance of such Bonds.
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nelosing Date” means, with respect te any Series
of Bonds, the date on which such Series of Bonds are issued
and delivered.

ncode means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
if applicable, the Internal Revenue Code of
wWed, or any corresponding provision of any
of the United States of America relating to
me taxation, and except as otherwise provided
required by the context hereof, including inter—
thereof contaimed or set forth in the applicable
a5 of the Department of the Treasury (including
cable final regulations and temporary regulatiens), the
{eable rulings of the Internal Revenue Service (inglud-
'blished revenuwe rulings and private letter rulings)
able court decision

vconstruction Fund" means the Ad Valorem Taxes
construction Fund created pursuant to Section 16C hereof.

tcurrent Interest Bonds" means those Bonds issued
hereunder, the interest on which shall be payable on a
periodic basis, as provided in the supplemental resclutien
authorizing the issuance of such Bonds.

"District" means the Reedy Creek Improvement
District.

"riscal Year" means the perlod commencing “eon
Octaber 1 of each Yyear and ending on the succeeding
September 30 or such other consecutive 12-month period as
may bhe hereafter designated as the £fiscal vyear of the
District. '

"Government Obligations" means direct noncallable
obligations of the United States of Aamerica, obligations
the payment when due of principal of and interest on which
is wunconditicnally guaranteed by the United States of
America and stripped interest obligations on bonds, notes,
debentures and similar obligations issued by the Resolution
Funding Corporation.

"Holder of Bonds" or "Bondholders™ or any similar
term means any person who shall be the bearer or owner of
any Outstanding bearer Band and Bonds registered to bearer,
or the registered owner of any Outstanding registered Bond
gf Bonds which shall at the time be registered other than to

earey,

I

. "Investment Obligations" means any investmants in
which the District is permitted to invest its funds under
Section 6B of the Act, as amended or supplemented, or any
Pther applicable provisions of law.

-



"Maturity Amount"” means the ameunt payable at
naturity of a Capital Appreciation Bornd consisting of the
ariginal pr@ncipal amount thereof or discounted principal
value (original offering price) and interest or principal
accreted thereon to the maturity date thereof, as determined
hy reference to the accreted value tables centained or
referred to in such Bond.

"Maxinum Bond Service Reguirement" means, as aof
any particular date of calculation, the largest Bond Service
Requirement for any remaining Bond Year, exce; that with
respect to any Bonds for which Am zation Installments
have been established, the amount of principal coming due on
the final maturity @ate with respect to such Bonds shall be
reduced by the aggregate principal amount or Accreted Value,
as the case may be, of such Bonds that are to be redeemed or
paid from amortization Installments to be made in prior Bond
Years. Far purposes of this resolution, that Maximum Bond
Service Requirement shall be calculated at least annually as
of the first day of each Bond Year and as of the date of
issuance of any Series of Bonds hereunder.

*putstanding™ wmeans all Beonds authenticatad and
delivered under this resolution, except:

(a} all Bonds theretofore cancelled or required to
be cancelled hereunder or under any supplemental resclution
authorizing a Series of Bonds;

(b} Bonds for the payment, redempticn or purchase
cf which moneys and/or Government Obligations, the principal
of and interest on which, when due, will provide sufficient
moneys to fully pay such PBonds in accordance herewith or
with the supplemental resolution pursuant te which such
Bonds were issued, shall have been or shall concurrently be
deposited with the Paying Agent; and

(c) Bonds in substitution for which other Bonds
have been authenticated and delivered pursuant to this
resolution or any supplemental resolution,

In determining whether the Holders of a requisite
aggreqgate amount of Beond Obligation Outstanding have
concurred in any request, demand, authorizatien, direction,
notice, consept or waiver, Bonds which are held on hehalf of

the District shall be disregarded for the purpose of any
such determination.

. *Paying Agent" wmeans the applicable person or
entity {including the District) authorized by the District
Lo pay the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on
Bonds on behalf of the District pursuant to the supplemental
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resolutian adopted in connection with the issuance of any
series of Bonds.

"Rebate Amount" shall have the meaning ascribed to
that term in Section 15F of this resclution.

Repate Fund" means the Rebate Fund established
pursuant to Section 1%F of this resclution.

"Registrar" means, with respect to any Series of
ponds, <the persen or entity (including the pistrict)
designated as the rggistrar by tpc Board gursuaqt to a
cuppiemental resoluticn adepted in connaction with the
igsuance of such Series of Bands.

"gSerial Bonds" means all Bonds of a Series other
than Term Bonds.

“Series" means the Bonds and any portion of the
Bonds of an issue authenticated and delivered in a single
rransaction, payable from an identical source of rvevenue and
identified pursuant to the supplemental rescolution authariz-
ing such Bonds as a separate Series of Bonds, regardless of
variations in maturity, interest rate, Amortization
Installments or other provision, and any Bonds thereafter
authenticated and delivered in lieu of or in substitution of
a Series of Bonds issued pursuant to this resclution.

"Series 1972 Bonds" means the District's outstand-
ing Ad Valorem Tax Bonds dated June 1, 1372 =authorized
hereby.

nginking Fund" means the Ad Valorem Taxes Sinking
Fund created pursuant to Section 15B hereof.

“Taxable Bonds" means Bonds the interest on which
is pot intended at the time of the issuance thereof to be
excluded from the gross income of the Holders thereof for
federal income tax purposes.

"Term Bonds" means Bonds of a Series for which
Amortization Installments are established, and such other
Bonds of a Series sc designated by supplemental resclution

of the District adopted on or before the date of delivery of
such Bonds.

. "Yaluation Date" means, with respect to any
Capital Appreciation Bond, if applicable, the date or dates
Set forth in the supplemental resclution authorizing the
1ssuanee of such Capital Appreciation Bends,

) Wariable Rate Bonds" means Bonds lIssued with a
variable, auction reset, adjustable, c¢onvertible or other



. mm—rern

gimilar rate which is not fixed in percentage at the date of
jegue for the entlre term therecof.

Words importing singular number shall jnclude the
glural number in each case and wvice versa, and words
importing persons shall include firms and corporaticns.

SECTION 3, FINDINGS. It is hereby found,
determined and declared that:

A. It is necessary, desirable, and in the best
interest of the Distriect that the Series 1972 Bonds ip an
amount not exceeding $20,000,000 be issued to finance the
cost of various publlc purposes to be located within the
pistrict and described as follow:

{1) 410,500,000 to provide for the refunding of
57,000,000 eoutstanding Drainage Revenue Bonds, Series A
Anticipation HNectes af the District issued to finance the
cost of the construction and acguisition of certain
drainage, reclamation and water contrel improvements
pursuant to the Special Report and Water Control for Reedy
CreeX Improvement District of Gee and Jenson, Consulting
Engineers, Inc., dated April 1968, presently on file with
the Board (hereinafter called “"Project Iv).

{2) 59,500,000 to finance the c¢ost of the
construction and acguisitien of a sanitary sewer system
pursuant to a design and reporxrt of James M, MNontgomery,
Consulting Engineers, Inc., dated December 16, 1966, and
s6lid waste disposal facilities pursuant to a design and
report of James M. Montgomery, Consulting Engineers, Inc.,
dated July 16, 1970, all presently on file with the Board
(hereinafter called "Pro3ect IIm).

B. The isswuance of the Series 1972 Bonds was
approved by a majority of votes cast in a bond election held
April 3, 1972, in the manner required by the cConstitution
and Laws of Florida.

C. Such Series 1%72 Bonds teogether with all
other cutstanding ad valorem tax bonds of the District, if
any, do not exceed fifty per centum (50%) of the assessecd
value of the taxable property within the District.

STEON 4 HORIZATION O

il 4 1972 PROJECTS. [
authorizea the gonstructlon and acguisition of Projects I
and II (herexnafter referrecl te as the "1972 Projects")
I rrbs and designs referred to in subsec-
wi presently on file with the Board,
and supplemented, and subject to
and variations therefrom which
determined by the foard to be

OF =z
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interest of the District. The
in additien to the items set
@ plans and specifications, may
ited to, the items contained in
"cost" as provided in subsection

SECTION 5., RESOLUTICN TO COMSTITUTE CONTRACT. In
cons:.derat:.on of the acceptance of the Bonds authorized to
pe issued hereunder by the Holders therecf from time to
time, this resolution shall he deemed ‘to be and shall
constitute a contract between the District and such
Holders. The c AT g ants herein set forth_to
be Perfo-—p._. t:-, be for the oqual benefit,
protecticn and ) e legal Holders of any and all
of such Bonds and the coupons attached thereto, if any, all
of which shall be of equal rank and without preference,
prierity or distinction of any of the Bonds or coupons, if
any, over any othexr thereof, except as expressly provided
therein and herein.

SECTION 6. AUTHORIZATION OF SERIES 1972 RBONDS.
Subject and pursuant to the provisions of this resolutien,
obligations of the District to be known as "ad Valorem Tax
Bends,” herein defined in the "“Series 1%72 Bonds," are
hereby authorized to be issued in the aggregate principal
amount ©of not exceeding Twenty Million Dollars
($20,000,000.00) .

SECTION 7. DESCRIPTION OF SERIES 1972 BONDS. The
Series 1972 Bonds shall be dated June 1, 1972, shall ke in
the denomination of $5,000 each, shall ke numbered from one
upward in order of maturity; shall bear interest at such
rate or rates, not exceeding the legal rate, teo be
determined upon the sale therecf, such interest to be
payable semi-annually, June 1 and December 1 of each year,
and shall mature in numerical order on June 1 in the years
and amounts as follows:



VEAR AMOUNT YEAR AMOUNT
1974 $270,000 1989 $ 650,000
1375 290,000 1990 690,000
1576 305,000 1931 730,000
1977 325,000 1382 775,000
1978 345,600 19913 820,000
1979 165,000 1994 870,000
1980 385,000 1395 925,000
1981 410,000 1996 980,000
1982 430,000 1997 1,035,000
1982 460,000 1998 1,100,600
1984 485,000 1999 1,165,000
1985 515, 000 2000 1,235,000
19886 545,000 2001 1,310,000
1987 580, 000 2002 1,390,000
1988 615,000
SECTION B. DETAILS OF BONDS. The Series 1872

ponds shall be issued in coupon form; shall be payable with
respect to both principal and interest at a bank or bahks to
he subsequently determined by +the District pricr to the

dalivery of the Series 1572 Bonds; at least one of such.

banks shall be the main office of a bank located in the
porcugh of Manhattan, City and State of MNew York; shall be
payable in lawful money of the United States of America;
and shall Dbear interest from their date, pavable in

accordance wWith and upon surrender of the appurtenant

interest coupons as they severally mature.

Except as otherwise provided in a subseguent
resolution adopted with respect to a Series of Bonds, the
following provisions shall apply to the Bonds: The Bends
shall be numbered consecutively from 1 upward preceded by
the letter "R" prefixed to the number. The principal of and
redemption premium, if any, on the Bonds shall ke payable
upon presentation and surrender at the principal office (or
principal corporate trust office, if applicable) of the
Registrar, Interest on Current Interest Bonds shall be
paid by check or draft drawn upon the Registrar and mailed
to the registered owners of such Bonds at the addresses as
they appear on the registratiorn books maintained by the
Registrar at the close of business on the 15th day (whethex
or not a business day} of the month next preceding the
interest payment date (the "Record Date"), irrespective of
any transfer .or exchange of such Bonds subsequent to such
Record Date and pricor to such interest payment date, unless
the District shall be in default in payment of interest due
on such interest payment date. In the event of any such
default, such defaulted interest shall be payable to the
Persons in whose names such Bonds are registered at the
¢lose of business on 2 special record date for the payment
o[ such defaulted interest as established by notice
deposited in the U.S. mails, postage prepaid, by the

10
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red owners of such Bonds not less
aooding such special recerd date.
ta the persons in whose names
the close of husiness on the
siness Day) preceding the date
rest on Current Interest Bonds
of any Heolder of Current Interest Bonds
principal amount of at least $1,000,000, be
wire tranasfer to such Holder to the bank
with the Paying BAgent as of the
cipal and any interest on Capital
11 Be payable at maturity or earlier
upon presentation and surrender of such
oo af thae Registrar by check or draft
provided by subsequent ordinance or

If any date for payment of the principal of,
premiun, if any, or interest on any Bond is not a Business
pay, then the date for such payment shall be the next
succeeding Business Day and payment on such date shall have
the same force and effect as if made on the nominal date of
payment.

if any Bomd is not presented for payment when its
principal or redemptieon price becomes due in whole or in
part, either at stated maturity or by redemption, or a check
for interest is uncashed, and 1f sufficient moneys for the
purpcse of paying ¢that principal, redemption price or
intarest are on deposit with the Registrar and available for
such purpose, all liakility of the Pbistrict to tkhat Holder
for that payment shall thereupon cease and be discharged
completely, and it shall thersupon be the duty of the
Registrar to hold those moneys in trust, without liability
for interest thereon, for the exclusive benefit of that
Sondholder who shall thereafter be restricted exclusively to
those moneys for any claim of whatever nature on its part
under the Bond Resolution and the Indenture.

Any meneys so held by the Registrar- that remain
unclaimed by the Holder of any Bend for a pericd of seven
Years after the due date of that payment shall be paid to
the District, and thereafter the Holder of that Bond shall
look only to the District for payment, and then only to the
amounts so received by the District without any interest
thereon_, and the Registrar shall have ne further
tesponsibility with respect to those moneys.

The Bonds authorized hereunder may be issued in
9Ne or more Series that may be delivared fre time to time.

The District shall by supplemental or wrize such
Series and shall specify the ! authorized
Brincipal amount of such Series; the projects te be financed

“ith the proceeds thereof; the date and terms of maturity

11



such Series, or the payment of
the holder, unless otherwise
quent resolution; the interest
such Series, which may include
czonvertible or other rates,
E conpound interest, cCapital
:ro interest rate bonds, provided
interest cost rate on each such Series
shall never exceed for such Series the maximum interest rate
permitted by law in effect at the time such Series are
issued, and provided further that in the event original
issue discount, zeroc interést rate, Capital Appreciation
ponds or similar Bonds are issued, only the orikginal
pnncupal amount of such Bends shall be deemed issued on the
date of issuance for the purposes af the maximum amount of
Bonds autheorized bhereunder or under a supplemental
resclution; the denomipations, numbering, lettering and
series designation of szuch Series of Bonds, provided that
the Bonds shall be in the denominations of $5,600 or any
integral multiple thereof, or in the case of Capital
appreciation Bonds, $5,000 amount due at maturity, or any
integral multiple thereof, or any other denomlnatlon
designated by subsequent resolutlon: the Payling
place or places of payment of such Bonds: tho
prices for such Series of Bonds and any terms of redem
or any formula for accretien upon redemption not
inconsistent with the provisions of this resolution which
may include mandatory redemptian at the election of the
holder or registered owner thereof; the amount and date of
each Amortization Instalilment, if any, for sich Series of
Bonds and any other terms or provisions applicable to the
Series of Bords, not inconsistent with the provisions of
this resolution or the Act,.

SECTICN 9. RESERVED.

SECTION 10. EXECUTION OF BONDS AND COUPONS.
Except as otherwise provided in a subseguent resclution
adopted by the District with respect to a Series of Bonds,
the Bonds shall he executed in the name of the DRistrict by
the manual or facsimile signature of the President of the
Board and countersigned and attested by the manual or
facsimile signature of the Secretary to the Board, and its
corperate seal or a facsimile therecf shall be affixed
thereto or reproduced thereon, The facsimile signatures of
the President or the Secretary may be imprinted or
repreduced on the Bonds, provided that at least one
signature required to be placed thereon, including that of
the authentication agent, shall be manuaily subscribed. In
case any officer whose signature shall appear on any Bonds
shall cease to be such officer before the delivery of such
Bonds, such signature shall nevertheless be valid and
sufficient for all purposes the same as if he had remained
in office until sueh deiivery. Any Bonds may be signed and

12
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alad on behalf of the pPistrict by such person who at the
Setual time of the execution of such Bonds shall hold the
aco or office in the District althovgh at the date of such
ggngs such person may not have been such officer.

The coupons attached to any coupen Bends issued
1 be aut jicated with the facsimile
present or future President and Secretary
H wvalidation certificate, if any, on
ed with the facsimile signature of
rict may adopt and use for such
=gimile .-__|I atures of any persons who shail
1 Presic | Secretary at any time on or
.1 1 of ]n~r cular Series of Bonds netwithstanding
that. they may have ceased to be such cfficers at the time
such Series of Bonds shall be actually delivered.

With respect to any Series of Bonds issued
hereunder, pending the preparation of definitive Bonds, the
pistrict may execute anhd deliver temporary Bonds. Temporary
Bonds shall be issuable as registered Bonds without coupens,
of any authorized denomination, and substantially in the
form of the definitive Bonds but with such omissions,
insertions, and variations as may be apprepriate for
temporary Bonds, all as may be determined by the District.
Temporary Bonds may contain such reference to any provisions
of this vesolution as may ke appropriate. Every temparary
Bond shall be executed and authenticated upon the sane
conditions and in substantially the same manner, and with
like effect, as the definitive Bcnds. As promptly as
practicable the District shall execute and shall furnish
definitive Bonds and thereupon temporary Bonds mway be
surrendered in exchange for definitive Bonds without charge
at the principal office of the Registrar, and the Registrar
shall authenticate and deliver 1in exchange for such
temporary Bonds a like aggregate principal amcunt of
definitive Bonds of authorized denominations. Until so
exchanged, the temporary Bonds shall be entitled to the same
benafits under this resclution as definitive Bonds,

SECTION 11. NEGOTTABILITY AND REGISTRATION. The
Bonds of each Series issued hereunder shall be, and shall
have all of the qualities and incidents of, nagotiable
instruments under the law merchant and the Laws of the State
of Florida, and each sucgessive holder, in accepting any of
such Bonds or the coupons appertaining therete, if any,
shall be conclusively deemed to have agreed that such Bonds
shall be and have all of the gqualities and incidents. of
negotiable instruments under the law merchant and the Laws
of the State of Florida.

The District shall cause books for the registra-
tion of the ponds to be kept by the Registrar. AL Lhe
Sption of the Helder, any coupon Bend may be registered as

13



11 make notation of such registra-
Bomnd may be registered as to both
upon  presentation thereof to the
¥ all unmatured coupons and all
not theretofore paid or provided
211 ﬂake netation of such registra-
th rom and retain in its custody
and rPu:F'ered as to principal alone
al and interest may thercafter be
assignment duly executed by the
his attorney or legal representative in
e aatisfactory to the Registrar, such
made on such books and endorsed on the Bond
by tha Reglstrar Unless such Bond shall be registered as
to both principal and interest, such transfer may be to
pearer and thereby transferabllxty by delivery shall be
restored, subiect, however, to successive registrations and
transfers as before. The principal of any Bond registered
as to principal alone, unless registered to bearer, and the
principal of any Bond registered as to both principal and
interest chall ke payable only te eor upon the order of the
registered owner or his legal representative, but the
coupens appertaining to any coupon Bend registered as to
principal alone shall remain- payable to bearer
notwithstanding sueh registratien. -

Any Series 1972 Bond registered as to both
principal and interest may be reconverted into a coupon Bond
upon presentation therecof to the Registrar, together with an
instrument requasting such reccnversion duly executed by the
registered owner or his attorney or legal representative and
in such form as shall ke satisfactory to the Registrar.
Upon any such presentatjon, the Registrar shall reattach to
such Series 1972 Bond the couponhs representing the interest
to become due thereafter on the Series 1572 Bend te the date
of maturity and interest then due and unpaid, if any, and
shall make notatien thereon whether the Series 1972 Bond is
registered as to principal alone or is payable to bearer,
The District shall pay all costs of the first conversion or
exchange of the Series 1972 Bonds from coupen form to fully
registered and vice versa, but all costs of such subsequent

conversions or exchanges shall be paid by the Bondholders
requesting the same.

Except as otherwise provided 'in a subsequent
resolution adopted by the Board with respect to any Series
°f Bonds, the registration of any Bond may be transferred

upen the registration beoks upon delivery thereof to the

brincipal office of the Registrar accompanied by a written
instrument or instruments of transfer in form and with
Quaranty of signature satisfactory to the Registrar, duly
executed by the Dondholder or his attorney-in-fact or legal
tepresentatjve, containing written instructions as %to the
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=l Bond, along with Lhe social
loyer identification number of

of a transfer of a Bond, the
. practical time in accordance
or the transfer of ownership in the
3Ll deliver in the nawme of the new

a new fully registered Bond or
maturity and of authorized

for the same aggregate
trom the same source 0of funds.
- may charxge the Bondholder for
nsfer or eXchange of a Bond an
to r-;rLu.Ju them for any tax, fee or any
1 quired (other than by the
paid uith respect to the registration of
may regquire that such amounts be paid
¢ Bond shall be delivered.

Except as otherwise provided by a subsequent
resolution adopted by the Board prior te the issuance of a
Series of Bonds, neither the District ner the Registrar
shall be required to register the transfer of any Bond
during the period bhetween the fifteenth (15th) day of the
month preceding an interest payment date and such interest
payment date on the Bonds or, in the case of any proposed
rademption of Bonds, after such Bonds or any portion thereof
have been selected for redemption.

The District and the Registrar may deem and treat
the registerad owner of any Bond as the absclute ouwner of
such Bond for +the purpese of payment of the principal
therecf and the interest and premiuns, if any, thereon.
Bends may be exchanged at the office of the Registrar for a
like aggregate principal amount of Bonds, or other
authorized denominations of the sawe series and maturity,

Notwithstanding the foregoing, with respect to any

Series of Bonds, the bistrict may provide for such altarna-
tive system of registration and terms for the Bonds, includ-
ing, but not limited to, a book-entry system of reglstra-
tion, as such system of registration is provided for by a
subsequent resolution of the Board adopted with respect to
such Series of Bonds. If the District adopts a ‘system for
the jsswvance of uncertificated registerad public obliga-
Elansg it may permit thersunder the conversicon, at the
o Ho af any Bond then Outstanding, of a
ed public obligation to an uncerti-
ligation, and the reconversion

SECTIOHN 12. BONDS MUTILATED, DESTROYED, STOLEM OR
LOsT. In case any Bond shall beceome mutilated, or be
destroyed, stolen or lost, the District may in its discre-
tion, “issue and deliver a new Bond, with all unmatured

15



Lo coupon Bonds, of like tenor
oupons, if any, 5o nutilated,
exchange and substitution for
urrender and cancallation of such
4 coupons, 1f any, or in lieu of
ond and attached coupons, if any,
stolan or lo :nd upon the Holder furnishing
proof of h wnership thereeof and satisfactory
and complying with such other reasonable regula-
conditions i the District may prescribe and
the Distriet may incur, All Bonds
ndared shall be cancelled by the
If any h Bopd or coupon, if any, shall have
patured be eabout to mature, instead of issuing a
substitute Bond or coupon, Lf any, the District may pay the
sape, upon being indemnified as aforesaid, and if such Bond
or coupon, if any, be lost, stolen or destroyed, without
surrender thereof.

attac

for the

Any such duplicate Bonds and ccupons, if any,
issued pursuant to this section shall constitute original,
additional c¢ontractual obligations on the part of the
pistrict whether or not the lost, stolen or destroyed Bonds
or coupens, Lf any, ke at any time found by anyone, and such
duplicate Bonds and coupens, if any, shall be entitled to
equal and proportionate benefits and rights as to lien on
and source and security for payment from funds, as
hereinafter pledged, and to the same extent as all other
Bonds and coupons, if any, issued hereunder.

SECTION 12Ah. PROVISIONS FOR__REDEMPTION. The
Bonds o©f any particular Series may be redeemed prior to
their stated dates of maturity, either in whole or in part,
at such time or times and upon. such terms as shall be
determined by subsequent resolution of the Board adopted
prior to the issuance of such Series of Bonds.

SECTION 12B. NOTICE OF REDEMPTION.  Except, as
otherwise provided in a subsequent resclutien adopted by the
Board with respect to any series of Bonds, notice of
redemption o©f the Bonds (1) shall be published at least
thirty (30) days prior to the redemption date in a financial
Jeurnal published in the Borough of Manhattan, City and
State of Wew York, and in a newspaper Or newspapers of
general circulation in the counties in which the District is
located, (ii} shall be filed with the Paying Agent, and
(iii} snall be mailed by certified mail, postage prepaid, at
least 30 but not more than 6O days prior to the date fixed
for redemption to all registered owners of Bonds to be
reédeemed at their respective addresses as they appear on the
Fegistration books hereinbefore provided for. If all of the
Donds  to be redeemed are registered other than Bonds
Fegistered to bearer, and notice of redemption is mailed to

i6
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e registered owners therecf as hercinabove pravided, such
notice need not be published.

Failura to give such notice by malling to any
ar any defect therein, shall not affect the
ch procededi for the redemption of any Bond

1 respect to which no such failure or
411 such. Bonds called for redemption
are duly provided will cease to bear
demption date.

SECTION 12C. EFFECT OF REDEMPTTON. Notice having

peen given in the manner and under the conditions herein-
above provided or as preovided in any resolution adopbted by
the Board Wi respect to a _!.‘n:irs aof Bond=, the Series orf
Bonds or portions of Series of Bonds so called for
redepption = all, on the redemption date designated in such
and be dus and payable at the redemption
ovided for redemption of such Series of Bonds or
af Series of Bonds on such date, On the date so
{ for redesption, notice having been published
mailed as reguired herein or in any reselution
adopted with respect to a Series of Bonds and moneys for
payment of the redemption price being held in separate
accounts for the registered owners of the Bonds or portions
therecf to be redeemed, all as provided in this resolution
or in any resolution adopted with respect to a Series of
Donds, interest on the Series of Bonds or portions of Series
of Bonds so0 called for redemption shall cease to accrue,
such Series of Bonds and portions of Series of Bonds shall
cease to be entitled to any lien, benefit or security under
this resolution, and the holders or registered owners of
such Series of Bonds or portions of Series of Bonds shall
have no right in respect thereof except to receive paymént
of the redewmption price therecf and to receive replacement
Bonds for any unredeemed portions of the Bonds.

SECTION 13. FORM OF SERIES 1972 BOND AND COUPONS,
The Series 1972 Bonds, the interest coupons to be attached
therete, and the certificate of validation shall be in
substantially the following form with such omissions,
inserticns and variations as may be necessary or desirable
and authorized or permitted by this reselution or in any
subseguent resolution adopted prior to the issuance thereof;
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
STATE OF FLORIDA
COUNTIES OF ORANGE AND OSCEQLA
REEDY CREEK IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT
AD VALOREM TAX BONDS

KNCW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS that Reedy Creek
ent District, Oranga and Osceola Counties, Florida
after called ="Dist "y, for wvalue rececived, hereby
. to pay to the bearer, or if this Bond be registe-
to the regis od holder as herein provided, on the

day of D ber, 19 , from the special fupds
pafter mentioned, the principal sum of

Imp Loy et

FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS

with interest thereon at the rate of T
per centum (____ %) per annum, payable seml nually on the
i day of June and the first day of December in each
n tha presentation and surrender of 1@  anhexed

[t

coupons as they arally. fall due. Both principal of and
interest on this Bond are payable in lawful meney of the
United States of America at e o __ or,

at the option of the helder, at _

This Bond is one of an authorized issue of Bonds
in the aggregate principal amount of $20,000,000 of like
date, tencr and effect, except as to number, interest rate
and date of maturity, issued to finance the cost of varicus
public purpeses within the District consisting of
$10,500,C00 ta provide for the refunding: of certain
outstapding Drainage Revenue Bonds, Series A Anticipation
Notes of +the District issued to finance the cost of the
copstruction and acguisition ©f certain drainage, reclama-
tien and water control improvements, and to finance the cost
of construction and acguisition of additional drainage,
reclamation and water control improvements, and $%,500,000
to finance the cost of the construction and acquisition of a
sanitary sewer system and solid waste dispesal facilities,
uUnder the authority of and in f£ull compliance with the
Constitution and Statutes of the State of Florida, including
particularly Chapter 67-704, Laws of Flerida, Special Acts
of 1967, as amended, and other applicable provisions of law,
! & Iy lution duly adopted by the Board of Supervisors of
(hereina called "Board") on the 24th day
upplemanted, (hereinafter collective-
., and is subject teo all the terms and

18
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(Provisions for redemption prior to maturity to be
pcerted in accordance with resolution to be subsequently
L
adopted by the Hoard.}

Motice of such redemption shall be given in the
manper required by the Resolution.

Resolution provides that the Bonds, together
thereon, are payable from and secured by a
pledge of the first proceeds cellected
from hd Valorem Taxes levied at a rate not
y (30} mills on the dollar per annum on the
of all taxable property in the District.
valoresm Taxos shall be collected at the sawme time
the sSand anner as other Ad Valorem Taxes of the
sed, levied and collected.

Tt.is hereby certified and recited that all acts,
conditions and things required to happen to exiszt and to be
performed, precedent to and in the issuance of this Bond,
nave happened, exist, and have been performed in due time,
form and manner as regquired by the Constitution and Laws of
the State of Florida, applicable thereto; that the issue of
pends of which this Bond is a part has been approved at an
election held in accordance with the Constitution and Laws
of Florida on the 3rd day of April, 1972; and that the total
indebtedness of the District, including the issue cf Bonds
of which this Bond is one, does not exceed any constitution-
al or statutery limitation.

This Bond, and the coupons appertaining thereto,
are and have all the gqualities and incidents of a negotiable
instrument under the law merchant and the Laws of the State
of Fleorida, '

This Bond may be registered as to principal alone
or as to prineipal and interest in accordance with the
provisions endorsed hereon.

. IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Reedy Creek Improvement
District, Orange and Osceola Counties, Florida, has issued
this Bond and has caused the same to be signed by the manual
or facsimile signature of the President of the Board of
Supervisors and the corporate seal of said District or a
facsimile thereof to be affixed, impressed, imprinted,
lithographed or reproduced hereon and attested and counter—
Slgned by the ‘manual or facsimile sigpature of the Secretary
of the Board, and has caused the interest coupons hereto
attached to he executed with the facsimile signatures of

?;22 President and Secretary all as of the 1st day of June,
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REEDY CREEK TMPROVEMENT DISTRICT

AL
(sEAL] By
President, Board of Supervisors

ATTESTED AND COUNTERSIGNED:

Secretary, Board of Supervisors

FORM OF COUEPON

on the 1st day of _ 19, Reedy Creek

i ) f—
Improvement District, Orange and Csceola Counties, Florida,
will pay to the bearer at

— TR ,_Orr

sonoe “at the opticn of the holder, at
the amount shown hereon in lawful money of
the United States of America, wupon presentation apd
surrender of this coupoen, being six months' interest then

due on its Ad Valorem Tax Bond, dated June 1, 1872, No.

REEDY CREEK IMPRGVEMENT DISTRICT
(SEAL)

BY __ i =
President, Board of Supervisors

ATTESTED AND COUNTERSIGNED:

Secretary, Board of Supervisors

(Te be inserted on coupens maturing after callable date}
"Unless the Bond:to which this coupon is attached

shall have been previcusly duly called for prior redemption
and payment thereof duly provided for.”

20
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VALIDATION CERTIFICATE

This Bond is one of a Series of Bonds which were
validated and confirmed by Jjudgment of the Circuit Court for
gsceola County, Florida, rendered on the _ day af
1972,

’

PROVISIONS FOR REGISTRATICN

This Bond may be registered as to principal alene
books of the Dis ict kept by the Secretary under the

smticned Resolution, as Reglstrar, or such other
BAY roafter be appointed, upon presentation
sof to the Registrar who shall make notation of such
ration in the registration blank bhelow, and this Bond
. reafter be transferred only upon an assignment duly
executed by the registered owner or his atterney or legal
representative in such form as shall be satisfactory to the
Registrar, such transfer to be made on such books and
andorsed herean by the Registrar. Unless this Bond be
reqistersd as to both principal and interest, such transfer
may be to bearer and thereby transferability by delivery
shall be restored, but this Bend shall again be subject to
successive registrations and transfers as before. The
principal of this Bond, 1f registered, unless registered to
bearser, shall be payable only to or upon the order of the
registered owner or his legal representative. Notwithstand-
ing the registration of this Bond as to principal alcne, the
coupens shall remain payable to bearer and shall continue to
be transferable by delivery. This Bond may ke registered as
to both principal and interest upon presentation hereof to
the Registrar who shall detach and retain in his custody all
unmatured coupeons and all matured coupons, if any, not
theretofore paid or provided for, and shall make notation of
such registration as to both principal and interest in the
registration blank below, and this Bond may thereafter e
trapsferred only upon an assignment duly executed by the
registered owner or his attormey or -legal representative in
such form as shall be satisfactory to the Registrar, such
trapsfer te be made on such books and endorsed hereon by the
Registrar; after such registration both the principal of and
interest on this Bond shall be payable cnly to or upon the
rder of the ared owner or his legal representative.
a Bond registered as to both
be reconverted into a c<oupon
2 ko the Registrar, accompanied

saentative in such form as shall
trar; upon any such reconversion
ch hereto the coupons representing

the Regi
1 reattq
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due thereafter on this Bond to the

interest, if any, not theretofore
fon in the registration blank below
red as to principal alone or is
bearer. The trict shall bear the cost of the
comversion or exchange of this Bond from coupon form
vo fully registered amd vice versa, but the cest of all
'Subsequent conversions or exchanq_es of this Bond from fully
registersd into coupon form or vice versa shall be paid by
the holder requesting such conversion or exchange.

DATE OF IN WHOSE NAME MANNER OF SIGNATURE OF
REGISTRATION REGISTERED REGISTRATION REGISTRAR
REGISTRATIDN

(End of Bond Form)

The form of any Series of Additional Bonds shall
be as provided in a2 subseguent resolution adopted by the
Board with respect te such Series of Bonds.

SECTION 14. PLEDGE OF AD ' VALOREM TAXES. The
payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds
{including the Rccreted Value of Capital hppreciation Bonds)
shall be secured forthwith equally and ratably by an
irrevocable prior lien on the first preceeds collected by
the District from Ad Valorem Taxes levied at a rate not
exceeding thirty (30) wills on the dollar per annum on the
assessed value of all tawxable property in the District. The
District deces hereby irrevocably pledge such funds to the
payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds and

for any and all other required payments with respect to the
Bonds,

. The District will giligently enforce its right to
receive the Ad Valorem Taxes to the extent lawful, will not
take any action that will impair or adversely affect its
rlghps £o levy, collect and receive the Ad Valorem Taxes as
herein provided, or impair or adversely affect in any manner
the pledge of the Ad Valorem Taxes wmade herein, in each
cage, that would impair the rights of the Bondholders te
recelve payment for the Bonds, The District shall be

uncenditionally and irreveocably obligated, so long as any of
the EBonds are Gutstanding and unpaid, to take all lawful
action necessary or reguired te continue to entitle the
District te receive the Ad Valorem Taxes in at least the
gzs;;ts required by this resolution for payrent of the

2z
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SECTIOR 15. COVENANTS OF THE DISTRICT. With

3 3 of PBonds issued hereunder, for as
principal of and interest on any of the
Series shall be oOutstanding and unpaid or
11 have been t apart in the Sinking Fund,
wblished, a sum sufficient te pay when due
: gation with respect to such Series
Dpistrict covenants with the Holders
h Series as follows:

te «ach 5

A. AD VALOREM TAXES FUND. All of the preoceeds
A Valorem Taxes collected by the District, shall he
d to be kKhown as the "Ad Valorem Taxes
hersby created and established, Such
: Fund shall constitute a trust fund for the
horein provided, and shall be kept separate and
¢ from all other funds of the District and used only

for the purposas and in the mannar herein provided.

The proceeds of all Ad Valorem Taxes shall be
ipplied only for the purposes provided in this resolutien,
and shall be assessed, levied and collected in the same
manner and at the same time as other Ad Valorem Taxes of the
pistrict are assessed, levied and collected.

Such annual Ad Valorem TaXes levied in the awmount
of not exceeding thirty (30) mills in each year shall be
subject to the following provisions:

(L} In each Fiscal Year, the District shall be
required to levy such wmillage, not exXceeding thirty (30}
mills, as will produce a sum at least sufficient to pay the
amounts reguired to be deposited by this resolution into the
Sinking Fund in such Fiscal Year.

(2) In the event that in any Fiscal Year the
aggregate amount of such Ad Valorem Taxes actually collected
and deposited in the Ad Valorem Taxes Fund shall be less
than the amounts required to be deposited into the Sinking
Fund in such Fiscal Year, them the amount of’ such deficit
shall be added to the amount of Ad Valorem Taxes reguired to
be levied pursuant to the preceding paragraph in the pext
Succeeding Fiscal Year, or such additicnal Fiscal Years if
necessary, not exceeding, in the aggregate, thirty (30)
Wills, however, in any Fiscal Year.

B. DISPOSITION OF FUNDS. All funds eon deposit in
?he Ad valorem Taxes Fund shall be disposed of annually in
the following manner and in the following order of priority:

i (1)  From the moneys in the Ad Valorem Taxes Fund,
the District shall, as soon as such maneys are available,
First deposit into a separate fund designated as the "hd
Yaloram Tax Bonas Sinking Fund" (herein called "Sioking
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and @atablished, such sums as will he

Bond  Service Reqguirement for all
sing the current Fiscal Year, and any
prior Fiscal Years. Such annual payments
4 by the asmounks of money if any, which are
the nking Fund out of proceeds from the
ez of Bonds te the extent such amounts are
o to pay the Bond Service Reguirement on such Series

(2) Upon the issuance by the District of any
under the terms, limitations and conditions
resolution, the payments into the Sinking
. H in =uch amounts as are necessary te
nte reguired above for the principal of and
h Additiomal Bonds, on the same basis as
wided with respect to the OQutstanding Bonds.

The Distrlict shall not be required to make
paymants  ir the Sinking Fund when the
amount of money in the Sinking Fund is at least
egual to the aggregate principal amount of Bonds then
plus the amount of interest then due or
bacome due on such Bonds then Outstanding

(4) Tne balance of any moneys remaining in the AQ
valorem Taxes Fund after the above regquired current payments
have beer made in each Fiscal Year may be used for the
purpose of redemption of the Bonds at the discretion of the
pistrict or foxr any other lawful purpese fer which such
moneys may be used by the District.

The Sinking Fund, the Ad Valorem Taxes Fund and
any other special funds herein established and created shall
constitute trust funds for the purposes provided herein for
such funds, All such funds shall be continuously secured in
the manner by which the depesit of public funds are
authorized to be secured by the laws of the State of
Florida. Moneys cn deposit in the Ad Valorem Taxes Fund and
Sinking Fund may be invested and reinvested only in
Investment Gbligations maturing not later than the date on
which the moneys therein will be needed for the purposes of
tbxs  resolution. Any and all income received by the
District from investments in the Ad valorem Taxes Fund and
the Sinking Fund shall be deposited into the Sinking Fund.

C. RESERVED.

n D. ISSUANCE OF QTHER OBLIGATIONS. The District
will not issue any other obligati except under the
conditions and in the manner herein ow provided, payable
fxom the proceeds of the Ad Valorem Taxes pledged hereunder,
NOC voluntarily create or cause to be created any debt,
lien, rledge, assignment, encumbrance or other charge
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e

being on a parity with the lien of the
thereon, upon the proceeds of such Ad
er obligations issued by the District
srein authorized payable from the

em Taxes pledged hereunder shall
tement  that such obligations are
in all respects to the Bonds herein
te lien on and source and security for
zhv Ad Valoram Taxes.

E. ADDITIONAL BONDS. Additional Bonds may be

gonditions:

{ssued by the District upon the following terms and ﬂ

(1) There shall have been filed with the Board a
certificate of the tax assessors of Orange and Osceola
counties setting forth the total amount of the assessed
value of the taxable property within the District for the
current calendar year, if then determined, or otherwise for
the catendar year immediately proceeding the date of sale of
the proposed Additional Bonds.

(2} The Maximum Bond Service Recuirement on (i)
all Bonds issued hereunder and then Outstanding, and ({(ii)
the Agditional Bonds then proposed to be issued, shall not
exceed eighty-five percent (85%) of the estimated annual
collections from Ad Valorem TaXes calculated upon the basis
of (a) the assessed value of the taxable property within the
District for the current calendar year, if then determined,
or otherwise for the calendar year immediately preceding the
date of sale of such Additional Bonds, and (b) the maximum
annual rate of millage for the levy of such Ad Valorem TaXes

as authorized by law at the date of sale of such Additional
Bonds. .

(3} If required by 1law, such additicnal Bonds
shall he approved at an election.

(4) The principal amount of proposed Additional
Bonds together with all other Bonds then Outstanding will
not exceed in the aggregate fifty percent (50%) of the
assessed value of the taxable property within the District
as shown on the pertinent tax records at the time of the
authorization of such Additional Bonds or such higher amount
as allowed by the Act.

F. COMPLIANCE WITH TAX REQUIREMENTS: REBATE
FUND“ The District hereby covenants and agrees, for the
benefit of the Holders from time to Time of each Series of
Bond§ that are not Taxable Bonds, to comply with the
requirements applicable to it contained in the Internal
25:?“96 Code of 1954, as amended, 1if applicable, and
gl dined in Section 103 and Part IV of Subchapter B of

Pter 1 of the iInternal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended,
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o the exvent necessary to preserve the exclusjon of
~erest on such series of Bonds from gross income for
Egéiral income tax purpeses. Specifically, without
intending to limit in any way the generality of the
foregoing, the District covenants and agreaes:

to each Series of Bonds
and other than the Seri
the United States of
d =saurc of revanues
] paymant of such ies of Bonds,
 T¥ m A other legally availabla funds, at the
times required pursuant to Section 148(f) of the
code, the excess of the amount earned on all
nonpurpose investments (as defined in Section
148({f){6) of the Code) over the amount which would
have been earned if such non-purpose investments
were invested at a rate egual to the yield on such
series of Bonds, plus any ingome attributable to
such excess or any penalty paid in lieu of payment
of such amount (the "Rebate Amount"}:

F

(2) with respect to each Series of Bonds
other than Taxable Beonds and other than the Series
1972 Bonds, to maintain and retain all records
pertaining to and to be responsible for making or
causing to be made all determinations and
caleulations of the Rebate Amount and recquired
payments of the Rebate Amount as shall be
necessary to comply with the Code;

(3) with respect to each Series of Bonds
other than Taxable Bonds, to refrain from using
proceeds from any Series of Bonds in a manner that
would cause such Series of Bohds or any of the
Bonds or porticons therecf, teo ke clasgified as
private activity bends under Section 141(a) of the
Code; and

(4} with respect to each Series of Bonds
.other than Taxable Bonds, to refrain from taking
any action that would cause any Sexies of Bends or
any portion thereof to become arbitrage bonds
under Section 103(b) and Section 148 of the Code.

The  District wunderstands that the foregoing
covenants impose continuing obkligations on the District to
comply wilh the requirements of Section 103 and Part IV of
Subchapter B o©of Chapter 1 of the Code sc long as such
tequirements are applicable.

The District covenants and agrees that it shall
. " and retain all records pertaining to and shall be
Sponsiblie for making or having made all determinations and

RMaintain
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the Rebabe Amgunt for cach Series of Bonds
] 1972 nds and Taxable Bonds in the
reguired in a subseguent resolution
ipect to such Series of Bonds.
. the "Rebate Fund” is hereby

the issuance of each Series
Taxable Bonds and except as
provided im a subseqguent resolution adopted by the
respect to such Series of Bonds, the District
¢ a soparate account withip the Rebate Fund. The
111 deposit into the account in the Rebate Fund

sapact Lo a Serles of Bonds, from any legally
rickt, an amount egual te the
o such Series of Bonds. The
i such moneys deposited in the Rebate Fund
6n1U for the payment of the Rebate aAmount to the United
geates &s required by Section 15F above in the wanner and at
the T required by a subsequent resclution adopted by the
Board with respect to such Series of Bonds.

deslgnated I

tablished.

If any amount shall remain in any rebate account
in tha Rebate Fund after payment in full of the Series of
Bonds for which such account was established, and after
payment in full of the Rebate Amount with respect to such
Series of Bonds to the United States in accovdance with the
terms hereof, such amounts shall be available to the
pistrict for any lawful purpose.

Each rebate account in the Rebate Fund shall he
held separate and apart from all other funds and accounts of
the District, shall be impressed with a lien in favor of the
Holders of the Series of Bonds for which such account was
established, only after all obligations of the District with
respect to payment of the Rebate Awounts with respect to
such Series of Bonds have been fully satisfied apd the
moneys therein shall be available for use only as herein
provided.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this
resolution, the obligation to pay over the Rebate Amocunt
with reespect to a Series of Bonds to the United States and
to comply with all other reguirements of this Section 1S5F

shall survive the defeasance or payment in full of any
Series of Bonds,

SECTION 16. APPLICATION OF BOWD PROCEEDS. ALl
roneys received from the sale of the Series 1972 Bonds shall
be applied by the District as follows:

Ser | A, All interest accrued or to accrue on the
dcrle$ 1972 Bonds through December 1, 1972 shall ke
eposited in the Sinking Fund.
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A special trust fund is hereby created,
-uq.u}“ntﬂd an the "AQ Valoren Tax Bonds
nd", There i3 also created and established
etion Fund two deparate accounts representing
rup projects described in Section 3A of this
balance of the meoneys remaining after
and payments provided for in
with respect to the Series 1972
d in the Construction Fund te the
E *ial account representing the project for

the monoeys so deposited are applicable.

Upon the issuance of any Series of Additional
, there shall ba established a separate account within
canstruction Fund, which separate construction accounts
d by the District or by a trustee with respect to
ries of the Bonds as provided in & subsequent
resolution adopted by fthe Board prior to the issuance of
such Series. EBach separate account shall be held only fer
the benefit and security of the Holders of the Series of
Bonds With respect teo which such account was created.

The proceeds of any Series of Additicnal Bonds
shall be applied by the District in the manner provided in a
subsequent resolution adopted by the Board with respect to
the issuance of such Series of Bonds.

The Construction Fund and the accgunts therein
created with respect to the Series 1972 Bonds pursuant to
this resolution constitute trust funds for the purpcses
provided herein, and there is hereby created a lien upon
meneys deposited therein until so applied in faver of the
Holders of the Series 1972 Bonds. The accounts created in
the Construction Fund with respect +to the 1972 Bonds shall
be kept separate and apart from all other funds and accounts
of the District, and the moneys on deposit therein shall be
withdrawn, used and applied by the bistrict solely to the
payment of the cost of the 1972 Projects -(including, but not
limited to, future expansions and improvements) and purpeses
irltcident:al thereto, as hereinabove described and set forth
(including each 1972 Proiect's pro rata share of the costs
and expenses incurred in connection with the preparation,
i1ssuance and sale of the Series 1972 Bonds). If for any
réason the proceeds <f the Series 1972 Bonds or any part
thereof on deposit in any of the special accounts in the
Construction .Fund created with respect teo the 1972 Bonds
Ate not necessary for or are not applied to the payment of
such costs, then the unapplied proceeds shall be depositegd
Ln the Sinking Fund.

Any funds on deposit in  any account in  the
Construction Fund which are not immediately necessary for
expgndi*_cure, as hereinabove, may be invested in Investment
Obligations maturing at such time or times as the Doard may
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am appropriate to meet the requirements of the particular
deeh at  in the Construction Fund. AL} income derived
a-Iﬁcr-:’refrom shall be retained in the appropriate account in
:L-,he construction Fund.

SECTIQON 17. DEFEASANCE. TE, at any time after
iance of any Series of Bonds, (a} all Bonds
ar any Series or maturity of Bonds within a
n become due and payable in accordance with
otherwvise as provided in this resolution, or
v duly called for redemption, or, with respect
other than Variable HRate Bonds, the District gives
ng  Agents  irrevocable instructions directing the
ol the principal of, premium, if any, and interest
ponds at maturity or at any earlier redemption date
1 by the District, or any combination thereof, (b)
the whole amount of the principal, premium, if any, and the
jnterast so due and payable upon all of such Bonds or any
series or maturity of Bonds within a Series then
outstanding, at maturity or upon redemption, shall be paidgd,
or, with respect to Bonds other than variable Rate Bonds,
sufficient moneys shall be held hy a Paying Agent or other
authorized depositary acting as an escrow agent in
irrevecable trust for the benefit of the Holders of such
Bonds {(whether or mnot in any accounts created hereby) which,
vhen invested in Government Obligations maturing neot later
than the maturity or redemption dates of such principal,
premium, if any, and interest will, together with the income
realized on such investments, be sufficient to pay all such
principal, premium, if any, and interest on such Bohds at
the maturity thereof or the date upon which such Bonds are
to be called for redemption priocr te maturity, and (c)
provisions satisfactory to the Registrar and Paying Agent
shall alsc be wmade for paying all fees, charges and expenses
of the Registrar and Paying Agent payable hereunder by the
District, then and in that case the right, title and
interest of the Holders of such Bonds hereunder and the
pledge of and lien on the A4 Valorem Taxes, and all other
pledges and liens created hereby or pursuant hereto, with
respect to such Holders shall thereupon cease, determine and
become void, and if such conditions have been satisfied with
respect to all Bonds issued hereunder and then Outstanding,
all balances remaining in any ckther funds or accounts
created by this resolution other than moneys held for
ticn or payment of Bonds and to pay all other sums
- the District hereunder shall be distributed to
2 for  any lawful purpose: otherwise this
11 be, continue and remain in full force and
t as otherwise provided in a subsequent
pted by the Board, variable Rate Bonds issued
éreunder may not be defeased.

| . x
E. Exg

fesolution ado

h

SECTION 18. AUTHORIZATION OF USE

PRODUCTS . Nothing in this re ;

lution shall
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timg the District from negotiating and entering into

to any derivative product in connection
of any Series of Bonds hereunder,
limited to, interest rate swaps and

SECTION 19. HOLDERS NOT AFFECTED PBY. USE OF BOND

The Holders of the Bonds issued hereunder shall
;ibility for- the use of the proceeds of said
amd the use of such Bopd proceeds by the District
v no way affect the rights of such Bondhclders. The
shall be irrevecably obligated to continue to levy
the Ad Valorem Taxes as provided herein and to
principal of and the interest on the Bonds notwith-
standing any l'_..-.i}.ur.'u of the Uisprict to use and apply such
pand proceeds in the manner provided herein.

SECTION 20. MODIFTICATTON OR_ _AMENDMENT. No
material modification or amendment of this resolution or of
resolution amendatory hereof or supplemental heresto may
sade without the consent in wrilting of the Holders of at
a majority in principal amount of the Bond Obligation
hen outstanding: provided, however, that no modification or
apendment shall permit a change in. the maturity of such
ponds or a reduction in the rate of interest thereon or in
the amount of the principal chligation thereof or affecting
the promise of the District to pay the principal of anad
interest on the Bonds as the same shall become dus from the
procesds of the Ad Valorem Taxes or reduce the percentage of
the Holders of the Bond Obligation required te consent to
any material modification .or amendment hereof without the
consent of the Holder or Holders c¢f all such Bend
Obligaticn.

SECTION 21. EVENTS OF DEFAULT: REMEDIES. FEach of
the " fecllowing events is hereby declared an "event of
default," that is to say if:

A, EVENTS CF DEFAULT.

. ta) payment of principal of or redempticn
price of any Bond shall not be made when the same
shall become due and pay-able, -either at maturity
or on required payment dates by proceedings for
redamption or otherwise; or

(b) payment of any installment of interest
on any Bond or the unsatisfied balance of any
Awortization Installment therefor shall not be made
when the same shall become due and payable; or

(c)  the bistriet shall for any reason be ren-
dered incapable of fulfilling its obligations
hereunder to the extent that the payment of or
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2 or any of them would be
tfected, and such conditions
a period of thirty
5 becomas aware or

n arder or dec
it or AUl

a rece

shall be enterad, with
of the District,
recaivars of the District,
W i Valorem Taxes, of any part
thersof, or the filing of a. petition by the
pistrict for relief under federal bankruptcy laws
or any other similar law or statute of the United
states of America or the State of Florida, which
shall not be dismissed, vacated or discharged
within thirty (30) days after the filing thereof;
ot

{e) any proceedings shall be instituted, with
the consent or acquiescence of the District, for
the purpeose of effecting a composition between. the
pistrict and its ecreditors or for the purpose of
adjusting the claims of such creditors, pursuant
to any federal or state statutes now or hereafter
enacted, if the claims of such creditors are under
any circumstances payable from the &ad Valcrem
Taxes; or

{(f) the entry of a final Jjudgment or
judgments for the payment of money’ a.qai:nst the
District which subjects any of the funds pledged
hereunder to a lien for the payment thereof in
contravention of the provisions of this reselution
for which there does not exist adeguate insurance,
reserves  or appropriate bonds  for the ' timely
payment thereof, and any such judgment shall not be
discharged within ninety (90) days from the entry
thersof or an appeal shall not be taken therefrom
or from the order, decree or process upen which or
pursuant to which such judgment shall have been
granted or entered, in such manner as to stay the
execution of or levy under such judgment, order,
decree ar process or the enforcement thereof; or

(g) the bistrict shall default in the due and
Punctual performance of any of the covenants,
cenditions, agreemen isions contained in
Ehe ""f"'J'- or in this on on the part of the
bistri te be performed, other tham those
lauvaes (a) and (b)) above, and =uch
icinue for thir secutive
en notice specifying such default
the same to be remedied shall have
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been given to the District by the Holders of not
Jess than ten percent (10%) of the Bond Obligation.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, with respect to the
weeribed in clouse [g9), the District shall not be

der if such default can be cured
of time and if the District in
appropriate curative action and
actlon until the default has been

gvents
deomed

B. REMEDIES. Upon the happening and continuance
af any ovent of dafault specified in Paragraph 21A above,
any Holde af Bonds, or qf_ any coupons appe;taining
¢hereto, issued under the provisions of th1§ resplutlon, may
by suit, action, paqiaqun ar other proceedings in any court
af competent jurisdicticn protect and enforce any and all
pights under the lawa of tho State of Florida, including the
Aok, o ed and contained in this resolution, and nay
anforce and coapel the performance of all duties reguired by
this resolution or Pky any applicable statutes to be
parforned by the District or by any officer thereof,
inciuding, but not limited to, the levying and collecting of
the AG Valorem Taxes in the manner provided in this
resolutien. The Holders of not less than twenty-five
percent (25%) of the Bond Obligation Outstanding may appoint
any state bank, national bank, trust company or national
banking association gualified to transact business in
Florida to serve as trustee for the benefit of the Holders
of all Bonds then Cutstanding {the "Default Trusteel).

C. EFFECT OF DISCORTINUING PROCEEDINGS. In
case any proceeding taken by the Default Trustee or any
Bondhcelder on  account - of any default shall have been
discontinued or abandoned for any reason or shall have been
determined adversely %o the Defanlt Trustee or such
Bondheolder, then and in every such case the District, the
Default Trustes and Bondholders shall be restored to their
former positions and rights hereunder, respectively, and
all _rig-‘!' 5, remedies and powers of the Default Trustee shall
continue as though no such procoeding had been taken.

D. DIRECTIONS TGO DEFAULT TRUSTEE AS TO REMEDIAL
PROCEEDINGS , Anything in this resolution to the contrary
notwithstanding, the Holders of a majority of the Bond
Obligation acting jointly, shall have the right, by an
tNStrument or concurrent instruments in writing executed
"“:ﬁ- dellvered to the Default Trustee, to direct the methed
2:” Place ef conducting all remedial proceedings to be taken
ﬂi_vjhf ““Lﬁlﬂ!- Trustes hereunder, provided that such
nr-'rh-n“ #hall pot be otherwise than in accerdance with law
i sions of this resolution, and that the Default

» the right to decline to follow any such

n the opinion of the Default Trustee would
dicial te Bondholders not parties to such

3z
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E. RESTRICTIONS ON ACTIONS BY INDIVIDUAL BOND-
HNo Bopdholder shall have any right to institute
action or proceedi in equity or at law for the
of any trust her er or for any other remedy
v Bondholder previously shall have given
tes written notice of the event of
of which such suit, action or proceeding
be taken, and unle the Holders of not less than
~five percent (25%) of the Bond Obligation shall have
ten request of the Default Trustee after the right
such poWwars or ght of acitlon, as the case may
have accruad, am 11 have afforded the Default
a roasonable opportunity either to proceed to
& the powers hereinabove granted or to institute
such action, sult eor proceeding in its or their name, and
unless, alss, there shall have been offered to the Default
prustes resscnable  seourity  and  indemnity against  the
costs, expenses and liakilities to be incurred therein or
thereby, including the reascnable fees of its attorneys
ripeluding feos on appeal], and the Default Trustes shall
have refuszed or neglected to comply with such request within
a reasonable time; and such notificatien, regquest and offer
of indemnity are hereby declared in every such case, at the
cption of the pefault Trustee, to he conditions precedent to
the execution of the powers and trusts of this resclution or
for any other remedy hereunder. It is wunderstood and
intended that nc one or more Holders of the Bonds hereby
secured shall have any right in any manner whatever by his
or their action to affect, disturb or prejudice the security
of this résclutien, ox to enforce any right hereunder,
except in the manner herein provided, and that all
procesdings at law or in equity shall ke instituted, had and
maintained in the manner herein provided and for the benefit
ef all Bondheclders, and that any individual rights of
action or any other right givem te one or more of such
Holders by law are restricted by this reseolution to the
rights and remedies herein provided.

) ; Hething contained herein, however, shall affect or
impair the right of any Bondholder, individually, to
enforce tha payment of the principal of and interest on his
Bord or Bonds at and after the maturity thereof, at the

Lima, place, from the source and in the manner provided in
this resolution.

e F-_ PRO RATA APPLICATION OF FUNDS. Anything din
Eq;i Posolution to the eontvary notwithstanding, if at any
nr:rr-fﬂ_nﬂ Valorem Taxes shall not be sufficient to pay the
hp"-l?ﬂ- of or the interest on the Bonds, as the case may

v LP:I':‘ same  become due and  payable, such  funds,

with any funds then available or thereafter
available for such purpose, whether through the
of the remsdies provided feor in this resolution or
', Shall ke applied as follows:

Log

Do

9
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llke!__ihood of additiona
abplication in the futu
11 trust for
APPlicatign

the principal of all the Bonds
+ and payakle, all such funds
(1} first, to the payment of all
imtersst  on  Bonds other than
ds then due, in the order
the installments of such
aczerued and unpaid interest
1 Capital Appreciation Bonds,
called for redemption, to the persons
entitled thereto, then, if the amount available
shall not be sufficient to pay in full any
jnstallment or installments maturing on the same
date, then to the payment thereof, ratably,
according to the amounts due thereon without any
discrimination or preference, and (2) then, to the
payment of all unpaid principal, or with respect to
capital Appreciation Bonds, the unpaid Maturity
Amount or redemption price of any Bonds which
shall have become due, whether at maturity or by
call for redemption, in the order of their due
dates, and, 1f the amount available shall not be
sufficient to pay in full all the Bonds due on any
date, then to the payment thereof ratably according
tc the amounts due thereon, or with respect to
capital Appreciation Bonds the unpaid Haturity
Amount due on such date without diseriminatien or
preference.

(b} If the principal (or with respect to
Capital Appreciation Bonds, the Maturity Amount) of
all the Bonds shall have hecome due-and payable,
all such funds shall be applied tc the payment of
the principal and interest (or with respect to
Capital Appreciation Bonds, the HMaturity
amount) then due and unpaid upon the Bonds, without
preference or priority of principal over interest
or of interest over prineipal, or of any
installment of interest over any other installment
of interest, or of any Bond over any other Bond,
ratabl_y, accerding to the amounts due,
respectively, for principal and interest (or with
Fespect to Capital Appreciation Bonds, the
M.?turlty Amount), to the persons entitled thereto
without any discrimiration or preference except as
to any difference in the respective rates of
interest ‘specified in the Bonds.

Whenever funds are to be applied pursuant to the

Provisions of this Secti
such times,  Cine 'S8 £, 58 R

of such funds. Whenever such discretion

14

all ke applied at
sole 4l and from time to‘ time, as the District in its
i lscretion shall determine, having due regard to the

Nt of such funds available for application and the
1 funds becoming available for such
re; the setting aside of such funds,
the proper purpose, shall constitute proper
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zhall be exercised, the date (which
payment date unless another date nmore
upon which such application is to
by the District and upon such date
of principal to be paid on such date
Such notice as shall be deemed to be
fixing of any such date shall be given.
Holder of any Bond shall he required
all be présented to the Registrar for
ment or for cancellation if fully paid.

G. SUBROGATION. Notwithstanding anylhing in
this resolution to the contrary, if the principal, interest
and redemption premium, if any, with respéct to any Series
of Bonds are paid by a bond insurer with respect to such
serias of Bonds, the pledge of the amounts on deposit frem
time to time in thé funds and accounts created hereby and
all covenants, agreements and other obkligations of the
pistrict to the Bondholders of such Series of Bonds shall
continue to exist and the Bond Insurer, to the extent of any
payment by such entity with respect to such Series of Bonds
shall be subrogated to the rights of such Bondholders.

SECTION 22. CONTRACTION OF DISTRICT BOUNDARIES.

Al Pursuant to Chapter 6€7-764, Laws of Florida,
gpecial Acts of 1967, the District has the power to contract
the territorial 1limikts of the District to exclude any land
within the Distriet by following certain procedures set
forth therein. By acceptance of any Bond issued hereunder,
the Holder of such Bond acknowledges and agrees that {i) in
addition to the rights provided under pavagraph B below and
subject to the provisions of paragraph C below, the District
may contract and exclude from its boundaries an area of
taxable property within the District, the assessed valuation
of which, at the time of such exclusion, together with all
cther taxable property theretofore excluded from the
District's boundaries (based upon its assessed valuation at
the time of exclusion) after the date of adoption of this
resclution, does not exceed 10% of the total assessed value
of all taxable property located within the District at the
time of the current exclusion, and (ii) after such
contraction and exclusion, such land will not be subject to
Ad Valerem Taxes thereafter imposed by the District.

. B. Notwithstanding the preceding paragraph, and
subject to the conditions set forth in this paragraph and
paragraph C bkelow, the District may contract and exclude
from its boundaries any area of taxable preoperty, withcut
tegard to the assessed value thereof, if the Distriet
Provides at.the time of such exclusion an amount of funds
“Gual to the percentage of the principal amount of the Bond
Eion standing heresunder that the assessed value of
axable property, at the time of such exclusicn, bears
ed value of all taxable property within
time of such exclusien, such amount to
the time of such contractien of the




ndaries he "Contraction Amount"), which
unk, t r with =all interest earnings
e held in escrow by the District or an
appointed by the District, for the benefit of
of all Bonds ©Outstanding hereunder. The

y the Contraction Amount, to the payment
s on a pro rata basis on each interest payment
ing the contraction. Prior to any contraction
ro this paragraph B, the Districr shall cbtain an
af Bond Counsel to the effect that the use of the
rien Amount to pay debt service on the Bonds pursuant
w established pursuant to this
will mnoet advorzely affect the exclusion of
intercst on any of the Bonds £rom gross income for federal
income tax purpeoses.

C. In ne event shall the District contract or
exclude any taxable proparty pursuant to this Section 22
unless the District certifies in writing at the time of such
contraction or a¥clusion that, after =such c<contraction or
exclusion, {i) the Maximum Bond Service Reguirement on all
Bonds ©Outstanding hereunder does not exceed eighty-five
(85%) of the estimated annual collections from Ad Valorem
Taxes calculated on the basis of {a) the assessed value of
the taxable property within the District for the current
calendar year, if determined, or otherwise for the calendar
year immediately preceding the date of such contraction ang
(b) the maximum annyal rate of millage for the levy of such
Ad Valorem Taxes as authorized by. law at the date cf such
contraction and (ii) the pripcipal amount of all Bonds then
outstanding will not exceed in the aggregate fifty percent
{50%) of the assessed value of the taxable property within
the District at the time of the contraction or such higher
amount as allowed by the Act.

B. The District agrees to notify Moody's
Investors Services, Inc. and Standard & Poor's Corporation

of the occurrence of any contraction or exclusion pursuant
to this Section, .

SECTIGN 2). SEVERABILITY OF INVALID PROVISIONS.
if any one or more of the covenants, agreements or
pProvisions herein contained shall be helg contrary to any

eXpress provisions of law or contrary to the policy of
CxXpress law,

public

theugh not expressly prohibited, or against
or shall for any reason whatsoever ba held
uch covenants, agreements or provisions shall
void and shall ke deemed separable from the
ronants, agreemants,  or provisions and shall in
L the validity of any of the other provisions
0f the Bonds or coupons issued hereunder.

o

lse SECTION 24. SALE OF BONDS. The Bonds shall be
Cong?d and sold in such manner and at such price or prices
istent with the Act, all at cne time or in installments

16
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from time to time, as shall be hereafter determined by the

goard:

SECTION 25. VALIDATION AUTHORIZED. The attorney

r the District is authorized and directed to prepare and

ﬁ?.le procesdings to validate the Series 1372 Bonds in the
nanner p:ovided by law.

SECTION 26. REPEALING CLAUSE, All resclutions or
arts thereof of the Beard in conflict with the provisions
ﬁerein contained are, to the extent of such coniflict, hereby
superceded and repealed.

SECTICN 27. HNC THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES. Except
as nersin otherwise axpressly provided, nothing in this
resolution expressed or implied is intended or shall be
construed to confer wupon any person, firm or corporatien
other than the parties hereto and the owners and Holders of
the Bonds issued under and secured by this resolutien, any
right, remedy or claim, legal or eguitable, under or by
reason of this resclution or any provision heresof, this
resolution and all its provisions being intended to be and
being for the sole and exclusive benefit of the parties
hereto and the owners and Holders from time to time of the
Bonds issued hereunder. -

SECTIOH 28. CONTROLLING LAW: MEMBERS OF GOVERNING
BoDY _OF DISTRICT HOT LIABLE. ALl covenants, stipulations,
obligations amd agreenments of the District contained in this
resolution shall be deemed to be covenants, stipulatioas,
obligations and agreements of the District to the £full

-extent authorized by the Act and provided by the Constitu-

tion and laws of the State of Florida. Ko covenant,
stipulation, obligation .cr agreement contained herein shall
be deemed to be a covenant, stipulation, obligation or
agreement of any present or. future member, agent or employee
of or to the Board in his individwal capacity, and neither
the members of the Board nor any official executing the
Bonds shall be 1lisble personally on the Bonds or this
resolutien or shall be subiect to any personal liability or
aCCouptability by reason of the issuance or the execution by
the District or such members thereof.

SECTION 29. EFFECTIVE DATE. This resolution
Shall effect wpon receipt of the consent to the
amcndrents made herein by the Holders of two-thirds of the
Band ligation Outstanding; provided, however, that the
I:"° loms of Bection 22 horeof and the amendment to Section
chaiy Mhe 1972 Resclution as provided in Section 20 hereof
Mall enly become effective upon receipt of the consent of
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the Holders of b hundred percent (100%) of the Bond
obligation gutstanding.

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 15th day ©f November
.

1991,
REEDY ?ﬁEEK IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT
__..,.z}"f- 44').{7 )
L Mprrite. £ L,
President, Board of Sup 8
ATTEST:

e fihie. !

Secretary to Board of
sSupervisors

(SEAL)

| certify this to be a true exact copy o Mo, 24 ¥
and ct f Resoluty
\ : 0y esolution Mo, 245 as ado
G ; ' iy pled by the Reedy Creek

Danna L. Palmer, Clork

32189p 1 .
OARBR: 46 18
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RESOLUTION WO, 313

A RESOLUTION OF THE REEDY CREEK IMPROVEMENT
DISTRICT SUPFLEMENTING AND AMENDIKG RESCOLUTION NG,
245 ADOPTED CH MOVEMBER 15, 1991; AUTHORIZING THE
ESSUANCE OF REEDY CHREEE IMPROVEMENT DISTHICT AD
VALOBEM TAX BONDS, SERIES 1995A IN AN AGGREGATE
PRINCLPAL AMOUNT NOT EXCEEDING $60,000,000 FOR THE
PURPOSE OF PINANCING A PORTION OF THE COST OF AN
ADMINISTRATION BUILDING FOR THE DISTRICT AND
. QERTAIN  SPORTS AND RECREATION  FACILITIES;
DELEGATING TO TEE PRESIDENT OF THE BOARD OF
SUPERVISORS AND THE SECRBTARY OR THE DISTRICT
DIRECTOR OF FINANCE AND PLANNING THE AUTHORIZATION
TO AWARD THE SALE OF SUCH BONDS OW A WEGOTIATED *
BASIE TO HERAILL LYMCH & CO., DEAR, STEARNS & CO,
INC., HORGAN STANLEY, & ©O. INC., PAINEWEBBER
INCORFORATED, WARD BRADFORD & CO. AMD FIRST EQUITY
CORPORATION COF FLORIDA; APPROVING THE FORM AND
QIONTENT OF AND RATIPYING THE DISTRIBUTION, USE,
EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A FINAL OFFICIAL
STATEMENT WITH RESPECT TO SUCH PONDS; APPROVING THE
FORM OF AND AUTBORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A. CONTRACT
OF PURCHASE WITH RESPECT TO SUCH BONDS; AUTHORIZING
SUN BANK, WATIONAL ASSOCIATION TO ACT AS REGISTRAR,
PAYING AGENT AND AUTHENTICATING AGENT WITH RESPECT
TO SUCH BONDS; APFROVING THE FORM OF AND AUTHORII-
ING THE EXECUTION OF THE REGISTRAR AND PAYING AGERT
AGREEMEWT; APPROVING THE FORM OF AND AUTHORIIING
THE EXECUTICH CF A LETTER OF REPRESENTATIONS WITH
THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY; MARING CERTAIN
FINDINGS, 'REPRESENTATIONS AND COVEMANTS WITE
RESPECT THERETO; FROVIDIMG AM EFFECTIVE DATE FOR
THIS RESCLUTION; AND PROVIDING CERTAIN OTHER
DETAILS WITH RESPECT THERETO.

1 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (the "Board”) of the
jReedy Creek Improvement District {the *“District") previously

fladopted a Reaolution on April 4, 1972 (the '*1972 Resolution*)
flruthorizing -the issuance of certain ad valorem tax bonds and
sdditional b

onds thereunder on a parity therewith; and

: WHERERS, on November 15, 1991, the District adopted
*solution Ho. 245 (the 'Bond Resolution® } providing for the
hn:m?tm?d restatement of the 1972 Resolution as provided

he Sond WHEREAS, the Board now desires to issue bonds pursuanrc to
Resolutien and this Resolution, payable on a parity with

nds Sutstanding under the Bond Rescolution, in an aggregate
amount not exceeding $60,000,000 to finance a partion of

of the acquisition and construction of an administration
for the bDistrict (the “Building"} and certain sports and
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gion facilities more particularly described on Exhibit *a*
o the “Series A Facllities*), with a portion of the cost of
‘other gports and recreation facilities to be paid for

» the issuance by the District of its Ad Valorem Tax Bonds,

1] WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution No, 304 adopted by the
cplet on September 21, 1994, the District authorized the holding
e reforendum related to the issuance of not to exceed
%000,000 ad valoram tax bonds, notes or other obligations to
e the costs of the Series A Facilities and certain other
8., facilities and not t0 excaed $5,000,000 ad valorem tax
notes or other obligatlons to finance the cost of the
and

WHEREAS, the issuvance of not to exceed $125,000,000
sal amount of ad valorem +tax bonds, notes or other
atiens to finance the Series A Facilities and certain other
s facilities and not to exceed 55,000,000 ad valorem tax
notes or other obligations te finance the cost of the
ng was approved at an election of the qualified voters of the
fek held on October 25, 19%94; and .

WHEREAS, Merrill Lynch & Co,, Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc.,
Stanley & Co. Inc., PaineWebber Incorporated, Ward Bradford
‘ and First Equity Corporation of Florida (collectivaly, the
inal Pyurchaser"), intend to submit an offer to purchase the
fedict’s Ad Valorem Tax Bonds, Seriea 1995A, in an aggregate
bipal amount not exceeding $60,000,000 (the "1995A Bonds") to
ahce the cost of the Building and of the Serfes A Facilities,
pursuant to & Contract of Purchase in substantially the form
attdched hereta as Exhibit *B* (the "Purchase Contract"}; and

L WHEREAS, the Board desires to approve the form and
content of and ratify the distribution of the Preliminary Official
§dtatément relating to the 1995A BDonds attached hereto as
Exhibit “C* and to authorize the execution and delivery of the
19988 Final Official Statement with such changes from the
Preliminary official Statement as shall be approved by the

Prediident of or Secretary to the Board (the “1995A Final 0fficial
Statement*);- and

WHEREAS, the Board wishes to approve the form of and
:uthuriza the execution of a Registrar and Paying Rgent Agreement,
10 Substantially the form attached Hareto as Exhibit *D” {the
J:Yli"? Agent Agreement”) and to appoint Sun Bank, Mational
s oclation to Act as the registrar and paying agent thereunder and
_ authenticatan agent for the 199SA Bonds; and

of Re WHEREAS, theé Board wishes to approve the form of a Letter
Presentations between the District and The Depository Trust



gubstantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit "E*
wter of Representations®); and

WHEREAS, because of the current conditions existing in
et for securities similar to the 1995n Bonds, the Board
:appropriate to delegate to the President of the Board and
Biptary to the Beard or Director of Finance and Planning of
rict, the authority to accept the offer of the Original
to purchase the 19954 Bonds pursuant to the terms of the
contract if certalh conditions get forth in this
on are met; and

WHEREAS, the Board desires to amend Secticn 15F of the
Eolution in order to make modifications thereto to conform
urrent requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986,
&d, which modifications shall be immaterial to the Holders
onds (as those terms are used in the Bond Resolution)
ing under the Bond Resolution; and

WHEREAS, the Board desires te take certain other actions

pect to, and to make other authorizations related to, the
%irof the 1995A Bonds;

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS
REEDY CREEK IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT, that:

% SECTION 1. Authority. This Resolution is adopted
t-to Chapter §7-764, Laws of Florida, sSpecial Acts of 1967,
wer applicable provisions of law {collectively, the “Act®)
" Bond Resoluticn.

| <%k, SECTION 2. pefinitions. All terms used herein in
apitglized form, unless otherwise defined herein, shall have the
i anings as ascribed to such texms in the Bond Resolution.

defined in the preambla hersto shall have the meanings

« As uged herein, the following texms shall have
" anings set forth below:

k. 4%  "1951A Ponds" means the Reedy Creck Improvement District
g4 Valbrem Tax Bonds, Secies 1991A,

i

Ade "Closing Date’ means the date of iasuance of the 1935A

o ©1992 Bonds" means, collectively, the Reedy Creek
. wemont District Ad Valorem Tax Bondg, Sarles 19%2A and Ad
Fer Tax Refunding Bonda, Series 1992B.

“Coda
ended, or ::; cmenns the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as

s orresponding provision of any future laws of the

il :

,i::e s:'at“ of Mmerica relating to fedaral income taxation, and
"¢t A8 otherwise provided herein or required by the context

i
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iptuding interpretationg thereof contained or set forth in

jdiable regulations of the Department of the Treasury

lmg’-;pplicable final regulations and temporary regulations),

a able rulings of the Internal Revenue Service (including

L@t Merevenue rdlings and private Jletter ruolings) and
{¥te -wourt decisions. ;

Tasuans

3 ‘"Costs” means the ceat of acquisition, construction or
pping #nd all’ other items of cost incident to the acquisition,
H diyh and equipping, and the financing the Building and the

WiEdvilitias, including, without limitation, the following:

S

-+ i) obligatiens incurred for labor and materials
dAd -0 -contractors, builders and materialmen in
asdriedtion with such construction, for machinery and
Dodiant, and for the restoration or relocation of
ety damaged or destroyed in connection with such
aameeBiztion;

{¥4y the cost of acquiring by purchase, if such
pirchise shall be deemed axpedient, and the amount of any
‘awafd or - £finsl judgment in or .any settlement or
comprddiise of any proceeding to acquire by condemnation,
et Yrgperty, lands, rights, rights’'of way, franchises,
sdsgamdnts and other interests in land constituting a part
of, or as may be deemed necessary or convenlent for the
scquidi¥ion .or construction of, the Bullding and the

'_ﬁ‘lﬂ-ﬂﬂ- A Facilities, optiona and partial paymants
thereon, the cost of £illing, dralning or improving any
landa 8o acquired, and the amcunt of any damages incident
to or consequent upon the acquisition or construction of
the Building and the Series A Facilities;

{i11) the fees and expenses of the Faying Agent under
the Paying Agent Agreement, imsluding legal expenses and
fees (including appellate fees), fees and expenses of
consultante and finaneial advisors, legal and accounting
foes and sxpenses, financing charges, costs of preparing
and issuing the 1955A Bonds not praviously paid or
reimbursed to tho Districe, ineluding but not limited to,
consultant fees and expenses, costg of printing the 19S5A
Final Official Statement and the 1995A Bonds and any
other costs incurred by the District with respect to the
issuance of the 1595A Bonds, costs of bond Lnaurance, If
iny, taxes or cther municlpal or governmental charges
;urzul:ly levied or assessed ‘upon the Building and the
eries A Facilicies, during censtruction, or any property
4cquired therafor, and premiuss of insurance (if any) in

::nnugt]_en with the Building and the Series A Facllities
ring construction; ’



¢+ z(iv) fees and expenses of engineers for making
dies, surveys and estimates of costs and of revenugs
a4 for preparing plans and supervising constructlon, as
tall as for the performance of all other duties of
agineers set forth herein in relation to the construc-
on of the Bullding and the Series A Pacilities or the
gance of the 19954 Bonds therefor;
(¥} expenses of adgministration properly chargeable
wg -ttte -Projects, and all other items of expense not
(0% 1 sewhere in this Sectlon specified, incident to the
- ¢quix,u;.¢.on or construction and equipping of the Building
fmrnd the Series A Facilities and the placing of the same
n: operatieon, including, to the extent authorized by
pplicable law, certain operating expenses, and to the
equikition of real estate, franchlses and rights of way
sherafor, ineluding abatracts of title and title
frourdnce: and
IH
{vi) any amounts heretofore or hereafter advanced by
he District for any of the foregoing purposes.
oy e
*Election Resclution® means, collectively Resolution Mo.
dopted by the Board on September 21, 1994 and Resclution Ho.
gopted by the Board on October 31, 1994,

"Paying Agent” means S5Sun Bank, WNational RAsgsociation
ted hereunder to serve as Paying Rgent and Registrar. under
aying Agent Agreement, 1lts successcrs or assigns.

“Preaident”™ means the President or Vice President of the

“Rebate Year” means, with respect to the Series 19353
fionds - L1ssued hereunder, the twelve-month period commencing on the
isnmivirsary of the Closlng bate in each year and ending on the day
bprioc to the anniversary of such Clesing Date in the following

;;g#_excupt that the first Rebate Year with respect to the Series
1 “I-Bonds shall commence on the Closing Pate and the final Rebate
1287 ghall end on

i i the date of flnal maturity of such Series 1995A
itlc'l Or such other period as regulatiens promulgated by the
Mited States Department of Treasury may prescribe,

'Secregary' means the Secretary to the Board.
SECTION 3. pindings and Awards.

acquire A.  The District i1s authorized hy the Act to own,
ntadipe, - OPStruct, equip, operate and maintain athletic fields,
mhc“'ﬂ:‘“’“tiﬂnnl centers and recreational facilities and
cariyln all types and descriptions and facilities for the

9 ouk of the functions of the District and to issue general

5
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“bonds to pay all or part of the cost of the acguisieion,
‘iﬂgn, mainte?nance and operation of any project authorized

. The primary livelihood of the residents and
& ems 0f the District is tourism and the provision of
B ion mnd entertalnment and the construction and operation of
¥~ stadlum, arena, tennis facilities, gymnasiums, track and
gpellities, athlétic fields and other sports facilities and
4 méfice, administrative and parking facilities and roads,
2 ¢ the Dlstrict and benefit the residents and taxpayers
of .hy providing employment = opportunities, promoting
opment and having a positive impact on the general economy aof

:.,1. 1@, - It is necessary, desirable, and in the best interest
.4 advantageous to, the Distxict that 1995A Bonds be issued in
ate principal amount not exceeding $60,000,000 to finance
of the cost of the Building and the Seriaes A Facilities.

Iy p. The District shall not use more than the net
wads . from §5,000,000 {n principal amount of the 1995A Bonds to
portion of the Cost of the Building.

E. The issuance of the 1995A Bonds to finance the cost
e Bullding and the Series A Facilities was approved by a
§ority vote of the qualified electors of the District at anm
lection duly called purswant to Resolution No. 304 adoptad on
{EopEamber 21, 1994, and held for that purpose on October 25, 1994,
ha results of which were certified to the Board by the inspectors

and clerk of the election designated pursuant to Resolution No.
o4,

P, The 19958 Bonds will not be 1issued until all

fconditions relating to the issuwance of Additional Bonds under the
Hond Rezolution have been mat, and when issued, the 1995A Bonds
11l ha payable on a parity with the District’s Outstanding 1991A

fBonds and 1992 Bonds and with any other additional parity bonds
ereafter issued under the terms of the Bond Resolution.

The Dlstrict will issue the 1995A Bonds with the
he interest thereon will be excluded from the gross
ncome of the Holders thereof for federal income tax purposes.

G.
intent that
i

N H. It im hereby ascertained, determined and declared
that, becanse of the ¢!

antt antfcd haractaristics of the 1995A Bonds, prevailing
;;uzedcfpated market conditions and additional savings to be
hest {nt M an expeditious sale of the 1995A Bonds, it is in the
"‘!!"“ue:“tst of the District to accept the offer of the Original
H;;ipu © purchase the 1995A Bonds in an agqregate original
sale, o amount, not exceeding $60,000,000 at a private negotiated

+ YPOR the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the

g



purghase Contract or as detarmined by the President, and the

ry to the Board or Director of Finance and Planning of the
soppEld :
DEI’ et im accordance with the terms hereof.

ad®l. 1. The Original Purchaser will provide tg the District
Lo, B ‘te the execution of the Purchase Contract 'a disclosure
H ment regardi..n.g the 1995A Bonds containing the information

fed by Section 218.385{6), Florida Statutes. The Original
P .ig;'wi.ll submit prior to the date of lssuance of tha 1985A
3 . sworn affldavits on public entity erises as required by
QEE on 287.133(3)(a), Flerida Statutes. Mo further disclosure is
ey rod by the Board.

J. The 1995A. Bonds shall only be issued at B rate of
i gat _pot exceeding’ the maximum interest rate established
‘pmant ‘to the terms of Section 215.84, Florida Statutes,

o o Wotice of a public hearing to be held before the
W;Eﬂ on. the date hereof, Ainviting comments and discussicn
cgnogening the issuance of 1995A Bonds by the bistrict to finance
theyforics A Facilities was published in the orlando Sentinel, &
ngpgpaper of goneral circulation in. the District, at least 14 days
PELOE, to the date herecf, which cohstitutes reasponable notice of
sugh,hearing. ' : )
: ni;'cic‘ L. Following such notice, a public hearisg was held by
thg anrd on the date hereof, during which comments and discussions
cqpgprning the issuance of the 1995A Bonds to finance the Serjes A
Facilities were requested and heard.

SECTION 4. Rosolutlon to Constitute a Coptrack., In
cansideration of the acceptance of the 1995A Bonds authorized to be
issved hereunder by those who shall hold the same from time to
time, this Resolution, together with the Boad Resolution, shall be
deomed to be and shall constitute a contract between the District
and the Bondholders of the 1995A Bonds. The covenants and
agreementa herein set forth to be performed by the District shall
be for - the equal benefit, protection and security of the
Sondholders, and all 1995A Bonds shall be of aqual rank and without
preference, priority of or diatinction over any other thereof,
oxcept as expressly provided herein.

SECTION 5. pAuthorlzatlon of Building and Series A

£ . There is hereby authorized the acquisition, construc-
tion and equipping of the Building and the Series A Facilities
Pursuant to the reports, plans, specificaticns and designs on file,
Or to be on file, with the Board, as.the same may be supplemented
::di amended, apd subject to such modifications thereof and
th: Ations therefrom which, from time to time, may be determined by
Di“?g::d to be necessary or to be in the best interests of the
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¥ speTION 6. Authorization of 1995A Bonds. Subject and

&.-the provisions of this Resclution and any subsaquent
W55 adopted. by the Board in connection with the 1335h Bonds
rro the issuance thereof, the 1995A Bonds of the District

tn a& "Reedy Creek Improvement bDistrict, Ad Valorem Tax
tiias 1995A" are hereby authorized to be issued in an
® fneipal amount not exceeding $60,000,000 to £finance the
the Bullding and the Series A Facilities, with the exact
Fhount to be determined in accordance with the terms
MHis -authorization shall constitute approval of the
5f the 1995A Bonds for purposes of Sectlon 147(f) of the

5 L5

AErSECTION 7. Delegatlon to Bxesidept and Secretarv op

A P i .
s, - The President of the Board and the Secretary to the
hea Director of Finance and Planning of the District are
enorlzed and directed to award the sale of the 19938 Bonds
driginal Purchaser "and to approve the terms thereof,
!l'H; without limitation, the prineipal amount thereof, the
wrkdites thereof, the interest rate Or rataes- with respect
t_l.'q!-hhe purchase price thereof and the redemption terms with
sabpaat kiiereto, provided, however, that in no event shall (i} the
Fmﬁfﬁl-‘mnt of the 1995h Bonds exceed $60,000,000, (ii} the
ha¥s price be leas than 99% of the original principal amount of
tha 1955A Bonds (excluding original issue discount) (the "Minimum
PurchdsavPrice™), (iii) the true interest cost rate {the "TIC") for
the 1995A Bonds exceed 6.5% (the *Maximom TIC") or ({iv) the

intere#t rates exceed the maximum rates permitted by appllicable
law,

" ° B, The 1995A Bonds shall bear interest from their data,
payable semiannually on the first day of June and the first day of
bacenber of cach year, cosmencing on the date provided in the
Furchase Contract and approved by the President of the Board and
the Secratary to the Board or the Director of Finance and Planning
of the District, at the rates, and shall mature in accordance with
the schedules, set forth or Aincorporated hy reference in the
Furchase Contract and the 1995A Flpal Official Statement and
approved by -the President of the Board and the Secretary to the
Board or the Director of Finance and Planning of the District, the
8pproval of the President of the Board and the Secretary to the
Board or the Director of Finance and Planning of the District to be
tonclualvely evidenced by thelr execution of the Purchase Contract.
The principal ef the 1995A Bonds shall be payable either in annval
g' Semiannual installments, as shall be set.forth in the Purchase
5“'““'-": and approved by the President of the Board and the
t:zr“!ﬂr‘ to the Board or the Director of Finance and Planning of

"e Dlstrict, the exscution thereof to be conclumive evidence of
$uch approval.



Thei}995h Bonds shall be issued as fully reglstered bonds
ishomihation of $5,000 ($5,000 value at maturity with
@iero coupon or Capital Appreciation Bonds) each or any
bjizniple thereof and may be issued ag current interest
e inupon bonda or capltal appreciation bonds. In all
terost on the 1395A Eonds shall be computed on the basis
yiyear consisting of twelve (12) thirty (30) day months,

gzerIoN 8. Redemptlon Provisions. The 1995A Bonds shall
itisuch optional and mandatory redemption provisions, if

- provided in the Purchase Contract and approved by the
ofspthe Board and the Secretary to the Board or the
o¥/winance and Planning of the District, the execution
‘ssbe ponclusive evidence of such approval.

~HEETION 9. - Notice of Redemption. In addition to the
rpafr Section 120 of the Bond Resolution, each notice of

onptif-any, with respect to the 1995A Bonds shall meet the
entsl.set forth in (i), (il), (iilL), (iv), and {v) below;
Bhathowever that, notwithstanding any other provision of this

ion or of the Bond Resolution to the contrary, failure of
ffhticktoYi payment to comply with the terms of this Section 3
iot in any manner defeat the effectiveness of a redemption if

[ thereof is given as otherwise prescribed in Section 12B of
. Reaglution,
s

T
’ {i).. Each notice of redemption shall set forth the
grame and address of the Paying Agent, a contact person
dth:the Paying Agent and his or her telephone number and
iohe CUSIF numbers, if any, of the 1995h Bonds called for
2 edemption, the date of publication of the notice, the
f/tlonredemption price, the date of the issue, the interest
pierarate and the stated maturity date with respect to the
o 995A Bonds to be redeemed; and with respect to owners of
. 4$1,000,000 or more in principal amsunt to be redeemed,

t8uch notice shall be sent by certified mail, return
Lecelpt requested,

{ii) Each notice of redemption shall be sent at
least thirty-five (35) days before the redemption date
&nd to the extent possible, at least two {2) days prier
to the general publication date by certified mail, return
Fecolpt roquested or overnight guli'.rary service to all
celiatered securities depositories then in the business

Rolding substantisl amounts of obligations of types
;:ap;l.lng the 1395A Bonds (such depoaitories now being
gq:u:ip':i”'“"“’ Trust Company, MWew York, Hew York, Midwest
Philadeloii, Ut Company, Chicago, Illinois, and
Pennsslyr o2 Defpository Trust Company, Philadelphia,
;gr“z “"f‘” and to two or more national information
oblinc? that disseminste notices of redemption or
‘gations such as the 1395A Bonds.

9

(iii) Each notice of redemption shall be published
5 i THE BOND BUYER, New York, Hew York or, if THE
E BUYER is no longer published in some other financial

dg such publication to be made at 1a§st thirty (30)
iy farior to the date fixed for redemption.

Upon the payment of the redemption price of
. l(gil_:?A Bcl::nds beit?lqw::edeemud, each check or other
ansfer of funds issued for such purpose shall beaar or
pccompanied by an advice showing the CUSIP number
sntifying, by issue, the 1535 Bonds ::_-ning redeemed
;i\ the proceeds of such check or other transier,

(v} A second notice of redemption shall be mailed
‘tha manner provided above to-any registered owner who
s not tendered 1995A Bonds that have been called for
damption within sixty (&0} days after the applicable
demption date.

jL

SECTION 10. Fugds and Accounta.
s from the Building

gn ACCO and _the :
Ther I.J:Inminuhy oatablished and created two &ccounts
the Construction Fund created pursuant to the Bond
slution to be designated, respectively, the “Reedy Craak
ement Distriet Ad Valorem Tax Bonds, Series 1595A Building
setion Account” {[hereinafter referred to as the "Bullding
ohstruction Account”) and the *Reedy Creek Improvement District At.!
ivalpres Tax Bonds, Series 1995A Facilities Construgtion Account
hereinafter referred to as the “"Series A Facilities Construction
ihocount”), into which shall be deposited the amounts provided in
fioption 11 below from which Costs of the Bullding and Costs of the
Garies A Facilities, respectively, and capitalized interest may be
pafd 88 set forth herein. Costs of issuance of the 1995 Bonds
#hall be paid from the Building Construction Account and from the
.Series A Facilities Construction Account on a pro rata basis, such
Pro ration to be based upon the amount of net proceeds to be
deposited in.each such account, The amounts in the Building
Construction Account and the Series A Facilitles Construction
Aceount (ecollectively, the "Construction Accounts®), until applied
28 hereinafter provided, shall be held for the security of all the
1995A Bonds outstanding. In addition to payment of Costs, funds
may be disbursed from the Construction Accounts to pay any Rebate
;::‘:;":1 due in accordance with the Bond Resolution and this

ution,

e The District shall make payments from the Construction
ﬂﬂl““““ to pay Costs of the Building and the Series A Facilitiles
¥ after making the following determinations:

10



SIETEN that the work to which the payment relates has
saccomplished in a manner satisfactory to the
$peiot, and that the amount to be paid does not exceed
bligation on account of which the payment i5 made
pidtrict’s determipaticns may be based upon
ficates sagisfactery to It provided by a consulting
finesr 'or enginears or construction manager oy
gena ) ;

m ju  that the obligation was properly incurred and
proper chargas against the appropriate Construction
vt and that the amount requisitioned is due and

that with respect to such items, there are no
liens, mechanles’ liens, or other liens,

itisfled or discharged before  the payments as

T tuisitioned therein are made, or which will not be
ssotilibharged by such payment; and

alorss -

voforrad [iv} in the case of a transfer of funds in the

aspunsnstruceion Accounts to pay any Rebate Amount or in the-

3 sase of a transfer of funds in the Constructicn Accounts

£0; pay any capitalized interest, that such transfer is

b -1 wefessary and in accordance with the provisions and
wivinggquirements of the Resolutlon.

]

B - Any balance remaining in the respective Construction
Acoounts’ after the respective completion dates of the Bullding and
the Serdes A Facilities, and after the District has set aside
amounts for payment of items included in'the Cost of the Building
and- the-Series A Facilities but not then due and payable, shall he
set anide and segregated from all other moneys of the District and
applied ‘at the discretion of the District as follows:

{1} to radeem or purchase 1995A Ponds or a pertion
thersof, in the case of redemption, at the earliest
redemption date permitted on which a premium or penalty
for redemption is not required; or -

(i1} for any other legal purpose for which such
funds may ba used by the pistrigt, provided that the
District cbtaine an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect
that such ude {s authorized under the Act, the Election
| Resclutions, the Bond Resolution and this Resolution and

such use will not adversely affect the exclusion from
federal income tax of interest on the 199SA Bonds,

such Until uged as provided in subsectlons (1) or (i} above,
hsolsegtegated amount may be ipvested as permitted by the Bond
“tion but may not be invested (without an opinion of Bond
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o ‘the effect that such Investment will not adversely
wiexclusion from gross income for federal income tax
o8 Interest on any of the 1995A Bonds) teo produce a yleld
apunt greater than the yleld on the 1995A Bonds, all in
= (with Sectlon 138 of the Code. Any investment earnings
eatadned in the Construction Account from which derived
d »as provided herein; provided, however, that the
aay, -to the extent that it determipes that adequate funds
i aldposit. in the applicable Construction Account to pay the
a-finilding or the Saries A Facilities, as the case may
if it receives an opinlon of Bond Counsel that such
jon will not adversely affect tha exclusion from gross
fori £ederal income tmx purposes of interest on the 1995A
pply such earnings to pay operating costs of the Building
aiFacilities, as the case may. be.

nt_of and Payments £rom the Serd b
Hn Thare is hereby established and created a trust
stebin the Rebate Fund created pursuant to the Bond
3 ftion to be designated "Reedy Creek Improvement District Ad
o Tax Bonda, Series 1995A Rebate Account” (haereinafter
¥ este .as the "Series 199S5A Rebate Account™) inkto which
mﬁ; hall be deposited aa set forth below.
oF YESe i ] o .
the.Bghsi The District covenants and agrees that it shall maiatain
shd aaéin all:records pertaining to and shall be responsible for
prkéddeor -having made all determinations and calculations of the
Rbbaté:Amount -for the 1995A Bonds. for each Rebate Year within
twenty-five (25) days after the end of such Rebate Year and within
twenty~fiva (25) days after the final maturity of such 183%S5A Bonds.
on orrbefore the expiration of each such pericd, the District shall
deposit into the Series 1995A Rebate Account from any legally
available funds of the District, an amount equal to the Rebate
Anount ‘with respect to the 199SA Sonds for such Rebate Year, The
bistrict shall use such moneys deposited in the Series 1393A Rebate
hecount only for the payment of the Rebate Amount with respect to
the 1995A Bonds to the United States as required by the Boand
Regolution, which payments shall be - made in installments,
commencing not more than thirty {30) day after the end of the fifth
Rebate Year and with subsegquent payments to be made not later than
five (5} years after the preceding payment was due, except that the
£inal payment shall be made within sixty (60) days after the final
miturity of the last obligation of the 1995A Bonds. In complying

with the foregoing, the bistrict may rely upon any instructions or
cpluicns from Bohd Counsel.

If any amount shall remaln in the Series 1935A Rebate
AcSount after payment in full of all 1995A Boada isswed hereunder
;:d after payment in full of the Rebate Amount with respect to the

95k Bonds ke the United States in accordance with the terms

'1"""-"05- such amounts ahall be available to the District for any
twiul purpose. -
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gECTION 11. Application of Proceeds of 1995A Bonds, The
the sale of the 15%3A Bonds shall.be applied by the
gmahs follows:

ko

lf'{” .There shell first be paid into the Sinking Fund,
Wdghed and admimistered by the District pursuant to ‘the Bond
Gt lonts an - amount equal to the accrued intersst on the 1995
e ved by the District as part &f the proceeds of the sale
9%k  Bonds, which amount shall’ be used on the first
mmyment date for the payment of interest due on the 19353

{2} There shall next be pald jinto the Building
gructitin Acvount an amount set forth in a certificate of the
ws: the Board to be. used to pay Costs of the Building, an
tdimforth’ in a certificate of the President of the Board to
dinypay coats of lssuance of the 199SA Bonds and ap amount
megn:a certifioate of the President of the Board to be.used
4dpitalized interest on the 1995A Banda; and
sola
wace oX 3) There shall next be paid into the Series A
Meies Construction Account an amount set foxth in a
iEtificate of the President of the Board to be used to pay Costs
Bt hpederies A Facllities, an amount set froth in a certificate of
Brepident. of the Board to be used te pay costs of issuance of
y ¥9SAIPonds and an amount set forth in a certlficate of the

fdentioiof the Board to be used to pay capitalized interest on
5. 1995A Bonds. .
tinc s

ihd +SECTION 12. Eorm of 1995a Bonds. The 1995A Bonds shall
be: in-.substantially the form provided in Exhibit “F* hereto,
shbject. to such changes, omissions and insertions and such filling
of:blanks and the efficers executing the same shall approve, such
‘sxécution to be conclusive evidence of such approval,

”

SECTION 13, c + The form of

the Purchase Contract presented by the Original Purchaser is hereby
spproved, subiect to such changes, insertions and omissions and
fuch f1lling of blanks therein as may be approved and made in such
Purchase Contract by the President of the Board and the Secretaxy
“-‘13‘ the Board er the Director of Fimance and Planning of the
:“ttrlct, in a manner econsistent with the provizions of this
oiclution, such execution to be conclusive evidence of such
:Efxﬂi- Upon receipt of a disclosure statement from the Original
M"d"_t_f- the Fresident of the Board and the Secretary to the
harehvm the Director of Finance and Planning of the District are
puzehr Suthorized to accept the cffer of the Original Purchaser to
Eit&nd!e the 1995n Bonds in an aggregate principal amsunt not
oy ing 360,000,000, at a TIC not to exceed the Maximum TYC, and
plis E;rthase price of not less than the Minimum Purchase Price,
o crued 1nte_u=t thercon to the date of delivery, upen the

*4 and conditions set forth in the Purchase Contract, The
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gident of the Board and the Secretary te the Board or the
2oy vt of Finance and Planning of the District are hereby
o nipdzid to execute the Purchase Contract for and on behalf of
::: pistrlct pursuant to the terms herecf and of the Purchase

e s, SEOTION 14. Raving Agent. Registrar and Buthenticating
" il bdhe Board hereby appoints Sun Bank, Naticnal Association as
prae ptal:Baying Agent and Registrar in connection with the 19953
gonds:ynder the terms of the Paying Agent Agreement, and Sun Bank,
Hational Agéociation, as Reglstrar, is hereby appointed to act as
wu;eﬁf.icating agent in conpection with the 19%5A Bonds.

.SECTION 15. Paving Agent Bgreement. The Board hereby
approwedcithi” form and content of the Paying Rgent Agreement
artached hereto as Exhibit "0.*  The President of and Secretary to
the Boacdiare heraby authorized to execute on behalf of the Board,
the Bmgng hgent Agreement substantially in ‘the form attached
pazeto with such changes, omissicons and ingsertions as they, in
thalr sole discretion, may approve, such execution to be conclusive
gvideticé. of such approval. '

adv 5

fecr: SECTION 16. Qificial Statements. The Board hereby
appro%es ‘the form and content of the PFreliminary Official Statement
attached hereto as Exhibit "C* and ratifies the use and distribu-
tion of a Preliminary Official Statemant by the Original Purchaser
in cofméction with the marketing of the 1995A Bonds. The President
of the Board or the Secretary is hereby authorized to make any
findings with regard to the Preliminary officlal Statement required
underSecurities and Exchinge Commission Rule 15c2-12 and is hereby
authorized to execute, on behalf of the Board, the 1995A Final
Officlal Statement relating t¢ the Serles 19%5A BSonds with such
changes, omissions and insertions from the Preliminary Official
Statement as the officer or officers executing the same may, in his

or their sole discretion, approve, such execution to be conclusive
evidence of such approval,

SECTION 17. Letters of Représentations. The Board here-
by approves the form and content of the Letter of Represantations
pertaining to the 1995A Bonds between the District and The
Depository .Trust Company {"DTC*) attached hereto as Exhibit 'B"
(the ‘Letter of Representations*). The President of and the
Sac:etary to the Board are hereby authorized to execute, on behalf
of the bistrict, the Letter of Representations substantially in the
form attached hereto, with such changes, omissions and insertions
2z the officer axecuting the aame may, in his or her sale discre-

tion, approve, such execution to be conclusive evidence of such
4pproval, B

SECTION 18. (ontinuing Disclosura. {A) So long as any
5A Bonds remain Qutatanding, the Distriet will provide to
€ nationally recognized municipal securities information

of the 199
one or mor
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ies, within 180 days of the end of each Fiscal Year, a
copy of the District's audited general purpose financial
pts for such Fiscal Year.

y biB} So long as any of 1995A.Bonds remain Outstanding,
golct will also in good faith endeavor to provide one or
wionally recognized municipal securities information
meies notice of the occurrence of any of the following
prompely upon the District having actual knowledge thereof:

ek U e .
2 e« {4} delinquenties in the payment of principal er
ﬁ;n:ast ot the 19954 Bonds;

(ii) material non-payment defaults herecnder or
ypder the Bond Resolutlon;
el SRl . .
oarcant Hili) unscheduled draws on any credit enhancement
fipdsspeoring any 1995A Bonds;
under thy . - . :
pond. Ras:-(iv) receipt of any adverse opinlon of Bond Counsel
falledelating to, or the occurrence of any event kaown to
s - agdversely affect, the aexclusion from gross income for
fpderal income tax purposes of interest on the 1995A
Bpnds;
ua. - )
'r;-;:- (v} material amendments hereto or toc the Bond
Resclution;

:- {vi} the redemption of nxiy 1995h Bonds other than
pursuant to a mindatory sinking fund redemption;

(vli} the defeasance of any 1995A Bonds;

(viil) material matters adversely affecting the ad
valorem taxes of the Diatrict:

{ix) the pledging of any supplemental  revenues
hereunder or under the Bond Resolution; apd

(x) any changes in the oredit ratings assigned to
the 1995A Bonds.

(C). The District shall also provide such information to

;he Registrar, The Registrar is hereby authorized to provide such
nfermation to any requesting Bondholder or potential Bondhalder,
g:wided that the Registrar shall be entitled to charge such
tQ‘Iue!;:inq Bondholder or potential Bondholder an amount aufficient
i refmburse the Registrar for costs incurred for copying and
peing such informaktion. )

thy, _{D) By endeavoring to provide information pursuant to
8 Section, the District intends ouly to in good faith attempt to

15
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vailable information that might not otherwise be easily
ipable to interested parties. The dissemination of certain
'*: “titien or . notices pursuant to this Section shall not be
in gd am a representation by the District that other matters
c:m-: jsay be material to an lovestment decisicn in the 1995A Bonds
m, aot transpired; apd failure to provide information or notice
h-;\rﬂ:p.m“ raferred to in this Section shall not ba construed as a
o ntation on behalf of the District that matters that may be
"t,“ﬂl to:an investwent decision with respect to the 19954 Bonds
have ot transpired. HNothing in this Section is intended to impose
nenn . the DLstrict, and this Section shdll not be construed as
m,‘iﬁg upon:the District, any disclesure cbligations heyond those
impoaed by applicabla law.

4 SECTION 19. pmendoent of Bond Resolution. In order to
pake gortain amendments to Section 15F in order to comply with the
ehrrent requirements of the Code, which amendments the Board heraby
finds will-be immaterial to the Holders of any Bonds Outstanding
under “the Bond Resoluticn, the provisions of Section 15F of the
Bond -Resolution are hereby amended in their entirety to read as

(E COMPLIANCE WITH TAX REQUIREMENTS; REBATE FUND. The
;atrict hereby covenants and agrees, for the benefit of the
Holdera from time to time of ‘each Series of Bonds that are not
Taxable Bonds, to comply with the requirements applicable to
itcontained in the Internal Revenue Code of 1354, as amended,
bfapplicable, and contained in Section 103 .and Part IV of
subahiaprer B of Chapter 1 of the .Internal Revenue Cods of
1986, .as. amended, to the extent necessary to preserve the
exclusion ¢f interest on such Series of Bonds from gross
income for federal income tax purposes. Specifically, without
Inteénding to limit in any way the generality of the foregoing,
the District covenants and agrees:

(1} with respect to each Series of Bonds
other than Taxable Bonds and other than the Series
1972 Bonds, to pay to the United States of America
from the funds and sources of revenues pledged to
the payment of such Serles of Bonda, and from any
other legally available funds, at the times
required pursuant to Section 148(f) of the Code,
the amount, 1f any, required by Section 148(f} of
the Code the exclusion from gross income for
federal income tax purposes of interest on such
Series of Ronds (the “Rebate Amount");

{2) with respect to ecach Series of Bonds
other than Taxable Bonds and other than the Series
1572 Bonds, to maintain apd retain all records
pertaining to and to be responsible for making or
causing to be made all determinations and
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ocalculations of the Rebate Amount and required

v payments of the Rebate Amount as shall be necessary
to comply with the Code; .

{3) with respect to each Series of Bonds
, »+ other than Taxable Bonds, to refrain from using
.. proceeds from any Series of Bonds in a manner that
i would causé such Serles of Bonds or any of the
v ar Bonfsi of such Series or portions thereof, to bear
vup-interest that is not excludable from gross income
. for federal income tax purposes purauant to Segtion
+7. 103¢a) of the Code; and

(43 with respect to each Series of Bonds
-#ther than Taxable Bonds, to refrain from taking
serany action that would cause any Series of Bonds or
¢« vhas any portlon thereof to become arbitrage bonds under -
~efarSection 103(b) and Seoticn 14B of the Code.

The biatrict understanda that the foregoing covenants
‘ippos$e.continuing obligationa on the District to comply with
r7 £he requirements of Section 103 and Part IV of Subchapter B of

. Chapter 1 of the Code 80 long as. such regquirements are
applicable.
KRS .

The District covenants and agrees that it shall maintain
and retain all records pertaining to and shall be responsible
for making or having made all determinations and calculations
of the Robata Amount for each Series of Bonds othar than the
Series 1972 HBonds and Taxable Bonds In the manner and at the
times required in a subsequent resolution adopted by the Board
with respect to such Series of EBonds. A special fund
designated as the "Rebate Fund* is hereby created and
establishéd. Upon the issuance of each Serles of Additional
Bonds, except Taxable Bonds and except as otherwise provided
in a subgsequent resolution adopted by the Board with respect
to such Series of Bonds, the District shall create a separate
atcount within the Rebate Fund. The District shall depoait
into the account in the Hebate Fund created with respeEct ko &
Series of Bonds, from any legally available funds of the
District, an amount equal to the Rebate Amount with respect to
Such Serios of Bonds. The District shall use such moneys
deposited in the Rebate Fund only for the paymont of the
Rebate Amount to the United States as required by Section 15F
above in thé manner and at the times reguired by a subsequent
;g:glution adepted by the Board with respect to such Series of

3.

If any amount shall remaln in any rebate account in the
Rebate Fund after payment in full of the Series of Bonds for
which such account was established, and after payment in full
of the Rebate Amount with respect to such Series of Bonds to
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s United States in accordance with the terms hereof, such
ints shall be available to the District for any lawful

rpost.

4. Bach rebate account in the Rebate Fund shall be held
parate and apart from all other funds and accounts of the
grict, shall be impressed with a lien 1in faver of the
fecs of the Series of Bohds for which Such account was
wlished, only after all obligations of the District with
f peat to payment of the Rebate Amounts with respect to such
Wicrims of Bonds have been fully satisfied and the moneys
srein shall be available for use only as herein provided.

. Motwithatanding any other provision of this resolution,
& ohligation to pay over the Rebate Amount with respect to
asariss of Bonds to the United Statas and to comply with all
or -requirements of this Section 15F shall survive the
edgance or payment in full of any Series of Bonds.
pa SECTION 20. . The President of the Board
.gfb he Sacretary to the Board or the Director of Finance and
u._&dng of the District are hersby authorized to negotlate with a
urer. for municpal bond insurance with respect to the 1395A
mndﬂ_to execute & commitment and any cother documentation
ary in connection therewith.
"t‘?-‘]“: .. SECTION 21. pAgthoxlzations.
A, AN - ; .
:i;g'qp'u-; R. The President of the Board and the Secretary to the
poangd or the Director of Finance and Planning of the District are
hereby authorized and directed to sign the Purchase Contract at the
places provided therein and to approve such changes, in accordance
with tha terms of this Resoluticon, to the Purchase Contract as they
may: .depm advisable. The signature of the President and the
Secretary or Director of Fimance on the Purchase Contract shall be
conclygive evidence of the acceptance and the terms theracf. The
Prasident of the Board and the Secretary te the Board of the
dlrector of Finance and Planning of the District are hereby
authorized and directed to deliver the Purchase Contract
izmediately following the execution thereof purguant to the terms
hereof to the representative of tha original Purchaser.

8.~ The Prasident of and the Secretary to the Board or

their duly authorized alternative officers are hereby authorized
and directed on behalf of tha District to execute the 19953 Bonds
(including any temporsry bond or bonds) as provided in the Bond
Resolution and herein and any of such officars is hereby authorized
and directed unoh the execution of the 1955A Bonds in substantially
:Re fore and manner set forth horeln, to deliver the 1995A Bonds in
9 amounts authorized to be issued hereunder to the Reglstrar for
::t“‘“-‘lcatiqn and dellvery te or upon tha order of the Original
tehaser Pursuant to the Purchase Contract upon payment of the
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urchase price and upon compliance by the Original Purchaser with
the terms of the Purchase Contract.

C. The Fresident, Vice President or Treasurer of and
sacretary and Assistant Secretary to the Board and the Director of
pinance and Planning of the pistrigt, and guch other offlicers of
¢na Board legally authorized to take actlon in thelir absence, and
guch other officers, employees or agents of the District as may be
deslgnated by the President, are each designated as agents of the
poard and the District in connection with the issuance and delivery
of the 1995A Bonds and are authorized and empowered, collectively
or individually, te take &ll action and stepa and to execute all
{pstruments, documents and contracta on behalf of the Board and the
<pistrict that are necessary or desirable in connection with the
gxecution and delivery of the 1995A Bonds, and which are spacifi-
veally authorized or are not inconsistent with the terms and
.Péga.,ggmm of this Resolutien or the Bond Resglutlcn or any action
IFdlating £ the 1955A Donds herptofore taken by the BSoard. Such
“pfficers and those so designated are hereby charged with the
ireaponsibility for the issuance of the 1995A Bonds.

B 4 SECTION 22, . If any one or more of the
ovenants, agreements or provisions of this Resolution shall be
“Theld contrary to any express provisions of law or contrary to the
spolicy of express law, though not expressly prohibited, or against
-‘ghuc policy, or shall for any reason whatsoever be held invalid,

hen such covenants, agreements or provisions shall be null and
wold and shall be deemed separate frog the remaining covenants,
agreements or proviszions of this Resolution or of the 1995A Bonds
lssued hereunder.

SECTION 23, n.-a_'mm_unx_m:uuxuﬁ Except as
herein otherwise expressly provided, nothing in this Resolution
expressed or implied is intended or shall be construed to confer
dpon any parscn, firm or corporation other than the partiss hereto
.and the owners and holders of the 1995A Bonds issued under and
secured by thls Resolution, amy right, remady or claim, legal or
equitable, under or by reason of this Resolution or any provision
hereof, this Resolution and all its provisions being intended to be
and being for the mole and exclusive benefit of the parties hereto

and the Holders from time to time of the 1995A Bonds issued
hareunder.

SECTION 24, i
~ All covenants, stipulations, obligations and
graements of the District contained in this Resclutlon shall be
t;“led to be covenants, stipulations, obligations and agreements of
byetgiﬂtnct to the full extent authorized by the Act and provided
atd 'iCOnst.ltuf.i_on and laws of the State of Florida. No covenant,
eeg:dation, obligaticen or agreement contained hereln shall be
AR ta be a covenant, stipulation, obligation ¢r agreement of
Y Present or future member, agent or employee of the Board or the

i9
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piserict in his individual capacity, and nelther the membhers of the
poard nor any official executing the 1995A Bonds shall be liable
srsonally on the 1935h Bonds or this Resolution or shall be
Eubjgct to any perscnal liability or accountability by reason of
the issuance or the execution by the Board or such members therectf.

SECTION 25. Bepeal of Inconsistent Resolutions. ALl
resolutions or portions thereof previously adopted by the Board,
osther than the Bond Resolution, which are inconsistent with the
provisions of this resolution are hereby repealed to the extent of
such inconaistency.

SECTION 26. : This Resolution shall

- Effective Date
. become effective immediately upon its adoption.

This Resolution approved and adopted by the Board of

._ Supervisors of the Reedy Creek Improvemsnt pistrict, this 21lst day

of April, "1995.

REEDY __EK 1’?}1 DI.S'ITHICT
. P Z
Dr;

ecretary to Board of

"" Supervisora

(SEAL)

I-Al-n:lsc'. ;
FESTE MY £:733
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RESOLUTION NO. 546

A RESOLUTION OF THE REEDY CREEK IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT
SUPPLEMENTING RESOLUTION N(. 145 ADOPTED ON NOVEMBER
15, 1991, AS AMENDED; AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF REEDY
CREEK IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT AD VALOREM TAX REFUNDING
BONDS, SERIES [TO BE DESIGNATED] IN ONE OR MORE SERIES
AND AT ONE OR MORE TIMES IN AN AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL
AMOUNT NOT EXCEEDING 3115000000 (COLLECTIVELY, THE
“REFUNDING  BONDS™ TO PROVIDE FOR TAE ADVANCE
REFURDING OF ALL OR A PORTION OF THE DISTRICT'S AD
VALOREM TAX BONDS, SERIES 20044, AD VALOREM TAX BONDS,
SERIES 20048, AD YALOREM TAX BONDS, SERIES Z005A, AND AD
VALOREM TAX REFUNDING BONDS, SERIES 2005B; DELEGATING
TO THE PRESIDENT, THE SECRETARY, THE DISTRICT
ADMINISTRATOR, THE DEPUTY DISTRICT ADMINISTRATOR AND
DISTRICT COMPTROLLER THE AUTHORIZATION T AWARD THE
SALE OF EACH SERIES OF THE BONDS ON A NEGOTIATED BASIS;
APPROVING THE FORM AND CONTENT OF AND AUTHORIZING
THE DISTRIBUTION OF A PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT
AND THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A FINAL OFFICIAL
STATEMENT WITH RESPECT TO EACH SERIES OF REFUNDING
BONDS; AFPROVING THE FORM OF AND AUTHORIZING THE
EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A CONTRACT OF PURCHASE
WITH RESFECT TO EACH SERIES OF REFUNDING BONDS;
APPROVING THE FORM OF AND AUTHORIZING THYE EXECUTION
AND  DELIVERY OF ONE OR MORE ESCROW DEPrOSIT
AGREEMENTS WITH RESPECT TO THE REFUNDED 2004A BONDS,
REFUNDIRD 20043 BONDS, REFUNDED 2Z005A BONDS, AND
REFUNDED ZSB BONDS; AUTHORIZING U.S. BANK NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION TO ACT AS REGISTRAR, PAYING AGENT AND
AUTHENTICATING AGENT WITH RESPECT TO SUCIH REFUNDING
BONDS AND AS ESCROW AGENT WITH RESPECT TO THE
REFUNDED BONDS: APPROVING THE FORM  OF AND
AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF ONE OR
MORE REGISTRAR AND PAYING AGENT AGREEMENTS AND ONE
OR MORE DISCLOSURE DMSSEMINATION AGENT AGREEMENTS
RELATING TO THE REFUNDING BONDS; MAKING CERTAIN
FINIHNGS, REFRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS WITH RESPECT
THERETO; PROVIDING CERTAIN OTHER DETAILLS WITH RESPECT
THERETO; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE,

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors {the “Board™ of the Reedy Creck Improvement
District (the “District™) previously adopted a Resolution on April 4. 1972 {the “1972
Resolution™) authorizing, the issuance of certain ad valorem tax bonds and additional bonds
thereunder on a parily therewith; amd
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WHERIEAS, on November 15, 1991, the Distnet adopted Resolution No. 245 (the 1991
Resolution”) providing for the amendment and restatement of the 1972 Resolution as provided
therein; and

WHEREAS, on April 21, 1995, the District adopted Resolution No 313 (the “1995A
Resolution™) supplementing and amending the 1991 Resolution (the 1991 Resolution as
amended by the [995A Resolution is hercinafter referred to as the “Bond Resolution™) 1a
authorize the issuance of the District’s Ad Valorem Tax Bonds. Series 19954 and to amend
Section 15F of the 1991 Resolution regarding compliance with tax requirements; and

WHEREAS, on November 19, 2003, the District adopted Resolution No. 441 {the “2004
Resolution™) supplementing the 1991 Resolution {the 1931 Resolution as amended by the 2004
Resolution is hereinalter referred to as the #2004 Bond Reselution™) (o authorize the issuance of
the District’s Ad Valorem Tax Bonds, Scries 2004A (the “Series 2004A Bonds™) and Ad
Yalorem WHEREAS, on November 15, 1991, the District adopted Resolution No. 245 (the
“1991 Tax Bonds, Series 2004B (the “Series 2004B Bonds™); and

WHEREAS, on Aprii 21, 2005, the District adopled Kesolution No. 450 (the “20035
Resolution™) supplementing the 1991 Resolution (the 1991 Resolution as amended by the 2005
Resolution is hereinafter referred to as the “2005 Bond Resalition™) to authorize the issuance of
the District’s Ad Valorem Tax Bonds, Series 2005A (the "Series 2005A Bonds™) and Ad
Valerem Tax Refunding Bonds, Scries 20058 {the “Series 2003B Ronds™); and

WHEREAS, as a result of a decline in interest rates the District now desires to issue
Reedy Creck Improvement District Ad Valorem Tax Refunding Bonds, Series {10 be degignated)
(the “Refunding Bonds") in onc or more scries and at one or more fimes in an aggregate
principal amount nol exceeding $115,000,000, pursuant to the 2004 Bond Resolution and 2005
Bond Resolution, as applicable) and this Reselution, payable on a parity with the bonds
outstanding under the Bond Resolution to provide for the advance refunding of all or a portion of
the District’s Series 2004A Bonds (the “Refunded 2004A Bonds™, all or a portion of the
District’s Serics 20048 Bonds (the “Refunded 2004B Bonds™, all or a portion of the Series
2005A Bonds (the “Refunded 2005A Bonds™) and all or a portion of the District’s Series 2005R
Bonds (the “Refunded 2005B Bonds” and, together with the Refunded 200MA Bonds, the
Refunded 2004B Bonds, and the Refunded ZOO5A Bonds, the “Refunded Bonds™), as more
particularly described in Exhibil A attached hereto; and

WHEREAS, the Board wishes {o upprove the form and conlent of and suthorize the
execulion and delivery of one or more Escrow Deposit Apreements relating to the Relunded
Bonds (the “Escrow Deposil Agreements”), the proposed form of which is allached hereto as
Lxhibit G, 1o provide for the payment of the Refunded Bonds, and 10 appeint U.S. Bank National
Association to acl as cscrow agent thereunder with respect to the Refunded Bonds; and

WEHEREAS, the Board wishes to approve the form of and autharive the execution,

subject to the conditions hereinafter sct forth, of one or mare Contracts of Purchase substantially
d] s Sy

therein (the “Underwriters™), with respect 1o the Refunding Bonds; and



WHEREAS, the Board desires to approve the form and content ol one or more
Preliminary Official Statements relating to the Refinding Bonds substantially in the form of
Exhibit E attached hereto with such changes as are appropriate 1o reflect the terms of the related
series of Refunding Bonds, to deem each “final” for purposes of Rule 15¢2-12 of the Securities
and Exchange Commission {the “Rule™) and to authorize the execution and delivery of a Fina!
Official Statermer relaling to the related series of Refunding Bonds {each a “Fingl DfMicial
Statement™) with such changes from the Preliminary Oificial Slatement as shall be approved by
the President, the Secretary, the District Administrator, the Deputy District Administraior or the
District Comprroller (the “Official Statement™); and

WHEREAS, the Beard wishes to approve the ferm of and authorize the execution of one
or more Registrar and Paying Agent Agreements, in substantially the form of Exhibit D attached
hereto (the "Paying Agent Agreement™ and to appoint .8, Bank National Association 1o act as
the vegistrar and paying agent thercunder and as authenticating agent for the rclated serics ol
Refunding Bonds; and

WHEREAS, the Board wishes to approve the form and conteat of and authorize the
execution and delivery by the District of one or more Disclosure Disseminalion Agent
Agreemnents in connection with the Refunding Bonds, the proposed form ol which is attached
hereto as Exhibit H, and

WHEREAS, because of the current conditions existing in the market for securities
similar to the Refunding Bonds, the Board finds Il appropriate o delegaie to the President, the
Sccretary, the District Administrator, the Deputy District Administrator or the District
Comptroller, the authorily 1o accept an offer from the Underwriters 10 purchase a series of
Refunding Bonds pursuant to the terms of the related Purchase Contract, if certain conditions set
forth in this Resolution are met; and

WHEREAS, the Board desires to take certain other actions with respect to, and to make
other authorizations related 1o, the issuance of the Refunding Bonds;

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS
OF TIIE REEDY CREEK IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT THAT:

SECTION 1, Authority This Resolution is adopled pursuant 1o Chapter 67-764, Laws
of Florida, Special Acts of 1947, Chapter 132, Florida Statutes, and other applicabie provisions

of law (collectively, the “Act”) and the 2004 Bond Resolution or 2005 Bond Resolution, us
applicable,

SECTION 2. Definitivns.  All terms used herein in capitalized form, unless otherwisc
defined herein, shall have the same meanings as are ascribed 1o such terms in the 2004 Bond
Resolution or 2005 Bond Resolution, as applicable.  All terms defined i the preamble hereto
shall have the meanings ascribed therein. As used hercin. the Jollowing terms shall have the
meanings set forth below:

“20044 Bonds” means the 63,520,000 apercgate principal amount Reedy Creek
Improvement District Ad Valorem Tax Bunds, Series 2004 A

B-33

“2004B Bonds” means the $10,230,000 apgregate principal amount Reedy Creek
Improvement Dhistrict Ad Valorem Tax Bonds, Series 2004B.

H2005A Bends” means the $18,925,000 apgregate principal amount Reedy Creek
Improvement District Ad Valorem Tax Bonds, Series 2005A.

“2005B Bonds” means the $90,310,000 aggregate principal wnount Reedy Creek
Improvement District Ad Valorem Tax Relunding Bonds, Series 20058,

“2010 Bonds™ mcans the $12.150,000 aggregate principal amount Reedy Creek
Impravement District Ad Valorem Tax Refunding Bonds, Series 20710

“2011 Bonds™ means the $47.715,000 aggrepate principal amount Reedy Creck
Improvement District Ad Valorem Tax Refunding Bonds, Series 2011,

“Closing Date™ means the date of issuance ol the Refunding Bonds.

“Code” mceans the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or any
corresponding provision of any future laws of the United States of Ameriva refaling Lo lederal
ingome taxatien, and cxcept us otherwise provided herein or required by the context hereof,
including interpretations therecf contained or se1 forth in the applicable regulations of the
Depaitment of the Treasury (including applicable final regulations and temporary regulations) ,
the applicable rulings of the Internal Revenue Service (including published revenue rulings and
private letter rulings) and applicable cournt decisions.

“Escrow Apent” means U.S. Bank National Association, appointed hercunder to
serve as escrow agent under the Escrow Deposit Agreemicents, its successors or assigns.

“Escrow Deposit Apreements” means the Lscrow Deposit Agreemems with
respect Lo the Refunded Bonds, the proposed form of which are attached 1o this Resolution as
Lixhibit (G, each between the District and the Escrow Agent, pursuani 10 which a portion of the
proceeds of the Bonds, together with investment carnings thereon and certain other funds und
investments will be held in irrevecable escrow for the payment of the principal of and interest on
the related series of Refunded Bonds,

“Paying Agent” means U.S. Bank National Associalion, appuinted hereunder 1o
serve s Paying Agent and Registrar under the Paving Apenl Agrcement, ils SUccessors or
assigns.

“President” means the President or Vice President of the Board.

“Rebate Year” means, with respeet to the Relunding Bonds issued hereunder, the
twelve-month peried commencing on the anniversary of the applicable Closing Date in each yeur
und ending gn the day prior to the anmiversary of such Closing Date in the following vear, except
that the Tirst Rebate Year with respect 1o cach series of Relunding Bonds shall commence on the
applicable Closing Date and the final Rebate Year shall end on the date of final mawriy of such
Refunding Bonds; ar such other period as regulalions promulgated by the United States
Department of Treasury may prescribe.



“Refunded 2004A Bonds™ means the 2004A Bonds which are 1o be refunded

hereunder.

“Refunded 20048 Bonds™ means the 20048 Bonds which are 1o be refunded
hereunder.

“Refunded 2005A Bonds™ means the 2005A Bonds which are o be refunded
hereunder.

“Refunded 20058 Bonds™ means the 20058 Bonds which dre 1o be refunded
hereunder,

“Secretary™ means the Secrotary to the Board,

SECTION3.  Findings and Awards.

Al The District is authorized by the Act to own, acquire, construet, equip,
operate, Improve aid maintain roads located within or outside of the District and projects of all
types and deseriptions and facilities for the carrying out of the functions of the District and (o
issuc ad valorem tax bonds 10 pay all or part of the cost of the acquisition, construction,
maintenance and operation of any project authorized by the Act.

B. The primary livelihood of the residents and taxpayers of the District is
tourism and the provision of improvements to the roads and other public ways ol the District will
enhance the Listrict and benetit the residents and taxpayers thereof by promoting development
and having a positive impact on the general economy of the District,

C, 1t 1% necessary, desirable and in the best interest of the District tha the
ltetunding Bonds he issued (o advarce refund the Refunded Bonds

D. The Refunding Bonds will not be issued until all conditions relating 1o the
issuance of Additional Bonds under the Bond Resolution have been mel. including, but not
limited 1o, (i} the Maximom Bond Service Requirement on all Bonds issued under the Bond
Resolution and then Outstanding and the Refunding Bonds to be issued hereunder shall not
exceed eight-five percent (85%) of the estimated annual collections frorm Ad Valorem Taxcs
calculated as provided in the 2004 Bond Resolution and the 2005 Bond Resolution, as
applicable, and (i) the principal amount of the proposed issuance of Refunding Bonds together
with all uther Bonds then outstanding will not exceed in the apgrepaie fitty percent (54%) of the
assessed value of the taxable property within the District, and when issued, the Refonding Bonds
wilt be payable on & parity with the District’s Quislanding unrelunded 2004 A Ronds, unrefunded
20048 Bonds, unrefunded 2005A Bonds, unrefunded 2005B DBonds, 2010 Bonds and 2011
Bonds and with any other additional parity bonds hercafter issued under the tenins of the Bund
Resolution.

IR I'he Distriet will issue the Refending Bonds {(other than the Bonds issued
t refund the Refunded 20058 Bonds) with the intent that the imterest thereon will be excludable
from the gross income af the Holders thereof for federal income tax purposes. Refunding Bonds
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issued to refund the Refunded 20058 Bonds are expected to be includable in the gross income of
the Ilolders thereof lor federal income tax purposes

T [t is hereby found, determined and declarcd that a nepotiated sale of the
Refunding Bonds is in the best interest of the District and is found to be nccessary on the basis of
the following reasons, as 10 which specific findings are hereby made:

60} Due to the volatility of the municipal market, including the marke!
for tax exempt securities such as the Refunding Bends {or taxable securitics with
respect 1o the Refunding Bonds refunding the 200513 Bonds), the District must be
able to enter the matket at the most advantageous time, rather than at a specific
advertised dale, thereby permitting the District to obtain the best possible price
and intercst rate with respect to the Retunding, Bonds.

(i) The Underwriters have participated in structuring the issuance of
the Refunding Bonds and can assist the Districl in atlempting 1o ohlain the meost
attractive financing for the District.

()  The nawre of the Refunding Projecl is o complex transacijon
which requires the assistance of an underwriter in dealing with prospective
investors,

G. It is hereby ascertained, determined and declared that it is in the best
interest of the District to authorize each of the Presidemt, the Seeretary, the District
Administrator, the Depuly District Administralor and the District Comptroller to aceept an offer
of the Underwriters to purchase each series of the Refunding Bonds at a private negotiated sale
upon the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the related Purchase Contract or as
determined by the President, the Secretary, the District Administrator, Deputy District
Administrater or District Comptraller in aceordanse with the tenns hereol.

H. The Underwrilers will prowvide to the Districl prior to the execution of each
Purchase Contract a disclosure statement regarding the reluted series of Refunding Bonds,
containing the information requited by Section 218.385(6), Florida Statutes.

1, The Mistrict is authorized under the Act and Chapter 132, Florida Statutes,
o issuc retunding bonds and w deposit the procecds thereof in tscrow 1o provide for the
payment when due of the principal of, interest on and redempnon premums. if any. in
connection with the Refunded Bonds.

I The Relunding Bonds to refund the Refunded Bonds shall only be issued
at a lower average net interest cost rate than the averape net interest cost rale of the related serics
of Refunded Bonds and the rate of interest borne by the Refunding Bonds shall nol exceed the
maximurn interest rate established pursuant to the terms of Section 215.84. Flotida Statutes. 1t iy
estimated that the present valuc of the total debt service savings anticipated to acerue to the
Diigtrict from the issuance of Refunding 13onds, calculated 1n accordance with Section 1372.35(2)
Florida Statuies, shall be at least 5.00% of the agprepale principal amount ol the Retunded

Bands to be refunded.




K The principal amount of cach series of Relunding Bonds 1o be used (o
refund the Relunded Bonds shall not exceed an amount sufficient to pay the sum of the principai
amount of the relaled Refunded Bonds that are outstanding on the date of issuance of such serics
of Refunding Bonds, the aggregate ameunt of unmatured intercst payable on such Retunded
Bonds to and incleding the date that they are called for redemption, the applicable redemption
premiums, if any, related 10 such Refunded Bonds that are called for redemption, and the costs of
tssuance of the related series of Refunding Bonds, all in accordance with Seetion 132.35, Florida
Statules.

L. The sum of the present value of the total payments of both principal and
interest to become due on the portien of the Refunding Bonds (excluding all such principal and
intcrest payments as will be made with moneys held by the Escrow Agent under the lscrow
Depesit Agreements) allncated 1o the refunding of the related Refunded Bonds and the present
value of costs of issuance of such portion of the Refunding Bonds, it any, not paid with proceeds
of the Refunding Bonds, will be less than the present value of the principal and interest payments
tu became duc at their stated maturitics, ot carlicr mandatory redemption dates, on the related
Refurded Bonds.

M. The Refunding Bonds shail in no event mature later than the matarity date
of the related Refunded Bonds.

N. The first installment of principal of cach series of Refunding Bonds shall
muture, or be subject to mandatory redemption, not later than the daw ol the first stared matarity
or mandatory redemption of the related Refunded Bonds oceurring after the issuance of such
series of Refunding Bonds.

Q. Fach scries of Refunding Bonds shall not be issucd until such time as the
Ihstnet Comptroller shall have filed a certificate with the Board setting forth the present value of
the total debt service savings which will resull from the issuance of such series of Refunding
Bonds to refund a portion of the Refunded Bonds, computed in accordance with the terms of
Seetion 132.35, Florida Statutes, and demonstrating mathematically that the series of Refunding
Bonds are issued at a lower net average interest cost rate than the related Refunded Bonds,

P Lach serics of Refunding Bonds shall only be issued a1 a rate of interest
not exeeeding the maxinum interest rale established Pursuant to the terms of section 215 84,
Florida Stamtes.

SECTION 4, Resylution te Constitute 3 Conpract In consideration of the acceplance
of the Refunding Bonds authorized to be issued hercunder Iy those who shalt hold the saime from
time o time, this Resolution, topether with the Bend Resolution, shall be deemed (o be and shall
constitute a comtract between the Diswrict and the Bondholders of the Relunding Bonds. The
covepants and agreements herein set forth 1o be performed by the District shall be Tor the equal
benefit, protection and security of the Bondholders, and the Refunding Bonds shall be of egual
riunk and withoul prefercnce, prierity of or distinction over any other thereof, except s expressly
provided heretn,

B-35

SECTION 5, Authorization of Refunding, The District hereby authorizes the advance
refunding of the Refunded 2004A Bonds, Refunded 2004B Bonds, Refunded 2005A Bends and
Refunded 20058 Bonds, The District hereby authorizes (i) the deposit and pledge of a sufficient
portion of the proceeds of the Refunding Bonds, together with interest carnings thereon, and
certain other funds of the District, if mecessary, to pay the principal of, inlerest on and
redemption premiums, if any, with respect to the Refunded 2004A Bonds, Refunded 20048
Bonds, Refunded 2005A Bonds and Refunded 20058 Bonds, (i1) the Investment and
retnvestment of a portion of the proceeds from the sale of Refurding Bonds jo Government
Obligations for the purpose of elfecting the defeasunce of the Refunded 2004A Bonds, Refunded
20048 Bonds, Refunded 20053A Bonds and Refunded 20058 Bonds, (iii) the calling of the
Refunded 2004A Bonds, Refunded 20048 Bonds, Refunded 2005A Bonds and Refunded 20058
Bonds prior to their dates of maturity as set forth in the related Escrow Deposit Agreement, (iv)
the disbursement of unnceded principal and income, if any, trom the [unds and accounts created
and established pursuant 1o each Escrow Deposil Agreement 10 the [Distriet in accordance with
the terms of such Escrow Deposit Agreement. the Disirict hereby elects 1o call and redeem the
Refunded 2004 A Bonds, Refunded 2004B Bonds, Refunded 2005A Bonds and Relunded 2005B
Bonds in accordance with Lhe terms of the related Escrow Deposit Agreement as approved by the
Sceretary, District Administrator, Deputy District Administrator and the District Comptroller,

The Tiscrow Agent is hereby directed in the name of the Districl, 10 cause notice of such
call 1o be piven as required by law and by the terms of the Refunded 20044 Bonds, Refunded
20048 Bonds, Refunded 2005A Bonds and Refunded 20058 Bonds, as the case may be, and the
related Escrow Deposit Agrecment,

SECTION 6. Authorization of Refunding Bonds. Subject and pursuant to the
provisions of this Resclution and any subsequent resolutions adopted by the Board in connection
with the Refunding Bonds and prior 1o the issuance thereof, the Refunding Bonds of the Distriet
to be known as “Reedy Creek Improvement District Ad Valorem Tax Refunding Bonds, Serics
[To be Designated] [(Taxable)]™ are hereby autherized 1o be issued in an apgrepate principal
amount not exceeding $115,000,000 to finance the Refunding Project and the payment of a
pertion of the costs of issuance of the Refunding Bonds, with the exact principal amount 10 be
determined in accordance wilh the terms hereol.

SECTIHIN 7. Delegation 1o I
itrator_or Distr

sident_and
] ('mrmt_ml

RALAEIR ‘_!Piilu_l;'l; Administrator,
l'erms _!!'h! _Fu _rrlll‘||||l_|:

Bonds,

A The President, the Secretary, the Liswict Administrator, the Deputy
District Administrator or the District Comptroller are hereby authorized and directed to award
the sale of each scries of the Refunding Bonds to the Underwnilers and to approve the terms
thereol, including, withoul limitation, the principal amounts thereof, the serics designations
thereof, the date thereot, the interest rates with respect thereto, the purchase price thereof and the
redemption terms with respect thercto, provided, however, that in no event shall (i) the principal
amount of the Refunding Bonds exceed 3115,000.000, (ii) the purchase price of Refunding
Bonds be less than 8% of the face amount thercot exclusive of original issue discount (the
“Minmmum Purchase Price™), (1i1) the present value of the toal savings anticipated (o accrue to
the District upon refunding the Refunded Bonds be less than 5.00% of the aggregate principal



amount of the principal amount of 1he amount of Refunded Bonds to be refunded, or (iv) the
interest rates exceed the maximum rates permitted by applicable law,

B Hach seres of the Refunding Bonds shall bear interest from their date,
payable semiannually on the first day of Junc und the first day of December of cach year, at the
rate, and shall mature in accerdance with the schedules, set forth or incorporated by relerence in
the related Purchase Contract and Final Official Statement and approved by the President, the
Secretary, the District Administrator, Deputy Distriet Administrator of the District Comptrodler,
such appreval to be conclusively evidenced by their execution of the related Purchase Contract
The prncipal of the Refunding Bonds shall be payuble cither in annual or semiunnual
installments, as shall be set forth in the related Purchase Contract and approved by the President,
the Secretary, the District Administrator, the Deputy District Administrator or the Distric
Comprroller, the exceution therenf 10 be conctusive cvidence of such approval.

The Refunding Bonds shall be issued as fully regisiered bonds in the denomination of
$5,000 cach or any integral multiple thereol. Interest on the Refunding Bonds shall be computed
on the basis ot a 360-day year consisting of twelve (12) thirty (30) day months.

So long as there shall be maintained a book-entry-only system with respect to a series of
Refunding Bonds, the following provisions shall apply:

Such Refunding Bonds shall initially be issued in the name of Cede & Co. as nomince for
The Depository Trust Company (“DTC™), which wiil act initially as securities depository for the
Refunding Bonds and so long as the Retunding Bonds are held in book-entry -oniy form, Cede &
Co. shall be considered the registered owner for all purposes hercofl  On original issue, the
Refunding Bonds shall be deposited with DTC, which shall be responsible for maintaining a
book-entry-only sysicm for recording the ownership interest of its participants (“1Y7C
Participants™) und other institutions that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with
IYIC Participants, either directly or indircetly (“Indirect Participants™), The 1YTC Participants
and Indirect Participants will be responsible for maintaining records with respect 1o the
beneficial vwnership interests of individual purchasers of the Refunding Bonds (*Beneficial
Owners™).

The principal of and interest on the Refunding Bonds at maturity shall be payuble directly
w Cede & Co.in care of DTC. Disbursal of sueh amounts w DTC Participants shall be the
responsibility of [YIC. Payments by DTC Participants to Indirect Panicipants, and by 17TC
Participants and Indirect Participams 1o Beneficial Owners shall be the responsibility of DTC
Parucipunts and Indirect Participants and not of DTC, the Paying Agent, or the Issuer

The Refunding Honds shall initially be issved i the Jorm of one fully repistered
Proposed Bond for each maturity and shall be held in such form unil maturity. Individuals may
purchase bencficial interests in denominations of $5,000 or integral muluples thereof, in book-
entry-only form, without certificated Relunding Bonds, through D10 Participants and Indirect
Participants

DURING THE PERIOD FOR WHICH CEDE & COL IS REGISTERED OWNER OF
T REFUNDING BONDS, ANY NOTICE TO BE PROVIDED TO ANY REGISTRRIED
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OWNER WILL BE PROVIDED TO CEDE & C0O. DTC SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR
NOTICE TC DTC PARTICIPANTS ANL DTC PARTICIPANTS SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE
FOR NOTICE TO INDIRECT PARTICIPANTS, AND DTC PARTICIPANTS AND
INDIRECT PARTICIPANTS SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR NOTICE TO INDIVIDUAL
PURCHASERS OF BENEFICIAL INTERESTS.

The District has enlered inte a blunket letier of represenfations with INTC providing for
such book-entry-only system. Such agreement may be terminated at any time by either DTC or
the DMstrict. In the event of such tenmination, the District shall select another securitics
depository. 1f the District does not replace DTC, the Registrar will register and deliver 1o the
Beneficial Owners replacement Refunding Bonds in the Torm of fully registered Refunding
Bonds of the same series and matarity, in denominations of $5,000 or integral multiples thereof,
in accordance with instructions from Cede & Co.

SECTION 8. Redemption Provisions. ihe Refunding Bonds shall be subject 1o such
opticnal and mandatory redemption provisiens, if any, as ure provided in the Purchase Contract
for the related series of Refunding Bonds, and approved by the President, the Secretary, the
District Administrator, the Deputy District Administrator or the District Compiroller, the
execulion thereof to be conclusive gvidence of such approval. In the case of an optional
redemption of the Refunding Bonds, in no event shall the redemption price for the Refunding
Bonds exceed one hundred one percent (101%2) of the principal amoun! or accreted value of the
Refunding Bonds to be redeemed nor shakl the first optional redenption date of the Refunding
Bonds be later than June 1,20 |

SECTION 9. Notice of Redemption. In lieu of the requiremnents of Section 128 of the
Bond Resolution, each notice of redemption, if any, with respect to the Refunding Bonds shall
meet the requirernents sel forth below, Notice of any redemption of Refunding Bonds hereunder
shall be mailed, by first class mail, or such other manner as may be customary for the industry, 1o
the registered owner of cach Refunding Bond to be redesmed at such Holder's repistercd address
a3 It appears in the bond register or at such other address as 33 furnished in writing by such
Tolder to the Registrar; provided, however, that failure to pive any such notice 1o any Holder, or
any defeel therein, shall not affect the validity of the redemption proceedings for any Refunding
Bond with respect to which no such failure or defeet has occurred.,

0] Euch notice of redemption shall set forth (A) the
name ard address of the Paying Agent, a contact person with the
Paying Agent and his or her telephone number, (B) the complete
official name of the Refunding Bonds, to be redeemed, (C) the
CUSTP numbers, il any, of the Refunding Bonds being redeemed,
provided that any such notice shall state that no representation is
made as to the correctness of CUS]P pumbers either as printed on
such Refunding, Bonds or as contained in the notice of redemption
and that reliance may be placed only on the identification numbers
contained in the nolice or printed on such Refunding Bonds, (D)
any other descriptive information needed 1o identify accurately the
Refunding Bonds being redeemed, in¢luding, but not hmited Lo,
the original issuance date and maturity date of, and interest rate on.

i3



such Bonds, (E) in the casc of partial redemption of any Refunding
Bonds, the respective principal amounts thereol to be redeeincd:
() the date of mailing of redemption notices, (G} the redemption
date; (I{) the redemption price; (T} thal on the redemption datc the
redemption price will become duc and payable upon cach such
Proposed Bond or portion thereol called for redemption, and that
interest thereon shall cease 10 acerue from und after said dale.

(i) Each notice of redemption shall be sent @ leas!
thirty (30} days and not more than sixty (60) days belore the
redemption date.

(i) In addition to the foregoing, further notice of any
redemption of Reflunding Bonds hercunder shall be given by the
Registrar simultaneously with mailed notice to Helders, by
registered or certified mail or overnipht delivery service o at least
twe national information services that disseminale natices of
redetmption ol obligations such as the Refurding Bonds and, for
any tedemption other than by sinking lund insiallment, 10 the
Municipal Scevrities Rulemaking Board. Such further notice shall
contain the information required in 9(1). Failure to give all or any
portion of such further netice shall not in any manner defeal the
effectivencss of a call for redemption.

{iv)  Upon the paymeni of the redemption price of the
Refunding Bonds being redeemed, each check or other transfer of
funds issued for such purpose shall bear or be accompanied by an
advice showing the CUSIP number identifying, by issue, the
Refunding Bonds beinp redeemed with the proceeds of such check
or other transfer.

(V) A second notice of redemption shall be mailed in
the manner provided above to any registered owner who has not
lenidered Refunding Bonds that have been called for redemption
within sixty (60) days after the applicable redempiion date.

SECTION 10, Funds and Acesunts.

Establishment of_and Pavments frem the Rebate Account There s hereby established
and created a trust account for cach series of Refunding Bonds within the Rebate Fund pursuant
to the Bond Resolution to be desipnated the “Reedy Creek Improvement Distoict Ad Valorem
Tax Relunding Bonds, Series Z013[SERIES TO BE DESIGNATED] Rebate Account™
(hereinafter referred to as the “Series 201 3[SERIES TO BE DESIGNATEDR! Rebate Account™),
as the case may be, into which amounis shull be deposited as set forth below

The District covenants and ugrees that it shafl mainiain and relain atl records pertaining to
und shall be responsible for making or having made all determinations and caiculations of the
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Rebate Amount for the related series of Refunding Bonds [or cach Rebawe Year within
twenty-five (25) days after the end of such Rebate Year and within twenty-five (25) days after
the final maturity of the retated series of Refunding Bonds. On or hefore the expiration of each
such pericd, the District shall deposit inte the Rebate Account for each series of Refunding
TBonds from any legally available funds of the District, an amount equal to the Rebale Amoun
with respect to such series of Refunding Bonds for such Rebate Year. The District shall use such
moneys deposited in each Rebate Account only for the payment of the Rebaic Amount with
respect 1o such related series of Refunding Bonds 1o the United Siates as required by the Bond
Resoiution, which payments shall be made in installments, commencing not more than thirty
(30) days after the end of the fifth Rebate Year for such related scries of Refuading Bonds and
with subsequent payments to be made not later than five {5} years after the preceding payment
was due, except that the final payment shall be made within sixty (60} days aficr the final
maturity of the last obligation of such related serics of Refunding Bonds. In complying with the
foregaing, the District may rely upon any instruetions or opinions from Bond Counsel.

il any amount shail remain in the respective Rebate Account afler payment in full ol all
such relaled series of Refunding Bonds issued hercunder and after payment in full of the Rebate
Amount with respect to such related series of Refunding Bonds 10 the United Swates in
accordance with (he terms hercof, such amounts shall be available 10 the District for any lawful
purpose.

SECTION 1. Application of Proceeds of Refunding Bonds. The procceds
from the sule of the Refunding Bonds shall be applied by the District as follows:

() Upon issuance of the Refunding Bonds there shall
be paid to the Eserow Agent an amount to be provided in the
Scries 20044 Lscrow Deposit Agreement for the defeasance of the
Refunded 2004A Bonds, an amount 1o be provided in the Series
20048 [iscrow Deposit Agreement for the defeasance of the
Refunded 20048 Bonds, an amount 1o be provided in the Series
2005A Escrow Deposit Agreement for the defeasance of he
Refunded 2005A Bonds and an amount to be provided in the
Serigs 2005B Eserow Deposit Agreement for the deleasance of the
Refunded 20058 Bonds; and

{ii}  The balance of the proceeds from the sale of the
Refunding Bonds shall be paid to the District and used 1o pay the
costs of issning the Refunding Bonds.

SECTION t2. Form of Refunding Bonds. The Relunding Ronds shall bc in
substantially the form provided in Exhibit B hereto, subject 10 such chanpes, omissions and
insertions and such filling of blanks as the officers execuling the same shall approve, such
exceution 1o be conclusive evidence of such approval

SECTION 13, Approval of a Purchase Conltract for cach Series of Refunding
Bonds. The form of a Purchase Contract for each series of Refunding Bonds, substantially in the
form presented hereto as Exhibit C, by the Underwriters is hereby approved, subject to such
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changes, insertions and omissions and such filling of blanks therein as may be approved and
made in such related Purchass Contract by the President, the Secretary, the District
Administrator, the Depuiy Districl Administrater or the District Comptroller, in a manner
vonsistent with the provisions of Sections 7 and 8 of this Resclution, such execution 1o be
vonclusive evidence of such approval.  Upon receipt of a disclosure statement frem the
Underwriters, the President, the Sccretary, the District Administrator, the Peputy Distnict
Administrator or the District Comptroller are hereby authorized to actepl an offer of the
Underwriters to purchase the Refunding Bonds in an aggregate principal amount not exceeding,
315,000,000, at a TIC not to exceed the Maximum TIC, and at a purchase price of not less than
the Minimum Purchase Price, plus accrued interest thercon to the date of delivery, upon the
terms and conditions sct forth in the related Purchase Contract, and, so long as the presemt value
of the total savings 10 accrue to the District upon refunding the Refunded 2004 A Bonds shall be
not less than % of the agygrepate pringipal amount of the Refunded 20044 Bonds, upon
refunding the Refunded 2004B Bonds shall be nof lcss than % of the apgregate principal
amount of the Refunded 20048 Bonds, upon refunding the Refunded 2005A Bonds shall be not
fess than % of the apgregate principal amount of the Refunded 20054 Bonds and wpon
refunding the Refunded 20058 Bonds shall be not less than % of the apprepate principal
ameunt of the Refunded 20058 Bonds. The President, the Secretary, the District Admintstrator,
the Deputy District Administrator or the District Comptroller are hereby authorized 10 execule
and deliver the related Purchase Contract for and on behalf of the Distrct pursuant to the terms.
hercot and of the related Purchase Contract.

SECTION 14. Repisirar and Paying Apent. The Board hereby appoints LS
Bank National Association as the initial Paying Agent, Registrar and Authenticating Agent in
connection with the Refunding Bonds under the terms of the Registrar and Paying Agent
Agreement.

SECTION 15, Repistrar and Payiog Apent Agreement. The Board hereby
approves the form and content of the Registrar and Paying Agent Agreement attached hereto as
Exhibit 3. The President and Sceretury are hereby authorized 10 execute on bebalf of the Board,
the Registrar and Paying Agent Apreement substantially in the form atiached hereto with such
changes, omissions and insertions as they, in their sole discretion, may approve. such execution
10 be conclusive evidence of such approval,

SECTION 16, Officinl Statement. The Board hereby approves the form and
and distribution of u Preliminary Official Stalement substantially in the form of Exhibit 12 by the
Underwriters in connection with the marketing of the Refunding Bonds. The President is hereby
authorized o exccute, on behalf of the Board, a Final Offical Statement relating W the
Refunding Bonds with such changes, omissions and insertions from the form of Preliminary
Otficial Stalement as the officer or efficers executing the same may, i his or their sole
discretion, approve, such execution to be conclosive evidence of such approval. the use and
distribution of the final Official Stalement in connection with the offering and sale of the
Relunding Bunds by the Underwriters is hereby uuthorized. The District Comptrolier is
authorized 1o deem the Preliminary Official Statement other than Permutted Omissions “linal”
within the meaning of Rule 15¢2-12 under the Securilies Exchange Act of 1934, in the form as
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mailed, and in furtherance thercof lo execute a certificate evidencing same substantially i the
form attached hereto as Exhibit I,

SECTION17. Escruw Deposit Agreements. The Board hereby approves the
forms and content of the Escrow Deposit Agreement attached hereto s Exhibit G, The President
and Secrelary to the Board are hereby autherized to execute on behalf of the Board, the Fscrow
Deposit Agreements, substantially in the forms attached hereto with such changes, omissions and
inserttons, including, without limitation, the filling of blanks therein and attachment of schedules
therete, as they, in their sole discretion, may approve, such exccution to be conelusive cvidence
of such approva!.

SECTION 18. Escrow_Agent. The Board hereby appoints U.S. Bank National
Association as the initial Escrow Agent in conneelion with the Refunded Bonds under the terms
of the respective Escrow Deposit Agreement,

SECTION 19, Continuing Disclosure Compliance. lhe Disttiel  hereby
approves the form and content of an apreement between the District and Ligital Assurance
Certification, L.L.C, (“DAC™} for continuing secondary market disclosure in connection with the
Refunding Bonds {the “Discleswe Disscmination Agent Agreement™, in the form attached
hereto as Exbibjt H. The President, jointly with the Secretary, District Administrator, Deputy
District Administrator or District Comptroller of the District, are authorized and dirccted to
execute and deliver the Disclosure Dissemination Agent Agreemenl substantially in the form of
Exhibit H with such changes, ingertions or deietions as the officer executing the same, in his or
her sole discretion, may approve, such execution to constitute conclusive evidence of such
approval.

SECTION 20, Authorizations.

A The President, the Secretary, the Iistrict Administrator, the Deputy
District Administrator or the District Comprrallzr are hereby authorized and directed 1o sign the
Purchase Contract with respect 1o each series of Refunding Bonds at the place provided therzin
and to approve such changes, in accordance with the terms of this Resolution, to each related
Purchase Contract as they may deem advisable. The signaturc of the President, the Scerctary, the
District Adminisirator, the Deputy District Administrator or the District Comptroller on the
retated Purchase Contract shall be conclusive evidence of the acceptance of the termy thercol.
The President, the Secretary, the District Administrator, Deputy District Administrator or the
District Comptroller are hereby authorized and directed 1o deliver the Purchase Contract with
respect to cach series of Refunding Bonds immediately followings the exccution thercel pursuant
1o the terms hereof to the Underwriters.

R The President and the Secretary or their duly autharized allernative
officers are hereby authorized and directed an behalf of the Districl to exccute the Refunding
Bonds (including any temporary bond or bonds) as provided in the Bonrd Kesolution and herein
and any of such officers is hereby authorized and directed upon the execution of the Refunding
Bonds in substantially the form and manner set forth herein, o deliver the Refunding Bonds in
the amounts authorized o be issued hereunder to the Registrar {for authentication and delivery
or upen the order of the Underwriters pursuant to the Purchase Contract upon payment of the
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purchase price and wpon compliance by such Underwriters with the terms of such Purchasc
Contract,

& The President or Treasurer of and Secretary and Assistant Scerctary 1o the Board
and the Distriel Administrator, the Deputy District Administrator, the District Comptroller, and
such other officers of the Beard icgally autherized Lo luke uction in their absence, and such other
uofficers, employees or agents of the Disirict as may be designated by the President, are cach
desiynated as agents of the Board and the District in connection with the issuance and delivery of
the Refunding Bonds and are autherized and cmpowered, collectively or individuelly, 1o take ali
action and steps and to execute ail instruments, documents and contracts on behalf of the Board
and the District that are necessary or desirable in connection with the exceution and delivery of
the Refunding Bonds, and which are specifically authorized or are not inconsistem with the
terms and provisions of this Resolution or the Bond Resolution or any action relating o the
Refunding Bonds beretofore taken by the Board. Swuch officers and those so desipnated are
hereby charged with the responsibility for the issuance of the Refunding Bonds.

SECTION 21, Severability. If any one or more of the covenants, agreements or
provisions of this Resolulion shall be held contrary to any express provisions of law or coptrary
1o the policy of express law, though not expressly prohibited, or against public policy, or shall
for any reason whatsoever be held invalid, then such covenants, agreements or provisions shall
be null and void and shall be deemed separate from the remaining covenants, agreements or
provisions of this Resolution or of the Refunding Bonds issued hereunder,

SECTION 22. No_Third Party Beneficiaries. Fxcept as herein otherwise
expressly provided, nothing in this Resolntion expressed or implied is intended or shall b
construed 10 confer upon any person, firm or corporation ether (han the parpes herelo, the Bond
Insurer, if any, for all or any portions of the Refunding Bonds, and the owners and holders of the
Refunding Bonds issued under and secured by this Resolution, any right, remedy or claim, legal
or equitable, under ot by reason of this Resoiution or any provision hereof, this Resolution and
all its provisions being intended (o be and being for the sole and exclusive benefit of the partics
hereto, the Bond Insurer, if any, for the Refunding Bonds, and the Holders from time 1o time of
the Refunding Bonds issued hereunder.

SECTION 23, Controlling Law: Members of Governing Body of Issuer Not
Liable. All covenants, stipulations, ¢bligations and agreements of the District contained in this
Reselution shall be deemed 10 be covenants, stipulations, oblipations and agreements of the
District to the full extent authorized by the Act and provided by the consiifution and laws of the
State of Florida. No covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement conlained herein shall be
deemied to be a covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement of any present or future member,
agent or employew of the Board or the Distriet in his or her individual capacity, and, to the exlent
permiitied by law, neither the members of the Board nor any official cxecuting the Refunding
Bonds shall be liable personally on (e Refunding Bonds or this Resolution or shall be subject to
any personal Tability or accountability by reason of the issuance or the execution by the Board or
such members thereof.

SECTTON 24. Open Mectinps. Nt is hereby found and determined thiat all tonmal
actions of the Board concerning and relating o 1he adoption of this Resolution and the
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consummation of the trunsactions conlemplated by this Resolution were adopted in open
meetings of the Board, and that all deliberations of thc Board that resulted in such formal action
were in meetings open to the public, in compliance with all legal reyuirements

SECTION 25, Repeal of Incrrnsistent Reselutions.  All resolutions or portions
thereof previously adopted by the Bourd, other than the Bond Resolution, which are inconsistent
with the provisions of this resolution are hereby repealed to the extent of such inconsistency.

SECTION 26. EffectiveDate.  This Resolution shall  become  effeetive
immediately wpon its adoption,

JRemainder of page intentionally left blank



This Resolution is hereby approved and adepied by the Board of Supervisors of
the Reedy Creek Improvement District, this 27th day of February, 2013,

{SEAL)

ATTEST

Sl e,

Secretary, Board of Supervisors

REEDY CREEK IMPROVEMENT
DISTRICT

-

; A
_-_éﬁéf?gﬁﬂa--r:«- -
President, Board o Pfifi*!-}:a

B-40

[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



RESOLUTION NO. 551

A RESOLUTION OF THE REEDRY CREEK IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT
SUPPLEMENTING RESOLUTION NO. 245 ADOPTED ON NOVEMBER
15, 1991, AS AMENDED; AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF REEDY
CREEK IMIPROVEMENT DISTRICT AD VALOREM TAX DONDS IN
ONE OR MORE SERIES IN AN AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT
NOT EXCEEDING 3368,000,000 TG PROYIDE FINANCING FOR
TRANSPORTATION [MPROVEMENTS BENEFITTING PRIMARILY
THE BUENA VISTA DRIVE -CORRIDOR, INCLUDING DESIGNING,
CONSTRUCTING, EQUIPFING OR IMPROVING CERTAIN
ROADWAYS AND PARKING FACILITIES WITHIN OR OUTSIDE THE
DISTRICT; DELEGATING TO THE PRESIDENT, THE SECRETARY,
THE DISTRICT ADMINISTRATOR, THE DEPUTY DISTRICT
ADMINISTRATOR OR THE DISTRICT COMPTROLLER THE
AUTHORIZATION TO AWARD THE SALE OF THE 2013A BONDS ON
A NEGOTIATED BASIS; APPROVING THE FORM AND CONTENT OF
AND AUTHORIZING THE DISTRIBUTION OF A TRELIMINARY
OFFICIAL STATEMENT AND THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF
A FINAL OFFICIAL STATEMENT WITH RESPECT 10 THE 2013A
BONDS; APPROVING THE FORM OF AND AUTHORIZING TRE
EXECUTION ANDY DELIVERY OF A CONTRACT OF PURCHASE
WITH RESPECT TO THE 2013A BONDS; AUTHORIZING U.S. BANK
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION TO ACT AS REGISTRAR, PAYING AGENT
AND AUTHENTICATING AGENT WITH RESPECT TQ SUCH DONDS;
APPROVING THE FORM OF AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION
AND DELIVERY OF A REGISTRAR AND PAYING AQGENT
AGREEMENT AND A DISCLOSURE DISSEMINATION AGENT
AGREEMENT RELATING TO THE 2013A BONDS; MAKING CERTAIN
FINDINGS, REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS WITH RESPECT
THERETG; PROVIDING CERTAIN OTHER DETAILS WITH RESPECT
THERETG; AMENDING CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF RESOLUTION
NO. 546 ADOPTED FEBRUARY 27, 013; AND PROVIDING AN
EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHERKEAS, the Board of Supervisors (the “Board™} of the Reedy Creek Impravement
District (the “Disicict™) previously adupted a Resolution oa April 4, 1972 {the “1972
Resolution”) awvthorizing the issuznce of certain ad valorem tax bonds and additional bonds
thereunder on a parity therewith; and

WHEREAS, on November 15, 1991, the District adopied Resolution No. 245 {the “1991
Resolulion™) providing for the amendment and restatement of the 1972 Resolution a5 provided
iherein; and

B-41

WHEREAS, on April 21, 1995, the District adopted Resolution No. 313 (the “1995A
Resolution™) supplementing and amending the 1991 Resolution (the 1991 Resolution as
amended by the 1995A Resolution is hereinafter referred to as the “Bond Resolution) to
authorize the issvance of the District’s Ad Valorem Tax Bonds, Serics 1995A and to amend
Sectlon 15F of the 1991 Resolution regarding compliance with tax requirements; and

WHEREAS, the Board now desires to issue bonds pursuam io the Bond Resolution and
this Resoluiion, payable on a parity with the bonds culstanding under the Bond Resclution, in an
agpregate principal amount nol excecding $360,000,000 1o provide finsncing for transporlstion
lmprovements benefitting primarily the Buena Vista Drive cormidor, including designing,
constructing, equipping or improving cerlain roadways &nd parking facilities within or outside
the Distriet as more particularly described in Exbibil A herelo (the “Transporation Project™), the
portion of the Transporiation Praject financed by the Serics 2013A Bonds being herginafler
referred to as the “Series 2013A Projeet™; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution Ne. 548 adepted by the District on April 24, 2013,
the District authorized the holding of a referendum related to the issuance of (i} not to exceed
$360,000,000 ad valorom tax bonds, notes or other obligations to finance the costs of the
Transportation Project, and {ii} not to exceed 35,000,000 ad vzlorem tax bonds, notes or other
obligations to finance the costs of a “District Facilities Project™, as described therein; and

WHEREAS, tiw issuance of ad valorem tax bonds, notes or other obligations (i) in an
aggregate principal amount not to exceed $360,000,000 ta finance the Transportation Project and
(ii) in an aggregate principal amouns not to exceed 35,000,000 to finonce the District Facilities
Project was approved at an election of the gualified voters of the District held on June 4, 2013,
which result was certified by the Board pursuant to Resolution No. 550 adopted by the District
on June 26, 2013; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution No. 546 adopted by the District on February 27,
2013, the District authorized the issvance of an agpregste principal amount not excecding
$115,000,000 of its Reedy Creek Improvement District Ad Valorem Tax Refunding Bends,
Series [to be designated) (the “Refunding Bonds"), payable on & parity with the bonds
outstanding under the Bond Resolution to provide for the advance refunding of all or a portion of
the Distwrict's Series 2004A Bonds {the “Refunded 2004A Bonds™), all or a portion of the
District’s Series 2604B Bonds (the "Refunded 20048 Bonds™), all or a portion of the Series
2005A Bonds (the “Refunded 2605A Bonds™) and all or a partion of the District's Serics 20058
Bonds {the “Refunded 20038 Bonds™ and, together with the Refunded 2004A Bonds, the
Refunded 2004B Bonds, and the Refunded 20034 Bonds, the “Refunded Bonds"); and

WHEREAS, because of the uncertzinty of the timing of issuance of one or more series of
Refunding Bonds, cerinin redemplion and savings pararneters governing the sale of Refunding
Bends in Resolution No. 546 were not completed, so the Doard now wishes to complete the
requiremers for issuance of Refunding Bonds by amending such provisions of Resolution No.
546, and

WHEREAS, the Board wishes 1o approve the form of aird authorize the cxecution,
subject to the conditions hereinafter sex forth, of' a Contract of Purchase substentially in the form



of Exhibit C (the “Purchase Contract”), with the underwriters named thersin (the
“Underwriters™), with respect 1o the District’s Ad Valorem Tax Bonds, Series 2013A (the
"2013A Bonds") and the first series of Refunding Bonds, hercby designated “Ad Valorem Tax
Refunding Bonds, Series 20138 (the “Series 20138 Bonds™); and

WHEREAS, the Board desires to apptove the form and conteat of the Preliminary
Ofticinl Staiement velating to the 2013A Bonds and the Series 20138 Bonds attached herese as
Exbibit E, to deem the sane “final” for purposes of Rule 15c2-12 of the Securitees and
Exchange Commission (the "Rule”) and to authorize the execution and delivery of the Final
Official Statement relating te the 2013A Bonds and the Serles 20138 Bonds (the “Final Official
Statement”) with such changes from the Prelintinary Official Statement as shall be approved by
the President, the Secretary, the District Adminisiratar, the Deputy District Administrator or the
District Comptroller; and

WHEREAS, the Board wishes 1o approve the form of and authorize the execution af a
Registrar and Paying Agent Agreement, in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit
(the ¥Paying Agent Agreement”) and (o appoint U.S. Bank National Asscciatian to act as the
registrar and paying agent theraunder and as authenticating agent for the 2013A Bonds; and

WHEREAS, the Board wishes to approve the form and content of and authorize the
execution and delivery by the District of o Disclosure Dissemination Agent Agrecment in
connectiop with the 2013A Bonds and the Series 20138 Bonds, the proposed form of which is
attzched hereto as Exhibit G, and

WHEREAS, because of the current wolatile conditions éxisting in the market for
securities similar to the 2013A Bonds, the Doard finds it appropriate to delegate to the President,
the Sceretary, the Distric? Administrator, the Deputy District Administrator or the District
Compiroller, the authority to accept an offer from the Undarwriters 1o puschase the 2013A Bonds
pursuant to the terms of the Purchase Centract, (f certain conditions set forth in this Resolution
are me!: and

WHEREAS, the Board desires 1o take certain other actions with respect o, and 1o make
other authorizations related to, the issuance of the 2013 A Bonds;

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS
OF THE REEDY CREEK IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT THAT:

SECTION 1, Authority. This Resolution is adopted pursoant to Chapter 67-764, Laws
of Florida, Speciul Acts of 1967, and other appiicable pravisions of law (collectively, the “Acl”)
and the Bong Resolulion,

SECTION 2, Definitiong. All terms used herein in capitalized form, unless otherwise
defined herein, shall have the same mennings as are ascribed to such terms in the Bond
Resolution. All terms defined in the preamble hereto shall have the meanings ascribed therein.
As used herein, the following terms shall have the meanings set forih bolow:

“Closing Date” means the dale of issuance of the 2013A Bonds.
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“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or any
corresponding pravision of any fulure laws of ths United States of Americu relating to federal
income taxation, and except as otherwisc provided herein or required by the conlext hereof,
including interpretations thereof centained or set forth in the applicable regulations of the
Depastment of the Treasury (including applicable final regulations and temporary regulations) ,
the applicable rulings of the Internal Revenue Service (including published revenue rulings and
private letter rulings} and applicable couet decisions.

“Cosis” means the cost of acquisition, construction, improving or equipping and
all ather items of cost incident to the acquisition, construction, improving and equipping, and the
financing or refinancing of the Series 2013A Preject, including, without limifation, the
following:

(i) obligations ineurred for labor and materials and to
contraciors, builders and materialmen in connection with such
constreétion, for machinery and equipment, and for the resteration
or relocation of property damuged or destroyed in conrection with
such conslruction;

(il  the cost of acquiring by purchase, if such purchase
shall be deemed expedlent, pnd the amount of any award or final
judgment in or any settleraent or compromise of any proceeding to
acquire by condemnation, such property, lands, rights, rights of
way, franchises, easements and other interests in land constituting
u part of, or as may be deemed necessary or convenient for the
gcquisition of construction of (he Transportation Project, oplicns
and partial payments thereon, the cost of filling, draining or
tmproving any lands so acquired, and the amount of any damages
incident 1o or consequent upon the acquigilion or construction of
the Transportation Project;

{iiiy  the fees and expenses of the Paying Agent under the
Paying Agent Agreement, including lega! expenses and fees
(incinding appellmte fees), fees and expenses of censultants end
financial advisors, eserow agents, verification agents, legal and
accounting fees and expenses, financing charges, interest on the
2013A Bonds during construction of the Series 2013A Project and
for a reasonable poriod thereafter, costs of preparing aud issuing
the 2013A Bonds nol previously paid or reimbursed ta the District,
including but not limiled 1o, consuliant fees and expenses, costs of
printing the Final Official Statement and the 2013A Bonds and any
other costs incarred by the District with respect to the issuance of
the 2013A Bonds, costs of bond insurance, if any, taxcs or other
municipal or governmental charges lawfully levied or agsessed
upon the Transportation Project during consteuction, or any
properly acquired therefor, and premiums of insurance (if any) in
connection with the Transponation Project during comstruction,



(iv)  fees and expenses of engineers for making studies,
surveys and estimates of costs and of cevenues and for preparing
plans and supervising construclion, as well a5 for the performance
of all other duties of engineers set forth herein in relation to the
constuction of the Series 2013A Project or the issuance of the
2013A Bonds thorefor;

{v)  expenses of administration properly chargeabie ro
the Series 2013A Project, and all other items of expense nol
elsewhere in this Section specified, incident 1o the acquisition or
construction and equipping of the Series 2013A Project end the
placing of the same in ocperation, including, to the extent
authorized by applicable law, cerlain operating expenses, and to
the acquisition of real estate, franchises and rights of way therefor,
including abstracts of title and title insurance; and

{vi) any amounts heretofore or hereafier advanced by
the District for any of the foregaing purposes.

“Deputy Disteiet Administrator™ means the Deputy District Administrator of the
District,

“District Comptroiler” means the Comptrolier of the District.

“Election Resclutions™ means, collectively Resolulion No. 548 adopted by the
Board bn April 24, 2013, and Resolution No, 550 adopted by the Board on June 26, 2013,

“Paying Agent” mecens U.S. Bank National Association, appointed hereunder to
serve as Paying Agent and Repistrar under the Paying Apent Agreement, ifs sutcessors or
assigns.

“President” means the President or Vice President of the Board.

“Rebate Year” means, with respect to any series of 2013A Bonds issued
hercunder, the twelve-month peried commencing on the anniversary of the Closing Dare in ezch
year and ending on the day pricr 10 the anniversury of such Closing Date in the following year,
except that the first Rebate Year with respect ta a Series of the 2013A Bonds shall commence an
the Closing Date and the final Rebate Year shall end on the date of final maturity of such Serics
of 20013A Bomls; ar such other period as regolations promulgated by the United States
Drepartment of Treasury may prescribe,

“Secretary” means the Secretary to the Board,
SECTION 3. Findings and Awards

Al The Disirict is authorized by the Act to own, acqiire, construct, equip,
operate, improve and maintain roads located within or outside of the District and projects of ail
types wnd descriptions and facilities for the carrying out of the functions of the District and io
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issue ad valorem tax bonds to pay all or part of the cost of the acquisition, construction,
maintenznce and operation of any praject authorized by the Act,

B, The primary livelinood of the residents and taxpayers of the District Is
tourism 2nd the provision of inipravements to the roads and ather public ways of the District will
cnhance the District and benefit the residents and taxpayers thereof by promoting development
and having 2 positive impact on the general econemy of the District.

C. Implementation of the Transpertation Project will enhance the Districl and
bencfit Ihe residents and taxpayers thersof by providing & more extensive network of roads and
parking facilities, reducing the teaffic ¢ongestion on existing roads arising from new
developinent and population growth .

D 1t is necessary, desivable, and in the best interest of tive District that 2013A
Bonds be issued in the aggregate amount of not exceeding $360,000,000 to finance the
‘Transportation Project;

E. The issuance of the 2013A Bonds to finance the Transportation Project
was gpproved by a majority vote of the quatified electors of the District at an election duly called
pursuant ta the Election Resclutions and held for that purpose on June 4, 2013, the results of
which were certificd ta the Board by the inspectors and clerk of the slection designated pursuant
i0 the Election Resolutions on June 26, 2013.

F. The 2013A Bonds wilt not be issued until all conditions relating 1o the
issuance of Additional Bonds under the Bond Resolution have been met, including, but not
limited 1o, (i) the Maximum Bond Service Requirement on all Bonds issued under the Bond
Resclution and then Quisianding and the 2013A Bonds shall not exceed eight-five percent (85%)
of the estimated annual cellections from Ad Valorem Taxes calculated as provided in the Bond
Resolution, and (ii) the principal amount of 2613A Bonds together with all other Bonds then
outstanding will not exceed in the aggregate fifly percent (50%) of ihe assessed value of the
taxable propercy within the Disteicl, and when issued, the 2013A Bonds will be payable on a
parity with the District's Outstanding Series 2005B Bonds, Series 2010A Bonds and the Series
2011A Bonds and if issued, the Series 20138 Bonds, and with any other additianal parity bonds
hereafter issued under the terms of the Bond Resolutien.

G. The Dristriet will issue the 2013A Bonds with the intent thal the interest
therean will be excludable from the gross income of the Holders thersof for federal income tax
purposes.

H. It is hereby found, determined and dectared that a negotiated sale of the
204134 Bonds, alone or together with the Series 20138 Bonds, is in the best interest of the
Districl and 35 foungd to be necessary on the basis of the foltowing reasons, as to which specific
findings are hereby made:

(i Due to the volatility of the municipal markel, inchiding the market
for tax exempt sceurilies such as the 2013A Bonds, the Disteict must be able to
enter the market at the most advaniageous time, rather than at a specific



advertised date, thereby permilting the District (o obtain the best possible price
and interest rate with respect to the Z013A Bonds,

(i) ~ The Underwriters have participated in structuring the issuance of
the 2013A Bonds and can assist the [Hstrict In altempting to obfain the mest
attractive financing for the District.

L. it is hereby ascertained, determined and declared that it is in the best
interest of the District to authorize the President, the Secretary, the D¥istrict Administrator, the
Deputy District Adminisirator or the District Comptroller to accept an offer of the Underwiiters
to purchase the 2013A Bonds, alone or together wilh the Series 20138 Bonds, at a privale
negotiated sale upon the terms and conditions s&t forth hersin and in the reiated Purchase
Contract or as determined by the President, the Secratary, the District Administrator, the Deputy
District Admiinisteator or the District Comptroller in accordance with the lerms hereof.

18 The Underwriters will provide ta the District prior to the execution of the
Purchase Contract a disclosure statement regarding the 2013A Bonds, containing the information
required by Scction 21 8.385(6), Floride Statules.

K. The 2013A Bonds shall only be issued at 2 yate of interest not exceeding
the maximum iateresi rate established pursuant to the terms of section 21584, Florida Statutes.

SECTION 4. Hesolution to Constitute 3 Cantract. In consideralion of the acceplance
of the 2013A Bonds autherized 1o be issued hereunder by thiose who shall hold the same frem
time te time, this Resolution, together with the Bond Reselution, shall be deemed 19 be and shall
constilute a contract between the District and the holders of the 2013A Bonds. The covenants
and agreamems herein set forth 1o be performed by the District shall be #r the equal benefir,
protection and security of the Bondholders, and the 2013A Bonds shall be of equal rank and
without preference, priority of or distinction over any other thereaf, except as expressly provided
herein.

SECTION 5. Authorization of Series 2013A Project. There is hereby aulhorized the
Trangpertation Froject as the Series 2013A Projecr pursuant to the respective reports, plans,
specifications and designs on file, or to be oc file, with the Beard, as the same may be
supplemented and amended, and subject to such maslifications thereofl and varistions therefrom
which, from time to time, may be determined by the Board to be necessary or to be in the best
interasts ol the District.

SECTION 6. Authorization of 2033A Bouds. Subject and pursuant to the provisions
of this Resolution and any subsequent resolvtions adopted by the Board in conoeclion with the
20134 Bonds and priot to the issuance thereof, the 2013A Bonds of the District to be known as
"Reedy Creek Improvement District, Ad Valorem Tax Bonds, Series 2013A" are hereby
authorized to be issued in an agpregate principal amounl net exceeding $360,000,006 to finance
the Transportation Project and to pay a portion of the costs of issuance of the Series 2013A
Bonds, wilh the exact principal amount to be determined in accordance with the terms hereof,

In the event that less than the maxinium principal amount of Series 2013A Bonds shall be
issued at onc time, the remalning authorized principal amount may be issued in one or more
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additional series, to be designated by year and letter as determined by the Dstrict Administrator
or Deputy District Administrator, and geverned by this Resolution to the extent applicable.

SECTION 7. Delegation of Awthority: Terms and Form of 2013A Bands

A, The President, the Secretary, the District Administrator, the Deputy
District Administrator and the Disirict Comptroller are each hereby sutharized and directed to
award the sale of the 2013A Bonds to the Underwriters and to approve the terms thereof,
including, without limitatien, the principal amounts thereof, the serics designations thereof, the
date or dates thereof. the interest rates with respect thereto, the purchase prices thereof and the
redemption terms with respect therelo, provided, hewever, that in no event shall (i} the principal
amount of the 2613A Bonds exceed $360,000,009, (i1} the purchase price of the 2013A Bonds be
less than 98% of the face amount thereof exclusive of ariginal issue discount {the “Minimum
Purchase Price™), (lii) the irue interest cost rate (the *“TIC™} For the 2013A Bonds ¢xceed 5.25%
per annum {the “Maximwm TIC"), or (iv) the interest rates exceed the maximum rates permitted
by applicable law.

B. The 2013A Bonds shall bear interest from their date(s) of issuance,
peyable semiannually on the first day of June and the first day of December of cach ygar,
commencing on the date provided in the Purchase Contract and approved by the President, the
Scorelary, the District Administrator, the Deputy District Administrator or the District
Complrolles, at the rates, and shall mature in accordance with the schedules, set forth or
incorporated by reference in the Purchass Contract and the Final Official Slatement and
approved by the President, the Secretary, the District Administrator, the Deputy District
Administrator or the Ehistrict Comptroller, such approval fo be conclusively evidenced by their
execution of the Purchase Contracts. The principal of the 2013 A Bonds shal! be payable cither
in annual or semiannual instaliments, as shall be set forth in the Purchase Contracts and approved
by the President. the Secretary, the District Administrater, the Deputy THstrict Administrator or
the District Comptreller, the execution ther¢of to be conclusive evidence of such approval.

The 2013A Bonds shall be issued as fully registered bonds in the denomination of
$5,000 ($5,000 valug at maturity with sespect to zerg coupon or Capital Appreciation Bands)
each or any integral multiple thereof and may be issued as cugrent interest bonds, zero coupon
bonds or capital appreciation bonds. In all cases, interest on the 2013A Bonds shall be computed
on the basis of & 360-day year consisting of twelve {12) thiry (30) day months.

S0 long as there shall be maintainzd a book-entry-only system with respect to the
2013A Bonds, the following provisions shall apply:

The 2013A Bonds shalt initially be issued in the name of Cede & Co. as nominee
for The Depasitery Trust Company (“D1TC"), which will act initially as securities depository for
the 2013A Bonds 2nd 50 long as the 2013A Bonds are held in book-entry~onty form, Cede & Co,
shall be considerad the registered ewner for all purposes hiereof. On criginal issue, the 20134
Bonds shall be deposited with DTC, which shall be responsible for inaintainivg a book-entry-
only system for recording the ownership inferest of its participants (*DTC Participants™) and
other institutions that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with DTC Participants,
either directly or indizectly (“Indireet Parliclpants™. The DTC Participents end Indirect



Participants will be respenaible for maintaining records with respect 2o the beneficial ownership
interests of individual purchasers of the 2013A Bonds {"Beneficial Owners™).

The prineipal of and interest o the 2013A Bonds at maturity shall be payable
direcily to Cede & Ca, in care of DTC. Disbursal of such amounts to DTC Participants shall be
the responsibility of DTC. Payments by DTC Participants to Indirect Participants, and by DTC
Participants and Indirect Participants 10 Beneficial Gwners shail be the responsibility of DTC
Participants and Indirect Pacticipants and nol of DYC, the Paying Agent, or the Issucr.

The 20134 Bonds shall initialty be issued in the form of one fully registered
2013A Bood for each maturity and shail be held in such form untif matority, Individuals may
purchase beueficial interests in denominations of $5,000 or integral multiples thereof, in book-
entry only form, without certificated 2013A Bonds, through DTC Parficipants and Indirect
Participants.

DURING THE PERIOD FOR WHICHE CEDE & CO. 1S REGISTERED OWNER
OF THE 20i3A BONDS, ANY NOTICE TO BE PRCVIDED TO ANY REGISTERED
OWNER WILL BE PROVIDED TO CEDE & CO. DTC SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR
WOTICE TO DTC PARTICIPANTS AND DTC PARTICIPANTS SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE
FOR NOTICE TQ INDIRECT PARTICIPANTS, AND DTC PARTICIPANTS AND
INDIRECT PARTICIPANTS SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR NOTICE TQ INDIVIDUAL
PURCHASERS OF BENEFICIAL INTERESTS.

The District has entered into a blanket letter of representations with ITC
providing for such book-entry-ouly system. Such agreement may be terminated 81 any time by
cither DTC or the District. In the event of such termination, the District shall seleet ancther
securities depository, 1fthe Disteict does not replate DTC, the Registrar will register and deliver
to the Beneficlal Qwners replacement 2013A Bonds tn the form of fully registered 2013A Bonds
of the same series and maturirty, in denominations of $5,600 or integral multiples therecf, in
accordance with instructions from Cede & Co.

SECTION 8. Redemption Provisions. The 2013A Bonds shall be subject to such
optional and mandatory redemplion provisions, if any, as are provided in the Purchase Contract,
and appioved by the President, the Secretary, the District Adiinistretor, the Depuly District
Administrator or the District Comptroller, the execution thereof to be conclusive evidence of
such approval. In the case of an optional redemption of the 2013A Bonds, in no gvent shall the
redemption price for the 2013A Bonds exceed one hundred one percent (101%) of the principal
amount or acereted value of the 201JA Bonds to be redecmed nor shall the first oplional
redemption date of the 2013A Bonds be later than Tune 1. 2024,

SECTION 9. Notice of Redemptign. In addition to the requirements of Section 12D of
the Bond Resolution, each notice of redemption, if any, with respect to the 20134 Bonds shal!
meel the requirements set forth in (i), (i). (i), (iv) and (v) below; provided however that,
siotwithstanding any other provision of this Resolution or of the Bond Resolution to the contrary,
failuee of such notice or payment to comply with the terms of this Section 9 shall not in any
manner defeat the effeativeness of a redemption iF natice thereof is given as otherwise prescribed
in Section 12B of the Bond Resolution.
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i Bach netice of redemption shall set forth the name
and address of the Paying Agent, n contact person with the Paying
Agent and his or her telephene number and the CUSIP numbers, if
any, of the 2013A Bonds called for redemption, the date of
publication of the notice, the redemption price, the date of the
issue, the inlerest rate and the stated maturity date with respect lo
the 2013A Bonds to be redeemed; and with respect 10 owners of
$1,000,000 or more in principal amount te be redeemed, such
notice shatl be sent by certified mail, retum receipt requested.

(i) In addition to the foregoing, further notice of any
redemption hereunder shall be given Dby the Registrar
simultangounsly with mailed notice 1o Holders, for any redemption
other than by sinking fund installment, to the Municipa! Securities
Rulemaking Beard.  Such {urther notice shall contain the
information required in 9(i) above. Failure to give all or any
pertion of such further notice shall not in any manner defeat the
effecliveness ol a call for redemption.

(1ii)  Bach notice of redemption shall be published once
in THE BOND BUYER, New York, New York or, if THE BOND
BUYER is no Ionger published in some other financial newspaper
or journal which regularly carries notices of redempticn of other
obtigations similar to the 2013A Bonds, such publicstion to be
made at least thirty (30) days prior o the date fixed for
redemption.

{iv})  Upon the payment of the redemption price of the
2013A Bonds being redeemed, each check or other transfer of
funds issued for such purpose shall bear or be accompanied by an
advice showing the CUSIP number idemiifying, by issue, the
2013A Bonds being redeemed with the proceeds of such check or
other transter.

(v) A second nolice of redemption shail be mailed in
the manner provided above Lo any registered owner who has not
tendered 2013 A Bonds that have been calied for redemption within
sixty (60) days after the applicable redemption date,

SECTION 10, Funds and Accounts

A Establishment of and Paymenis from the Series 2013A_ Projest
Censtruction_ Account.  There is hereby established and created an acecount within the

Construction Fund created pursuant 1o the Bond Resclution to be designated the “Reedy Creek
Improvement District Ad Valorem Tax Bonds, Series 2013A Froject Construction Account™
{hertinaficr referred to as the “Construction Account”™) tnto which shall be deposited the amount
provided in Section 12 below from which Costs of the Series 2013A Project and capitalized
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imterest may be pafd as set forth herein. Costs of issuance of the 2013A Bonds shall be paid from
the Construction Account. The amounts in the Conslruction Account until applied as hereinafier
provided, shall be held for the scourity of the 2013A Bonds vutstanding. [n addition to payment
of Caosts, funds may be disbursed from the Construction Account to pay any Rebatec Amounis
due in accordance with the Bond Resolution and this Resolution with respect to the 2013A
Bonds.

The District shall make payments from the Construction Account te pay
Costs of the Series 2613A Project only after making the follewing determinations:

[63] that the work to which the payment relates has been
accomplished in a manner satisfactory to the District, and that the
amount to be paid does not exceed the obligation on account of
which the payment is made {the District’s determinations shall be
based upen certificales satisfactory to it provided by a consulling
engineer or engineers or conslruction manager or managers):

(liy  thal the obligation was propesly incurred and is a
proper charge againgt the Copstruction Acceunt and that the
amount requisitioned is due and unpaid;

(iii}  that with raspect to such items, there are no
vendors' liens, mechanics™ liens, or other liens, bailment leases or
conditional sale contracts which must be satisfied or discharged
before the payments as requisitioned therein are made, or which
will not be discharged by such payment; and

(iv)  in the case of & transfer of funds in the Construction
Accaunt to pay any Rebate Antount or in the case of a transfer of
funds in the Construction Account §o pay any capitalized interesl,
that such fransfer is necessary and in accordance with the
provisions and requirements of the Resolution.

Ary balance remaining in the Constryction Account after the completicn date of
the Series Z013A Project, and after the District has sel aside amounts for payment of items
included in the Cost of the Series 2013A Project but not then due and payable, shall be set aside
and segrepated from all other moneys of the District and applicd at the discretion of the District
as fhliows:

(i} te redeems or purchase 2013A Bonds or a portion
thereof, in the case of redemption, ot the earliest redemplion date
permitted on which a premium or penalty for redemption is hot
required; or

(i1 for any other legal purpose for which such funds
may be used by the District, provided that the District obtains an
apinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that such use is authorized
under the Act, the Election Resolutions or any other subsequent
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election resolutions, the Bond Resolution and this Resolution and
such use will not adversely affect the exclusion from federal
income tax of interest on the 2013A Bonds.

Until used as provided in subsections (i} or (ii} above, such segregated amount
may be invested ns permitted by the Bond Resalution but may not be invested to produce a yield
on sach amount greater than the yield on the 20134 Bonds {without an opinion of Bend Counsel
to the effect that such investment will not adversely affect the exclusion from gross income for
federal incoms tax purposes of intesest on the 2013A Bonds), all in accordance with Section 148
of the Code. Any investment eernings shall be retained in the Construction Account and applicd
ag provided herein; provided, however, that the District may, Lo the extent that it delermines that
adequate funds remain on deposit in the Construction Account to pay the Cest of the Series
2013A Project and if it receives an opinjon of Bond Counsel that such application will not
adversely affect the exclusion from gross incore for federal income fax purposes of interest on
the 2013A Bonds of viclate the Acl, apply such eamings to pay operating costs of the Series
2013A Preject.

B. Establishmen of and Payments (tom the Series 20134 Rebate Accounts.
There are hereby established and created a frust account withii the Rebate Fund created pursuant
to the Bond Resoluticn to be designated “Reedy Creek Improvement District Ad Valerem Tax
Bonds, Series 2013A Rebate Accouni” (hereinafter referred to 25 the “Series 2013A Rebale
Account™), into which ameunts shall b deposited as set forth below. 1f the 20134 Bonds and
the Series 2013B Bonds are trealed as one issue for the tax purposes, then the trust aceounts for
the 2013A Bonds and Series 20138 Bends may be combined into one account within the Rebate
Fund to be designated “Reedy Creek Improvement District Ad Valorem Tax Bonds, Series 2013
Rebate Account” (hereinafter referred to as the “Serics 2013 Rebale Account”), and ([) all
references in this Subsection B to the separate Series 2013A Rebate Account shall be deemed to
refer to the Serigs 2013 Rebate Account and (i) all references in the succeeding paragraphs to
the 2013A Bonds shall be deemed to refer also to the Series 2013B Bands, if any.

The District covenants and agrees that it shall maintain and retain ail
records pertaining to and shall be responsible for making or having made all determinations and
calculations of the Rebate Amount for each Serics of Bonds for each Rebate Year within twenty-
five (25) days afler the end of such Rcbate Year and within twenty-five (25} days after the final
maturity of the 2013A Bonds. On or before the expiration of each such pericd, the District shall
deposit into the Serics 2013A Rebate Account from any legally available funds of the District, an
amount equal to the Rebate Amouat with respect to the 2013A Bonds for such Rebate Yeer, The
District shall wse such moneys deposited in the Series 2013A Rebate Account only for the
payment of the Rebate Amount with respect to 2013A Bonds 1o the United States as reguired by
the Bond Resolution, which paynients shall be made in installments, commencing not mere than
thirty (30} days after the end of the fifth Rebate Year and with subsequent payments to be made
not later than five (5) years afier the preceding payment was due, except that the final payment
shall be made within sixty (60) days after the final maturity of the lasi obligation of the 2013A
Bonds. In complying with the foregoing, the District may rely upon any instructions or opinlons
from Bond Coumsel.



If any amount shail remain in the Series 2013A Rebate Account after
payment jn full of all 20134 Bonds issued hereunder and after payment in full of the Rebate
Amount with respect to the 2013A Bonds to the United States in accordanee with the terms
hereof, such amcunts shall be available to the District for any lawful purpose.

SECTION 11. Application of Proceeds of 2013A Bonds. The proceeds from the sale

of the 2013 A Bonds shall be applied by the District as follows:

(i) There shoil first be paid into the Sinking Fund,
established and administered by the District pursuant to the Bond
Resolution, an amwunt equal to the acerued interest, if any, on
2013A Bonds received by the Dislrict as part of the proceeds of the
sale of such 20134 Bonds, which amount shall be used on the first
infcrest payment date for the payment of interest dus on such
20134 Bonds; and

(i  Upon issuance of the 2013A Bonds there shall be
paid info the Construction Account an amount of 2013A Bond
proceeds set forth in a certificate of the President to be used to pay
Costs of the Series 2013A Project, an amount 1o be used to pay
costs of issuance of the 2013A Bonds and an amount to be used fo
pay capitalized interest on the 2013A Bonds for a period not to
exceed the estimated completion of the Series 2013A Projeet, plus
up 1o one year,

SECTION 12. Form of 20134 Bonds. The 2013A Bonds shall be in substantially the
form provided in Exhibit B hereto, subject to such changes, oniissions and insertions and such
filing of blanks as the officers execuling the same shall approve, such execution to be conclusive
evidence of such approvat.

SECTION 13, Approwsl of Pogchase Contract for 20134 Boods The form of the

Puyrchase Coniract presented hereto as Exhibit C, by the Underwriters is hereby approved,
subjeoct to such changes, Inscriions and omissions and such fitling of blanks thercin as may be
approved and made in such Purchase Contract by the President, the Secretory, the District
Adminisirator, the Depuly District Administrator or the District Comgptreller, in a manner
consistent with the provisions of Secticns 7 and & of this Resolutien, such execution to be
canclusive evidence of such approval. Upon receipt of a disclosure statement from the
Underwriters, the President, the Secretary, the District Administrator, the Deputy District
Administratar or the District Comptrolice are lercby anthorized to accept an offer of the
Underwriters to purchase the 2013A Bonds in an aggregate principal amount not exceeding
$360,000,000, at a TIC not to exceed the Maximum TIC, and at a purchase price of not less than
the Minimum Purchase Price, plus accrued interest thereon 1o the date of delivery, upon the
terms and conditions set forth in the Purchase Contract. The President, the Secretary, the District
Administrator, the Deputy District Administrator or the District Compirolier are hereby
authorized to execute and deliver the Purchase Contract for and on behalf of the District pursuant
to the terms hereof and of the Purchase Contract, In the event that the District issues the Series
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20138 Bonds, the bond purchass contract previously approved for the Series 2013B Bomds may
be combined with the Purchase Contract.

SECTION 14, Paving Agent, Rogistear and Authenticating Agent. The Board
hereby appoints U.S. Bank Wational Association as the initinl Paying Agent and Registrer in
connettlon with the 2013A Bends under the terms of the Paying Agent Agresment, and U.S,
Bank WNational Association, as Registrar. is herchy appointed to act as authenticating agent in
connection with the 2013A Bonds,

SECTION 15. Paying Apent Asreement The Board hereby approves the form and
content of the Paying Agent Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit D, The President, the
Secretary, the District Administrator, the Deputy District Administrator and the District
Comptreller are each hereby autherized to execute on behalf of the Board, the Paying Agent
Agreement substantially in the form attached hereto with such changes, omissions and insertions
as they, in their sole discretion, may approve, such execution to be conclusive evidence of such
approval,

SECTION 16, Qfficial Statement. The Board hereby approves the form and content
of the Preliminary Official Statement attached hereto as Exhibit E, and approves the use and
distribution of a Preliminary Official Statement substantially in the form of Exhibit E by the
Underwriters in connection with the marketing of the 2013A Bonds and the Series 20138 Bonds,
if any. The President is hereby authorized 10 execute, on behalf of the Board, a Final Official
Statement relating to the 2013A Bonds and the Series 20138 Bonds, if any, with such changss,
omissions and insertions from the form of Preliminary Qfficial Statement as the officer or
officers executing the seme may, in his or thelr sole discretion, approve, such execution te be
conclusive evidence of such approval. The use end distribution of the fine! Official Statement in
comection with the offering and sale of the 2083A Bonds and the Series 20138 Bonds, if any,
by the Underwriters is hereby authorized, The Disirict Comptroller is authorized to desm the
Preliminary Official Statement “final”, other then Permitted Omissions within the meaning of
Rule 15¢2-12 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, in the form as mailsd, and in
furtherance thereof to execute a certificate evidencing same substantially in the form attached
hereto as Exhibit F.

SECTION 17. Continuing Disclesure Compliance. The District hereby approves the
form and content of an agreement between the District and Digilal Assurance Certification,
L.L.C. (“"DAC"} for continuing secondary market disclosure in connection with the 2013A
Bonds and the Series 2013B Bands, if any (the “Disclosure Dissemination Agent Agresment™,
in the form attached hereto as Exhibit G, The President, jointly with the Secretary or District
Comptroller of the District, are authorized and directed to execute and deliver the Disclosure
Digsemination Agent Agreement substantielly in the form of Exhibit G with such changes,
insertions or deletions as the officer executing the same, in his sele discretfon, may approve, such
execution 1o constitute conclusive evidence of such approvat.



SECTION 18. Authorizations.

A, The President, the Secretary, the District Administrator, the Deputy
Bistrict Administrator and the District Comptroller are each hereby suthorized and directed fo
execute the Purchase Contract at the place provided therein and to approve such changes, in
accordance with the terms of this Resolution, to the Purchase Cowstract as they may deem
advisable, including without limitation, the combination of the Purchase Contract into one
Purchase Contract which includes the Series 2013B Bonds, if any. The signature of the
President, the Secretary, the District Administzator, the Deputy Distriet Adminisrrator of the
District Comptroller on a Purchase Contract shall be conclusive evidence of the acceptance of
the terms thereof. The President, the Secretary, the District Administeotor, the Deputy District
Administrator and the District Comptraller are each hereby authorized and directed to deliver the
Puschase Contract immediately following the execution thereol pursuant to the terms hereof lo
the Underwriters,

B. The President and the Sccretary or their duly authorized elternative
officers are hereby authorized and directed on behalf of the District to execute the 2013A Bonds
(including any temporary bond or bonds) as provided in the Bond Resotution and herein and any
of such officers is hercby authorized and directed upon the execution of the 2013A Bonds in
substandially the form and manner set forth herein, to deliver the 2013A Bonds in the amounts
authorized to be issued hereunder o the Registrar for authentication and delivesy to or upen the
order of the Underwriters pursuan! to the Purchase Contract upon payment of the puschase price
and upen compliance by such Underwriters with the terms of the Purchase Contract.

C. The President or Treasurer of and Secretary and Assistant Secretary te the
Board and the District Comptroller, and such other officers of the Board legally authorized 1o
take action in their absence, and such other officers, employees or agents of the Dislrict as may
be designated by the President, are cach designated as agents of the Board and the District in
connection with the issuance and defivery of the 2013A Bonds and are authorized and
empowered, collectively or individually, to take all action and steps and to execute all
instruments, decuments and contracts on bebalf of the Board and the District that are necessary
or desirable in connection with the execution and deijvery of the 2013A Bonds, and which are
specifically authorized or are not inconsistent with the ferms and provisions of this Resolution or
the Bond Resolution or any action refating to the 2013A Bonds heretofare taken by the Board.
Such officers and those so designated are hereby charged witlt the respensibility for the issuance
of the 2013A Bonds,

SECTION 1%, Amendment of Resuiution No. 546.

A Section 8 of Resolutlon Mo, 546, entitled “Redemption Provisions™ is
hereby amended to read as fallows: “the Refunding Bonds shall be subject 1o such optiona! and
mandatory redemplion provisions, if any, as are provided in the Purchase Contruct [or the related
series of Refunding Bonds, and approved by the President, the Seccretary, the District
Administralor, the Deputy District Administrator or the District Comptroller, the execution
thereol 10 be conclusive evidence of such approval. In the case of an aptional redemption of the
Refunding Bonds, in no event shall the redemplion price for the Refunding Bonds exceed ane
hundred one percent {101%) of the principal amount or accreted value of the Refunding Bonds to
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e redesmed nar shall the first optional redemption date of any series of the Refunding Bends be
later than ten(10) years from the date of issuance thereof.”

B. Section 13 of Resolution No. 546, entitled “Approval of 3 Purchase
Contract for each Series of Refunding Bonds™ is hereby smended to read as follows: The form
of a Purchase Contract for each series of Refunding Bonds, substantially in the form presented
hereto as Exhibit C, by the Underwriters is hereby approved, subject to such changes, insertions
and omissions and such fitling of blanks therein as may be approved and made in such related
Purchase Contraét by the President, the Secretary, the District Adminisirater, the Deputy District
Administrator or the District Comptroller, in a manner consistent with the provisions of Sections
7 and 8 of this Resolution, such execution to be conclusive evidence of such approval. Upon
receipt of 2 disclosure statement from the Underwriters, the President, the Secretary, the District
Administrator, the Deputy District Administrator or the District Comptroller are hereby
authorized to accept an offer of the Underwriters to purchase the Refunding Bonds in an
zggregate principal amount not exceeding $115,000,000, at 2 TIC not to exceed the Maximum
TIC, and &t a purchase price of not less than the Minimum Purchase Price, plus accrued interest
thereon to the date of delivery, upon the terms and conditions set forth in the related Purchase
Contract, and, 5o long as the present value of the lotal savings 10 acerue 1o the District upon
refunding the Refunded 2004A Bonds shall be not less than 5% of the aggregate principal
amount of the Refunded 2004A Bonds, upon refunding the Refunded 20648 Bonds shall be not
less than 5% of the aggeegate principal amount of the Refunded 20048 Bonds, upon refunding
the Refunded 2005A Bonds shall be not less than 5% of the aggregate principal amount of the
Refunded 2005A Bonds and upon refunding the Refunded 20058 Bonds shall be not less than
5% of the aggregate principal pmount of the Refunded 20058 Bonds. The President, the
Secretary, the Distiet Administrator, the Deputy District Administrator or the District
Comptroller are hereby authorized to execuate and deliver the related Purchase Conlract for and
on behalf of the District pursuant to the tesms hereaf and of the related Purchase Contract,

SECTION 19. Severability. If any one or more of the covenants, agreements or
provisions of this Resolution shall be held contrary to any express provisions of law or contracy
to the policy of express Taw, though not cxpressly prolibited, or against public policy, or shall
for any reason whatsoever be held invalid, then such covenants, agreements or provisions shall
be null end void and shall be deemed separatc from the remaining covenants, agreements or
pravisions of this Resolution or of the 2013A Bonds issued hereunder.

SECTION 20. No Third Party Beneliciaries. Bxcepl as herein otherwise expressly
provided, acthing in this Resolulion expressed or implied is intended or shall be construed to
confer upon any person, firm or corporation other than the owrners and holders of the 2013A
Bonds issued urder and secured by this Resolution, any right, remedy or claim, |egal or
equitable, under or by reason of this Reselution or any provision hercof, this Resolution and all
its provisions being intended to be and being for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Holders
trom lime to time of the 2013 A Bonds issued hereunder.

SECTION 21, Conmiralling Law: Members of Governing Bodv of Imuer Nat Lishlc,
All cavenants, stipulations, obligations and agreements of the District contained in this
Resolution shatl be deemed to be covenants, stipulations, obligations and agreements of the
District to the full extent authaorized by the Act and provided by the constitution and laws of the
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State of Florida. No covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement cantained herein shall be
degmed to be a covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement of any present or future member,
agent or employee of the Board or the District in bis iodividual capacity, and, to the extent
permitied by law, neither the members of the Board nor any official executing the 2013A Bonds
shall be liable personally on the 2013A Bonds or this Resclution or shall be subject to any
perscnel lighility or accountability by resson of the issuance or the execulion by the Board or
such members thereof.

SECTION 22. Repeal of Incousigtent Resolutions. All resolutions or portions thereof
previousty adopted by the Board, other than the Bond Resolution, which are inconsistent with the
provisions of this resolution are hereby repealed 10 the extent of such imconsistency. Resoistion
No. 546, except as modified hereby, is hereby ratified and affirmed.

SECTION 23. Open Meetings. It is hereby found and determined that all formal
sctions of the Board canceming and releting to the adoption of this Resolution and the
consmmation of the transactions contemplated by this Resolution were edopted in open
meetings of the Board, and that al! deliberations of the Board that resulted in such formal action
were in meetings opes to the public, in compliance with ali legel requirements.

SECTION 24. Eifective Date. This Resolution shall become effective immediately
upon its adoption.
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This Resolution is hereby approved and adepled by the Board of Supervisors of
the Reedy Creek Insprovement District, thiz 24" day of July, 2013.

(SEAL) REEDY CREEK IMPROVEMENT
DISTRICT

Viea 2042 - /7
= Prasident, Board of Suptrvisors
ATTEST

LS e,

SEeretary, Board of Supervisons
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RESOLUTION NO. 670

A RESOLUTION OF CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT
DISTRICT SUPPFLEMENTING RESOLUTION NO. 245 ADOPTED ON
NOVEMBER 15, 1991, AS AMENDED BY RESOLUTION NO. 313
ADOPTED ON APRIL 21, 1995, AS FURTHER AMENDED BY
RESOLUTION NO. 551 ADOPTED ON JULY 24, 2013; AUTHORIZING
THE ISSUANCE OF CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT
DISTRICT AD VALOREM TAX BONDS IN ONE OR MORE SERIES (THE
“SERIES 2024A BONDS™) IN AN AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT
NOT EXCEEDING §99,300,000 TO FINANCE THE REMAINING
PORTION OF THE COSTS OF THE DISTRICT-WIDE
TRANSFORTATION PROJECT AND THE ADDITIONAL BUENA VISTA
DRIVE CORRIDOR IMPROYEMENTS PROJECT; AUTHORIZING THE
CHAIR, THE VICE CHAIR, THE DISTRICT ADMINISTRATOR, A
DEFUTY DISTRICT ADMINISTRATOR OR THE CHIEF FINANCIAL
OFFICER (THE “DISTRICT OFFICIALS”) TO AWARD THE SALE OF
THE SERIES 20(24A BONDS ON A NEGOTIATED BASIS; APPROVING
THE FORM AND CONTENT OF AND AUTHORIZING THE
DISTRIBUTION OF A PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT AND
THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A FINAL OFFICIAL
STATEMENT WITH RESPECT TO THE SERIES 2024A BONDS;
APPROVING THE FORM OF AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION
AND DELIVERY OF A CONTRACT OF PURCHASE WITH RESPECT TO
THE SERIES 2024A BONDS; APPOINTING A REGISTRAR, PAYING
AGENT AND AUTHENTICATING AGENT AND A DISCLOSURE
DISSEMINATION AGENT WITH RESPECT TO THE SERIES 2024A
BONDS; APPROVING THE FORMS AND CONTENT OF AND
AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A REGISTRAR
AND  PAYING AGENT AGREEMENT AND A DISCLOSURE
DISSEMINATION AGENT AGREEMENT RELATING TO THE SERIES
2024A BONDS; DELEGATING TO THE DISTRICT OFFICIALS THE
DETERMINATION OF CERTAIN MATTERS AND DETAILS
CONCERNING SUCH SERIES 2024A BONDS; MAKING CERTAIN
FINDINGS, REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS WITH RESPECT
THERETO; PROVIDING CERTAIN OTHER DETAILS WITH RESPECT
THERETO; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (the “Board™) of the Central Florida Tourism
Oversight District (successor to the Reedy Creek Improvement District pursuant to the provisions
of Chapter 2023-5, Laws of Florida) (the “District™) previously adopted a Resolution on April 4,
1972 (the “1972 Resolution™ authorizing the issuance of certain ad valorem tax bonds and
additional bonds thereunder on a parity therewith; and
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WHEREAS, on November 15, 1991, the District adopted Resolution No. 245 (the *“1591
Resolution™) providing for the amendment and restatement of the 1972 Resclution as provided
therein, and on April 21, 1995 the District adopted Resolution No. 313 (the *1995 Resolution’™),
inter alia, amending the 1991 Resolution; and

WHEREAS, on July 24, 2013, ihe District adopted Resolution No. 551 (the “2013A
Resolution™) supplementing and amending the 1991 Resolution, as amended, to authorize the
issuance of the District’s Ad Valorem Tax Bonds, Series 2013A and to amend certain provisions
of a prior refunding Resolution No. 346 adopted on February 27, 2013 (the “2013B Resolution™)
regarding compliance with certain refunding parameters (the 1991 Resclution, as supplemented
and amended, including, as supplemented and amended by the 1995 Resolution, the 2013A
Resolution and the 20(3B Resolution, is hereinafter referred to as the “Bond Resolution™); and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Reselution No. 548 adopted by the District on April 24, 2013,
the District authorized the holding of a referendum related, among other items, #o the issuance of
ad valorem tax bonds, notes or other obligations (“Bonds™) pursuant to the Bond Resolution in an
aggregate amount not to exceed $360,000,000 w provide financing for the design, construction,
equipping and improvement of roadways and parking facilities within or outside the District
benelitting primarily the Buena Vista Drive Cerridor particularly deseribed in Exhibit A hercto
(the “Buena Vista Drive Corridor Improvements Project™); and

WHEREAS, the issuance of ad valorem tax bonds, notes or other obligations in an
agpregate principal amount not to exceed $360,000,000 to finance the Buena Vista Drive Corridor
Improvements Project was approved at an election of the gualified voters of the District held on
June 4, 2013, which result was certified by the Board pursuant to Reselution No. 550 adopted by
the District on June 26, 2013; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Resclution No. 570 adopted by the District on June 24, 2015, the
District authorized the holding of a referenduin related, among other items, to the issuance of
Bonds pursuant to the Bond Resolution in an aggregate amount not to exceed (a) $350,000,000 to
provide linancing for the design, construction, equipping and improvement of roadways and other
public transportalion improvements within or outside the District, primarily relating to World
Drive North, Center Drive, Western Way and Osceola Parkway, as more particularly described In
Exhibit A hereto (the “District-Widc Transportation Project™), and (b) $15,000,000 to provide
additional financing for the Buena Vista Drive Corridor Improvements Project described in
Exhibit A hereto; and

WHEREAS, thc issuance of ad valorem tax bonds, notes or other obligations in an
aggregate principal amount not to cxceed (a) $350,000,000 to finance the District-Wide
Transportation Project and (b} $15,000,000 to finance the additional Buena Vista Drive Corridor
Improvements Project was approved at an election of the qualified voters of the District held on
August 18, 2015, which result was certified by the Board pursuant to Resolution Mo. 572 adopted
by the District on August 26, 2015; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution No. 584 adopted by the District on October 26, 2016,
the District authorized the holding of a referendum related, among other items, to the issuance of
ad valorem tax bonds, notes or other obligations {“Bonds™) pursuant to the Bond Resolution in an



ageregate amount not to exceed $80,000,000 to provide tinancing for the costs of the design,
construction, equipping and improvement of roadways and other public transportation
improvements within or outside the District, benefitting primarily the Buena Vista Drive Corridor,
including primarily public parking facilities, a pedestrian bridge over Buena Vista Drive and
related improvements as more particolarly described in Exhibit A hereto (the “2017
Transportation Improvement Projects™); and

WHEREAS, the issuance of ad valorem tax bonds, notes or other obligations in an
aggregate principal amouni not to exceed $80,000,000 to finance the 2017 Transportation
Improvement Projects was approved at an election of the qualified voters of the District held on
December 6, 2016, which result was certified by the Board pursuant to Resolution No. 586 adopted
by the District on December 14, 2016; and

WHEREAS, on July 24, 2013, the District adopted Resolution No. 551 (the “2013A
Resolution™) supplementing the Bond Resolution to authorize the issuance of the District’s Ad
Valorem Tax Bonds, Series 2013A (the *2013A Bonds™) in an amount not to exceed $360,000,000
for the purpose of financing the costs cof the Buena Vista Drive Corridor Improvements Project;
and

WHEREAS, on September 5, 2013, the District issued the 2013A Bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of $344,960,000 for the Buena Vista Drive Corridor Improvements Project,
together with a series of Ad Valorem Tax Refunding Bonds, Scries 2013B (the “20138B Bonds™)
to refund a prior series of Ad Valorem Tax Bonds, Series 2004; and

WHEREAS, the 2013A Bonds and the 2013B Bonds are nc longer cutstanding; and

WHEREAS, on April 27, 2016, the District adopted Resclution Ne. 579 (the “2016A
Resolution™), supplementing the Bond Resolution to authorize the issuance of the District’s Ad
Valorem Tax Bonds, Series 201 6A (the “2016A Bonds™) in an amount not te exceed $350,000,000
for the purpose of financing the costs of the District-Wide Transportation Project, and in an amount
not to exceed $15,000,000 for the purpose of financing additional costs of the Buena Vista Drive
Corridor Improvements Project, as well as other projects; and

WHEREAS, on July 7, 2016, the District issued the 2016A Bonds in an aggregate
principat amount of $165,500,000, of which $148,950,000 was allocable to a portion of the
District-Wide Transportation Preject and $12,412,500 was allocable to additional costs of the
Buena Vista Drive Corridor Improvements Project; and

WHEREAS, on August 23, 2017, the District adopted Resolution No. 594 (the “2017A
Resolution™). supplementing the Bond Resolution to authorize the issuance of the District’s Ad
Valoremn Tax Bonds, Series 2017A (i) in an amount not to exceed $150,000,000 for the purposc
of financing the remaining costs of the District-Wide Transportation Project, and (i) in an amount
nct to exceed $80,000,000 for the purpose of financing the costs of the District’s 2017
Transportation [mprovement Projects; and

WHEREAS, on October 12, 2017, the District issucd the 2017A Bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of $199,375.000, of which $130,027,174 was allocabie to fund additional costs
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of the District-Wide Transportation Project and $69,347,826 was allocable to the costs of the 2017
Transportation Improvement Projects; and

WHEREAS, on December 18, 2019, the District adopted Resolution No. 612,
supplementing the Bond Resolution to authorize the issuance of the District’s Ad Valorem Tax
Refunding Bonds, Series 2020A (Taxable) (the “2020A Bonds”™) lor the purpose of refunding
portions of the 2013A Bonds and the 203B Bonds; and

WHEREAS, on February 27, 2020, the Distriet issued the 2020A Bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of $338,025,000; and

WHEREAS, as a result of the previously approved referenda and issuances described
above, the District has a rematning ad valorem tax bond issuance capacity of $99,300,000 relating
to the District-Wide Transportatioo Project, the Buena Vista Drive Corridor Improvements Project
and the 2017 Transportation linprovement Projects; and

WHEREAS, the Board now desires to issue Ad Valorem Tax Bonds, Series 20244 (the
“Serics 2024 A Bonds™) pursuant to the Bond Resolution and this Resolution, payable on a parity
with Bonds outstanding under the Bond Resclution, in an aggregate principal amount not
exceeding $99,300,000 to provide financing for additional improvements within the scope of the
District-Wide Transperiation Project, the Buena Vista Drive Corridor Improvements Project and
the 2017 Transportation Improvement Projects (collectively referred to Lerein as the “Series
2024A Project™); and

WHEREAS, the Board wishes to approve the form of and autherize the execution, subject
to the conditions hereinafter set forth, of a Contract of Purchase substantially in the form of Exhibit
C (the “Purchase Contract™), with the underwriters named therein {the “Underwriters™), with
respect to the Scries 2024 A Bonds; and

WHEREAS, the Board wishes to approve the form of and authorize the execution of a
Registrar and Paying Agent Agrecment, in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit D (the
“Paying Agent Agreemnent”) and to appoint U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association to
act as the registrar and paying agent thereunder and as authenticating agent for the Series 2024A
Bonds; and

WHEREAS, the Board desires to approve the form and content of the Preliminary Official
Statement (“Preliminary Official Statement™) relating to the Series 2024A Bonds attached hereto
as Exhibit I, to deem the same “final™ for purposes of Rule 15¢2-12 of the Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “Rule™) in the form attached hereto as Exhibit E, and to authorize the
execulion and delivery of the final Official Statement relating to the Series 2024A Bonds (the
“Official Statement™) with such changes from the Preliminary Official Statement as shall be
approved by the Chair, the Vice Chair, the District Administrator, a Deputy District Administrator
or the Chief Financial Officer; and

WHEREAS, the Board wishes to approve the form and content of and authorize the
cxecution and delivery by the District of a Disclosure Dissemination Agent Agreement with
Digital Assurance Certification, LLC in connection with the Series 2024A Bonds, the proposed
form of which is attached hereto as Exhibit G; and



WHEREAS, because of the current volatile conditions existing in the market for securities
similar to the Series 2024 A Bonds, the Board finds it appropriate to delegate to the Chair, the Vice
Chair, the District Administrator, a Deputy District Administrator or the Chief Financial Officer,
the authority to accept an offer from the Underwriters to purchase the Series 2024A Bonds
pursuant to the terms of the Purchase Contract, if certain conditions set forth in this Resolution are
met; and

WHEREAS, the Board desires to take certain other actions with respect to, and to make
other authorizations related to, the issuance of the Series 2024A Bonds.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLYED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF
THE CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT:

SECTION 1. Authority, This Resolution is adopted pursuant to Chapter 2023-5, Laws
of Fiorida, and other applicable provisions of law (collectively, the “Act”™) and the Bond
Resolution.

SECTION 2. Deflinitions. All terms used herein in capitalized form, unless otherwise
defined herein, shall have the same meanings as are ascribed to such terms in the Bond Resolution.
All terms defined in the preamble hereto shall have the meanings ascribed therein. As used herein,
the following terms shall have the meanings sct forth below:

“Chair” means, if appointed or designated, the Chair of the Board.
“Chief Financial Officet™ means the Chief Financial Officer of the District.
“Closing Date™ means the date of issuance cf the Series 2024A Bonds.

*Codc” mcans the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or any coiresponding
provision of any future laws of the United States of America relating to federal income taxation,
and except as otherwise provided herein or required by the context hereol, including interpretations
thereof contained or set forth in the applicable regulations of the Depariment of the Treasury
(ineluding applicabie final reguiations and temporary regulations), the applicable rulings of the
Internal Revenue Service (including published revenue rulings and private letter rulings) and
applicable court decisions.

“Costs” means the cost of acquisition, construction, improving or equipping and all other
itemns of cost incident to the acquisition, construction, improving and equipping, and the financing
or refinancing of the Series 2024 A Project, whether or not previously paid from the preceeds of
the Note, including, without limitation, the following:

] obligations incurred for labor and materials and (o
contractors, builders and materialmen in connection with such construction,
for machinery and equipment, and for the restoration or relocation of
property damaged or destroyed in connection with such construction;

(iiy  the cost of acquiring by purchase, if such purchase shall be
deemed expedient, and the amount of any award or final judgment in or any
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settlement or compromisc of any proceeding to acquire by condemnation,
such property, tands, rights, rights of way, franchises, easements and other
interests in land constituting a part of, or as may be deemed necessary or
convenient for the acquisition or construction of the Series 2024A Project,
options and partial payments thcreon, the cest of filling, draining or
improving any lands so acquired, and the amount of any damages incident
1o or consequent upon the acquisition or construction of the Series 2024A
Project;

(iii)  the fees and expenses of the Registrar and Paying Agent
under the Paving Agent Agreement, including legal expenses and fees
{including appellate fces), fees and expenses of consultants and financial
advisors, cscrow agents, verification agents, legal and accounting fees and
expenses, financing charges, interest on the Serics 2024A Bonds during
construction of the Series 2024A Project and for a reasonable period
thereafter, costs of preparing and issuing the Series 2024A Bonds not
previously paid or reimbursed to the District, including but not limited to,
consultant fees and expenses, costs of printing the final Official Statement
and the Series 2024A Bonds and any other costs incurred by the District
with respect to the issuance of the Series 2024A Bonds, costs of bond
insurance, if any, taxes or other municipal or governmental charges lawfully
levied or assessed upon the Series 2024A Project during construction, or
any property acquired therefor, and premiums of insurance (if any) in
connection with the Series 2024 A Project during construction:

{iv)  fees and expenses of engineers for making studies, surveys
and estimates of costs and of revenues and for preparing plans and
supervising comstruction, as well as for the performance of all other duties
of engineers set forth herein in relation to the construction of the Series
2024A Project or the issuance of the Series 2024 A Bonds therefor;

(v}  expenses of administration properly chargeable to the Series
2024 A Project, and all other items of expense not elsewhere in this Section
specified, incident to the acquisition or construction and equipping of the
Series 2024 A Project and the placing of the same in operation, including, to
the extent authorized by applicable law. certain operating expenses, and to
the acquisition of real estate, franchises and rights of way therefor, including
abstracts of titlc and title insurance; and

(vi} any amounts heretofore or hereafter advanced by the District
tor any of the foregeing purposes.

“Deputy District Adininistrator” means a Deputy Distriet Administrator of the District.

“Clection Resolutions™ means, collectively (i) Resolution No. 548 adopted by the Board
on April 24, 2013, with respect to the Buena Vista Corridor Improvements Project, (ii) Resolution
Na. 570 adapted by the Board on June 24, 20H 5 with respect to the District-Wide Transportation



Project and the Buena Vista Corridor Improvements Project and (iii) Resolution No. 584 adopted
by the Board on October 26, 2016 with respect to the 2017 Transportation Improvement Projects.

“Paying Agent” means U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, appointed
hereunder to serve as Paying Agent and Registrar under the Paying Agent Apgrcement, its
SUCCESSOrs OF Assigns.

“Rebate Year” means, with respect to the Scries 2024A Bonds issued hereunder, the
twelve-month period commencing on the anniversary of the Closing Date in each year and ending
on the day prior te the anniversary of such Closing Date in the following year, except that the first
Rebate Year with respect to the Series 2024 A Bends shall commence on the Closing Date and the
final Rebate Year shall end on the date of [inal maturity of the Series 2024A Bonds; or such other
period as regulations promulgated by the United States Depastment of Treasury may prescribe.

“Secretary” means the Executive Director or her designee, or any other person designated
by the Board to perform the dutics of a corperate sceretary under Florida law.

“Series 2024A Project” means addilional improvements within the scope of the District-
Wide Transportation Project, the Buena Vista Drive Corridor Improvements Project and the 2017
Transportation Improvement Projects to be financed from the proceeds of the Serics 2024A Bonds.

“Vice Chair” means the Vice Chair of the Board.

“2015A Bonds” means the $50,925,000 aggregate principal amount Reedy Creek
Improvement District Ad Valorem Tax Refunding Bonds, Series 2015A, of which $7,225,000
remains Outstanding.

“2016A Bonds” means the $165,500,000 aggregate principal amount Reedy Creek
Improvement District Ad Valorem Tax Bonds, Series 2016A, of which $150,270,000 remains
QOutstanding.

“2017A Bonds™ means the $199,375,000 aggregate principal amount Reedy Creek
Improvemnent District Ad Valorem Tax Bends, Series 2017A, of which $158310,000 remains
Outstanding.

“2020A Bonds” means the $338,025,000 aggregate principal amount Reedy Creck
Improvement District Ad Valorem Tax Refunding Bonds, Series 2020A (Taxable), of which
$300,655,000 remains Outstanding.

SECTION 3. Findings.

A. The District is authorized by the Act to own, acquire, construct, cquip,
operate, improve and maintain roads located within or outside of the District and projects of al}
types and descriptions and facilities for the carrying out of the functions of the District and to issue
ad valorem tax bonds to pay all or part of the cost of the acquisition, construction, maintenance
and cperation of any preject authorized by the Act.
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B. The primary livelihood of the residents and taxpayers of the District is
tourigm and the provision of improvements to the roads and other public ways of the Thstrict will
enhance the District and benefit the residents and taxpayers thereof by promoting development
and having a positive itnpact on the general economy of the Diistrict.

C. Implementation of the Series 2024A Project will enhance the District and
benefit the residents and taxpayers thereof by providing a more extensive network of roads, and
reducing the traffic congestion on existing roads arising from new development and population
growth.

D 1t is necessary, desirable, and in the best intcrest of the District that Bonds
be issued in the aggregate principal amount of not exceeding $99,300,000 to finance the Scries
2024 A Project.

E. The issuance of Bonds to finance the District-Wide Transportation Project
was approved by a majority vote of the qualified electors of the District at an election duly called
pursuant to the Eleciion Resolutions and held for that purpose on August 18, 2015, the results of
which were certified to the Board by the inspectors and clerk of the election designated pursuant
to the Election Resolutions cn August 26, 2015,

F. The issuance of Bonds to finance the Buena Vista Drive Corrider
Improvements Project was approved by a majority vote of the qualified electors of the District at
elections duly called pursuant to the Election Resolutions and held for that purpose on June 4,
2013 and August 18, 2015, the results of which were certified to the Board by the inspectors and
clerk of the election designated pursuant to the Election Resolutions on June 26, 2013 and August
26, 2015.

G. The issuance of Bonds to finance the 2017 Transportation Improvement
Projects was approved by a majority vote of the qualified electors of the District at an election duly
called pursuant to the Election Resolutions and held for that purpose on December 6, 2016, the
results of which were certified to the Board by the inspectors and clerk of the election designated
pursuant to the Election Resolutions on December 14, 2016,

H. The Series 2024A Bonds will not be issued until all conditions relating to
the issuance of Additional Bonds under the Bond Resolution have been inet, including, but not
limited to, {i) the Maximum Bond Service Requirement on ali Bonds issued under the Bond
Resolution and then Qutstanding and the Serics 20244 Bonds shall not exceed eighty-five percent
(85%) of the estimated annual collections from Ad Valoremn Taxes calculated as provided in the
Bond Resolution, and (ii} the principal amount of Series 2024A Bonds together with all other
Bonds then Qutstanding will not exceed in the aggregate fifty percent (50%) of the assessed value
of the taxable property within the District, and when issued, the Series 2024A Bonds wiil be
payable on a parity with the District’s Qutstanding Series 2015A Bonds, Series 2016A Bonds,
Series 2017A Bonds and Series 2020 A Bonds and with any other Bonds authorized hereunder and
any additional parity bonds hereafler issued under the terms of the Bond Resolution.



1. The District will issue the Series 2024A Bonds with the intent that the
interest thereon will be excludable from the gross income of the Holders thereof for federal income
tax purposes.

J. [t is hereby found, determined and declared that a negotiated sale of the
Series 2024A Bonds is in the best interest of the Distvict and is found to be necessary on the basis
of the following reasons, as to which specific findings are hereby made:

{i} Due to the volatility of the municipal market, including the market
for tax exempt securities such as the Series 2024A Bonds, the District must be able
to enter the market at the most advantageous time, rather than at a specific
advertised date, thereby permitting the District to obtain the best possible price and
interest rate with respect to the Series 2024 A Bonds.

(ii)  The Underwriters bave participated in structuring the issuance of the
Series 2024A Bonds and can assist the District in attempting to obtain the most
attractive financing for the District.

K. It is hereby ascertained, determined and declared that it is in the best interest
of the District to authorize the Chair, the Vice Chair, the District Administrator, a Deputy District
Administrator or the Chief Financial Officer to accept an offer of the Underwriters to purchase the
Series 2024A Bonds at a private negotiated sale upon the terms and conditions set forth herein and
in the related Purchase Contract or as determined by the Chair, the Viee Chair, the District
Administrator, a Deputy District Administrator or the Chiel Financial Officer in accordance with
the terms hereof.

L. The Underwriters will provide to the District prior to the execution of the
Purchase Contract a disclosure statement regarding the Series 2024A Bonds, containing the
information required by Section 218.385(6), Florida Statutes.

M. The Underwriters will assist the District in establishing the issue price ol
the Series 2024A Bonds and will execute and deliver to the District at closing an “issue price”
cerlificate in form satisfactory 1o the Underwriters, the District and the District’s bond counsel.

N. The Series 2024A Bonds shall only be issued at a rate of interest not
exceeding the maximum intercst rate established pursuant to the terms of scetion 215.84, Florida
Statutes.

SECTION 4. Resolution to Constitute a Contract. [n consideraticn of the acceptance
of the Series 2024A Bonds authorized to be issued hereunder by those who shall hold the same
from time to time, this Resolution, together with the Bond Resolution, shall be deemed to be and
shall constitute a contract between the District and the holders of the Serics 2024A Bonds. The
covenants and agrecments herein set forth to be performed by the District shall be for the equal
benefit, protection and security of the Bondholders, and the Series 2024A Bonds shall be of equal
rank and without preference, priority of or distinetion over any other thereof, except as expressly
provided herein.

SECTION 5. Authorization of Series 2024A Project. There is hereby authorized
additional improvements constituting the renaining costs of the District-Wide Transportation
Project and the Buena Vista Drive Corridor Improvements Project to be financed from the
proceeds ofthe Serics 2024A Bonds, as the Serics 2024A Project pursuant to the respective reporis,
plans, specifications and designs on file, or to be on file, with the Board, as the same may be
supplemented and amended, and subject to such modifications thereof and variations therefrom
which, from time to time, may be determined by the Board to be necessary or to be in the best
interests of the District. The Scrics 2024A Project is further described on Exhibit A.

SECTION 6. Authorization of Bonds. Subject and pursuant to the provisions of this
Resolution and any subsequent resolutions adopted by the Board in connection with Bonds and
prior to the issuance thereof, Bonds of the District to be known as “Central Florida Tourism
Qversight District, Ad Valorem Tax Bonds, Series 2024A™ are hereby authorized to be issued in
an aggregate principal amount not exceeding $99,300,000, (i) to finance the cost of the Series
2024A Project, (ii) to pay capitalized interest on the Series 2024A Bonds, if deemed appropriate
and (iii) to pay costs of issuance of the Series 2024 A Bonds, with the exact principal amount 1o be
determined in accordance with the terms hereof.

In the event that iess than the maximum principal amount of Series 2024A Bonds
authorized hereunder shall be issued initially as Series 2024A Bonds, the remaining authorized
principal amount may be issued in one or more additional series of Bonds, to be designated by
year and letter as determined by the Chair, the Vice Chair or District Administrator, and governed
by this Resolution fo the extent applicable.

SECTION 7. Delepation of Authority: Terms and Form of Series 2024 A Donds.

Al The Chair, the Vice Chair, the District Adminisirator, a Deputy District
Administrator or the Chief Financial Officer are each hereby authorized and directed to award the
sale of the Series 2024A Bonds to the Underwriters and to approve the terms thereof, including,
without limitation, the principal amounts thereof, the serics designations thereof, the date or dates
thereof, the interest rates with respect thereto, the maturity dates thereof, the purchase prices
thereof and the redemption terms with respect thereto, provided, however, that in no event shall
(i} the principal amount of the Series 2024 A Bonds exceed $99,300,000, (ii) the purchase price of
the Series 2024A Bonds be less than 99% of the face amount thereof exclusive of original issue
premium (the “Minimum Purchase Price™), or (iii} the true interest cost rate {the “TiC"™) for the
Series 2024A Bonds exceed 5.00% per annum (the “Maximum TIC™).

B. The Series 2024 A Bends shall bear interest from their date(s) of issuance,
payable semiannually on the first day of June and the first day of December of each year,
commencing on the date provided in the Purchase Contract and approved by the Chair, the Vice
Chair, the District Administrator, a Deputy District Administrator ar the Chief Financial Officer,
at the rates, and shall mature in accordance with the schedules, set forth or incorporated by
reference in the Purchase Contract and the Final Official Statement and approved by the Chair, the
Vice Chair, the District Administrator, a Deputy District Administrator or the Chief Financial
Officer, such approval to be conclusively evidenced by their execution of the Purchase Contract.
The principal of the Series 2024A Bonds shall be payable either in annual or semiannual
installments, as shall be sct forth in the Purchase Contract and approved by the Chair, the Vice



Chair, the District Administrator, a Deputy District Administeator or the Chief Financial Officer,
the execution thereof to be conclusive evidence of such approval.

The Series 2024 A Bonds shall be issued as fully registered bonds in the denomination of
$5,000 ($5,000 value at maturity with respect to zero coupen cr Capital Appreciation Bonds) each
or any integral multiple thereof and may be issued as current injerest bonds, zero coupon bonds or
capital appreciation bonds. In all cases, interest on the Series 2024A Bonds shall be computed on
the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve {12} thirty (30) day months.

So long as there shall be maintained a bock-entry-only system with respect to the Series
2024A Bonds, the following provisions shall apply:

The Series 2024A Bonds shall initially be issued in the name of Cede & Co. as nominee
for The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), which will act initially as sccurities depository for
the Series 2024 A Bonds and so leng as the Series 2024A Bends are held in beok-entry-only form,
Cede & Co. shall be considered the registered owner for al! purposes hereof. On original issue,
the Series 2024A Bonds shall be deposited with DTC, which shall be responsible for maintaining
a book-entry-only systern for recording the ownership interest of its participants (“Direct
Participants™) and other institutions that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with
Direct Participants, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect Participants™). The Direct Participants
and Indirect Participants will be responsible for maintaining records with respect to the beneficial
ownership interests of individual purchasers of the Series 2024 A Bonds ("Beneficial Owners™).

The principal of and interest on the Series 2024A Bonds at maturity shall be payable
directly to Cede & Co. in care of DTC. Disbursal of such amounts to Direct Participants shall be
the responsibility of DTC. Payments by Direct Partieipants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct
Participants and Indirect Participants t¢ Beneficial Owners shall be the responsibility of Direct
Participants and Indirect Participants and nct of DTC, the Paying Agent, or the Issuer.

The Series 2024A Bonds shali initially be issued in the form of one fully registered
Series 2024A Bond for each maturity and shall be held in such form until maturity. Individuals
may purchase beneficial interests in dencminations of $5,000 cr integral multiples thereof, in
book-entry only form, without certificated Series 2024 A Bonds, through Direct Participants and
Indirect Participants.

DURING THE PERIOD FOR WHICH CEDE & CO, IS REGISTERED OWNER OF THE
SERIES 2024A BONDS, ANY NOTICE TO BE PROVIDED TO ANY REGISTERED OWNER
WILL BE PROVIDED TO CEDE & CO. DTC SHALIL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR NOTICE TO
DIRECT PARTICIPANTS AND DIRECT PARTICIPANTS SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR
NOTICE TO INDIRECT PARTICIPANTS, AND DIRECT PARTICIPANTS AND INDIRECT
PARTICIPANTS SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR NOTICE TO INDIVIDUAL
PURCHASERS OF BENEFICIAL INTERESTS.

The District has entered into a blanket letter of representations with DTC providing for
sueh book-entry-only system. Such agreement may be terminated at any time by either DTC or
the District. Inthe event of such termination, the District shall select another securities depository.
If the District does not replace DTC, the Registrar will register and deliver to the Beneficial
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Owners replacement Series 2024A Bonds in the form of [ully registered Series 2024A Bonds of
the same series and maturity, in denominations of $5,000 or integral multiples thereof, in
accordance with instructions from Cede & Co.

SECTION 8. Redemption Provisions. The Series 2024A Bonds shaii be subject to such
optional and mandatory redemption provisions, if any, as are provided in the Purchase Contract,
the execution thereof to be conclusive evidence of such approval. In the case of an optional
redemption of the Series 2024 A Bonds, in no event shall the redemption price for the Series 2024A
Bonds exceed one hundred percent {100%) of the principal amount of the Series 2024A Bonds to
be redeerned nor shall the first optional redemption date of the Series 2024A Bonds be later than
June 1, 2035. Notwithstanding the provisions ol Section 12C of the Bond Resolution, the
effectiveness of any notice of optional redemption of any Series 2024 A Bonds may be conditioned
upon the occurrence of non-occurrence of such event or events as shail be specified in such notice
of optional redemption (including, without limitation, the deposit of sufficient meneys with the
Paying Agent for such purposc) and may aiso be subject to rescissicn by the District if expressly
set forth in such notice.

SECTION 9. Notice of Redemption. In addition to the requirements of Section 12B of
the Bond Resolution and Section 8 hercof, each notice of redemption, if any, with respect to the
Series 2024A Bonds shall meet the requirements set forth in (i), (ii), (iii}, (iv), and (v) below;
provided however that, notwithstanding any other provision of this Resolution or of the Bond
Resolution to the contrary, failure of such notice or payment to comply with the terms of this
Section 9 shall net in any manner defeat the effectiveness of a redemption if notice thereof is given
as otherwisc prescribed in Section 12B of the Bond Resolution.

(i Each notice of redemption shali set forth the name and
address of the Paying Agent, a contact person with the Paying Agent and his
or her telephone number and the CUSTP numbers, if any, of the Series 2024A
Bonds called for redemption, the date of publication of the notice, the
redemption price, the date of the issue, the interest rate and the stated maturity
date with respect to the Series 2024A Bonds to be redeemed; and with respect
to owners of §1,000,000 or more in principal amount to be redeemed, such
notice shall be sent by certified mail, return receipt requested, or by overnight
delivery service.

(i) In addition to the foregoing, further notice of any redemption
hereunder shall be given by the Registrar simultaneously with mailed notice
to Iolders, for any redemption other than by sinking fund installment, to the
Municipal Securities Rulemzking Board pursuvant to the Disclosure
Disscmination Agent Apreement hercinafter defined. Such further notiee
shall contain the information required in 9(i) above. Failure 1o give all or any
portion of such further notice shall net in any manner defcat the cffectiveness
of a call for redemption.

(iity  Each noticc of redemption shall be published cnee in THE
BOND BUYER, New York, New York or, if THE BOND BUYER is no
longer published, in some other financial newspaper or journal which



regularly carries notices of redemption of other obligations similar to the
Series 2024A Bonds, such publication to be made at least thirty (30) days
prior to the date fixed for redemption.

(iv)  Upon the payment of the redemption price of the Series
2024 A Bonds being redeemed, each check or other transfer of funds issued
for such purpose shall bear or be accompanied by an advice showing the
CUSIP number identifying, by issue, the Series 2024A Bonds being redeemed
with the proceeds of such check or other transfer.

(v) A second notice of redemption shall be mailed in the manner
provided above to any registered owner who has not tendered Series 2024A
Bonds that have been called for redemption within sixty (60) days after the
applicable redemption date.

SECTION 10. Funds and Accounts.

A Establishment of and Payments from the Series 2024 A Project Construction
Account. There is hereby established and created an acceunt within the Construction Fund created
pursuant to the Bond Resclution to be designated the “Central Florida Tourism Oversight District
Ad Valorem Tax Bonds, Series 2024A Project Construction Account” (hereinafier referred to as
the “*Construction Account™} into which shall be deposited the amount provided in Section 12
below from which Costs of the Series 2024 A Project and capitalized interest, iT any, tnay be paid
as set forth herein.  Costs of issuance of the Series 2024A Bonds shall be paid from the
Construction Account. In addition to payment of Costs, funds may be disbursed from the
Construction Account to pay any Rebate Amounts due in accordance with the Bond Resolution
and this Resolution with respect to the Series 2024A Bonds.

The District shail make payments from the Construction Account to pay Costs of the Series
2024A Project, only after making the following determinations:

{i that the work to which the payment relates has been
accomplished in a manner satisfactory to the District, and that the amount to
be paid does not exceed the obligation on account of which the payment is
made ({the District’s determinations shall be based upon certificates
satisfactory to it provided by a consulting engineer or engineers or
construction manager or managers);

(ii)  that the obligation was properly incurred and is a proper
charge against the Construction Account and that the amount requisitioned is
due and unpaid;

{iii)  that with respect to such items, there are no vendors’ liens,
mechanics' liens, or other liens, bailment leases or conditional sale contracts
which must be satisfied or discharged before the payments as requisitioned
therein are made, or which will not be discharged by such payment; and
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(iv)  inthe case ol a transfer of funds in the Construction Account
to pay any Rebate Amount or in the case of a transfer of funds in the
Construction Account to pay any capitalized intercst, that such transfer is
necessary and in accordance with the provisions and requirements of the
Resolution.

Any balance remaining in the Construction Account after the completion date of the Series
2024A Project, and after the District has set aside amounts for payment of items included in the
Cost of the Series 2024A Project but not then due and payable, shall be set aside and segregated
from all other moneys of the District and applied at the discretion of the District as follows:

(i) to rcdeem or purchase Series 2024A Bonds or a portion
thereof, in the case of redemption, at the eatliest redemption datc permitted
on which a premium or penalty for redemption is nol required; or

(iiy for any other legal purpose for which such funds may be used
by the District, provided that the District obtaing an opinion of Bond Counsel
to the effect that such use is authorized under the Act, the Election Resolutions
or any other subsequent election resolutions, the Bond Resolution and this
Resolution and such use will not adversely affect the exclusion from gross
income for federal income tax purposes of interest on the Series 2024A
Bonds.

Until used as provided in subsections (i) or {ii) above, such segregated amount may be
invested as pennitied by the Bond Resolution but mnay not be invested 1o produce a yield on such
amount greater than the yield on the Series 2024 A Bonds (withoutl an opinien of Bond Counsel to
the effect that such investment will not adversely affect the exclusion from gross income for {ederal
income tax purposes of interest on the Series 2024A Bonds), all in accordance with Section 148
of the Code. Any investment earnings shall be retained in the Construction Account and applied
as provided herein; provided, however, that the District may, to the extent that it determines that
adcquate funds remain on deposit in the Construction Account to pay the Cost of the Series 2024A
Project and if it receives an opinion of Bond Counsel that such application will not adversely affect
the exclusion frem gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on the Series 2024A
Bonds or violate the Act, apply such earnings 1o pay operating costs of the Series 2024 A Project.

B. Establishment of and Payments from the Series 2024A Rebate Account.
There is hereby estabiished and created a trust account within the Rebate Fund created pursuant to
the Bond Resolution to be designated “Central Florida Tourism Oversight District Ad Valorem
Tax Bonds, Series 20244 Rebate Account” (hereinafter referred to as the “Series 2024A Rebate
Account”}, into which amounts shall be deposited as sct forth below.,

The Distriet covenants and agrees that it shall maintain and retain all records pertaining to
and shall be responsible for making or having made all determinations and caleulations of the
Rebate Amount for the Series 2024A Bonds for each Rebate Year within twenty-five (25) days
aficr the end of such Rebate Year and within twenty-five (25) days after the final maturity of the
Series 2024A Bonds. On or before the expiration of each such period, the District shall deposit
into the Series 2024 A Rebate Account from any legally available funds of the District, an amount



equal to the Rebate Amount with respect to the Serics 2024A Bonds for such Rebatc Year. The
District shall use such meneys deposited in the Series 2024 A Rebate Account only for the payment
of the Rebate Amount with respect to Series 2024 A Bonds to the United States as required by the
Bond Resolution, which payments shall be nade in installments, commencing not more than sixty
(60} days after the end of the fifth Rebate Year and with subsequent payments to be made not later
than five (5) years after the preceding payment was due, except that the final payment shall be
made within sixty (60) days after the final maturity of the last obligation of the Series 20244
Bonds. In complying with the foregoing, the District may rely upon any instructions or opinions
from Bond Counsel.

If any amount shali remain in the Scries 2024A Rebate Account after payment in full of alf
Series 2024A Bonds issucd hereunder and after payment in full of the Rebate Amount with respect
to the Series 20244 Bonds to the United States in accordance with the terms hereof, such amounts
shall be available (¢ the District for any lawful purpese.

SECTION 11, Application of Proceeds of Series 2024A Bonds. The proceeds [rom the
sale of the Series 2024 A Bonds shall be applied by the District as follows:

(i) There shall first be paid into the Sinking Fund, established
and administered by the District pursuant to the Bond Resolution, an amount
equal tc the acerued interest, if any, on Series 2024A Bonds received by the
District as part of the proceeds of the sale of such Serics 2024 A Bonds, which
amount shall be used on the first interest payinent date for the paymnent of
interest due on such Series 2024 A Bonds; and

(iiy  Upon issuance of the Series 2024 A Bonds there shall be paid
into the Construction Account an amount of Series 2024A Bond proceeds set
forth in a certificate of the Chair, the Yice Chair or the District Administrator
to be used to pay Costs of the Series 2024A Project, an amount to be used to
pay costs of issuance of the Series 2024A Bonds and, if applicable, an amount
to be used to pay capitalized interest on the Series 2024 A Bonds for a period
not to exceed the estimated completion of the Series 2024 A Project, plus up
lo one year.

SECTION 12. Form of Scrics 2024A Bonds. The Series 2024A Bonds shali be in
substantially the form previded in Exhibit B hereto, subject to such changes, omissions and
insertions and such filling of blanks as the officers executing the same shall approve, such
execution to be conclusive evidence of such approval.

SECTION 13. Approval of Purchase Contract for Series 2024A Bonds. The form of
the Purchase Contract presented hereto as Exhibit €, by the Underwriters is hereby approved,
subject to such changes, insertions and omissions and such filling of blanks therein as may be
approved and made in such Purchase Contract by the Chair, the Viee Chair, the District
Administrator, a Deputy District Administrator or Chief Financial Officer in 2 manner econsistent
with the provisions of Secticns 7 and 8 of this Resolution, such execution to be conclusive evidence
of such approval. Upon receipt of a disclosure statement from the Underwriters, the Chair, the
Vice Chair, the District Administrator, a Deputy District Administrator or the Chief Financial
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Officer is hereby authorized to accept an offer of the Underwriters to purchase the Series 2024A
Bonds in an aggregate principal amount not exceeding $99,300,000, at a TIC not to exceed the
Maximum TIC, and at a purchase price of not less than the Minimum Purchase Price, plus accrued
interest thereon to the date of delivery, if any, upon the terms and conditions set forth in the
Purchase Contract. The Chair, the Vice Chair, the District Administralor, a Deputy District
Administrator or the Chief Financial Officer is hereby authorized to execute and deliver the
Purchase Contract for and on behalf of the District pursuant to the terms hereof and of the Purchase
Contract.

SECTION 14. Paving Agent, Registrar and Authenticating Agent. The Board
hereby appoints U.S. Bank Trust Compary, National Association as the initial Paying Agent and
Registrar in connection with the Series 2024A Bonds under the terms of the Paying Agent
Agreement, and U.S. Bank Trust Company, MNational Association, as Registrar, is hereby
appointed to act as authenticating agent in connection with the Series 2024A Bonds.

SECTION 15, Paving Agent Agreement. The Board herehy approves the form
and content of the Paying Agent Agreement attached hercto as Exhibit D. The Chair, the Vice
Chair, the District Administrator, a Deputy District Administrator or the Chief Financial OfTicer
is hereby authorized to execute on behalf of the Board, the Paying Agent A greement substantially
in the form attached hereto with such changes, omissions and insertions as they, in their sole
discretion, may approve, such execution to be conclusive evidence of such approval.

SECTION 16. Official Statement. The Board herehy approves the form and
content of the Preliminary Official Statement attached hereto as Exhibit E, and approves the use
and distribution of the Preliminary Official Statcment in connection with the marketing of the
Series 2024A Bonds. The Chair or the Vice Chair is hereby authorized to execute, on behalf of
the Board, a final Oflicial Statement relating 1o the Scries 2024A Boends with such changes,
omissions and insertions from the form of Preliminary Official Statement as the officer or officers
cxecuting the same may. in his/her or their sole discretion, approve, such execution to be
conclusive evidence of such approval. The use and distribution of the final Official Statement in
connection with the otfering and sale of the Scries 2024A Bonds is hereby authorized. The District
Administrator, a Deputy District Administrator or Chicf Financial OfTicer is authorized to deem
the Preliminary Official Statement “final”, other than Permitted Omissions within the meaning of
Rule 15¢2-12 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, ag amended, in the form as mailed, and
in furtherance thereof to execute a certificate evidencing same substantially in the form attached
hereto as Exhibit F.

SECTION 17. Continuing Disclosure Compliance. The District hereby approves the
form and content of an agreement between the District and Digital Assurance Certification, LLC
for continuing secondary market disclosure in connection with the Series 2024A Bonds (the
“Disclosure Dissemination Agent Agreement™), in the form attached hercto as Exhibit G. The
Chair, the Vice Chair, the District Administrator, a Deputy District Administrator cr Chief
Financial Officer is hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver the Disclosure
Dissemination Agent Agreemnent substantially in the form of Exhibit G with such changes,
insertions or deletions as the officer executing the same, in his or her sole discretion, may approve,
such execution to constitute conclusive evidence of such approval.




SECTION 18. Authorizations.

A The Chair, the Vice Chair, the Secretary, the District Administrator, a
Deputy District Administraior or the Chief Financial Officer is hereby authorized and directed to
execute afl instruments, documents and contracts on behalf of the District, including, but not
limited to the execuiion and delivery of documentation necessary or desirable in connection with
the sale, execution and delivery of the Series 2024A Bonds, and which are specifically authorized
by or are not inconsistent with the terms of this Resolution. The execution and delivery of the
Purchase Contract of the Chair, the Vice Chair, District Administrator, a Deputy District
Administrator or Chicf Financial Officer shall be conclusive evidence of the Board’s approval of
the final details, terms and prices of the Series 2024 A Bonds.

B. The Chair, the Vice Chair and the Sceretary or the District Administrator, a
Deputy District Administrator or the Chief Financial Officer, are hereby authorized and directed
on behalf of the District to execute the Series 2024A Bonds as provided in the Bond Resolution
and herein and any of such officers is hereby authorized and directed upon the execution of the
Series 2024 A Bonds in substantially the form and manner set forth herein, to deliver the Series
2024 A Bonds in the amounts authorized to be issued hereunder to the Registrar for authentication
and delivery to or upon the order of Underwriters pursuant to the Purchase Contract the upon
payment of the purchase price of the Series 2024A Bonds and upon compliance by such
Underwriters with the terms of the Purchase Contract.

C. The Chair, the Vice Chair and Secretary and the District Administrator, a
Deputy District Administrator, the Chief Financial Cfficer, and such other officers of the Board
legally authorized to take action in their absence, and such other officers, employees or agents of
the District as may be designated by the Chair and the Vice Chair, are each designated as agents
of the Board and the District in connection with the issuance and delivery of the Series 2024A
Bonds and are authorized and empowered, collectively or individually, to take all action and steps
and to execute all instruments, documents and contracts on behalf of the Board and the District
that are necessary or desirable 1n connection with the execution and delivery of the Series 2024 A
Bonds, and which are specifically authorized or are not inconsistent with the terms and provisions
of this Resolulion or the Bond Resolution o any action relating to the Series 2024A Bonds
heretofore taken by the Board. Such officers and those so designated are hereby charged with the
responsibility for the Issuance of the Series 2024A Bonds.

SECTION 19. Severability. If any one or more of the covenants, agreements or
provisions of this Resolution shail be held contrary to any express provisions of law or contrary 10
the policy of express law, though not expressly prohibited, or against public policy, or shall for
any reason whatsoever be held invalid, then such covenants, agreements or provisions shall be null
and void and shall be deemed separate from the remaining covenants, agreements or provisions of
this Resolution or of the Series 2024 A Bonds issued hereunder.

SECTION 20. No Third Party Benefliciaries. Except as herein otherwise expressly
provided, nothing in this Resolution expressed or implied is intended or shall be construed to
confer upon any person, firm or corperation other than the owners and holders cf the Series 2024A
Bonds issued under and secured by this Resolution, any right, remedy or claim, legal or equitable,
under or by reason of this Resolution or any prevision hereof, this Resolution and all its provisions
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being intended to be and being for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Holders from time to time
of the Series 2024 A Bonds issued hereunder.

SECTION 21. Controlling Law: Members of Governing Body of Issuer Not Liable.
All covenants, stipulations, obligations and agreements of the District contained in this Resolution
shall be deemed to be covenants, stipulations, obligations and agreements of the District to the full
extent authorized by the Act and provided by the constitution and laws of the State of Florida. No
covenant, stipulation, obligaticn or agreement contained herein shall be deemed (o be a covenant,
stipulation, obligation or agreement of any present or future member, agent or employee of the
B3oard or the District in his or her individual capacity, and, to the extent permitted hy law, neither
the members of the Board nor any official executing the Series 2024A Bonds shall be liable
personally on the Series 2024 A Bonds or this Resolution or shall be subject to any personal liability
or accouniability by rcason of the issuance or the execution by the Board or such members thercof.

SECTION 22. Repeal of Inconsistent Resolutions. Ali resolutions or portions thereof
previously adopted by the Board, other than the Bond Resolution, which are inconsistent with the
provisions of this Resolution are hereby repealed to the extent of such inconsistency.

SECTION 23. Open Meetings. [t is hereby found and determined that all forinal actions
of the Board coneerning and relating to the adoption of this Resolution and the consummation of
the transaetions eontemplated by this Resolution were adopted in open meetings of the Board, and
that all deliberations of the Board that resulted in such formal action were in meetings open to the
public, in compliance with all legal requirerents.

SECTION 24. Effective Date. This Resolution shall become effective immediately
upon its adoption.



This Resolution is hereby approved and adopted by the Board of Supervisors of the Central
Florida Tourism Oversight District, this 25th day of September, 2024,

(SEAL) CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM
OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

L1 7 o
r/,.'.,,-\l'iuc Chair, Board of Supervisors
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PROPOSED FORM OF OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL

Upon delivery of the Series 20244 Bonds, Greenberg Traurig, P.A. proposes to render
its approving opinion in substantially the following form:

[Date of Delivery]

Central Florida Tourism Oversight District
1900 Hotel Plaza Boulevard
Orlando, Florida 32869-0519

Re: 9§ ] Central Florida Tourism Oversight District
Ad Valorem Tax Bonds, Series 2024A

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have acted as Bond Counsel in connection with the issuance and sale by Central
Florida Tourism Oversight District (successor to Reedy Creek Improvement District) (the
“District”), of an aggregate principal amount of $[ ] Central Florida Tourism
Oversight District Ad Valorem Tax Bonds, Series 2024 A (the “Series 2024A Bonds”).

All terms used herein in capitalized form and not otherwise defined herein shall
have the same meanings as ascribed to them under Resolution No. 245 adopted by the
District on November 15, 1991, Resolution No. 313 adopted by the District on April 21,
1995, Resolution No. 546 adopted by the District on February 27, 2013, Resolution No.
551 adopted by the District on July 24, 2013 and Resolution No. 670 adopted by the District
on September 25, 2024 (collectively, the “Resolution”).

The Series 2024 A Bonds are dated as of their date of issuance and have been issued
in fully registered form. The Series 2024 A Bonds have been issued to (i) finance additional
improvements within the scope of the District-Wide Transportation Project, the Buena
Vista Drive Corridor Improvements Project and the 2017 Transportation Improvement
Projects, as defined in the Resolution, and (i1) pay the costs of issuance of the Series 2024A
Bonds. The Series 2024A Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity in the manner
and upon the terms and conditions set forth in the Resolution and the Official Statement
relating to the Series 2024A Bonds dated October [ ], 2024.

Pursuant to the Resolution, the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the
Series 2024 A Bonds shall be payable from a levy of a direct annual tax on all the taxable
property within the District (excluding homesteads to the extent provided under applicable
law), and the ad valorem taxing power of the District, not to exceed 30 mills per annum
per dollar of assessed valuation, is pledged for the payment of the principal of, interest on
and premium, if any, with respect to the Series 2024 A Bonds on a parity with the District’s
outstanding Ad Valorem Tax Refunding Bonds, Series 2015A, Ad Valorem Tax Bonds,
Series 2016A, Ad Valorem Tax Bonds, Series 2017A and Ad Valorem Tax Refunding
Bonds, Series 2020A (Taxable) (collectively, the “Outstanding Bonds”), and with any
other Bonds issued on a parity pursuant to the Resolution.
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Central Florida Tourism Oversight District
[Date of Delivery]
Page 2

In rendering the opinions set forth below, we have examined certified copies of the
legal proceedings, including the Resolution and certain other proceedings of the Board of
Supervisors of the District, and other proofs submitted, relative to the issuance and sale of
the Series 2024A Bonds.

In addition to the foregoing, we have examined and relied upon the opinion of Roy
Payne, Esq., General Counsel to the District, and such other agreements, certificates,
documents and opinions, including certificates and representations of public officials and
other officers and representatives of the various parties participating in this transaction, as
we have deemed relevant and necessary in connection with the opinions expressed below.
We have not undertaken an independent audit, examination, investigation or inspection of
the matters described or contained in such agreements, documents, certificates,
representations and opinions, and have relied solely on the facts, estimates and
circumstances described and set forth therein.

In our examination of the foregoing, we have assumed the genuineness of
signatures on all documents and instruments, the authenticity of documents submitted as
originals and the conformity to originals of documents submitted as copies. The opinions
set forth below are expressly limited to, and we opine only with respect to, the laws of the
State of Florida and the federal income tax laws of the United States of America.

Based upon and subject to the foregoing, we are of the opinion that:

(1) The District is a public corporation of the State of Florida with the power to
adopt the Resolution, to issue the Series 2024A Bonds and to perform its obligations
thereunder.

(2) The Resolution has been duly and lawfully adopted by the District, is in full
force and effect, and constitutes a valid and binding obligation of the District, enforceable
in accordance with its terms.

3) The Series 2024A Bonds are valid and legally binding general obligations
of the District, for the payment of which the ad valorem taxing power of the District, not
to exceed 30 mills per annum per dollar of assessed valuation of the taxable property within
the District, is irrevocably pledged on a parity with the Outstanding Bonds and the Series
2024A Bonds and with any other Bonds issued on a parity pursuant to the Resolution.

(4) The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), includes
requirements which the District must continue to meet after the issuance of the Series
2024A Bonds in order that interest on the Series 2024A Bonds not be included in gross
income for federal income tax purposes. The failure of the District to meet these
requirements may cause interest on the Series 2024A Bonds to be included in gross income
for federal income tax purposes retroactive to their date of issuance. The District has
covenanted to take the actions required by the Code in order to maintain the exclusion from
gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on the Series 2024A Bonds. The
District has full legal power and authority to comply with such covenants.



Central Florida Tourism Oversight District
[Date of Delivery]
Page 3

Under existing statutes, regulations, rulings and court decisions, subject to the
assumption stated in the following paragraph, interest on the Series 2024A Bonds is
excludable from the gross income of the owners thereof for federal income tax purposes.
Furthermore, interest on the Series 2024A Bonds is not an item of tax preference for
purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals. In the case of the
alternative minimum tax imposed by Section 55(b)(2) of the Code on applicable
corporations (as defined in Section 59(k) of the Code), interest on the Series 2024A Bonds
is not excluded from the determination of adjusted financial statement income.

In rendering the opinion expressed above, we have assumed continuing compliance
with the tax covenants referred to above that must be met after the issuance of the Series
2024A Bonds in order that interest on the Series 2024A Bonds not be included in gross
income for federal income tax purposes.

(5) The Series 2024A Bonds and the income thereon are not subject to taxation
under the laws of the State of Florida, except as to estate taxes and taxes imposed by
Chapter 220, Florida Statutes, as amended, on interest, income or profits on debt
obligations owned by corporations as defined in Chapter 220.

We express no opinion regarding other federal or state tax consequences resulting
from the ownership, receipt or accrual of interest on, or disposition of the Series 2024A
Bonds.

In rendering the foregoing opinions, we have assumed the accuracy and truthfulness
of all public records and of all certifications, documents and other proceedings examined
by us that have been executed or certified by public officials acting within the scope of
their official capacities and have not verified the accuracy or truthfulness thereof. We have
also assumed the genuineness of the signatures appearing upon such public records,
certifications, documents and proceedings.

The opinions set forth herein are subject to state and federal laws relating to
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and similar laws, and to equitable
principles, affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally, and to the exercise of
judicial discretion in appropriate cases.

We express no opinion herein with respect to any disclosure or offering document
prepared or distributed in connection with the offering of the Series 2024A Bonds.

Our opinions expressed herein are predicated upon present laws, facts and
circumstances, and we assume no affirmative obligation to update the opinions expressed
herein if such laws, facts or circumstances change after the date hereof.

Respectfully submitted,
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DISCLOSURE DISSEMINATION AGENT AGREEMENT

This Disclosure Dissemination Agent Agreement (the "Disclosure Agreement"), dated

__, 2024 is executed and delivered by Central Florida Tourist Oversight District (the
"District") and Digital Assurance Certification, L.L.C., as exclusive Disclosure Dissemination
Agent (the "Disclosure Dissemination Agent" or "DAC") for the benefit of the Holders
(hereinafter defined) of the Bonds (hereinafter defined) and in order to provide certain
continuing disclosure with respect to the Bonds in accordance with Rule 15¢2-12 of the United
States Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the
same may be amended from time to time (the "Rule").

The services provided under this Disclosure Agreement solely relate to the execution of
instructions received from the District through use of the DAC system and do not constitute
"advice" within the meaning of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection
Act (the "Act"). DAC will not provide any advice or recommendation to the District or anyone
on the District’s behalf regarding the "issuance of municipal securities" or any "municipal
financial product” as defined in the Act and nothing in this Disclosure Agreement shall be
interpreted to the contrary.

SECTION 1. Definitions. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this Disclosure
Agreement shall have the meaning assigned in the Rule or, to the extent not in conflict with the
Rule, in the Official Statement (hereinafter defined). The capitalized terms shall have the
following meanings:

"Annual Filing Date" means the date, set in Sections 2(a) and 2(f), by which the Annual
Report is to be filed with the MSRB.

"Annual Financial Information" means annual financial information as such term is used
in paragraph (b)(5)(i) of the Rule and specified in Section 3(a) of this Disclosure
Agreement.

"Annual Report" means an Annual Report described in and consistent with Section 3 of
this Disclosure Agreement.

"Audited Financial Statements" means the financial statements (if any) of the District for
the prior fiscal year, certified by an independent auditor as prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles or otherwise, as such term is used in paragraph
(b)(5)(i) of the Rule and specified in Section 3(b) of this Disclosure Agreement.

"Bonds" means the bonds as listed on the attached Appendix A, with the 9-digit CUSIP
numbers relating thereto.

"Certification" means a written certification of compliance signed by the Disclosure
Representative stating that the Annual Report, Audited Financial Statements, Notice
Event notice, Failure to File Event notice, Voluntary Event Disclosure or Voluntary
Financial Disclosure delivered to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent is the Annual
Report, Audited Financial Statements, Notice Event notice, Failure to File Event notice,
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Voluntary Event Disclosure or Voluntary Financial Disclosure required to be submitted
to the MSRB under this Disclosure Agreement. A Certification shall accompany each
such document submitted to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent by the District and
include the full name of the Bonds and the 9-digit CUSIP numbers for all Bonds to
which the document applies.

"Disclosure Dissemination Agent" means Digital Assurance Certification, L.L.C, acting
in its capacity as Disclosure Dissemination Agent hereunder, or any successor
Disclosure Dissemination Agent designated in writing by the District pursuant to
Section 9 hereof.

"Disclosure Representative" means the District’'s Chief Financial Officer, or the
Controller’s designee, or such other person as the District shall designate in writing to
the Disclosure Dissemination Agent from time to time as the person responsible for
providing Information to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent.

"Failure to File Event" means the District’s failure to file an Annual Report on or before
the Annual Filing Date.

"Force Majeure Event" means: (i) acts of God, war, or terrorist action; (ii) failure or shut-
down of the Electronic Municipal Market Access system maintained by the MSRB; or
(iii) to the extent beyond the Disclosure Dissemination Agent’s reasonable control,
interruptions in telecommunications or utilities services, failure, malfunction or error of
any telecommunications, computer or other electrical, mechanical or technological
application, service or system, computer virus, interruptions in Internet service or
telephone service (including due to a virus, electrical delivery problem or similar
occurrence) that affect Internet users generally, or in the local area in which the
Disclosure Dissemination Agent or the MSRB is located, or acts of any government,
regulatory or any other competent authority the effect of which is to prohibit the
Disclosure Dissemination Agent from performance of its obligations under this
Disclosure Agreement.

"Holder" means any person (a) having the power, directly or indirectly, to vote or
consent with respect to, or to dispose of ownership of, any Bonds (including persons
holding Bonds through nominees, depositories or other intermediaries) or (b) treated as
the owner of any Bonds for federal income tax purposes.

"Information" means, collectively, the Annual Reports, the Audited Financial Statements
(if any), the Notice Event notices, the Failure to File Event notices, the Voluntary Event
Disclosures and the Voluntary Financial Disclosures.

"MSRB" means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board established pursuant to
Section 15B(b)(1) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

"Notice Event" means any of the events enumerated in paragraph (b)(5)(i)(C) of the Rule
and listed in Section 4(a) of this Disclosure Agreement.
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"Obligated Person" means any person or entity, including the District, who or which is
either generally or through an enterprise, fund, or account of such person or entity
committed by contract or other arrangement to support payment of all, or part of the
obligations on the Bonds (other than providers of municipal bond insurance, letters of
credit, or other liquidity facilities), as shown on Exhibit A.

"Official Statement" means that Official Statement prepared by the District in connection
with the Bonds, as listed on Exhibit A.

"Trustee" means the institution, if any, identified as such in the document under which
the Bonds were issued.

"Voluntary Event Disclosure” means information of the category specified in any of
subsections (e)(vi)(1) through (e)(vi)(11) of Section 2 of this Disclosure Agreement that is
accompanied by a Certification of the Disclosure Representative containing the
information prescribed by Section 7(a) of this Disclosure Agreement.

"Voluntary Financial Disclosure" means information of the category specified in any of
subsections (e)(vii)(1) through (e)(vii)(9) of Section 2 of this Disclosure Agreement that is
accompanied by a Certification of the Disclosure Representative containing the
information prescribed by Section 7(b) of this Disclosure Agreement.

SECTION 2. Provision of Annual Reports.

(a) The District shall provide, annually, an electronic copy of the Annual Report and
Certification to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent, together with a copy for the Trustee, not
later than the Annual Filing Date. Promptly upon receipt of an electronic copy of the Annual
Report and the Certification, the Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall provide an Annual
Report to the MSRB not later than the March 31+ following the end of each fiscal year of the
District, commencing with the fiscal year ending September 30, 2025. Such date and each
anniversary thereof is the Annual Filing Date. The Annual Report may be submitted as a single
document or as separate documents comprising a package, and may cross-reference other
information as provided in Section 3 of this Disclosure Agreement.

(b) If on the fifteenth (15th) day prior to the Annual Filing Date, the Disclosure
Dissemination Agent has not received a copy of the Annual Report and Certification, the
Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall contact the Disclosure Representative by telephone and in
writing (which may be by e-mail, with delivery confirmation) to remind the District of its
undertaking to provide the Annual Report pursuant to Section 2(a). Upon such reminder, the
Disclosure Representative shall either (i) provide the Disclosure Dissemination Agent with an
electronic copy of the Annual Report and the Certification no later than two (2) business days
prior to the Annual Filing Date, or (ii) instruct the Disclosure Dissemination Agent in writing
that the District will not be able to file the Annual Report within the time required under this
Disclosure Agreement, state the date by which the Annual Report for such year will be
provided and instruct the Disclosure Dissemination Agent that a Failure to File Event has
occurred and to immediately send a notice to the MSRB in substantially the form attached as
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Exhibit B, accompanied by a cover sheet completed by the Disclosure Dissemination Agent in
the form set forth in Exhibit C-1.

(©) If the Disclosure Dissemination Agent has not received an Annual Report and
Certification by 6:00 p.m. Eastern time on Annual Filing Date (or, if such Annual Filing Date
falls on a Saturday, Sunday or holiday, then the first (Ist) business day thereafter) for the
Annual Report, a Failure to File Event shall have occurred and the District irrevocably directs
the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to immediately send a notice to the MSRB in substantially
the form attached as Exhibit B without reference to the anticipated filing date for the Annual
Report, accompanied by a cover sheet completed by the Disclosure Dissemination Agent in the
form set forth in Exhibit C-1.

(d) If Audited Financial Statements of the District are prepared but not available
prior to the Annual Filing Date, the District shall, when the Audited Financial Statements are
available, provide in a timely manner an electronic copy to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent,
accompanied by a Certification, together with a copy for the Trustee, for filing with the MSRB.

(e) The Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall:

(i) verify the filing specifications of the MSRB each year prior to the Annual
Filing Date;

(ii) upon receipt, promptly file each Annual Report received under Sections
2(a) and 2(b) with the MSRB;

(iii)  upon receipt, promptly file each Audited Financial Statement received
under Section 2(d) with the MSRB;

(iv)  upon receipt, promptly file the text of each Notice Event received under
Sections 4(a) and 4(b)(ii) with the MSRB, identifying the Notice Event as
instructed by the District pursuant to Section 4(a) or 4(b)(ii) (being any of
the categories set forth below) when filing pursuant to Section 4(c) of this
Disclosure Agreement:

1. "Principal and interest payment delinquencies;"

2. "Non-Payment related defaults, if material;"

3. "Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial
difficulties;"

4. "Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial
difficulties;"

5. "Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to
perform;"
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v)

(vi)

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

"Adverse tax opinions, IRS notices or events affecting the tax
status of the security;"

"Modifications to rights of securities holders, if material;"
"Bond calls, if material;"
"Defeasances;"

"Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of
the securities, if material;"

"Rating changes;"
"Tender offers;"

"Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the
obligated person;"

"Merger, consolidation, or acquisition of the obligated person, if
material;"

"Appointment of a successor or additional trustee, or the change
of name of a trustee, if material;"

"Incurrence of a financial obligation of the issuer or obligated
person, if material, or agreement to covenants, events of default,
remedies, priority rights, or other similar terms of a financial
obligation of the issuer or obligated person, any of which affect
security holders, if material;" and

"Default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of
terms, or other similar events under the terms of the financial
obligation of the issuer or obligated person, any of which reflect
financial difficulties."

upon receipt (or irrevocable direction pursuant to Section 2(c) of this
Disclosure Agreement, as applicable), promptly file a completed copy of
Exhibit B to this Disclosure Agreement with the MSRB, identifying the
filing as "Failure to provide annual financial information as required"
when filing pursuant to Section 2(b)(ii) or Section 2(c) of this Disclosure
Agreement;

upon receipt, promptly file the text of each Voluntary Event Disclosure
received under Section 7(a) with the MSRB, identifying the Voluntary
Event Disclosure as instructed by the District pursuant to Section 7(a)
(being any of the categories set forth below) when filing pursuant to
Section 7(a) of this Disclosure Agreement:
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(vii)

1. "amendment to continuing disclosure undertaking;"

2. "change in obligated person;"

3. "notice to investors pursuant to bond documents;"

4, "certain communications from the Internal Revenue Service;"

5. "secondary market purchases;"

6. "bid for auction rate or other securities;"

7. "capital or other financing plan;"

8. "litigation/enforcement action;"

9. "change of tender agent, remarketing agent, or other on-going
party;"

10. "derivative or other similar transaction;" and

11. "other event-based disclosures;"

upon receipt, promptly file the text of each Voluntary Financial
Disclosure received under Section 7(b) with the MSRB, identifying the
Voluntary Financial Disclosure as instructed by the District pursuant to
Section 7(b) (being any of the categories set forth below) when filing
pursuant to Section 7(b) of this Disclosure Agreement:

1. "quarterly/monthly financial information;"

2. "change in fiscal year/timing of annual disclosure;"

3. "change in accounting standard;"

4. "interim/additional financial information/operating data;"

5. "budget;"

6. "investment/debt/financial policy;"

7. "information provided to rating agency, credit/liquidity provider
or other third party;"

8. "consultant reports;" and

0. "other financial/operating data."

D-6



(viii) provide the District evidence of the filings of each of the above when
made, which shall be by means of the DAC system, for so long as DAC is
the Disclosure Dissemination Agent under this Disclosure Agreement.

(f) The District may adjust the Annual Filing Date upon change of its fiscal year by
providing written notice of such change and the new Annual Filing Date to the Disclosure
Dissemination Agent, Trustee (if any) and the MSRB, provided that the period between the
existing Annual Filing Date and new Annual Filing Date shall not exceed one year.

(8) Any Information received by the Disclosure Dissemination Agent before 6:00
p-m. Eastern time on any business day that it is required to file with the MSRB pursuant to the
terms of this Disclosure Agreement and that is accompanied by a Certification and all other
information required by the terms of this Disclosure Agreement will be filed by the Disclosure
Dissemination Agent with the MSRB no later than 11:59 p.m. Eastern time on the same business
day; provided, however, the Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall have no liability for any
delay in filing with the MSRB if such delay is caused by a Force Majeure Event provided that
the Disclosure Dissemination Agent uses reasonable efforts to make any such filing as soon as
possible.

SECTION 3. Content of Annual Reports.

(a) Each Annual Report shall contain Annual Financial Information with respect to
the District, including the information provided in the Official Statement under the headings:
"OUTSTANDING BONDS SECURED BY AD VALOREM TAXES," "AGGREGATE AD
VALOREM DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULE," and the tables under the caption "THE DISTRICT —
Taxation".

(b) Audited Financial Statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles ("GAAP") as described in the Official Statement will be included in the
Annual Report. If audited financial statements are not available, then, unaudited financial
statements, prepared in accordance with GAAP as described in the Official Statement will be
included in the Annual Report. Audited Financial Statements (if any) will be provided
pursuant to Section 2(d).

Any or all of the items listed above may be included by specific reference from other
documents, including official statements of debt issues with respect to which the District is an
"obligated person" (as defined by the Rule), which have been previously filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission or available on the MSRB Internet Website. If the
document incorporated by reference is a final official statement, it must be available from the
MSRB. The District will clearly identify each such document so incorporated by reference.

Any Annual Financial Information containing modified operating data or financial
information is required to explain, in narrative form, the reasons for the modification and the
impact of the change in the type of operating data or financial information being provided.
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SECTION 4. Reporting of Notice Events.

(a) The occurrence of any of the following events with respect to the Bonds
constitutes a Notice Event:

1. Principal and interest payment delinquencies;

2. Non-payment related defaults, if material;

3. Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial
difficulties;

4. Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial
difficulties;

5. Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;

6. Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of

proposed or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue
(IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other material notices or determinations with
respect to the tax status of the Bonds, or other material events affecting
the tax status of the Bonds;

7. Modifications to rights of Bond holders, if material;

8. Bond calls, if material, and tender offers;

9. Defeasances;

10. Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the

Bonds, if material;
11. Rating changes;

12. Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the Obligated
Person;

Note to subsection (a)(12) of this Section 4: For the purposes of the
event described in subsection (a)(12) of this Section 4, the event is
considered to occur when any of the following occur: the appointment of
a receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer for an Obligated Person in a
proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding
under state or federal law in which a court or governmental authority has
assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the
Obligated Person, or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the
existing governing body and officials or officers in possession but subject
to the supervision and orders of a court or governmental authority, or the
entry of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement or
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liquidation by a court or governmental authority having supervision or
jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the
Obligated Person.

13. The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving
an Obligated Person or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of
the Obligated Person, other than in the ordinary course of business, the
entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such an action or the
termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other
than pursuant to its terms, if material;

14. Appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name
of a trustee, if material;

15. Incurrence of a financial obligation of the issuer or obligated person, if
material, or agreement to covenants, events of default, remedies, priority
rights, or other similar terms of a financial obligation of the issuer or
obligated person, any of which affect security holders, if material;

16. Default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms,
or other similar events under the terms of the financial obligation of the
issuer or obligated person, any of which reflect financial difficulties; and

17. Notice of any failure on the part of the District to meet the requirements
of Section 3 hereof.

The District shall, in a timely manner not in excess of ten (10) business days after its
occurrence, notify the Disclosure Dissemination Agent in writing of the occurrence of a Notice
Event. Such notice shall instruct the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to report the occurrence
pursuant to subsection (c) and shall be accompanied by a Certification. Such notice or
Certification shall identify the Notice Event that has occurred (which shall be any of the
categories set forth in Section 2(e)(iv) of this Disclosure Agreement), include the text of the
disclosure that the District desires to make, contain the written authorization of the District for
the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to disseminate such information, and identify the date the
District desires for the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to disseminate the information
(provided that such date is not later than the tenth (10th) business day after the occurrence of
the Notice Event).

(b) The Disclosure Dissemination Agent is under no obligation to notify the District
or the Disclosure Representative of an event that may constitute a Notice Event. In the event
the Disclosure Dissemination Agent so notifies the Disclosure Representative, the Disclosure
Representative will within two (2) business days of receipt of such notice (but in any event not
later than the tenth (10th) business day after the occurrence of the Notice Event, if the District
determines that a Notice Event has occurred), instruct the Disclosure Dissemination Agent that
(i) a Notice Event has not occurred and no filing is to be made or (ii) a Notice Event has
occurred and the Disclosure Dissemination Agent is to report the occurrence pursuant to
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subsection (c) of this Section 4, together with a Certification. Such Certification shall identify
the Notice Event that has occurred (which shall be any of the categories set forth in Section
2(e)(iv) of this Disclosure Agreement), include the text of the disclosure that the District desires
to make, contain the written authorization of the District for the Disclosure Dissemination
Agent to disseminate such information, and identify the date the District desires for the
Disclosure Dissemination Agent to disseminate the information (provided that such date is not
later than the tenth (10th) business day after the occurrence of the Notice Event).

(c) If the Disclosure Dissemination Agent has been instructed by the District as
prescribed in subsection (a) or (b)(ii) of this Section 4 to report the occurrence of a Notice Event,
the Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall promptly file a notice of such occurrence with MSRB
in accordance with Section 2(e)(iv) hereof. This notice will be filed with a cover sheet completed
by the Disclosure Dissemination Agent in the form set forth in Exhibit C-1.

SECTION 5. CUSIP Numbers. Whenever providing information to the Disclosure
Dissemination Agent, including but not limited to Annual Reports, documents incorporated by
reference to the Annual Reports, Audited Financial Statements, Notice Event notices, Failure to
File Event notices, Voluntary Event Disclosures and Voluntary Financial Disclosures, the
District shall indicate the full name of the Bonds and the 9-digit CUSIP numbers for the Bonds
as to which the provided information relates.

SECTION 6. Additional Disclosure Obligations. The District acknowledges and
understands that other state and federal laws, including but not limited to the Securities Act of
1933 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, may apply to the
District, and that the duties and responsibilities of the Disclosure Dissemination Agent under
this Disclosure Agreement do not extend to providing legal advice regarding such laws. The
District acknowledges and understands that the duties of the Disclosure Dissemination Agent
relate exclusively to execution of the mechanical tasks of disseminating information as
described in this Disclosure Agreement.

SECTION 7. Voluntary Filing.

(a) The District may instruct the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to file a Voluntary
Event Disclosure with the MSRB from time to time pursuant to a Certification of the Disclosure
Representative. Such Certification shall identify the Voluntary Event Disclosure (which shall be
any of the categories set forth in Section 2(e)(vi) of this Disclosure Agreement), include the text
of the disclosure that the District desires to make, contain the written authorization of the
District for the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to disseminate such information, and identify
the date the District desires for the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to disseminate the
information. If the Disclosure Dissemination Agent has been instructed by the District as
prescribed in this Section 7(a) to file a Voluntary Event Disclosure, the Disclosure Dissemination
Agent shall promptly file such Voluntary Event Disclosure with the MSRB in accordance with
Section 2(e)(vi) hereof. This notice will be filed with a cover sheet completed by the Disclosure
Dissemination Agent in the form set forth in Exhibit C-2.
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(b) The District may instruct the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to file a Voluntary
Financial Disclosure with the MSRB from time to time pursuant to a Certification of the
Disclosure Representative. Such Certification shall identify the Voluntary Financial Disclosure
(which shall be any of the categories set forth in Section 2(e)(vii) of this Disclosure Agreement),
include the text of the disclosure that the District desires to make, contain the written
authorization of the District for the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to disseminate such
information, and identify the date the District desires for the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to
disseminate the information. If the Disclosure Dissemination Agent has been instructed by the
District as prescribed in this Section 7(b) to file a Voluntary Financial Disclosure, the Disclosure
Dissemination Agent shall promptly file such Voluntary Financial Disclosure with the MSRB in
accordance with Section 2(e)(vii) hereof. This notice will be filed with a cover sheet completed
by the Disclosure Dissemination Agent in the form set forth in Exhibit C-3.

(c) The parties hereto acknowledge that the District is not obligated pursuant to the
terms of this Disclosure Agreement to file any Voluntary Event Disclosure pursuant to Section
7(a) hereof or any Voluntary Financial Disclosure pursuant to Section 7(b) hereof.

(d) Nothing in this Disclosure Agreement shall be deemed to prevent the District
from disseminating any other information through the Disclosure Dissemination Agent using
the means of dissemination set forth in this Disclosure Agreement or including any other
information in any Annual Report, Audited Financial Statements, Notice Event notice, Failure
to File Event notice, Voluntary Event Disclosure or Voluntary Financial Disclosure, in addition
to that required by this Disclosure Agreement. If the District chooses to include any
information in any Annual Report, Audited Financial Statements, Notice Event notice, Failure
to File Event notice, Voluntary Event Disclosure or Voluntary Financial Disclosure in addition
to that which is specifically required by this Disclosure Agreement, the District shall have no
obligation under this Disclosure Agreement to update such information or include it in any
future Annual Report, Audited Financial Statements, Notice Event notice, Failure to File Event
notice, Voluntary Event Disclosure or Voluntary Financial Disclosure.

SECTION 8. Termination of Reporting Obligation. The obligations of the District and
the Disclosure Dissemination Agent under this Disclosure Agreement shall terminate with
respect to an issue of the Bonds upon the legal defeasance, prior redemption or payment in full
of all of the Bonds of such issue, when the District is no longer an obligated person with respect
to the Bonds, or upon delivery by the Disclosure Representative to the Disclosure
Dissemination Agent of an opinion of counsel expert in federal securities laws to the effect that
continuing disclosure is no longer required.

SECTION 9. Disclosure Dissemination Agent. The District has appointed Digital
Assurance Certification, L.L.C. as exclusive Disclosure Dissemination Agent under this
Disclosure Agreement. The District may, upon thirty (30) days written notice to the Disclosure
Dissemination Agent and the Trustee, replace or appoint a successor Disclosure Dissemination
Agent. Upon termination of DAC'’s services as Disclosure Dissemination Agent, whether by
notice of the District or DAC, the District agrees to appoint a successor Disclosure
Dissemination Agent or, alternately, agrees to assume all responsibilities of Disclosure
Dissemination Agent under this Disclosure Agreement for the benefit of the Holders of the
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Bonds. Notwithstanding any replacement or appointment of a successor, the District shall
remain liable for payment in full for any and all sums owed and payable to the Disclosure
Dissemination Agent accruing prior to the effective date of termination. The Disclosure
Dissemination Agent may resign at any time by providing thirty (30) days” prior written notice
to the District.

SECTION 10. Remedies in Event of Default. In the event of a failure of the District or
the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to comply with any provision of this Disclosure
Agreement, the Holders” rights to enforce the provisions of this Agreement shall be limited
solely to a right, by action in mandamus or for specific performance, to compel performance of

the parties' obligation under this Disclosure Agreement. Any failure by a party to perform in
accordance with this Disclosure Agreement shall not constitute a default on the Bonds or under
any other document relating to the Bonds, and all rights and remedies shall be limited to those
expressly stated herein.

SECTION 11. Duties, Immunities and Liabilities of Disclosure Dissemination Agent.

(a) The Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall have only such duties as are
specifically set forth in this Disclosure Agreement. The Disclosure Dissemination Agent’s
obligation to deliver the information at the times and with the contents described herein shall be
limited to the extent the District has provided such information to the Disclosure Dissemination
Agent as required by this Disclosure Agreement. The Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall
have no duty with respect to the content of any disclosures or notice made pursuant to the
terms hereof. The Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall have no duty or obligation to review or
verify any Information or any other information, disclosures or notices provided to it by the
District and shall not be deemed to be acting in any fiduciary capacity for the District, the
Holders of the Bonds or any other party. The Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall have no
responsibility for the District’s failure to report to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent a Notice
Event or a duty to determine the materiality thereof. The Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall
have no duty to determine, or liability for failing to determine, whether the District has
complied with this Disclosure Agreement. The Disclosure Dissemination Agent may
conclusively rely upon Certifications of the District at all times.

The obligations of the District under this Section shall survive resignation or removal of the
Disclosure Dissemination Agent and defeasance, redemption or payment of the Bonds.

(b) The Disclosure Dissemination Agent may, from time to time, consult with legal
counsel (either in-house or external) of its own choosing in the event of any disagreement or
controversy, or question or doubt as to the construction of any of the provisions hereof or its
respective duties hereunder, and shall not incur any liability and shall be fully protected in
acting in good faith upon the advice of such legal counsel. The reasonable fees and expenses of
such counsel shall be payable by the District.

(©) All documents, reports, notices, statements, information and other materials
provided to the MSRB under this Agreement shall be provided in an electronic format and
accompanied by identifying information as prescribed by the MSRB.
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SECTION 12. Amendment; Waiver. Notwithstanding any other provision of this
Disclosure Agreement, the District and the Disclosure Dissemination Agent may amend this

Disclosure Agreement, in writing, and any provision of this Disclosure Agreement may be
waived in writing, if such amendment or waiver is supported by an opinion of counsel expert in
federal securities laws acceptable to both the District and the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to
the effect that such amendment or waiver does not materially impair the interests of Holders of
the Bonds and would not, in and of itself, cause the undertakings herein to violate the Rule if
such amendment or waiver had been effective on the date hereof but taking into account any
subsequent change in or official interpretation of the Rule; provided neither the District or the
Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall be obligated to agree to any amendment modifying their
respective duties or obligations without their consent thereto.

Notwithstanding the preceding paragraph, the Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall
have the right to adopt amendments to this Disclosure Agreement necessary to comply with
modifications to and interpretations of the provisions of the Rule as announced by the Securities
and Exchange Commission from time to time by giving not less than twenty (20) days written
notice of the intent to do so together with a copy of the proposed amendment to the District. No
such amendment shall become effective if the District shall, within ten (10) days following the
giving of such notice, send a notice to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent in writing that it
objects to such amendment.

SECTION 13. Beneficiaries. This Disclosure Agreement shall inure solely to the benefit
of the District, the Trustee of the Bonds, the Disclosure Dissemination Agent, the underwriter,
and the Holders from time to time of the Bonds, and shall create no rights in any other person
or entity.

SECTION 14. Governing Law. This Disclosure Agreement shall be governed by the
laws of the State of Florida (other than with respect to conflicts of laws).

SECTION 15. Counterparts. This Disclosure Agreement may be executed in several
counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the
same instrument.

SECTION 16. Public Records. IF THE DISCLOSURE DISSEMINATION AGENT HAS
QUESTIONS REGARDING THE APPLICATION OF CHAPTER 119, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO
THE DISCLOSURE DISSEMINATION AGENT'S DUTY TO PROVIDE PUBLIC RECORDS
RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, CONTACT THE DISTRICT’S CUSTODIAN OF PUBLIC
RECORDS AT TELEPHONE NUMBER (407) 939-3240, EMAIL ADDRESS
PUBLICRECORDS@OVERSIGHTDISTRICT.ORG, MAILING ADDRESS CENTRAL FLORIDA
TOURIST OVERSIGHT DISTRICT, ATTN: PUBLIC RECORDS ADMINISTRATOR, P.O. BOX
690519, ORLANDO, FL 32869-0519.

(a) Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall:
(i) Keep and maintain public records required by the District to perform the
service.
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(if)

(iii)

(iv)

Upon request from the District’s custodian of public records, provide the
District with a copy of the requested records or allow the records to be
inspected or copied within a reasonable time at a cost that does not
exceed the cost provided in this chapter or as otherwise provided by law.

Ensure that public records that are exempt or confidential and exempt
from public records disclosure requirements are not disclosed except as
authorized by law for the duration of the contract term and following
completion of the contract if the Disclosure Dissemination Agent does not
transfer the records to the District.

Upon completion of this Disclosure Agreement, transfer, at no cost, to the
District all public records in possession of the Disclosure Dissemination
Agent or keep and maintain public records required by the District to
perform the service. If the Disclosure Dissemination Agent transfers all
public records to the District upon completion of this Disclosure
Agreement, the Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall destroy any
duplicate public records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from
public records disclosure requirements. If the Disclosure Dissemination
Agent keeps and maintains public records upon completion of the
contract, the contractor/consultant shall meet all applicable requirements
for retaining public records. All records stored electronically must be
provided to the District, upon request from the District’s custodian of
public records, in a format that is compatible with the information
technology systems of the District.
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The Disclosure Dissemination Agent and the District have caused this Disclosure
Agreement to be executed, on the date first written above, by their respective officers duly
authorized.

DIGITAL ASSURANCE CERTIFICATION, L.L.C., as
Disclosure Dissemination Agent

Name:
Title:

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURIST OVERSIGHT
DISTRICT

By:

S.C. Kopelousos
District Administrator
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EXHIBIT A

NAME AND CUSIP NUMBERS OF BONDS

Name of Issuer CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURIST OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
Obligated Person(s) CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURIST OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
Name of Bond Issue: CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURIST OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

Ad Valorem Tax Bonds, Series 2024A

Date of Issuance: October _,2024
Date of Official Statement: _, 2024
CUSIP Numbers:
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EXHIBIT B

NOTICE TO MSRB OF FAILURE TO FILE ANNUAL REPORT

Issuer: CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURIST OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
Obligated Person: CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURIST OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
Name of Bond Issue: CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURIST OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

Ad Valorem Tax Bonds, Series 2024A

Date of Issuance: _,2024
Date(s) of Disclosure _,2024
Agreement:

CUSIP Number:

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the District has not provided an Annual Report with
respect to the above-named Bonds as required by the Disclosure Agreement between the
District and Digital Assurance Certification, L.L.C., as Disclosure Dissemination Agent. [The
District has notified the Disclosure Dissemination Agent that it anticipates that the Annual
Report will be filed by I

Dated:

Digital Assurance Certification, L.L.C., as
Disclosure Dissemination Agent, on behalf of the
District

cc: CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURIST OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
Obligated Person
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EXHIBIT C-1
EVENT NOTICE COVER SHEET

This cover sheet and accompanying "event notice" will be sent to the MSRB, pursuant to
Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 15¢2-12(b)(5)(i)(C) and (D).

Issuer's and/or Other Obligated Person’s Name:
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURIST OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
District’s Six-Digit CUSIP Number:
or Nine-Digit CUSIP Number(s) of the bonds to which this event notice relates:
Number of pages attached:
Description of Notice Events (Check One):

1. "Principal and interest payment delinquencies;"

2. "Non-Payment related defaults, if material;"

3. "Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;"
4, "Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;"
5.
6.

"Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;"
"Adverse tax opinions, IRS notices or events affecting the tax status of the

security;"

7. "Modifications to rights of securities holders, if material;"

8. "Bond calls, if material;"

9.  "Defeasances;"

10.___ "Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the securities, if
material;"

11. "Rating changes;"
12. "Tender offers;"

13.___ "Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the obligated person;"
14.__ "Merger, consolidation, or acquisition of the obligated person, if material;"

15._ "Appointment of a successor or additional trustee, or the change of name of a
trustee, if material;"

16. __ "Incurrence of a financial obligation of the issuer or obligated person, if material,

or agreement to covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar
terms of a financial obligation of the issuer or obligated person, any of which affect
security holders, if material; and"

17._ "Default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or other
similar events under the terms of the financial obligation of the issuer or obligated
person, any of which reflect financial difficulties."

Failure to provide annual financial information as required.
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I hereby represent that I am authorized by the District or its agent to distribute this information
publicly:

Signature:
Name: Title:
Digital Assurance Certification, L.L.C.
390 N. Orange Avenue
Suite 1750
Orlando, FL 32801
407-515-1100
Date:
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EXHIBIT C-2

VOLUNTARY EVENT DISCLOSURE COVER SHEET

This cover sheet and accompanying "voluntary event disclosure" will be sent to the MSRB,
pursuant to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent Agreement dated as of _, 2024
between the District and DAC.

Issuer’s and/or Other Obligated Person’s Name:

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURIST OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

Issuer’s Six-Digit CUSIP Number:

or Nine-Digit CUSIP Number(s) of the bonds to which this notice relates:

Number of pages attached: ____

__ Description of Voluntary Event Disclosure (Check One):

—_

___"amendment to continuing disclosure undertaking;"

_____ "change in obligated person;"

_____"notice to investors pursuant to bond documents;"

____ "certain communications from the Internal Revenue Service;"
___"secondary market purchases;"

_____"bid for auction rate or other securities;"

___ "capital or other financing plan;"

_____ "litigation/enforcement action;"

____ "change of tender agent, remarketing agent, or other on-going party;"
10.__ "derivative or other similar transaction;" and

11.___ "other event-based disclosures."

0 0N OO W

I hereby represent that I am authorized by the District or its agent to distribute this information

publicly:
Signature:
Name: Title:
Digital Assurance Certification, L.L.C.
390 N. Orange Avenue
Suite 1750
Orlando, FL 32801
407-515-1100
Date:
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EXHIBIT C-3

VOLUNTARY FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE COVER SHEET

This cover sheet and accompanying "voluntary financial disclosure” will be sent to the MSRB,
pursuant to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent Agreement dated as of October __, 2024
between the District and DAC.
Issuer’s and/or Other Obligated Person’s Name:
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURIST OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
Issuer’s Six-Digit CUSIP Number:
or Nine-Digit CUSIP Number(s) of the bonds to which this notice relates:
Number of pages attached: __
__ Description of Voluntary Financial Disclosure (Check One):

"quarterly/monthly financial information;"
"change in fiscal year/timing of annual disclosure;"
"change in accounting standard;"

1
2
3
4. '"interim/additional financial information/operating data;"
5. "budget;"

6. "investment/debt/financial policy;"

7. "information provided to rating agency, credit/liquidity provider or other third
8. "consultant reports;" and

9. "other financial/operating data."

I hereby represent that I am authorized by the District or its agent to distribute this information
publicly:

Signature:
Name: Title:
Digital Assurance Certification, L.L.C.
390 N. Orange Avenue
Suite 1750
Orlando, FL 32801
407-515-1100
Date:
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APPENDIX E

GENERAL INFORMATION REGARDING TOURISM
IN ORANGE AND OSCEOLA COUNTIES
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THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION IS INCLUDED ONLY FOR THE PURPOSE OF PROVIDING
GENERAL INFORMATION REGARDING TOURISM AND CERTAIN DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION
IN THE DISTRICT'S SURROUNDING AREA. THE INFORMATION IN THIS APPENDIX E IS
UNAUDITED AND HAS BEEN DERIVED SOLELY FROM THE SOURCES INDICATED.

Orange County, Florida

The following table shows the estimated number of arriving air visitors and hotel and motel units
occupied for the last ten years.

ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA
STATISTICAL DATA
TOURISM FOR ORANGE COUNTY
ESTIMATED NUMBER OF ARRIVING AIR VISITORS AND HOTELS / MOTELS

LAST TEN YEARS
(Unaudited)
Total Licensed Total
Disembarked Hotels and Hotel and
Year Air Visitors® Motels® Motel Units®
2023 28,078,671 340 100,599
2022 24,424,704 340 100,482
2021 17,138,032 328 98,568
2020 14,529,861 320 96,490
2019 24,962,079 308 93,792
2018 23,475,683 303 91,627
2017 21,872,810 301 91,170
2016 20,825,649 294 89,333
2015 18,981,831 286 87,717
2014 17,704,897 282 87,662

(1) Greater Orlando Aviation Authority, Office of Community Relations. Based on fiscal years ending September 30.

(2) State of Florida, Department of Business and Professional Regulation; as of June 30 each year.

Source: Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of Orange County, Florida for Fiscal Year Ended
September 30, 2023.
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The following table shows the principal employers in Orange County for fiscal years 2023 and 2014.

ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

STATISTICAL DATA
PRINCIPAL EMPLOYERS
CURRENT YEAR AND NINE YEARS AGO
(Unaudited)
2023 2014
Percentage of Percentage of
Total County Total County
Employer Employees® Rank Employment® Employees® Rank Employment®

Walt Disney World Co. 75,000 1 8.98% 70,000 1 10.23%
Advent Health/Florida Hospital 35,938 2 4.30 18,668 4 2.73
Universal Orlando Resort 28,000 3 3.35 19,000 3 2.78
Orlando Health 26,397 4 3.16 - -
Orange County Public Schools 24,718 5 2.96 22,347 2 3.26
Lockheed Martin 14,547 6 1.74 7,000 8 1.02
University of Central Florida 13,078 7 1.57 10,854 6 1.59
Orange County Government (4) 12,025 8 1.44 10,416 7 1.52
Westgate Resorts 4,760 9 0.57 - -
Marriott Vacations Worldwide, 4,700 10 0.57 i -
Inc
Orlando International Airport - - 18,000 5 2.63
Darden Restraunts, Inc - - 6,419 9 0.94
Consulate Health Care - - 5,000 10 0.73
Totals 239,163 28.64 187,704 27.43%

(1) Source: Orlando Business Journal: 2023 Book of Lists, Central Florida.
(2) This calculation uses the Employed Labor Force numbers reported for Orange County in the Demographic and Economic

Statistics Table.

(3) Source: Orlando Business Journal: 2014 Book of Lists, Central Florida.
(4) Orange County Government numbers are adjusted upwards from original source information to include employees of

the six constitutional officers, which are included in the primary government.
Source: Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of Orange County, Florida for Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2023.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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Osceola County, Florida

The following table shows the estimated number of overnight visitors and mode of transportation
used in Osceola County for the last ten years.

OSCEOLA COUNTY, FLORIDA
TOURIST STATISTICAL DATA
ESTIMATED NUMBER OF OVERNIGHT VISITORS AND MODE OF TRANSPORTATION
LAST TEN YEARS (IN THOUSANDS)

(Unaudited)
Air Auto Train/Bus Total %
Year® Visitors Visitors Visitors Visitors Change
2014 3,876 3,185 84 7,145 4.5%
Total
Room Economy Total %
Year Nights Occupancy Impact Visitors Change
2015@ 7,525 72.40% $4,546,247 6,100 N/A
2016® 7,149 73.20% $5,431,139 7,460 22%
2017® 7,545 75.60% $5,934,129 7,901 6%
2018@ 10,216 62.20% $6,000,000 8,600 9%
2019 10,446 63.60% $5,300,000 9,200 7.0%
2020 6,500 45.70% $5,000,000 6,000 -34.8%
2021 7,678 50.08% $5,500,000 9,587 59.8%
2022 10,982 63.59% $9,800,000 10,843 13.1%
2023 10,952 64.78% $10,900,000 10,900 0.5%

Notes: (1) Data is on calendar year basis.
(2) Experience Kissimmee hired a new vendor for fiscal year 2015 that used different methodology in their
calculations. Information about visitors by air, auto, or train/bus is not available.
(3) This data consists of 11 calendar months.
(4) After 2018 data is calculated on calendar year.

Source: Osceola County, Florida Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended
September 30, 2023.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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The following table shows the principal employers in Osceola County, Florida for fiscal years 2023

and 2014.
OSCEOLA COUNTY, FLORIDA
STATISTICAL DATA
PRINCIPAL EMPLOYERS
CURRENT YEAR AND NINE YEARS AGO
(Unaudited)
2023 2014
Percentage of Percentage of
Total County Total County
Employer Employees Rank Employment Employees Rank Employment

School District of Osceola County 7,300 1 7.85% 6,593 1 8.18%
Walt Disney Company - Osceola County Offices 3,565 2 3.83% - - -
Adventist Health System 3,419 3 3.67% 3,700 2 4.59%
Osceola Regional Medical Center 1,700 4 1.83% - - -
Osceola County Government 1,593 5 1.71% 1,400 6 1.74%
Buena Vista Construction Co. 1,296 6 1.39% 3,556 5 4.41%
McLane/Suneast Incorporated 1,270 7 1.37% - - -
Lowes RDC 1,035 8 1.11% 900 9 1.12%
Jr. Davis Construction Co. Inc. 928 9 1.00% - - -
Omni Orlando Resort at Champions Gate 831 10 0.89% 750 10 0.93%
Gaylord Palms Resort & Convention Center - - - 1,553 4 1.93%
Florida Hospital Celebration & Kissimmee - - - 2,050 8 2.54%
Wal-Mart Stores, INC - - - 2,730 3 3.39%
Publix Supermarkets - - - 1,350 7 1.68%
Total Largest Employers 22,9371 24.65% 24,582 30.51%
Total All Other Employers 70,098 55,976
Total Employment 93,035? 80,558

Notes: (1) Florida Department of Economic Opportunity (DEO)
(2) Florida Department of Economic Opportunity (DEO), Local Area Unemployment Statistics (LAUS)
(3) Osceola County ACFR — Fiscal Year 2014.

Source: Osceola County, Florida Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended
September 30, 2023.

Orlando-Kissimmee-Sanford MSA
The following schedule demonstrates individual year growth (for the last three fiscal years) in the

Orlando-Kissimmee-Sanford MSA (the "MSA"), which includes Orange, Seminole, Osceola, and Lake
Counties, and also three, five, and ten year average annual trends in the MSA.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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MSA ECONOMIC GROWTH
ACTUAL/ESTIMATES AND AVERAGE ANNUAL PERCENTAGE GROWTH
LAST THREE FISCAL YEARS, AND THREE, FIVE, AND TEN YEAR AVERAGES

(Unaudited)
Fiscal Years Average Annual % Growth
2023 2022 2021 019 2014 Last3 Last5 Last 10

Population (in thousands)

City of Orlando 326.9 321.9 314.5 291.8 255.6 3.4% 3.0% 2.7%

Orange County 1,492.9 1,481.3 1,429.9 1,386.1 1,228.0 2.3% 2.5% 2.6%

MSA 2,833.8 2,794.2 2,673.4 2,585.6 2,270.4 2.7% 2.9% 2.8%
Taxable Value (in billions)

City of Orlando $46.5 $41.0 $35.7 $30.7 $18.7 11.2% 13.1% 12.7%

Orange County $203.5 $181.6 $161.1 $130.5 $84.1 131%  13.3% 12.3%
Dollar Value of Building Permits
(in millions)

City of Orlando(1) $2,405.4  $1,829.5 $1,546.1 $2,351.9  $1,352.7 74)%  (0.1)% 8.7%
Building Permits - New Construction

City of Orlando 1,112 1,901 1,551 1,235 1,313 18.0% 11.1% 12.0%
MSA Employment (in thousands)

Selected Segments:

Manufacturing & Construction 138.8 131.8 136.8 136.7 95.3 (1.2)% 2.3% 6.2%

Wholesale & Retail 206.4 202.1 200.9 197.0 179.4 0.9% 0.6% 2.5%

Service 813.8 752.3 678.5 756.0 610.3 (0.2)% 1.7% 3.2%

Government 126.9 125.6 129.7 130.1 117.6 (1.2)% 0.4% 0.8%

Other 153.8 146.7 129.9 121.2 102.4 7.0% 5.2% 5.4%

Total 1,439.7 1,358.5  1,275.8 1,341.0 1,105.0 0.4% 1.8% 3.3%
Sales Tax Revenue (in millions)

City of Orlando $61.8 $57.1 $42.7 $47.8 $35.6 6.5% 7.3% 8.4%
Tourist Development Tax
(in millions)

Orange County $359.3 $336.3 $175.9 $284.0 $201.4 6.1% 6.4% 9.2%
Orlando International Airport Activity
(in millions)

Passengers 55.9 48.6 341 49.8 352 (0.8)% 2.3% 3.7%

Lbs. of Airfreight 437.9 511.2 476.0 513.4 344.6 (0.1)% 3.7% 4.7%

Source: City of Orlando, Florida Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
2023.
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The MSA, a leading tourist destination with approximately 74 million visitors in 2022. According
to the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, as of September, 2022, the unemployment rate in the MSA was 2.9%
which is lower than the national unemployment rate of 3.5% for that same period.

Orlando International Airport

The following table shows historical domestic and international enplaned passenger information
for the Orlando International Airport.

ORLANDO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
HISTORICAL DOMESTIC, INTERNATIONAL AND TOTAL

ENPLANED PASSENGERS
Years Ended September 30,
(Unaudited)
International
Percent Percent Percent Enplaned
Change for Change for Change for ~ Passengers
Domestic International Total as
Enplaned Enplaned Enplaned  Percentage of

Domestic  Passengers International Passengers Total Passengers Total

Enplaned from Enplaned from Enplaned from Enplaned
Fiscal = passengers  Previous Passengers Previous Passengers  Previous Passengers
Year (a) Years (b) Years (at+b=c) Year (b/c=d)
2014 15,477,675 0.05% 2,057,323 5.15% 17,534,998 0.62% 11.73%
2015 16,426,194 6.13 2,400,904 16.70 18,827,098 7.37 12.75
2016 17,978,587 9.45 2,758,469 14.89 20,737,056 10.14 13.30
2017 18,882,512 5.03 2,836,039 2.81 21,718,551 4.73 13.06
2018 20,224,240 7.11 3,158,033 11.35 23,382,273 7.66 13.51
2019 21,261,946 5.13 3,584,896 13.52 24,846,842 6.26 14.43
2020 12,971,025 (38.99) 1,567,101 (56.29) 14,538,126 (41.49) 10.78
2021 16,368,437 26.19 615,805 (60.70) 16,984,242 16.83 3.63
2022 21,836,197 33.40 2,384,735 287.25 24,220,932 42.61 9.85
2023 24,574,857 12.54 3,344,841 40.26 27,919,698 15.27 11.98

Source: Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of the Greater Orlando Aviation Authority for Fiscal Years Ended

September 30, 2023 and 2022.
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